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Upper West Side/Central Park West Histaric District Bomdaries

The Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District consists of the
property bounded by a line begimning at the southwest corner of the
" intersection of Central Park West and West 96th.Street, . extending southerly =
alory the westerm ook line of Central Park West, westerly along the
northern curb line of West 62nd Street, northerly along the western property
line of 25 Central Park West, northerly across West 63rd Street, westerly
along the northern curb line of West 63rd Street, northerly and easterly
along the western and northern property lines of 13-15 West 63rd Street,
northerly along part of the western property line of 3-11 West 63rd Street,
easterly along the southern curb line of West 64th Street, northerly across
West 64th Street, northerly and easterly along the western and part of the
northern property lines of 41 Central Park West, northerly along the western
property line of 50 Central Park West, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 65th Street, northerly across West 65th Street, northerly along
the western property line of 51-53 Central Park West, westerly and northerly
along part of the southern and the western property lines of 55 Central Park
West, northerly across West 66th Street, westerly along the northern curb
line of West 66th Street, northerly along part of the western building line
of 8 West 67th Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 26-50
West &7th Street, northerly along the western property line of 42-50 West
67th Street, northerly across West 67th Street, westerly along the northern
curb line of West 67th Street, northerly along the western property line of
39-41 West 67th Street, westerly alorg part of the southern property line of
60-66 West 68th Street, westerly along the southern property lines of 68-76
West 68th Street and 171-179 Columbus Avenue, northerly along the eastern
curb line of Columbus Avenue, northerly across West 68th Street to the
northeast corner of Columbus Avenue, westerly across Columbus Avenue,
westerly along the northern curb line of West 68th Street, northerly alorg
the western property lines of 180-188 Columbus Avenue, westerly along the
southern property lines of 108-120 West 69th Street and the irregular
southern property lines of 122-128 West 69th Street and 2016-2018 Broadway
(as determined by the City Surveyor’s Map), northwesterly ard northerly
along the eastern curb line of Broadway, northerly across West 72nd Street,
northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Avenue, easterly alorg
the southern curb line of West 77th Street, northerly across West 77th
Street, northerly and easterly along the western and part of the northern
property lines of 137 West 77th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of Iot 148 and 136 West 78th Street, northerly across West 78th
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 78th Street, socutherly
across West 78th Street, southerly along the easterm property lines of
371-375 Amsterdam Averme, westerly along the southern property line of 371
Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Avenue
to the scutheast cormer of West 79th Street, westerly across Amsterdam
Averue, westerly along the southern curk line of West 79th Street, southerly
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along the eastern property line of 206 West 79th Street, westerly along the
southern property lines of 206-226 West 79th Street, northerly along the
western property line of 226 West 79th Street, northerly across West 7sth
Street, northerly along the western property line of 225 West 79th Street,
easterly along the northern property lines of 225-203 West 79th Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 410-416 Amsterdam Avenue,
northerly across West 80th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of 203 West 80th Street and 428-434 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly across
West 81st Street, northerly along the western property lines of 440-446
Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along part of the northern property line of -
" 444-446 - Amsterdam Avenue, northerly -alongy the 'western property lines :of.-
448-454 Amsterdam Avemie, northerly across West 82nd Street, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 82nd Street, northerly along the western .
property lines of 460-466 Amsterdam Averue, northerly along part of the
western property line of 208 West 83rd Street, northwesterly along part of
the southern property line of 208 West 83rd Street and the southern

line of 210 West 83rd Street, northerly aloryy the western property line of
210 West 83rd Street, easterly aleng the southern curb line of West 83rd
Street, northerly across West 83rd Street, northerly along the western
property lines of 480-486 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along part of the
northern property line of 486 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the western
property lines of 488-494 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 84th Street, southerly along the eastern property lines of
495-489 Amsterdam Avernue, easterly along part of the northern property line
of 487 Amsterdam Averme, easterly along the northern property lines of
173-167 West 83rd Street, southerly alorg the eastern property line of 167
West 83rd Streest, westerly along the northern curb line of West 83rd Street,
southerly across West 83rd Street, southerly along the eastern property line
of 471-475 Amsterdam Avernie (aka 168 West 83rd Street), southeasterly along
part of the northern property line of 159 West 82nd Street and the northern
property lines of 157-137 West 82nd Street, northerly along part of the
western property line of 135 West 82nd Street, easterly along the northern
"property lines of 135- 113 West 82nd Street, northerly along the western -
property line of 120 West 83rd Street, easterly along the southern curb line
of West 83rd Street to the southeast corner of Columbus Avemue, northerly
across West 83rd Street, northerly along the eastern curb line of Columbus
Avenue to the northeast cormer of West 84th Street, westerly across Columbus
Avenue, westerly along the northern curdb line of West 84th Street, northerly
along the western property lines of 498-504 Columbus Avenue and 102-104 West
85th Street, northerly across West 85th Street, westerly along the northern
arrb line of West 85th Street, northerly along the easterm curb line of
Ansterdam Avenue, easterly along the northern property lines of 521-527
Amsterdam Averue and 173-163 West 85th Street and part of the northern
property line of 159-161 West 85th Street, southerly along part of the
eastern property line of 159-161 West 85th Street, easterly along part of
the northern property line of 159-161 West 85th Street and the northern
property lines of 157-119 West 85th Street, northerly along the western.
property line of 124 West 86th Street, northerly across West 86th Street,
westerly along the northern curbline of West 86th Street, northerly along
the western property line of 137 West 86th Street, westerly along part of
the southern property line of 140 West 87th Street and the southern property
line of 142 West 87th Street, northerly along the western property line of
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142 West 87th Street, northerly across West 87th Street, westerly along the
northern curb line of West 87th Street, northerly and westerly along the
western and northern property lines of 169 West 87th Street, northerly along
the western property line of 166 West 88th Street, northerly across West
88th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 88th Street,
northerly along the western property line of 177 West 88th Street, easterly
along the northern property lines of 177-103 West 88th Street, southerly
along the eastern property line of 103 West 88th Street, southerly across
West 88th Street, easterlyalongthesaxtlmaxrblmeofﬂastasthStreet
and contimuing easterly after crossing Columbus Avenue, ' northerly across -
West 88th Street, northerly along the western property line of 61 West-88th— -
Street, -westerly along part of the southern property line of 64 West 8%th -
Street, westerly and northerly along the southern and western property lines
of 66 West 89th Street, northerly across West 89th Street, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 89th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 71 West 89th Street, easterly along the northern property
lines of 71-65 West 89th Street and part of the northern property line of 63
West 8%th Street, northerly along the western property line of 52 West 90th
Street, northerly across West 90th Street, westerly along the northern curb
line of West 90th Street, northerly arnd easterly along the western and part
of the northern property lines of 63 West 90th Street, northerly alorgy the
western property line of 70 West 91st Street, easterly along the southern
caxrb line of West 91st Street, northerly across West 91st Street, northerly
along the western property line of 315 Central Park West, westerly and
northerly along part of the southern and the western property lines of 320
Central Park West, northerly across West 92nd Street, westerly along the
northern curb line of West 92nd Street, northerly along the western property
line of 49 West 92nd Street, easterly along the northern property lines of
49-35 West 92nd Street, northerly along part of the western property line of
4-36 West 93rd Street (aka 3-33 West 92nd Street), easterly along the
southern curb line of West 93rd Street, northerly across West 93rd Street,
northerly along the western property line of 333 Central Park West, westerly
along part of the southern property line 336 Central Park West and the .
southern property lines of 20-54 West 94th Street, northerly along the
western property line of 54 West 94th Street, northerly across West 94th
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 94th Street, northerly
and easterly along the western and part of the northern property lines of 59
West 94th Street, northerly along the western property line of 46-50 West
95th Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 95th Street,
northerly across West 95th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of 51 West 95th Street and 46-48 West 96th Street, easterly along the
southern curb line of West 96th Street to the point of beginning.



On January 12~13, 1988, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a
public hearing on the proposed designation of this historic district (Ttem
No. 1). 'The hearing, duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of
law, was held at the Universalist Chuch, Central Park West and West 76th
Street, and lasted from 10:45 a.m.' to 1:17 a.m. One huxired twenty-four
- people offered testimony; ninety-four spoke in favor of designation, and.
thirty spoke in opposition to the designation of the district in whole or in-
‘part. - The'Cammission has received -over 350 letters expressing support for—
- the district, approximately two dozen against, and several expressing.
uncertainty.

The Commission voted to designate the district the day Iaurie
Beckelman’s appointment to the Commission was affirmed by the City Council.
The vote was taken before she took her place on the Camission.



INTRODUCTTON

The Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, encompassing
sane 2000 buildings, extends from 62nd Street to 96th Street along Central
Park West, from 68th Street to 88th Street along Columbus Averme, fram 6Sth
Street to 72nd Street along Broadway, from 72nd Street to 84th Street and
the northeast corner of 85th Street along Amsterdam, and includes side
street blocks connecting the avemies and portions of two 79th Street -

* blockfronts west of Amsterdam Averme. Central Park West with its high wall—- -

of buildings and dramatic skyline facing Central Park West forms a regular -
edge at the eastern bourdary. The lower portion of Amsterdam Avenue and:
Broadway, also with high walls of buildings, form a similar reqular edge at

the western boundary.

The district evokes the distinctive qualities of the Upper West Side,
from its powerful iconography of twin towers along Central Park West to its
active commerce along Colunbus Avenue to its residential side streets. The
initial development of the neighborhood reflects a concentrated boom in the
city’s expansion, supported by transportation improvements on the avenues.
Although later construction, particularly in the 1920s and 1930s, replaced
scame of the original buildings, it has enhanced the vibrant cquality of the
Upper West Side both socially and architecturally.

The district is defined by its large concentration of architecturally
distinctive and high quality buildings which characterize the development of
the Upper West Side east of Broadway over a fifty year period from the 1880s
to the 1930s. The district encompasses a mumber of residential building
types, as well as related institutional and commercial buildings. The
camplex historical: and architectural interrelationship among these buildings
is one of the factors which helps to define the character of the district. .
'Specmlatively—l:nilt three-, four-, and five-story rowhouses, designed as. ..

%:mups were constructed within a relatively short span of years -
(1880—1910) that ended in the first decade of the twentieth century. These
rowhouses, the predominant residential building type in the district, are
located on the side streets throughout the district and survive in isolated
groups on Central Park West ard the cross streets of West 72nd, West 79th,
and West 86th Streets. Contemporaneocus with the rowhouses are five- and
six-story neo-Grec and Romanesdque Revival style tenements and flats building
which are predominantly located on Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues., Many
were built in conjunction with side street rowhouses, and are related to the
rowhouses in height, scale, material, and architectural detail. Scomewhat
taller eight to twelve-story apartment hotels and studio buildings, found on
both avermes and the streets, began to be built in the 1890s. Iarger
twelve~ to seventeen—story apartment buildings, which are particularly.
prevalent along Central Park West and the major cross streets, were
constructed during two phases, before and after World War I. These were

1p few rowhouses were constructed in the early 1870s, prior to the
Panic of 1873.



designed by a mumber of prominent architects, among them Rosario Candela,
Mulliken & Moeller, Neville & Bagge, George F. Pelham, and Schwartz & Gross.
Many of the multiple dwellings, particularly the tenements, flats, and
apartment hotels, were designed with commercial space at street level. A
few specially designed commercial buildings are located. on the avenues and
West 72nd Street, Throughout the period of development of the district, a
" variety of specialized buildings designed by some of the city’s most -
prestigious architects have been constructed to meet the social,
educational, and religicus needs of the residents, .and these camplement the-
residential buildings and enhance the architectural character of the area. -

The development of the district was affected by several factors. Plans
for Central Park in the 1850s led to the first wave of land speculation on
the Upper West Side, particularly along Central Park West. A small flurry
of rowhouse construction which began in the early 1870s, was halted by the
financial Panic of 1873. The 1880s were the first major decade of
development in the area, signalled by the opening of the Ninth Averme El in
1879 and the opening of a cable car route along Tenth Averme. Develcoment
of both rowhouses and multiple dwellings tended to cluster around the
stations of the El. By the end of the decade, these two building types,
vhich help define the character of the district, had been firmly
established.

The unusually long side street block which form the heart of the
district were initially built up with long rows of houses which present a
picture of the final years of rowhouse construction in Manhattan. These
rows unify the streetscapes by consistent height, setback, and overall form,
-although the rows are stylistically varied and there is often a great deal
of variety in form and ormamental detail within each row, thus producing a
miltiplicity of configurations (for example, ABCDCBA). High stoops and the
earth tones of brick and brownstone facades are other qualities which unify
the rowhouses., While over 100 architects designed rowhouses within the
district, certain of them made a major impact,  including Henry J. -
Hardenberch, Neville & Bagge, Gilbert A. Schellenger, and Thom & Wilson amd
the presence of their work is ancther unifying characteristic. The avernue
erds of the side street blockfronts contain flats and tenements which relate
to the rowhouses in height, scale, material, and architectural detail, ard
were often desigmed by the same architects. In the years following World
War, apartment buildings began to interrupt rows of houses on the side
streets, The resultant eight- to ten-story huildings relate to the
rowhouses in materials and architectural details even though twice the
height of the rowhouses.

The 100-foot wide cross streets of the district, West 72nd Street, West
79th Street, and West 86th Street, are individually distinctive. Like the
side streets, the wider cross streets were initially kuilt up with
rowhouses, often grander and more elaborate than those on the narrower side
streets. Isolated groups of these survive on all three streets. The
blockfronts of West 72nd Street and West 79th Street closest to Broadway
began to be transformed for comercial use in the early vears of the
twentieth century. In some instances, extensions containing commercial
storefronts were inserted into the lower two stories of existing rowhouses
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and brought ocut to the building line. In other instances, particularly on
West 72nd Street, this transformation resulted in the replacement of
rovhouses by small commercial buildings or the camplete alteration of
rowhouses with new facades at the building line; both types of alterations
maintained the rowhouse scale. Taller apartment hotels, often ten or more
stories, were introduced in the early years of the twentieth century on the
easterly blockfronts of West 72nd Street, West 79th Street, and along West
86th Street, as well as on the commercial blockfronts of West 72nd Street.
On the same non-commercial cross-street blockfronts most of the 1880s
‘rowhouses were replaced by tall apartment buildings in the years following ;.
World War I, -and these buildings, in many ways similar. to.those found on..
Central Park West, play an important part in defining the character of these
cross streets in the district.

Central Park West developed more slowly and unevenly than the side
streets and avermes to the west, although the Dakota (1880-84) at West 72nd
Street was the first major residential building constructed in the area.
The character of Central Park West is enhanced by such major institutional
buildings as the American Museum of Natural History and the New-York
Historical Society, bequn in the nineteenth century, as well as several
turn—of-the—century religious buildings. The Central Park West that we know
- today as one of New York’s grandest residential streets was largely built in
the twentieth century, and its tall apartment buildings fall roughly into
three stylistic categories: Beaux-Arts inspired from the first decade of
the century and designed by such architects as Clinton & Russell, Robert T.
Iyons, amd Townsend, Steinle & Haskell; neo-Renaissance from the 1920s and
designed by such architects as George & Edward Blum, Emery Roth, ard
Schwartz & Gross; and Art Deco towers from the late 1920s and early 1930s
designed by such architects as Trwin Chanin, Emery Roth, and Schwartz &
Gross. Among the latter two categories are the highly characteristic miti-
towered buildings, all of which are designated New York City landmarks. The
side street facades of the Central Park West apartment buildings impact on
the side street blocks, usually displaying materials and details that are...
campatible with the rowhouses. Built over the entire development span of
the district, the stylistically diverse buildings of Central Park West
create a streetscape and a skyline which is esuberant and varied as to
scale, height, and form. TIts silhouette when viewed from Central Park is a
special and unique feature of New York City. Incorporated within this
district are two pre-existing districts which focused on Central Park West
and the adjacent side street blocks: Central Park West-West 73rd-74th
Streets and Central Park West-76th Street.

Columbus Averne retains a character which reflects its historic nature
as a transportation route. It was largely built up with flats and tenements
which incorporated commercial storefronts at street level during the same
years that rowhouses were being constructed on the side streets. This
cammercial role has survived to the present, making the averme a strong
spine in the district. Little original storefront fabric survivas, but
stretches of facades of relatively uniform height and scale give the avenue
its distinctive character. In same cases, the flats and tenements have been
interrupted by twentieth—century apartment buildings, but these buildings
also have storefronts at street level which reinforce the avemue’s
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comercial character.

Amsterdam Avenue shares a rmumber of characteristics with Columbus
Averme. Like that avemue, it was built up with tenements ard flats over a
roughly ten-year period (1885-1895), and these buildings were designed with
storefronts at street level. These huildings share a relationship with the
rowhouses on the side streets which is similar to that between the flats
buildings on Columbus and the side street rowhouses. Along the stretch of
the avenue between West 80th and West 84th Streets, -this character is.
retained on both sides. 0ntheeastsz.deoftheave1me,sarthof79th
Street, the earlier flats buildings have been “interrupted by taller-
twentleth-centuxy apartment buildings, also with street-level storefronts.
Despite the avenue’s consistent commercial character, the storefront fabric -
has undergone a lesser degree of change than storefronts on Columbus, and
shows a greater harmony with the architectural character of the upper
stories of the buildings.

South of West 79th Street on Amsterdam, the wall of apartment buildings
on the western bourdary of the district may be seen as a counterpart to the
wall along Central Park West on the eastern bourdary of the district. Along
both Central Park West and Amsterdam, the apartment buildings are similar in
height, scale, and detail, were often designed by the same architects, and
were built during the same time period. Here too, the side street facades
of the Amsterdam Avenue apartment buildings interact with the rowhouses on
the side streets. The portion of Broadway within the district, south of
72rd Street, is effectively a southern continuation of Amsterdam Zvernue, and
with its twelve-story apartment buildings and nineteen-story hotel building,
continues the role of Amsterdam in defining the western boundary of the
district.

Thus Central Park West, Broadway, and Columbus and Amsterdam Avermues
are linked by the side street blocks and several cross streets. All have a
rich variety of interrelated buildings which produce a complex urban area-
constituting a distinct section of the city.

Marjorie Pearson



THE GENERAL HISTORICAT, DEVELOPMENT OF THE
UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAI, PARK WEST HTSTORTIC DISTRICT

Prelude to Development

" The area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
developed primarily as a residential neighborhood over:a roughly fifty-vyear
period from the 1880s to the 1930s. The appearance of the Upper West Side

- is a reflection  of economic-and speculative building patterns and the -
collaborative efforts of speculators, developers, and architects.  The -

rowhouses within the district, built within a relatively short span of: years
thatexﬁadmthefzrstdecadeofthetwentlethcexm prmem'.aplcl:ure
of the final phase of smgle—fam.lly rowhouse construction in Manhattan.
Multiple dwellings of various kinds, beginning with tenements and flats and
followed by apartment hotels, studlo buildings, ard apartment h.l:l.ldJJ'gs
wereconstructedthralglmmﬂnepenodof developtentmﬂmdlstnct.
result, little changed since the 1930s, is a complexly interwoven urban
neighborhood characterized by a mix of residential building types.

The documented history of the Upper West Side begins soon after the
colonial Dutch settlement of New Amsterdam in the seventeenth century.
Prior to its wrbanization, the Upper West Side was known as Bloomingdale, or
"Bloemendaal" to the early Dutch settlers, in recollection of a flower-
growing region of Holland. In the early eighteenth century, Bloomingdale
Road (later renamed the Boulevard and finally Broadway in 1898) was opened
through the area, following the course of an old Indian trail, and provided
the northern route out of the city which was then concentrated at the
southern tip of Manhattan Island. Rural lodges and broken—-down shanties,
interspersed with: large outcroppings of rock, dotted the landscape: of

Bloomingdale. Working farms and colonial estates were established and small .

hamlets, such as Harsenville near West 72nd Street, were settled on or near .

Bloomingdale Road during the eighteenth and early-nineteenth centuries.
However, the Upper West Side, including the area within the bourdaries of
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, remained largely
undeveloped until the 1880s.

New York City’s population rapidly increased throughout the colonial
period and into the nineteenth century. As a result, development in the
city expanded northward, with growing comercial interests contimiocusly
transforming and displacing residential communities. Neighborhoods were
established further uptown away from spreading commercial development. By
the 1850s, the city’s northern urban limits had reached today’s midtown. as
development contimued to push northward, it was largely concentrated on the
East Side, following the transit lines, which included steamboat service on
the East River and several horse car lines.

The Upper West Side was included in the Randel Survey (known as the
Commissioners’ Map of 1811) which outlined a uniform grid plan of broad
avermes and narrow cross streets to be imposed upon the rolling hills of
Manhattan. Many years elapsed, however, before most of the avenues and
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streets in rural Bloomingdale were actunally laid out (some streets as late
as the 1870=s and 1880s) and the land subdivided into standard twenty-five by
100 foot kuilding lots.

The creation of Central Park (a designated New York City Scenic
- Landmark), begqun in 1857, spurred growth in areas around the Park’s
perimeter, and set off the first wave of real estate speculation on the
Upper West Side. Trading in Upper West Side building lots was active,
particularly on the avenues, during an extensive period of ‘New York real-
estate speculation which lasted from 1868 until the financial panic of 1873...

The opening of avermes and improved public transportation to-the: Upper- -
West Side (beginning in the 1860s but particularly in the 1870s) contributed-
to the first wave of growth in the area. In 1864, the horse car line on
Eighth Averme (renamed Central Park West in 1883) was extended from midtown
to West 84th Street. In 1865, the Comissioners of Central Park were
authorized to camplete the laying cut of the streets west of the Park. The
Boulevard (the main artery of the Upper West Side ard the route linking the
city to the south with points north) was widened in 1868-71 and designed to
receive central, planted malls from West 59th to 155th Streets.

Transportation improvements that were plamned and carried out by
private companies at the end of the 1870s further enhanced the potential of
the area. In 1878, horse car service was started on Tenth Avenue (renamed
Amsterdam Averue in 1890) and Broadway, and the horse car lines on Eighth
Avenue were replaced by street rail service up to West 125th Street. 1In
1879 the Elevated Railway on Ninth Avenue (renamed Columbus Avenue in 1890)
was completed with stations at West 72nd, 8lst, 93rd, and 104th Streets.

The earliest rows of houses in the district were built in the 1870s,
before the panic of 1873, following the initial promise of the great
development prospects in the area. These houses were situated in proximity..
to the El stations already proposed at that time. Two long rows, portions...
of which still exist, were situated between Central Park West and Columbus
Avenue: a thirteen-house row on West 83rd Street (of which six survive) and
a twenty-house row on West 92nd Street (two of the surviving seven are
within the district). Ancther five-house row (of which four survive) was
built on West 71st Street near Broadway.

The Ninth Avermie El served as the primary impetus to sustained
development in the area of the district. There was a direct response on the
part of speculative builders to the presence of the El, and between 1879 and
1887 development clustered within a two-block radius of its stations in the
blocks between Central Park West and Amsterdam Avenue. The peak of this
boom came in 1886; architects, developers, and builders active elsewhere in
the city were now focusing their attention on the prime real estate
opportunities of the Upper West Side.

Buildij

Single-family houses, the first choice of upper middle—class families
locating in the area, were only profitable for their developers on the side

10



streets, where property prices never rose as high as they did on the avenues
during the era of real estate speculation. Built over a relatively short
span of years, the rowhouses on the Upper West Side represent the final
years of construction of single-family dwellings in Manhattan. Although the
majority of these houses were constructed in the 1880s and 1890s, scattered
groups contimied to be built in the area of the district until as late as
1910. Generally, however, the construction of rowhouses declined after 1895
when the cost of owning and maintaining a private home rose cut of reach of
the majority of New Yorkers.

developed with private houses. The avemies were also too busy and noisy due
to the transportation lines to be preferred house locations. Columbus
Avenue was an unpaved, undeveloped road before 1879, but with the
MmductlmoftheElltwastmnsfomedlntoabustlmgﬂmrux;hfam
Tenements and flats were built on Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues during the
first phase of development in the district and were also initially clustered
around the El stations. These buildings were designed to have commercial
businesses at street level and residential units above, and catered to less
prosperous families than those who could afford single-family houses. Flats
without storefronts were sometimes built on the side streets, usually in
rows that terminated on the aveme.

Various solutions were attempted in the effort by architects and
developers to provide acceptable housing to a growing mniddle—class
population who could not afford rowhouses but who desired many of the
features of life in rowhouses. Many of these people had lived in hotels,
boarding houses, or subdivided houses and were accustomed to life in
miltiple dwellings, and all were familiar with the ubiquitous tenements for
the working classes. But for various reasons those places did not satisfy
the demand for self-contained private quarters that the middle class
considered suitable for family life. There were precedents for maltiple-..
family living in Europe,- especially in london, Paris, and Vienna, but in New . .
York City its image was tainted by association with overcrowded working-
class tenements, and no canpletely satisfactory model existed.

During the period of the construction of multiple dwellings in the area
of the district developers and architects experimented with existing forms:
"second-class dwellings" for the working class were recast as "French Flats"
for the middle class (called "French Flats" because of their asssociation
with Parisian prototypes): a new building type, the apartment building, took
various forms including the studio apartment; and the apartment and the
hotel were merged into a new type, the apartment hotel. By the turn of the
century, the standard, accepted form of housing for the middle class on the
Upper West Side and throughout the city was the apartment building.

The district is enhanced by several institutional buildings which
display design qualities that complement the residential character of the
area. Religiocus institutions have played an important role in serving the
population of the Upper West Side from the time that develcpment began in
earmest, and their histories are inextricable from the development of the
district. ©Other institutions also arrived to address the various
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intellectual, social, and physical needs of Upper West Side families. Some
of these institutions not only provide services to New York City residents,
but are also significant on national and intermational levels, such as the
American Museum of Natural History. For more information on the
institutional buildings located within the district, see the sections of -
this report which follow.

Zoning and Tenement Taws

Numerous, sanetimes overlapping, conditions and sets of regulations -
have affected the construction of buildings since the earliest -surviving--
- structure in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District was -
erected. The street plan, the parcelization of blocks into twenty-five by
100 foot lots, and the rowhly northeast-southwest orientation of the
majority of those lots cammon to muich of Manhattan produced a narrow range
of possibilities for crienting densely-built urban dwellings to sunlight and
fresh air. Starting in 1867, a series of Tenement House laws (discussed
more fully below in the section of this report on Multiple Dwellings) scught
to insure wholesame conditions in all residential buildings for three or
more households (applicable to all miltiple dwellings but primarily aimed at
improving corditions for low and middle income households 1living in
tenements and flats). Two primary concerns of these laws were the provision
of light and air through light wells, light courts, and rear yards, and the
provision of adequate plumbing.

Later, same of these same concerns were addressed for different types
of buildings in a very different way through the Building Zone Resclution of
1916.2 The Building Zone Resolution, which overlaid but did not supersede
the Tenement House law, was concerned with three issues --height, use, amd
area of lot coverage — in order to minimize congestion, increase light and
air, and segregate incampatible uses. The-height regulations, established
- primarily in response to congestion caused by dense construction of office .
buildings in lower Manhattan involved "setback" rules for buildings which -
exceeded in height a multiple of the street width. The entire area of the
Upper-West Side/Central Park West Historic District was within an area where
buildings were allowed to be one and one-half times the width of the street
(the widest street if on a corner), with an increase in height of three feet
for every foot the building set back from the building line abowve that
point. Provisions of the Tenement House Iaw effectively eliminated setbacks
for residential buildings such as apartment buildings, but did not affect
hotels or apartment hotels. Thus the roughly uniform height of tall
apartment kbuildings of the 1920s on such streets as West 79th and West 86th
Streets was the result of building all to the same miltiple of the street
width. Throughout the area the same provisions meant higher walls of
buildings on relatively wide cross streets like 79th and 86th than on the
narrower side streets where some large-scale building also occurred. West
67th Street, narrow in width and developed before 1916 with tall studio
buildings which exceed the standards of the Building Zone Resolution, is the:

2 New York City Board of Estimate and Apportiorment, Building Zone
Resolution, 1916, with amendments 1920, revised 1927.
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most canyonlike street in the district. At the same time, the Building Zone
Resolution regulated lot ocoverage, largely through formulas for rear
setbacks from the property line, and use, by restricting conmerce to
mlmnb.:sﬁ Amsterdam, and Broadway, with only residences. on the side .
streets.

Building Iaws

Parallel to these regulations, which are intended to maintain "gquality
- of life" standards, are the building laws whose intent is more with safety -
" 'sound “construction and resistance to fire. At the time that the-
“first bluld:mgs were constructed in the area of the district, a . basic-
provision of the building laws was the requirement that ]:n.uld_mgs within
certain areas could not have exterior walls of wood. By 1882, all such
buildings were excluded below West 140th Street. In 1885 height limits were
established by a separate ordinance? for residential buildings for the
purpose of fire protection (seventy feet maximum on streets up to sixty feet
wide and eighty feet maximm on streets over sixty feet wide). Between 1871
and 1885 the principal application of the laws was in the details of the
construction of brick buildings, such as the thickness and bonding of walls,
the spacing of wood floor joists and roof beams, ard the design and height
of chimneys. In 1885 the building laws were thoroughly revised; they
included the reguirement that hotels over thirty-five feet in height be
fireproof, that other dwellings up to five stories have a fireproof

, and that dwellings over five stories (to a maximm of seven
stories or eighty-five feet) be fireproof at the basement and first two
stories, which meant the substitution of wood floor structures with brick or
terra-cotta arches. In 1892, the 18385 laws were revised, for the first time
specifying the use of iron ard steel skeleton construction.

In 1901, a new, still more camprehensive building law, for the first
time called the "“Building Code," took effect. Most new buildings
constructed in the district after this time had firveproof, steel-skeleton
construction and were equipped with a variety of modern technologies:
electric light, elevators, gas for light and cooking, sophisticated and
extensive plumbing systems, mechanical ventilation systems, and boilers for
hot water and steam heat. None of these features were new but now almost
every building would be equipped with all of them, and all were regulated by
the Building Code. By the time the Code was revised in 1916, advances in
fireproofing, the use of new materials and the associated adoption of new
technologies, notably reinforced concrete, and the elimination of masonry
bearing walls in large buildings all had an impact on the way in vwhich the
multiple dwellings were constructed after that time in the district. Iater,
particularly in the 1920s, the Building Code was applied to the design of

3 By 1920, amendments to the Building Zone Resolution permitted
businesses on 68th, 72nd, 83rd, and 89%th Streets within the area of the
district.

4 New York State, Iaw Limiting the Height of Dwelling Houses (Albany,
.1885) .
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curtain walls, including their thickness and means of attachment to steel
skeletons.?

Devel opment Patterns®

With the opening of the El in 1879, a pattern of development emerged
with rowhouses on the quiet side streets and multiple dwellings of varicus
kinds on the averues. The pattern was, if not established, given
conspicucus and ccherent expression in the building campaign around 1879- .
1882 undertaken ‘by Singer Sewing Machine Company president and Upper West
'Side promoter, Edward S. Clark, and architect Henry J. Hardenbergh-on West-=
72rd and West 73rd Streets from Central Park West to Columbus Avermie. The
Dakcta, a large apartment building occupying about twenty house lots, was
built on the most desirable site facing Central Park between West 72nd and
73rd Streets; rowhouses were built on the north side of West 73rd Street
away from traffic; and less desirable and more densely occupied flats were
built on Columbus Avenue with its noisy elevated railroad. Most residential
construction in the area followed exactly this pattern through the turn of
the century: five-story flats and tenements on the avenues, larger flats
and apartment buildings on corner sites, particularly on Central Park West,
and three— to four-story rowhouses on the side streets. The rowhouses and
the miltiple dwellings that date from this period of development relate to
one ancther in terms of overall scale, style, and materials, and it is the
interplay between the characteristic building types of the side streets and
avenues that gives the district its cohesive quality.

Professional relationships between land-owning speculators, building
developers or builders, and architects -— like that of Clark and Hardenbergh
— resulted in the clustering of rowhouses and flats erected by developers
and their associated architects. Elsewhere in the district, businessman and
real estate speculator D. Willis James and his architect John G. Prague
designed miltiple dwellings on the avenues anchoring side street blocks of
rowhouses; this can be seen on the north side of West 85th Street which is -
lined with rowhouses and has the Brockholst, an apartment hotel, on the
Columbus Averme corner and the Sunset, a flats building, on the 2msterdam
Averue corner. Prominent real estate developer Bernard S. Levy collaborated
with the Spanish architect, Rafael Guastavino, building rows of houses on
opposite sides of West 78th Street between Colurbus ard Amsterdam Avenues in

5 New York State, Laws Relating to the Construction of Buildings in
the City of New York (Albany, 1882, 1887, 1892, 1897). New York City Bureau
of Buildings, Building Code (New York, 1901, 1916, 1930). New York City
building laws were the province of the State until Consolidation in 1901.

€ fThe analysis of development patterns in the district is primarily
based upon the examination of records of the Department of Buildings.
Statistical data — such as date, huilding type, architect, original owner,
ard style -- were compiled in databases, sorted, and cross-referenced. 'The
information compiled in the databases serves as the primary component of the
row and building entries which follow in this report. (The databases and
computer programs were designed by Marion Cleaver of the LPC staff).
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the 1880s. The houses built by Francis Crawford in the vicinity of West
- 72nd Street between Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues (listed in records of the
Department of Buildings as owned by Margaret Crawford, presumably his wife)
are almost exclusively designed by the architect Gilbert A. Schellenger.
MparﬁaﬂarardntectmﬂcedforsevemldevelopersandMshmsesarﬂ
flats are found throughout the district.

Rowhouses and flats designed by the firm of Thom & Wilson from the
late-1870s through the 1890s are found in great mmbers in the district. .
Althcugh the firm worked for many developers, Thom & Wilson were the
exclusive architectural firm for the variocus menbers and partnerships of-the-
Farleys, a family of developers which included John T., James A., Terence, -
and Patrick Farley. - Likewise, the Halls, another Upper West Slde real
estate dynasty, often retained the firm of Them & Wilson, although they also
comnissioned the architectural firm of Welch, Smith & Provot for some of
their later building campaigns.

Although less frequent, the clustering of flats and rowhouses designed
by one architect for different owners occurs in the district. This can be
seen on the block bounded by West 80th and 8lst Streets between Columbus and
amsterdam Avenues. The firm of Neville & Bagge, and George A. Bagge on his
own, designed most of the rowhouses and flats on this block, as well as an
apartment building, all constructed between 1890 and 1913 {a total of
thirty-four buildings are extant). Here, the architects worked with five
different developers.

Development on Central Park West, like Riverside Drive further to the
west, lagged behind that on nearby side streets and avenues; during the
early years of speculative trading in Upper West Side property, the high
cost of Central Park West lots had reflected the desirability of being
located on the Park, ard ultimately the land was valued too high for
speculative development with rowhouses. In addition to the Dakota, there -
were scattered flats and rowhouses built on Central Park West in the 1880s .-
and 1890s (of which only a few remain), but the bulk of the Central Park
West property was not extensively developed until the introduction of
electricity into the area in 1896 allowed for the construction of lwxury
elevator apartment buildings.

Manhattan Square was one of the few parks allocated by the 1811
Comnissioners’ plan; it is the only park area within the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District boundaries. ILocated between West
77th and 81st Streets, Central Park West and Columbus Averue, this eighteen-—
acre park was acquired by the city through condemnation and opened in 1840,
and amnexed to Central Park in 1864. Its purpose as an open public space
superseded by the creation of Central Park, Manhattan Sguare was provided as
the site for the American Museum of Natural History (begqun in 1874) and
subsequently was larndscaped. The museum itself enhanced property values
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surrounding the square.’ 1In addition to the block between West 72nd and
73rd Streets near Central Park West where the Clark/Hardenbergh develgpoment
was located, the perimeter of Manhattan Square became a fashionable area in
the mid-1880s. Unlike Central Park West, by the late 1880s and 1890s the .
block-long north and south frontages of Manhattan Square were built
exclusively with "large and expensive" rowhouses. Except for a single
twenty-five foot wide house at No. 33 West 8lst Street (one of an original
row of three, 1885-86, Hemry L. Harris, architect), all of these houses were
later replaced by apartment buildings. However, the multiple dwellings that
‘date from a slightly later period, situated across Columbus Averme from -
'Manhattan Square (the Evelyn, the Hotel Orleans, the Warwick Arms, and the=
Endicott), are still extant.

Iarge-Scale Development and Redevelopment

In 1898, the surface transportation lines on Amsterdam Averue and
Broadway were electrified, and finally, in 1904, the Broadway IRT subway
line was completed with stops at West 72nd, 79th, 86th, 91st, and 96th
Streets. These transportation improvements, together with the growing
population and the rising cost of housing, were factors in bringing about a
mmber of changes in the early years of the twentieth century: the
construction of single~family rowhouses, tenements, and flats ended (housing.
for the upper and lower ends of the social spectrum); the construction of
taller elevator hotels and apartment buildings increased, especially on
Broadway, Amsterdam Avenie, and Central Park West; and the first develomment
of large elevator buildings occurred on a side street — a group of four
studio buildings on West 67th Street — followed after 1910 by the
construction of many large elevator huildings on side streets, including a
graup of apartment hotels on West 72nd Street.

2part from a few notable early exceptions, such as the Dakota,
apartment buildings were not generally constructed on the Upper West Side.
kefore 190¢. The erection of most apartment buildings had been postponed .
urtil the rumning of electrical lines on the Upper West Side was completed
-in 1896, which allowed for elevators (the Dakota had its own power source).
A relatively new type of multiple dwelling in New York, these buildings were
often planned arcurxd light courts or a central cowrtyard (following the 1901
Tenement House Iaw) and differed from the flats buildings specifically in
the luwxary of the appointments and in the mmber of amenities that they
offered. Designed for the upper-middle class, the earliest luwry apartment
buildings were erected primarily on Central Park West, which was prime for
high-profit develcopment, where they could rise to the maximum allowed height
of twelve stories or fifteen stories, depending on the height of the

7 wManhattan Square has taken on a new significance to the adjacent
property owners since the new wing [of the Museum] was constructed. No.
uncertainty now attaches to its future. It will be a popular establishment,
the center of fashionable and constantly augmenting interest," in "West Side
Mumber," Real Estate Record & Guide Supplement, 51, no. 1300 (Feb. 11,
1893), 23.
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ceilings.8

In anticipation of the increased accessibility and convenience that the
IRT would provide to the area, Broadway, which had always been the main
artery of the Upper West Side, began to be developed with grand apartment
buildings and hotels at the turn of the century, such as the Ansonia and the
‘Apthorpe (both are designated New York City Landmarks and not included
within the boundaries of the district). The Spencer Arms (1904-05) and the
Embassy (1899-1900) are two examples in the district of this development
trend. Most of these buildings, like those on Colurbus and Amsterdam
" Avenues,  also acoommodated small commercial interests at street level. 3

The apartment hotel became a moderately popular building type
throughout New York City during the 1880s and 1890s and was profitable for
investors. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, this
building type is generally found on Columbus Averne, Broadway, and the wide
cross streets, such as West 72nd Street, which were most convenient to
public transportation. while residential hotels had been a fixture in the
lifestyles of same well-to—do families since before the Civil War, apartment
hotels were primarily designed for small families who wished to live in a
suite of rocoms, but to avoid the cost amd domestic responsibilities of house
ownership. Apartment hotels would irwariably have a hotel dining rocm, but
some of the suites might be cutfitted with small kitchens, like those of the
Endicott at West 81st Street arnd the Brockholst at West 85th Street, both on
Colunius Averie and dating from 1889. Apartment hotels were built in the
district into the third decade of the twentieth century. An example of the
later group is the Oliver Cromwell at 12 West 72nd Street (designed by Emery
Roth for Washington Sguare, Inc. in 1927).

During the nineteenth century, a new variation of muitiple dwelling,
the studio building, was developed to meet the specialized demand for
studios to accommodate artists living in New York. Studio buildings
-contained duplex -units incorporating 1living and  working spaces, often .
oriented toward the north, with large industrial sash windows to-allow the
maximm natural 1light into the interior. Frequently conceived as a
specialized form of apartment hotel, these buildings often provided dining
room facilities for residents. Irrterestingly, the studio buildings in the
historic district are clustered along the north side of West 67th Street
(the southern-facing units also have duplex arrangements). It has been
suggested that restrictive covenants governing the side streets from West
68th Street northward, allowing only low-scale development in the form of
first—class single-family dwellings, may have been the inpetus for
developing the north side of West 67th Street with studio buildings because

8 The Tenement House Law of 1901 allowed for maximum huilding heights
for multiple dwellings of one and one-half times the width of the street on
which they fronted.
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mrﬂ:erne:qaom:reatﬂierearwasguaranteed.g The first
studio building to appear in the historic district was erected in 1902-03 at
No. 27 West 67th Street. Unable to find financial backing, this building
was organized as a cooperative by the artist residents themselves; it proved
so successful that the Real Estate Record & Guide suggested that there was a
pmfi&oto be made in this sort of venture and that speculators should take -
heed.

During the period between World War I ard the Depression, a wave of
redevelopment substantially modified the character of the area. Most
"noticeable was the huge boom in ‘apartment building construction of nearly—
ninety buildings between 1919 and 1931, concentrated on Central Park West;
Amsterdam Avermie; the broad streets of West 72nd, West 79th, anxd West 86th;
and West 77th arnd West 8lst Streets around Manhattan Square. These
buildings are representative of a much larger development boom in the city,
spurred by favorable economic conditions and cammercial expansion. Also,
many rowhouses were converted to multiple-family dwellings during the 1920s
following a 1919 amendment of the Tenement House ILaw allowing for such
conversions (prior to the change in the law, a mmber of rowhouses in the
district were already occupied as roaming houses which had not reguired
substantial interior alterations). In general these changes responded to
the need in New York for an increase in housing for the growing mumber of
small middle-class families. The high-density redevelopment that took place
in the area alsoc enabled developers to maximize profits.

These apartment buildings were generally larger than those constructed
before World War I ard contained smaller apartments with lower ceiling
heights, and therefore could accommodate many more families. These later
buildings were taller (over twelve stories) and occupied more ground area
(few sat on less than four standard lots and many occupied more than twice
that mmber) than the twenty- to thirty-year-old buildings they replaced.

-~ Many rowhouses were demolished for the construction of apartment .
buildings in the mid-1920s. Speculators were buaying dwellings on the Upper
West Side toward this end, anticipating enhanced property values upon
cormpletion of the Eighth Avenue Independent (IND) subway. Whereas the
earliest develcpers in the district tended to be individuals or family-
related firms, in the 1920s most development was by real estate companies
often formed for the purpose of a single project; the costs of constructing
even one apartment building had risen out of reach of the resources or risk-
taking ability of all but a very few.

With the onset of the Depression in 1929, construction in the district
all but halted with a few exceptions, notably the four twin—towered
apartiment buildings on Central Park West — the San Remo, the Eldorado, the

9 Conversation with architectural historian Andrew S. Dolkart, March
22, 1990. Dolkart is the author of the National Register Nomination for the
West 67th Street studio buildings.

10 peal Estate Record & Guide 72, no. 1865 (Dec. 12, 1903), 1077.
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Majestic, ard the Century — which benefited fram the 1929 Multiple Dwelling
Iawll allowing "skyscraper" apartment buildings for the first time. This
law superseded the Tenement House Law of 1901 and supplemented the amended
- Building Zone Resolution of 1927. Under this law most multiple dwellings,
which by this time usually meant apartment buildings, were restricted in
total height, including setbacks, to about one and three—quarters times the
width of the widest street up to 100 feet. This would result in a building
of 178 feet — approximately nineteen stories. Exceptions were made for
buildings, such as those mentioned above, occupying very large sites (over

30,000 sguare feet), in which one or more towers could rise from large bases-

up to three times the street width.

Although there was a slowdown of new building  activity during the
Depression it did not have a significant impact upon the development in this
district until 1931. In the six-year period between 1931 and 1937 only
seventeen huildings were erected in the district, as compared to thirty-
three in the two-year period between 1927 and 192%. Significantly, of the
buildings constructed in the 1930s, only a few were large apartment
buildings, the majority being either service, utilitarian, or public
buildings, which included two funeral homes and a school.

The 100 block of West 72rd Street and the 200 block of West 79th Street
were subsequently - adapted for commercial uses, primarily with one~ and two-

story alterations and additions to existing rowhouses, and also with the-

reconstruction of rowhouses extended to the building line and given new
facades. The commercial transformation of these streets in the blocks near
Broadway was spurred by the proximity to the Broadway IRT subway stations
and revisions 'in the zoning of these streets to allow for changes in use.
Along West 72nd Street these alterations fiqured prominently in the 1920s,
whereas the alterations along West 79th Street generally appeared in the
1930s and 1940s. These wide cross streets had initially been developed with
the finest class of houses and later with apartment buildings nearer to

Central Park. The residential upper stories of these altered rowhouses are. .

still intact above many of the commercial bases.

Activity resumed slowly after the Depression, and although a few large
apartment buildings were built in the 1940s changes were reflected primarily
in the houses of the side streets. From the 1920s to the 1970s, but mostly
after World War II, there were alterations of rowhouses (many of which had
been subdivided into rooming houses earlier in the century) into the
equivalent of small apartment buildings; these conversions were fregquently
associated with stoop removals. Ancther type of post-war alteration that
had an impact on the the district was the reconstruction and consolidation
of one or more rowhouses into small apartment buildings with new facades and
sometimes additional stories.

11 New York State, The Multiple Dwelling Iaw of the State of New York
(Albany, 1930).
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Subsequent History and Planning Changes

During the 1960s and 1970s portions of the Upper West Side were the
focus of Federal and State Urban Renewal activity. The most famous urban
renewal project in this area was the construction of Lincoln Center in the
lower West 60s. In 1962 (plan amended in 1966), the area between West 87th
and 97th Streets, Central Park West amnd Amsterdam Avenue was also identified
as a West Side Urban Renewal area. This project involved the erection of
two public schools; the refurbishing of flats, tenements, and rowhouses; the--
“issuance of federal lcans for the refurbishment of apartment buildings-on-
Central Park West; and the demolition of most of the existing flats and
tenements along Columbus and Amsterdam Avernes between West 87th and 97th
Streets, which were replaced by federally-subsidized low- to middle-income
apartment buildings. Encouraged by the 1961 revision to the zoning code,
most of these buildings take the form of large towers on open plazas and are
a much different size and scale than those in the district. South of West
87th Street, private developers purchased and renovated many of the existing
buildings along Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues using J-51 and other
incentive programs. The high-rise buildings that resulted from urban
renewal are incompatible in height, scale, date, and style with the
buildings in the district and the northwestern and southwestern boundaries -
of the historic district, in particular, are drawn to exclude the areas in
which they are located.

In the early 1980s, the }.‘JIJ.'le.'LngS that had resulted from the twenty-
year old zoning revision were coming increasingly under attack for their
non-contextual relationship with the existing Upper West Side building
stock. Strong community activism and a growing awareness of the benefits of
retaining and enhancing the area’s historic fabric were responsible to a
large extent for bringing about zoning changes (implemented in 1984 to cowver
the area from West 59th Street to West 86th Street, Central Park West to the

‘Hudson River) that require new buildings to conform to the street wall and -

set back above a prescribed height in an effort to retain a contextual
relationship with the mostly low~to medium~rise buildings on the avermes and
streets of the Upper West Side. These zoning provisions have been important
in helping to maintain the scale and character of the area of the historic
district.

Mirande Dupuy
Michael Corbett
Elisa Urbanelli
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THE CHARACTER OF CENTRAL PARK WEST

Central Park West, the northern continuation of Eighth Avemue, nns
along the western edge of Central Park. As it extends through the
district, the averue is characterized by a varied skyline rising above a
uniform street wall. Constructed over roughly a fifty-year period, 1880-
1930, low-scale institutional buildings, medium-scale apartment buildings,
and soaring twin-towered apartment buildings designed in a mumber of late
nineteenth- and early twentieth-century styles define Central Park West as a:-
grand proscenium to the architectural variety of the district.

Today one of New York’s finest residential streets, Eighth Averme
(renamed Central Park West between 59th and 110th Street in 1883) in the
mid-nineteenth century was ungraded, unpaved, and led through a rural area
spotted with rocky outcroppings, roaming goats, and modest wood-frame
houses. As the city’s population expanded during this period, demand for a
public park increased to amelicrate crowding and benefit all of the people
of New York. Iard was set aside for a large park between Fifth and Eighth
Avenues, extending from 59th to 110th Street. Wwith the creation of Central
Park, designed by Frederick law Olmsted and Calvert Vaux after their
"Greensward" plan of 1857-58, as well as a series of transportation
improvements such as the Eighth Avenue street rail line, opened from midtown -
to 84th Street in 1864, and the Ninth Avenue Elevated Railway (1879), the
Upper West Side in general experienced a periocd of intense real estate
speculation which lasted into the early 1880s before development began in
earnest. Olmsted correctly predicted that the land immediately adjacent to
the park would quickly rise in value and that the area would develop into a
prime residential neighborhood. Initially, however, the west side opposite
Central Park, unlike the more fashionable east side, did not attract the
wealthy people who could afford the inflated prices of the land bordering
the park. ©n the other hand, land prices along the park rose to such a..
degree that most speculative builders shied away from rowhouse and tenement -
construction, for which they wauld receive relatively modest returns. Wwhile
the side streets of the district were built up with rows of speculatively-
built houses during the 1880s and 1890s, Central Park West remained largely
undeveloped.

A few of the huildings constructed during this early period of
speculation and development remain on the avenue, such as the three
sarviving single-family houses of an original row of nine at 247, 248, and
249 Central Park West (Edward L. Angell, 1887-88), two houses of an original
row of five at Nos. 354 and 355 (Gilbert A. Schellerger, 1892-93), and the
Iolita, a flats building at No. 227 (Thom & Wilson, 1888-89). However, the
early character of the avernue was really established by two great momments:
the Dakota, the pioneering lwxury apartment building at West 72nd Street
(Henry J. Hardenbergh, 1880-84), and the American Museum of Natural History
between West 77th and 8lst Streets in Manhattan  Square (first building
designed by Calvert Vaux and Jacck Wrey Mould, begun 1874), both designated
New York City Iandmarks. On the heels of these initial farsighted efforts
came a number of low-scale institutional buildings during the late-
nineteenth and early-twentieth centuries. Among them were the Synagogue of
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Congregation Shearith Israel at 99 Cemtral Park West (Brunner & Tryon, 1896-
97}, a designated New York City landmark, and the Church of the Divine
Paternity (now the Church of the Fourth Universalist Society) at the
southwest . corner of Central Park West and West 76th Street (William A.
Potter, 1897-98), in the Central Park West - West 76th Street Historic
District. Concurrent with this period of development several apartment .
- hotels and apartment buildings were constructed in the 1890s, including the
Hotel Beresford at the northwest corner of Central Park West and West 8lst
Street, the Majestic at West 71st Street, the El Dorado at West 90th Street,
and the San Remo at West 75th Street; all later replaced by their towered -
namesakes of the 1920s and 1930s. Several grand luxury apartment buildings ..
constructed prior to World War I increased the prestige of Central Park
West, including the Prasada at the southwest cormer of West 65th Street.
(Charles William Romeyn, 1905-07) and the Kenilworth at the northwest corner
of West 75th Street (Townsend, Steinle & Haskell, 1906-08, in the Central
Park West-West 76th Street Historic District). This phase of development
was effectively halted by the war.

The next and last phase of development to have a major impact on
Central Park West accompanied the econamic prosperity of the 1920s, and was
enhanced by the anticipation of the opening in 1932 of the new Independent
subway line (IND) which runs below Central Park West with stops at West
72nd, 81st, and 86th Streets. At roughly the same time, the city widened .
the avenue bed from forty-eight feet to sixty-three feet. This period saw
the construction of large-scale apartment buildings, in particular the
towered buildings that give Central Park West its special skyline
silhouette. With the enactment of the Multiple Dwelling Iaw in 1929, which
allowed residential buildirgs of large ground area greater height and the
use of towers, it became possible to build skyscraper apartment buildings.
(For more information on the Multiple Dwelling Iaw, see the section of this
report on multiple dwellings). The Beresford Apartments between West 8lst
and 82rd Streets (Emery Roth, 1928-29, a designated New York City Iandmark),
with its roofline animated by the prominent treatment of the water towers at ..
three corners, presaged the appearance of the twin-towered apartment
uildings that followed in the next three vyears. These distinctive
buildings, all of which ccoupy entire blockfronts alorng Central Park West,
include the Century Apartments between 62nd and 63rd Streets (Irwin S.
¢hanin and Jacques L. Delamarre, Sr., 1931), the Majestic Apartments between
71st and 72nd Streets (Irwin S. Chanin, 1930~31), the San Remo Apartments
between 74th and 75th Streets (Emery Roth, 1929-30), and the Eldorado
Apartments between 90th ard 91st Streets (Margon & Holder with Emery Roth as
consultant, 1929-31); all are designated New York City Iandmarks. With the
Great Depression, the heyday of construction on Central Park West came to an
end; the dynamic twin-towered buildings serve as a brilliant climax to the
last great surge of development activity on the averue.

The large buildings fronting on Central Park West extend back from the
avenue into the side street blocks of the district and have an impact on
these streetscapes. The side street facades of these kuildings, while
displaying materials and details that are compatible with the rowhouses on
the side streets, are erected on the building line in contrast to the
“rowhouses which are set back from the street behind areaways. The interplay
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between the low-scale character of the rowhouse groups which dominate the
side strests and the large-scale character of the taller buildings that
" terminate these blocks on Central Park West reinforces that role of the
averue as an eastern frame of the district.

The buildings lining Central Park West demonstrate the use of exuberant
styles and materials as varied and picturesque as the avenue’s skyline. As
seen from Central Park this distinctive silhouette — camposed of buildings
of differing scale ard style richly clad in brick and stone and punctuated
by an assortment of roofline treatments such as gables, mansards, -and—--
- soarirg towers —— presents a picture of architectural variety unique in New...
York City.

The surviving late-nineteenth century buildings, such as the Iolita
designed in the Renaissance Revival style with neo-Grec and Queen Anne
elements, enmploy contrasting materials to achieve polychromatic effects.
The Queen Anne style rowhouses at 247, 248, and 249 Central Park West,
executed in brick and finely-carved stone, are crowned by prominent slate
roofs punctuated by gables and chimneys. The first great apartment building
in the district, the Dakota, is an unusual example of the German Renaissance
Revival style combining a bold massing of forms and a free use of historical
detail in contrasting brick, stone, and terra cotta. The Holy Trinity
Evargjelical Iuntheran Church at 51-55 Central Park West (Schickel & Ditmars,
1902-03) is an example of the neo~Gothic style in striking rusticated stone,
while the Synagogue of Congregation Shearith Israel, faced in smooth stone,
is a more formal example of Academic Classicism. A rare example of the Art
Nouveau/Secessionist style in the district is the Society for Ethical
Culture Auditorium at 33 Central Park West (Robert D. Kohn, 1913, a
designated New York City landmark). This building adds a special note of
interest to the variety found in the district.

At first the designs of the apartment buildings of the early twentieth
century continued to utilize polychramy and contrasting materials, even as .
massing became more formal and regularized. An example is the Beaux-Arts
style Kenilworth, which is faced in red brick with white stone trim amd
crowned with a slate mansard roof pierced with dormers. As the neo-
Renaissance style proliferated toward the erd of the first decade of this
century, facade conmposition and the use of contrasting materials became more
restrained. The Brookford, at 315 Central Park West (Schwartz & Gross,
1911-12) reflects this aesthetic; its tripartite composition features a
facade faced in brown brick with stone and terra cotta trim concentrated at
the base and upper stories. Terra cotta would assume greater importance as
a building material during the construction boom of the late 1920s and early
1930s.

The buildings on Central Park West designed in the late 1920s by noted
architect Emery Roth illustrate his distinctive aesthetic which coambines
modern massing with ornament inspired by Italian Renaissance and Barogue
sources. The work of this architect reflects the transition from the neo—
Renaissance aesthetic, in which classically-inspired ornament is applied to
the facade, to the stylized detail and bold massing of the Art Deco style.
One of Roth’s works, the Beresford, is an example of the large-scale
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apartment buildings constructed on Central Park West beginning in the late
1920s. Faced in brick and stone, it is embellished with Renaissance- and
Barogque—inspired elements, while the top stories are stepped back,
influenced by zoning laws, and given enmphatic treatment in a manner
characteristic of buildings designed in the cmrrent Art Deco style. The
neo-Renaissance style reached a. culmination in Roth’s design for the twin—.
towered San Remo Apartments, faced in light brick with Italian Renaissance
details executed in monochromatic stone, terra cotta, and metal. As Art
Deco style apartment buildings proliferated, the -use of contrasting color .
arnd materials gained a new importance in architectural design, emphasizing:.
texture, pattern, and- stylized motifs from a variety.of sources. The..
Ardsley (Emery Roth, 1930-31), located at 320 Central Park West, is faced in
brick with bold, linear cast-stone trim derived from Mayan sources. The
Century and the Majestic, both with sophisticated twin-towered desioms by
Irwin S. Chanin, are among the most notable residential buildings in New
York that embrace the Art Deco aesthetic.

'IhedlaracterofcentralPaﬁ(Westlstheresultoftwonajor
development phases extending over a period of roughly fifty-five years, from
1880 to 1930. Only two buildings have been constructed on the averme in the
past twenty-five years, thus Central Park West remains much the same as it
was in the 1930s, and retains the architectural variety and dramatic
silhcuette that make it a unique presence in New York City.

Kevin McHugh
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THE CHARACTER OF THE SIDE STREETS

The umsually long side street blocks that form the heart of the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District have a character which is
determined in part by the relatively narrow, sixty-foot street width, and
the standard size of the New York City building lot, 25 feet wide by 100
feet deep, arrayed on blocks which are 200 feet wide and 800 feet lorg.
(The short side street blocks between Columbus Avenue and Broadway are a-
modification of this pattern.) Developers of rowhouses purchased several
lots at a time, combining them and thensubchv1dmg them -into narrower .
widths so that, for example, five or six houses could be built on a 100 by
100 foot plot. Development in the area initially focused on the side
streets which achieved their predaminant architectural character between
1880 ard 1895, as the blockfronts were built up with long rows of houses
that unified the streetscapes by consistent height, setback, and overall
form. These houses are usually four stories high above raised basements,
approached by straight or box stoops, or less freguently, five stories high
with American basements, set back from the building line behind areaways,
and faced with brownstone or brick with contrasting stone or terra-cotta
trim. The rows are stylistically varied and there is often a great deal of
variety in form ard ornamental detail within each row, thus producing a
multiplicity of configurations (for example, ABCDCBA). While over 100 -
architects designed rowhouses within the district, the character of the side
streets is further unified by the work of several prolific architects and
firms. Sometimes this work is concentrated within a few blocks as that of
Henry J. Hardenbergh on two blocks of West 73rd Street, John G. Prague on
West 85th and West 87th Streets, and Neville & Bagge on two blocks of West
88th Street. George F. Pelham’s houses are fourd on many side streets, ard
those of Gilbert A. Schellenie.r and Thom & Wilson are located on virtually
every street of the district.

: ¥While rowhouses are the predominant building type on the side streets, .
other types are also important. Contemporancous with the construction of
the rowhouses are tenements and flats buildings at the Amsterdam and
Colunbus Avenue ends of the side street blocks. Built in rows, like the
single-family houses, these multiple dwellings could be oriented to either
the avenue or the side street. When a row extended to the corner, at least
one building in each group had its entrance on the side street. Many flats
bhuildings were constructed in conjunction with side street rowhouses:;
examples include the flats building designed by Henry J. Hardenbergh at 281-
287 Columbus Avenue (a/k/a 67 West 73rd Street) built in 1882-84 with the
row at 41-65 West 73rd Street, and three flats buildings designed by Gilbert
A. Schellenger at 72-76 West 69th Street (a/k/a 191-199 Columbus Averue)
built in 1892-93 with a row of eight houses at 48-70 West 69th Street. Even
when designed as separate projects, these flats buildings have a mmber of
characteristics which relate them to the rowhouses: a uniform height of five

12 For firther information on the rowhouses and their architects, see
the section on "The Architectural Development arnd Character of Single—Family
Dwellings" and the "Architects’ Appendix" below.
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stories which is roughly equivalent to the four stories with basement of the
rowhouses, a slight setback (not as pronounced as the setback for rowhouses)
which serves to make the flats buildings act as pavilions for the rowhouses,
and similar materials and ornamental details. This interrelationship is
among the qualities which help to establish the character of the historic
district.

Apartment buildings and apartment hotels began to be introduced to some
of the side street blocks south of West 72nd Street as early as the 1910s.:
Two apartment buildings, designed by Rouse & Goldstone and built in 1912,
117-121 West 71st Street and 138-140 West 71st Street, are examples. Most-
apartment buildings on the side streets were huilt during a second phase of
apartment huilding construction after World War I. While some of these
buildings were constructed on lots that had been previocusly vacant, most
replaced existing rowhouses. These apartment buildings generally range in
width from fifty to 100 feet and rise from six to twelve stories.
Constructed at the kuilding line, rather than set back, the apartment
buildings, nonetheless, relate to the rowhouses in use of materials ard
architectural details. Iarger apartment buildings of twelve to €fifteen
stories fronting onto Central Park West and the averuwes impact on the side
street blocks with side street facades, which often display materials and
details that are campatible with the rowhouses. In some cases the building
has an address on the averue or Central Park West, but has its main entrance
on the side street.

Studio buildings represent a more specialized type of multiple dwelling
on the side street blocks. While nine buildings of this type, built between
1902 and 1929, are concentrated on West 67th Stneet, other examples are
scattered throughout the district. Similar in height, material, amd
architectural detail to the apartment buildings, these buildings are
distinguished by their double~height studio windows.

Small apartment buildings, corwerted from existing rowhouses by joining
one or more buildings, rebuilding the interiors, extending out the fronts,
ard erecting new facades, generally of unadorned brick, are less than
sympathetic intrusions onto the side street blocks.

Throughout the period of development of the district, religious
organizations and other institutions have constructed their buildings on
side street blocks. Churches, synagogues, schools, and similar structures,
designed by some of the city’s most prestigious architects and scattered
t]u'oughoutthedlstrlct enhance the district’s dmxacterar:drelatetothe
residential buildings in materials, scale, and architectural detail.l

13 For further information on tenements, flats buildings, and apartment
huildings, see the section on "The Architectural Development and Character
of Multiple Dwellings" below.

14 For more information on religious and institutional architecture in
the district, see the section on "The Architecture of Religious and Other
Public arnd Private Institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
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Camerce has had a minimal impact on the side streets. A New York
Telephone Conmpany office building (1920, McKenzie, Voorhies & Grelin) is
“lecated at 121-139 West 73rd Street. 2An ABC office building (Kohn Pedersen
Fox & Assocs., 1978-~79) at 28-32 West 67th Street is located adjacent to the
former Durland Riding Academy (Henry F. Killburn, 1900-01) which has been
converted to ABC studio and production use. The predaminant building type,
rowhouses, have not been commercialized save for the addition of storefronts
in a few rowhouses, -for example those at 65, 102 and 103 West 73rd Street
which are related to commerce on adjacent Columbus Averme.l® Of the
umerocus flatsan:lapartment huildings located on the side streets, onlya,
‘smail mumber have shops in their bases.

David Breiner
Marjorie Pearson

Historic District” below.

15 The commercial transformation of rowhouses on West 72nd Street and
West 79th Street is - discussed in the sections on "The Character of the
Cross Streets" and "The Commercial Architecture of the TUpper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District" below.
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THE CHARACTER OF THE CROSS STREETS

Residential Cross Streets

The cross streets of the historic district, West 72nd Street, West 79th

- Street, West 86th Street, and the sections of West 77th Street and West 81st

Street between Central Park West and Columbus Averme, derive their character

in part from the greater width of the streets themselves, 100 feet as

: -to the sixty-foot width of the side streets. All had similar.
initial development patterns. These blockfronts were filled with large and -
elegant rowhouses which followed the pattern of four stories above a high

basement or five stories with an American basement seen elsewhere in the

district, although the houses ternded to be wider, twenty to twenty-five

feet. West 77th Street and West 8l1st Street fronted onto Manhattan Scuare,

which made houses on those streets particularly desirable. By the turn of

the century, apartment hotels and apartment buildings of twelve to foaurteen

stories began to go up at the Central Park West and avenue ends of the cross

street blocks. Changing socio-economic conditions and changes in zoning

which allowed buildings to be constructed to the height of one-and-a-half

times the width of the street gave impetus to the construction of larger .
apartment buildings of fourteen to eighteen stories during the 1910s, prior -
to World War I, and in the 1920s. Today the predaminant character of the

cross streets is defined by walls of tall apartment buildings interspersed

with isolated groups of surviving rowhouses, although sections of West 72nd

Street and West 79th Street have taken on more specialized characters

relating to commerce in the district.

Commercial Cross Streets
West 72nd Street

Originally part of the Harsen Estate, which was subdivided into 500
lots identified for residential use due to restrictive covenants, West 72nd
Street developed into a fashionable street. Its generous width ard proximity
to an entrance to Central Park gave this street advantages owver other
streets nearby. Furthermore, as early as 1866, West 72nd Street fell under
the jurisdiction of Central Park; its landscaping was planned and maintained
by park employees, while commercial traffic was severely limited. Edward S.
Clark initiated development on West 72nd Street opposite Central Park with
the construction of the Dakota (1880-84) designed by Henry J. Hardenbergh.
After a period of real estate speculation, rowhouses were erected here
during the mid-1880s in the exuberant styles of the day. So ostentatious
were these houses, in fact, that an unappreciative critic writing for the
Real Estate Record & Guide called them "positively vulgar and inartistic.16

The opening of the IRT subway station at West 72nd Street and Broadway
in 1904 and changing socio-economic conditions of the early twentieth

16 wyest Side Illustrated," Real Estate Record & Guide, Nov. 16, 1889.
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century eventually altered the character of West 72rd Street.

The blockfronts east of Columbus Avenue saw the replacement of almost
every rowhouse by apartment buildings between 1925 and 1929. The Dakota was
jeoined by facing rows of mid-to-late 1920s apartment buildings and apartment
hotels, typically of sixteen stories, and by the side facade of Irwin 8.
Chanin’s Majestic apartment building (1930-31).

West of Columbus Averme the street was camercialized. During the first -
two decades of the twentieth century, three hotels (now with commercial -
bases) were built on the south side of the street; between 1911 and 1926
several residences were demolished for four apartment buildings with street--
level shops. However, the transformation that gave this block of West 72nd
Street its distinctive ambiance was the alteration of existing rowhouses for
commercial use, begimming in 1909 but most prevalent in the 1920s.17 on
this street there were two methods, equally popular, of converting the four-
story rowhouses with raised basements: (1) removing the stoop, extending the
lower two stories to the building line, and inserting a shopfront and
street-level entrance, thus accomedating businesses on the lower two
stories and apartments above and (2) extending the entire front to the
building line, erecting a new facade, and insertirg commercial space at the
first and/or second story with residential units above.

The resultant streetscape, which survives today, is created by the
alternation of largely intact nineteenth-century residential facades, set
back from the street, above twentieth-century extended two-story commercial
bases,18 and 1920s facades, erected at the huilding line. Also scattered
along the north and south blockfronts are the aforementioned hotels and
apartment buildings with storefronts at street level and several small
camercial buildings from the 1930s, some of which survive relatively
intact. Because of the popularity of West 72nd Street for retail and
service functions throughout the twentieth century, storefronts with their
attendant signs and awnings have been contimually replaced, often without .
regard to the overall architectural character of the buildings which contain
them. The only major alterations of recent years involve three 1930s
comnercial structures: two buildings (120-122 and 159 West 72nd Street) were
refaced in the 1970s and one edifice (143 West 72nd Street) received
additional stories in the 1980s. The total effect is a diverse commercial
street which contains a mix of suwrviving historic storefronts from the 1920s
arnd contemporary vernacular storefronts.

17 an amendment to the Building Zone Resolution in 1920 permitted
businesses on West 72nd Street.

18 For further information on the characteristics and qualities of
these converted rowhouses, see the section on "The Commercial Architecture
of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District" below.
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West 79th Street

A wide cross-street at the center of the historic district which
“extends from Columbus Avenue (at Manhattan Square)} to Broadway, West 79th
Street was developed with rowhouses in the 1880s and, especially, in the-
1890s. Proxtimity to the IRT subway station at West 79th Street and Broadway
and altered socio-economic conditions helped bring about a series of changes -
begiming in the early years of the twentieth century. Between Columbus and
Amsterdam avemues on West 75th Street, almost every structure was replaced.-
in two waves of apartment house construction; built from 1909 to 1914 ‘and-
from 1923 to 1935, they rise from twelve to seventeen stories. There is-also -
an apartment building erected in the 1980s. Few of these buildings have
storefronts, and this portion of the street is almost exclusively

The blockfronts between Amsterdam and Broadway saw a different kind of
change. The Hotel Iucerne was constructed at the northwest cormer of 79th
Street and Amsterdam Averme in 1903-04. The five-story rowhouses with
American basements on the northern blockfront had been erected as an
ensemblel? in 1895-97. Some received professional offices at the basement
level soon after construction; during the 1930s they all were transformed by
the removal of the low stoops (in most cases) and the insertion of one- and
two-story shopfronts, same of which protrude to the building 1line.20
' Despite the varying heights of commercial alterations and the erection of
projecting ardd flush shopfronts, the buildings retain a unified appearance
by virtue of projecting bays, continuous stringocourses, and other repetitive
architectural features intrinsic to the design of the rowhouses. The four
eastermmost rowhouses were reconstructed in the 1970s into a small apartment
building with street-level shops.

On the south side of the street between Broadway and Amsterdam, a group
of eleven rowhouses had been built in 1894. The three-story structures with
raised basements were altered for camercial use in the 1930s. The .
cammercial alterations are of several types. Same rowhouses simply had
alterations (of different degrees) to the raised basements and businesses
inserted at that level. Others had the stoop removed, a street-level
entrance inserted, and a storefront erected at the new first story. A third
group of rowhouses had two-story commercial extensions that project to the
building line. Projecting neon signs have been added to the upper portions
of several rowhouse facades. A unified appearance is preserved, however, by
the pavilions at the ends of the row, projecting bays, the continuous
stringcourses and other architectural details of the surviving portions of

19 e twelve buildings were actually built under two New Building
Bpplications, hbut the rows were designed by the same architect to camplement
each cother.

20 For further information on the character of these alterations and -
those on the south side of the street, see the section on "The Comnercial
Architecture of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District®
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the residential facades above the commercial bases.

Charges have taken place over time in the infill of the storefronts on
both sides of the street, butchargegenezallyhasmtocau:'redabovethe
storefront level. 'Ihestorefrcmtsﬂmnselvesslmadegreeofregulantym

retaining transparency, the modularity of the rowhouses, and the plane of
the facade.

David Breiner
Marjorie Pearson
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THE CHARACTER OF COIUMBUS AVENUE

Begimming in 18792, development on the Upper West Side was encouraged
and influenced by the Ninth Avenue Elevated Railway (or El) which had stops
at West 72nd, 81st, 93rd, and 104th streets, the last one beyond the
northern boundary of the historic district, Ninth Avemue (changed to-
Columbus Averme in 1890) began to fill up with five-story flats. Often
‘erected in conjunction with side street rowhouses, the flats contain street-
level shops which  provide goods and services to residents of the-
neighborhood and residential units above. Averaging five stories, these.
flats demonstrate a relatively uniform height and scale which combine with -
continuous commercial storefronts at street level to give Columbus Avernue
its character as the neighborhood’s main shopping street. As with the
single-family houses on the side streets, the flats ard tenements, often
designed in the neo-Grec and Romanesque Revival styles, were built in rows
and a small mumber of architects were responsible for a majority of the
buildings, a characteristic which unifies the averue and helps establish its
relationship to the side streets.

Between 1879 and the mid 1890s, Columbus Avenue largely assumed its
present architectural character, which is that of flats interspersed with
tenements, apartment hotels, ‘and a handful of small commercial buildings.
Several apartment buildings were built in the early years of the twentieth

. These building types share many exterior architectural
characteristics, such as street-level storefronts and masonry facades which:
strongly define the street wall.2l

By the time the IRT, New York’s first subway line, began service along
nearby Broadway in 1904, Columbus Averue had become a fully developed,
bustling thoroughfare. Among Columbus Avenue’s famous commercial
establishments was the J.M. Horton Ice Cream Company at No. 302 (the name
remains on the flats building with a street level store). Founded in 1870, .
the company became nationally famous, supplying desserts to a number of
presidential inaugural balls; by 1893 it furnished three-fifths of all the
ice cream consumed in New York City.22 fThis store, as well as the Horton
dairy store at 371 Amsterdam Avenue, were amorng a city-wide chain. Other
notable businesses were Hellman’s Deli, originator of the famed mayonnaise
(the site is now a school yard Jjust outside the district), and Park &
Tilford, purveyors of fancy groceries since 1840 whose large commercial
building at the southwest corner of Columbus Avenue ardd West 72nd Street was
designed by McKim, Mead & White and erected in 1892-93. In general, the
shops along Columbus Avenue catered to the daily needs of local residents.

21l For more information on the architectural character of these
buildings and their commercial aspects, see the sections below on "The
Architectural Character and Development of Multiple Dwellings" and "The
Commercial Architecture of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic:
District."

22 Moses King, King’s Handbook of New York (Boston, 1893), 984.
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Regularly throughout the twentieth century, virtually every shopfront
on Columbus Avenue (in contrast to Amsterdam Avenue) has been altered to
some degree, vet the upper stories of these buildings remain intact, as does.
the rhythm established by the significant features —— the structural columns
and supports which, todgether with the swrviving lintels and cornices, define
the masonry -openings -which contain the street-level stores on most of the
structures., The appearance of a masonry mass floating above a transparent
- base, as originally intended, is thereby preserved.  -The storefront. infill ..
has been reqularly changed in accordance with the needs of commerce and now
- displays a wide variety of materials and design.23- An umusual original
basement-level storefront retaining its comice, window frames, and doors
remains at No. 380-384 Columbus Avenue.

The only major intrusions into the avemue’s historic streetscapes are
two =mall commercial buildings at Nos. 211-213 and 215-217 from 1987, two
small apartment buildings at No. 324 and No. 386~390, converted in 1971 ard
1981 respectively from earlier flats buildings, both with street-level
shops, two larger apartment buildings at No. 407-409 and No. 560-568, built
in the 1980s with street-level shops, and a commercial building at No. 462
that resulted from a 1961 alteration.

Planned and built as a major transportation route with its elevated
train tracks, Columbus Averue, lined by miltiplie dwellings and shops,
retains its active character as a retail and service artery -~ although the
elevated trains, discontinued and their tracks and structure demolished in
1940, have been replaced by increased vehicular traffic. Although changes
have occurred to the street-level storefronts, resulting from the aveme’s
ever-charging cammercial character, these changes have generally respected
the original fabric of masonry-fromted multiple dwellings and apartment
hotels, as well as that of the small, exclusively commercial buildirgs.

David Breiner

23 In a few cases portions of original or historic storefront
camponents survive: a paneled frieze at No. 255; double-height storefronts
at No. 260 which retain bandcourses, and second-story window sash and
lintels; storefront cornices and transoms at Nos. 483 ard 485; a cornice at
No. 522; and portions of projecting bulkheads ard window-framing members at
No. 561-567. Instances of largely unchanged storefronts from the 1920s-
'1940s survive at No. 273, No. 526, No. 529, and No. 570.
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THE CHARACTER OF AMSTERDAM AVENUE

Without the impetus of the El, Tenth Averme (changed to Amsterdam
Avenue in 1890) had a different developmental history than Columbus Avenue.
Although the construction of flats on Amsterdam also began in 1879, most of
the flats date from 1886 to 1900. Built with street-level shops, these.
hnldngsaxecom:entzatedmﬂmestxetdaoftheave:memrthofWest?ch
Street. - Several groups of tenements, all built in 1894-95 and containing
street-level shops, are also~located along the upper portion -of  Amsterdam -
- Avemue within the- district. Besides the Hotel Ducerme (Harry B. Mulliken, -
1903-04) at the northwest corner of West 79th -Street and Amsterdam Averue -
and an apartment building (1927) on the east side of the averue that
actually is the terminus of a continuous string of similar buildings along
West 79th Street, the uniform street walls created by flats and tenements
with street-level storefronts is broken only by a three-story library (1905-
06) and an eleven—story warehouse {1922-23).

The southern portion of Amsterdam Averue, between West 72nd and West
79th streets, is dominated by apartment buildings. Although two, the Van
Dyck and Severn between West 72nd Street and West 73rd Street, were erected
in 1905, possibly with street-level shops, the majority date from the mid-
"~ to-late 19205 and have always had commercial bases. The only exceptions to -
the characteristic apartment buildings are several four-story rowhouses
(1886) with commercial bases added, three five-story flats buildings with
shops (late-1880s and early-1890s), a hotel with street-level shops (1911),
and a commercial building (1887-88) at No. 371 —-- described as a stable,
store, and flats in its New Building application. This last building was
owned by Lorton Horton of the J.M. Horton JIce Cream Campany and probably
supplied the campany’s shop on Columbus Avenue. Horton also commissioned the
groups of flats buildings immediately to the north of this. Other
businesses, too, were established to serve the needs of the immediate
commmity.

Serviced by a horse car line opened in 1878 and then an electric street
car line after 1898, Amsterdam Averue was not subject to the commercial
pressures brought to Columbus Avenue by the El. On the other hand, Amsterdam
has seen less physical alteration of its historic fabric at street level:
shopfronts retain more of their original elements than those on Columbus
Averme and are more closely related to the design of the upper stories of
the buildings in which they are found.

David Breiner
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THE CHARACTER OF BROADWAY

Although the entire length of Broadway south of the district had always
been a major thoroughfare, the blockfronts included in the district remained
undeveloped long after other streets in the area because of the uncertain
‘plans for the type of public transportation to be built there. This section
of Broadway finally blosscomed into a busy street in anticipation of the IRT
subway that was eventually completed beneath it in 1904. The three-and-a-
half blockfronts of Broadway included within' the district contain large -
buildings (with one exception), all of which were originally constructed
with street-level shops or eventually received them. These are three
twelve-story apartment kuildings dating from the turn of the century — the
Dorilton at 71st Street (Janes & Ieo, 1900-02), the Embassy, at 70th Street
(Robert Maynicke, 1899-1900), the Spencer Arms at 69th Street (Mulliken &
Moeller, 1904-05) —— and the Coronado from the late 1980s; one seven-story
flats building at 69th Street (Ware & Styne-Harde, 1895); and the nineteen-
story Hotel Alamac (Maynicke & Franke, 1922). ‘These buildings create a
street wall which relates to the diagonal of Broadway; the buildings also
relate to the side street blocks (all have major facades on the side
streets), and to each other. Of particular interest is the Embassy, built
three years later than the adjacent flats building and designed by a
different architect, but using the same design elements. A two-story
comrercial building dating from 1938 is located at the southeast corner of-
West 72nd Street and Broadway.

David Breiner
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THE ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTER OF
SINGLE~-FAMILY DWELLTNGS

The year 1868 inaugurated one of the greatest periods of speculation
that has ever affected New York real estate. At that time, the Upper West
" 8ide was nothing more than a wilderness of rocks spotted with broken—-down
shanties and sprawling farms. Apart from a few farm houses and rural imns, -
the area remained largely a vast open space prime for- building. When
development began in earnest in the early 1880s, spured by new
~ transportation lines linking the area to dewveloped parts of the city further
south and the contimiing movement uptown of the rapidly-growing middle
class, speculative builders seized the opportunity to develop the side
streets of the district with rowhouses designed for middle— and upper-—
middle class families. While part of the earliest phase of development in
the district, these speculatively-built rowhouses actually represent the
final years of construction of single-family houses in Manhattan. Although
the earliest houses surviving in the district date from 1870 and the latest
from 1910, as a whole, this large concentration of rowhouses was built
during a short span of years, the 1880s and 1890s; therefore they display a
unified and harmoniocus use of late-nineteenth century architectural styles.
Anchored by the multiple dwellings on the avemues, which appeared from the .
time of original development in the area, the rowhouses create the low- .
scale domestic character that largely defines the side streets of the
district,

The basic pattern of development of these side streets lined with
rovhouses was a product of the emerging accessibility of the area to
employment and shopping districts downtown brought about by the rapid travel
possible on steam railroads. The earliest remaining rowhouses located
within the district were bequn in 1870 in anticipation of the improved
public transportation to be brought to the area by the Ninth (Columbus)
- Averue El (eventually opened ‘in 1879) which was in the planning stages.
These first rowhouse groups were built in proximity to the proposed EL
stations at 72nd, 81st, and 93rd Streets: Nos. 159 to 165 West 71st Street
(four of an original row of five), Nos. 35 to 39 West 83rd Street and 49 to
53 West 83rd Street (six of an original row of thirteen), and Nos. 47 and 49
West 92nd Street (two of a row of twenty of which a total of seven survive).
A financial panic hit in 1873 and by 1874 there was a complete cessation of
building operations. Wages and material prices fell. Develcopment stagnated
and the building industry did not fully recover until 1879, at which time it
was the completion of the El that really spurred Upper West Side
development. Columbus and Amsterdam Avermes, with its busy transportation
lines, were developed with flats and tenements providing commercial space at
street level and the erection of first-class single-family dwellings was
reserved for the side streets.

Surviving from this early stage of development is a row of five houses
designed by Christan Blinn at Nos. 64 to 72 West 71st Street built in 1878. .
In other early projects, the architect Hemry J. Hardenbergh designed a row
of twenty-five houses built in 1879-80 on the north side of West 73rd Street
“between Columbus and Amsterdam (only one survives) in conjunction with a
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flats building on Columbus Averme. Two years later, Hardenbergh designed
ancther range of rowhouses on the north side of West 73rd Street between
Central Park West and Columbus Avenue (a total of seventeen remain). From .
. thenon, in the 1880s, rowlmweconstnlctlonsoam&monerowhousegxulp

in 1880, to twenty-one in 1884 to a climactic increase of forty-two in 1886.
IntheRealEstatemrd&culdemlsﬁtheoptmlmowldbefelt.
"...the West Side is going up rapidly; of that there is no doubt...whole
blocks of dwellings are occupied by citizens of good social standing."2¢
From 1886 to 1890 the mmber of rows built fluctuated, and after 1890..
decreased gradually to zero in 1899 and 1900. From 1900 t0"1910 there was a-
slight increase in rowhouse construction, and the last two existing rows
constructed in the district were begun in 1910. These late groups are-
clustenedmtheblocksbetweencentral Park West and Columbus Averne, on
West 73rd, 74th, and 86th Streets.2

During the periods of heaviest construction in the early- to mid-1880s,
rowhouse development in the district occurred primarily on the side streets
of 71st, 72rd, 73rd, 78th, 82nd, and 83rd cbviously clustering around the El
stops at West 72nd and 8l1st Streets. The year 1885 brought the development
of twenty-nine rows to the areas near the El stops, as well as construction
on West 90th and 94th Streets near the 93rd Street stop. The forty-two rows
built in 1886, the apex year of rowhouse construction, contimued the .
clustering pattern. It was not until the late 1880s and 1890s that rowhouse
development began to spread throughout the district.

Following the general model existing on the East Side and downtown,
single-family houses were built in three- to five-story rows, same with two-
to three-story kitchen and stairway extensions at the rear. At the front
they were set back fram the lot line only encugh to accommodate an areaway
and a stoop. The houses were set back from the rear lot line according to
changing reguirements in the muilding laws and the desired size of the
house. These houses were built to the lot lines on the sides, often sharing
the party walls of the adjacent houses. Party walls (single walls that .
straddled the lot line and carried the floors of houses on both sides)
achieved an economy of means, a saving of space, and most importantly,
lowered costs so that the unit cost of a house in a large row was lower than
that of the same house in a small row or alone. Until some of the late
rowhouses were built in the district, all were constructed with load-bearing
brick side walls and self-supporting brick front and rear walls, with the
front walls clad in various facing materials (brick, brownstone, limestone,
sandstone, cast stone, amd terra cotta). In most cases the side walls
supported wood beams with wood joists at each floor level. Some of the late

24 wgome West Side Residences," Real Estate Record & Guide 34 (Oct.
25, 1884), 1080.

25 These statistics are based on an analysis of data on surviving rows
found in records of the Department of Buildings; the information was
campiled in databases in which it could be sorted, cross~referenced, and -
further studied.
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rowhouses had iron or steel beams with brick or concrete floor arches26 but
virtually none of the houses were considered fireproof. One group of
.eighteen houses on West 74th Street, designed by Percy Griffin for Frederick
Ambrose Clark and built in 1902-04, were steel-frame, fireproof buildings
‘that also contained elevators, anextremelyurmsualfeaturemrcnmouse-
construction. 27

Developers involved in rowhouse construction on the Upper West Side
purchased groups of the standard twenty-five foot by one hundred foot lots; -
in order to maximize the mumber of houses built in one row, they often-
constructed residences narrower than twenty-five feet. Thus, five twenty-
foot wide houses could be built on four lots. Ancther camon ocourrence was
the cmstructlm of six houses, each roughly sixteen-and-one-half feet wide,
on four lots,2 Scmehousesmthedlstrlctareasnarrwasflfteenfeet
such as Nos. 6 and 8 West 83rd Street (Christian Blinn, 1881-82).

The middle- arnd upper-middle class families that choose to live on the
Upper West Side were usually those of professionals, such as bankers,
merchants, lawyers, manufacturers and other types of well-to-do businessmen.
The average home was occupied by approximately three to fifteen people,

i onﬂlemmberofchlldren other family members, servants, axd
boarders to help pay for expenses.2

The majority of the rowhouses in the district were designed and
constructed with three to four stories above raised basements and the high
stoops placed at one side, a characteristic of earlier nineteenth-century
houses found in New York. They followed, with some variation, a basic
formula for interior planning, accommodating the informal dining room in the
front of the basement level with the kitchen ard laundry at the back, the

26 A notable exception is the house at No. 122 West 78th Street,
“designed by architect Rafael Guastavino using his innovative terra—cotta..
arch vaulting system. A more camplete discussion of Guastavino’s work in
the district is found in Sarah Bradford Iandau, "The Row Houses of New
York’s West Side," Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 34,
no. 1 (Mar., 1975), 24-26. Guastavino is further discussed below.

27 These features were not required by the building code but were
evidently the choice of the developer, a member of the prominent Clark
family whose real estate activities are further discussed below. See also
Landau, 30.

28 1pc, Riverside-West End Historic District Report, report prepared
by the Research Department (New York, 1989), 20, and landau, 21. Few
rowhouse groups in the district were built on full twenty-five foot wide
lots. These are generally among the latest houses constructed.

29 Based on a survey of portions of West 69th, 73rd, 8lst, 85th, and-
87th Streets; United States Census, 1900. Landau discusses more fully the--
income levels of rowhouse buyers. It was also camnon on the Upper West Side
to offer houses as rentals.
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front and back parlors on the first floor (the rear one being used as a more
formal dining rocm) along a side hall and the stairs leading to the upper

. floors which contained the family bedrooms and. bathrooms, and the servants

'arﬁboaxdemattheto;)story. " An entrance to the basement, which was

 convenient for accepting deliveries of goods, was located beneath the stoop

and accessible by an entryway cut into the side of the stoop.  The coammon
straight stoop was widely used, but in the 1880s the box stoop, with a .
right-angle turn and an intermediate landing, gained in popularity. The box
stoop was constructed with a wall at the building line so: that. one entered .
the steps from the areaway at the side, allowing for a more private approach
to the house. Often rows were designed with a cambination of raised and bex

stoops, enhancing the variety among the houses in the row. :

The 1890s witnessed an innovation in interior planning that affected
the placement and design of the stoop; the high straight or box stoops were
replaced by a low stoop at ground level fronting on an AZmerican basement and
the entrance was freguently located at the center. Typically, these houses
were wider than most of those with raised basements, usually twenty-five
feet wide. 1In the American basement plan, the dining room, which had been
at the front of the basement level, was now placed at the second story
running the full width of the house. A reception hall at the ground story
was created allowing more privacy and elegance for entertaining upstairs, .
The now more elaborate staircase was placed at the rear of the wider and
deeper entrance hall. The whole entrance was not only more spaciocus but
more showy as well. Architectural critic Montgomery Schuyler felt, in 1906,
that:

...there is a practical consensus to the effect that the ‘American
basement, * with the full frontage available on the second floor,
is the most convenient arrangement and the most economical in
reality in spite of the ‘waste’ of the entrance hall.30

The American basement plan was popularized in the 1890s by the architect
Clarence True, although it is said to have been introduced at least a decade
earlier hut not widely adopted.3! True was a prolific rowhouse developer
and Upper West Side promoter who concentrated his work in the area near
Riverside Drive (only a few rowhouse groups and two other buildings
surviving in this district were designed by True).

The rowhouse groups constructed in the district range in mumber from
two to as long as twenty-five in a row. The long blockfronts of rowhouses
in the district help to create a strong, harmonious side street character
that contributes to the district’s special sense of place. The rows vary

30 Montgamery Schuyler, "The New York House," Architectural Record 19
(Feb., 1906), 89.

31 1andau points to architectural critic Russell Sturgis as an early
advocate of this type of interior plamning, 28. See Russell Sturgis, "The
City House [the East and South]," Scribner’s Magazine 7 (June, 1890), 693-
713.
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stylistically and often incorporate different facade designs within a given
row. In these cases, the individual houses within the row were designed to
work together as a cohesive unit while featuring certain characteristics to
make them individoually distinctive and appealing to their owners. Uniformity
- and variety together were the key to producing the diversified streetscapes.
found in the district. Unlike the uniformity of design typically found in-
“brovnstone-fronted rowhouses of the earlier part of the nineteenth century, .
the houses in these later rows on the Upper West Side were purposely meant
to be distinguished from each other, while together .forming picturesque .
ensanbles.

The architects and speculative builders active on the Upper West Side-
felt the public was tired of the "monotony™ characterizing the mumercus
Ttalianate brownstones, such as those on the Upper East Side, and wanted to
design houses accordingly — using a mixture of materials and revival
styles. Schuyler wrote in 1906: "It was the development of the West Side
which struck the first blow at the tyranmny of the brownstone front. 32
Brownstone was still used, but with a new emphasis on its sculptural and
textural cualities and often in conjunction with other materials. Houses
were now faced in materials with contrasting colors and textures, brick in
various shades, and terra cotta. Brick especially was readily available and
proved more econcmical and more durable than brownstone.33 Rhythm produced -
" by the often asymmetrical massing of the rowhouses on the Upper West Side

also played a role in distinquishing them from their brownstone predecessors

which had flat facades. Devices such as projecting bays, oriels, gables,
and recessed arches were used to create patterms of light and shadow.
Facade designs frequently alternate in a particular rhythm or function as
nirror images within the configquration of a given row; in certain instances,
the houses which terminate the rows are treated as end pavilions, with
projecting end bays that extend almost to the building line and give the row
a sense of closure. The building entries in this report address this
special aspect of rowhouse design in the category of "Row Configuration.™
Facade designs are assigned letters which are used to indicate the overall...
pattern of the row, for example: ABCB’A’. The use of the "prime" (/)
indicates that the A’ design varies slightly or is the mirror image of the A
design.

The distinctive patterns, the umisual asymmetrical massing, and the
alternation of architectural elements within the rowhouse groups found in
the district are features that are intrinsic to the picturesque trends
characterizing American architecture of the 1880s and 1890s. The side
streets of the district are a remarkable assemblage of diverse architectural
styles and provide an inventory of this era of creative experimentation.
Patterns, designs, and styles drvew on a number of historical sources. The
neo-Grec, Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival, and Renaissance Revival styles .
were freely employed, sometimes .eclectically blending features from a
variety of sources into the design of one row. This new mixture of

32 gchuyler, "The New York House," 84.
33 Iandau, 21.
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materials and styles was considered very modern and the Upper West Side of
Manhattan was promoted accordingly, with brochures and pamphlets published
by developers touting the fashionable newness of the architecture.
Architects and builders active in the district, some of whom were also
developers, made use of the architectural pattern books and design guides:
that proliferated in the late-nineteenth century, often miwxing and matching -
elements at will and producing engaging combinations of architectural forms.

_ The - rowhouses which give the side -streets.of the .district their.
particular character relate in their overall scale ard architectural style-
to the multiple dwellings on the avenues constructed in the same period. .
These buJ.ldlrgs predaoninantly flats and tenements, were ‘also frequently
constructed in rows, and were sometimes built in conjunction with adjacent
rowhouse groups on the side streets. The interplay of the side-street
rm:}mzsasarﬂtheavexmebulldzms is a result of the concentrated efforts
of architects and developers active on the Upper West Side during the
relatively short span of years of the area’s initial development. This
cohesive quality is one of the factors that gives the district its strong
sencse of place.

While the earliest rows constructed in the district, dating from arocund
1870, were designed in the popular mid-century Italianate style, by the time
developuentremmedattheelﬂofthatdecadetasl:ehadturnedaga_mstthew
‘somber brownstone—-fronted rowhouses fourd elsewhere in the city where they
create mommental uniform blockfronts with their ornate, classically-
inspired window and door treatments ard weighty cormices. The first
challenge to the Italianate style in the design of rowhouses was the neo-
Grec.3% A reaction to the established tradition of imitating classical
forms and adapting classical prototypes to satisfy the programs of modern
building types, the neo-Grec style sought to reflect an architectural
vocabulary appropriate to the modern, industrial civilization of the
nineteenth century through the use of pared-down geametric massing and forms
- and stylized, almost mechanically precise ornament.. As interpreted for the .
design of rowhouses in New York, the neo—Grec style is characterized by
bold, rectilinear wirdow and door enframements in stone with incised
ornamental detail of stylized foliate forms and vertical channeling. Neo-
Grec rowhouses are often executed in smocth brownstone, maintain a uniform

34 conceived at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts during the 1840s, the French
Neo~Grec style is often associated with the work of the architect Henri
Iabrouste, who is best known for his designs of two important libraries in
Paris: the Bibliotheque Naticnale and the Biblictheque Ste. Genevieve. A
more direct source for the neo-Grec style as it developed in America is the
nid-nineteenth century vernacular residential architecture of Paris. Iandau -
discusses the influence that Richard Morris Hunt, one of the first Americans
to study at the Ecole, had on the popularlzatlon of the neo-Grec style for
house design in this country, see Iandau, "Richard Morris Hurrl:
Architectural Imnovator.. ,“mTheArchltectureolechardm;Q ‘Hunt, :
Susan R. Stein (Chicago, 1986), 47-77. See alsc Charles Lockwood, micks &
Brownstone: The New York Row House, 1783-1929 (New York, 1973), 227-28,
- Lockwood provides a useful survey of architectural styles.
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cornice line, and are usually unvaried in the design of a given row; in
these aspects they do not differ muach from their Italianate

.However, same neo~Grec groups, sudlasammberlocatedmﬂmedlstrict
enploy projecting bays or rusticated stone cammonly associated with the
' Romanesgue Revival style. A highly decorative version of. the neo—Grec style-
is foud in rows designed by Christian Blinn which are located on West 71st
“and West 78th Streets between Central Park West and Columbus Avermie, and on .
West 78th and West 79th Streets between Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues.

During the 1880s, the Queen Anne style emerged in rowhouse design on
" the Upper West Side and brought with it the fashion for treating houses as -
individually distinctive components of the streetscape.. This style, most
often associated with the work of English architect Richard Norman Shaw,
appeared in the United States in the mid-1870s. Shaw’s work in freestanding
stmurbanvnlasdrewupmelghteenm—cenmxyGeorglanprecedmtsmﬂms
characterized by textured brick, picturesque asymmetrical massing, pitched
roofs with gables,pzmmentdummeys and white trim. In the United
States, the appearance of this style accampanied a growing appreciation for
Arrerica's colonial heritage that was particularly strong following the
celebration of the Centemnial in 1876. American architects adapted Shaw’s
Georgian—-inspired aesthetic and incorporated elements derived from American
colonial architecture, such as applied pilasters and foliate friezes.. .
Popular Queen Anne features found in rowhouses are recessed archways that:
form small porches, three-sided bays, bracketed oriel windows, mulitpane
window sash and transoms, andomanenl:alsunfloweraxﬁsunbmstmtlfs.35
'IheQJeenArmestylezwhwsesfcmﬁmthedlstnctveryoftem incorporate
neo—-Grec, Romanesque Revival, and Renaissance Revival elements.

examples include a row of five houses at Nos. 31 to 39 West 84th Street,
designed by Henry L. Harris for Amma McDonald, and a group of ten houses
{(suxviving from a row of fourteen) at Nos. 53 to 67, 73 and 75 West 85th
Street, designed by George H. Griebel for Alfred C. Clark; both groups were
bhuilt in 1886-87.

The Rananesque Revival style was also used for rowhouses built in the
district dating from the 1880s and shared certain characteristics with the
contemporanecus Queen Amne style: the ocambination of varicus building
materials ard textures ard picturesque massing. This style in the United
States is most often associated with the work of the important architect
Henry Hobson Richardson, who drew upon the medieval Romanesque architecture
of France and Spain for inspiration and created a highly inventive aesthetic
that went beyond the mere imitation of historical forms.3® Although adapted
for a mmber of different building types, the most characteristic feature of
the Romanescue Revival style is the use of round arches for door and window
openings given emphatic treatment in molded brick and carved stone.
Romanesque Revival rowhouses, such as those found in the district, are
typically executed in brick, brownstone, ard sandstone in various colors and
textures, and in many cases make expressive use  of robust rusticated

35 Iockwood, 231-32.
36  1bid., 233-34.
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masonry, particularly at the basement level. Another feature of this style
is densely carved ormament of interlaced naturalistic forms, often placed to
emphasize the structural components of the facade, such as at the springing
line of the arches. This style is very often used in conjunction with Queen
Amne and Renaissance-inspired elements. A comon design solution found in .
the rowhouses of the district is the blending of Renaissance and Romanesque
' Revival style- features. Examples of Romanesque Revival style rowhouses in.
the district include a row of five (originally six) located at Nos. 152 to
160 West 76th Street, built in 1883-86 and designed by:the -firm of.Demeuron..
& Smith with Justus J. Smith acting as the developer, and a pair of houses
located at 130 and 132 West 82nd Street, built in 1887 for Nathan W. Riker .
and designed by the notable firm of Lamb & Rich who often worked in this -
mode.

The rowhouses dating from the 1890s reflect a predominant use of
Renaissance forms and details. American architects in general, influenced
by the principles of the French Ecole des Beaux-Arts ard the architecture of
the 1893 World’s Columbian Exposition in Chicago, shifted their attention
during this period toward interpretations of Renaissance and Baroque
prototypes of Italian, French, and German origin that were at the crux of
the Beaux-Arts curriculum. The resurgence of neo—classicism in the 1890s
had its roots in the broader cultural movement of the "“american
Renaissance"; American architects drew parallels in their design aesthetic
between their own society, the American neo-classical past, and the
enlightened Greco-Roman and Renaissance civilizations.37 Ieading architects
such as McKim, Mead & White had a great influence on the design of
residential architecture in this period through their commissions for
mansions for the wealthy, in which they turned to these sources for
inspiration. These stylistic influences, which symbolically expressed the
prestige and affluence of the upper class, socn fourd their way to more
modest speculatively-built rowhouses, such as those found in the district.
The facades of these houses were often executed in materials of a lighter
color than were previocusly used, such as limestone, vellow brick, and buff
brick, although within the Qdistrict brownstone is still the prevalent
material for the Renaissance Revival style. Rather than display the
irregular massing and animated rooflines associated with the Queen Anne amd
Romanesque Revival styles, these houses are generally flat-roofed or have
small mansards, are characterized by a more regular alternation of
architectiral elements within a row (sametimes the houses are identical),
and mark a return to more uniform blockfronts. Applied classmally—msp:.red
ornamental details, such as carved friezes, festoons, Ionic or Corinthian
pilasters, and balustrades atop projecting oriels, add richness to these
facades. The work of prolific architect Gilbert A. Schellenger, among the
- most avid adherents to the Renaissance Revival style for rowhouse design on.
the Upper West Side, is found throughout the district.

The rowhouses constructed in the district in the first decade of the
twentieth century display the continued growth in popularity of the Beaux-

37 Richard Guy Wilson, "The Great Civilization," The 2American
Renaissance, 1876-1917 (New York, 1979), 11-16. See also Lockwood, 234-38.

43



Arts style and the Federal ard Georgian Revival styles blemded with
Renaissance elements. ‘The several groups in the district that date from
this late phase of rowhouse development represent the final era of single-
family house construction in Marhattan. The row of eighteen houses designed
by Percy CGriffin for Frederick Ambrose Clark, located at Nos. 18 to 52 West
74th Street, and a number of houses on the south side of West 86th Street:
designed by the firm of Welch, Smith & Provot for the Halls, a family of
active Upper West Side real estate develcopers, date from this period. All
of these houses are large and sumptucus; only. wealthy families could have .
affordedsuchgrandhmsesinthisgeriod, a time when apartment dwelling
was becoming the norm for urban life.38

As a whole, the stylistic influences on the rowhouse designs of the
Upper West Side were so profuse and varied that, while the old Italianate
style had certainly fallen out of favor, this new architecture was accepted
with mixed feelings in critical circles. The Real Estate Record & Guide of
November 1889 attacked the brownstones of the past:

It is a mark of the advancement that has been made in a very short
time that to-day [sic] most of us recognize and also freely admit
that there is very little in those miles of brown stone [sic)

that even colloquially we dare assert to be mildly,
distantly artistic.39

VWhile this same Jjournal declared the architecture of the Upper West Side
"sometimes positively wvulgar" it proclaimed at the same time that “"beyord
doubt there is no more charmirng residential section than the west side in
any of the ocommercial capitals of the world."0  schuyler initially
criticized the eclecticism of the side streets of the Upper West Side and
then re—-examined its merits. In 1899, he fcnnﬁ “this bad architecture...an
atrocity — crude suggestions of good things," for in attempting to present
variety, designers had sacrificed purity of style for "the wildest of wild

work" to the point of making one contemporary architect “seasick."4 By -
1906 however, Schuyler applauded the freedom from "the brownstone boredan"
when he exclaimed "the wildest of the wild work of the new West Side had
its uses in pramoting the emancipation [of rowhouse design]."42

38  According to Iandau, the houses designed by Percy Griffin contained
seventeen to nineteen rooms and had four or five bathrooms each, in addition
to elevators; "The Row Houses...," 30.

39 whe West Side Illustrated,” The Real Fstate Record & Guide,
supplement (Nov. 16, 1889), 1.

4 0 Ibidl ’ 1-2 .

41 gschuyler, "The Small City House in New York," Architectural Record -
8, no. 4 (Apr.~June, 1899), 376.

42 gchuyler, "The New York House," 84.

44



A total of over 100 architects and builders are represented in the
rovhouse designs within the district, yetonlyahandfulstarﬂmtasbemg
particularly prolific. Of the existing rows, George F. Pelham de519ned
eleven and Neville & Bagge designed fourteen, predominantly in the
 Renaissance Revival style. Jchn G. Prague, an arc]:utect/developer designed
eighteen rows, in which he incorporated the Romanesque and Renaissance

- Revival styles with Queen Anne elements. Gilbert A. Schellenger designed

forty-five of the existing rows in the district; his designs are
- characterized primarily by the Renaissance Revival style, but often blended.

with neo-Grec, Romanesque Revival, Queen Amne, and Northern Renaissance
- features. The firm of Thom & Wilson made the largest contribution with -
fifty-one rows designed in a variety of styles including neo-Grec, Queen
Anne, Chateavesque, and Renaissance Revival. Many of the firm’s rows are
highly inventive in detail, incorporating features from a wide variety of
historic sources. Thom & Wilson and Schellenger were also the most prolific
architects of flats found in the district.

While certain architectural styles are prominently represented in the
district, othermmm:aldeslgnamruadlesmaketlmlrappearameaswell. In
conjunction with the pioneering luxury apartment building, the Dakota,
praminent architect Henry J. Hardenbergh conceived of the two aforementioned
rows located on the north side of West 73rd Street in an unusual picturesque.
German Renaissance Revival style. Comissioned by Singer Sewing Machine
Campany president Edward S. Clark, these buildings were constructed on a.
large tract of land owned by the Clark family who were instrumental in
prawoting the real estate potential of the Upper West Side. These houses
are characterized by bold massing of geametric forms, gabled roofline
treatments, and ornamental detail inspired by German architecture of the
second half of the sixteenth centwry and display on a smaller scale the
chateauvesque qualities of the momumerntal design of the Dakota.

Hardenbergh’s teacher, Eurcpean-born and -trained architect Detlef
Lienau used a French Rationalist aesthetic incorporating Northern Gothic .
elements in his designs for four houses at Nos. 48, 50, 52, and 54 West 82rnd
Street, built in 1886-87. Of the four houses, Lienau acted as the developer
of one, Elizabeth ILienau is listed as the owner of ancther, ard the
remaining two were built for Mary M. Williams whose family sponsored the
construction of two nearby rows designed by Lienau which have been
demolished.43 These houses are characterized by a simple, pared—-down facade
treatiment, prominent gables, and stylized drip moldings at the lintels.

Spanish architect Rafael Guastavino was responsible for twe imaginative
Moorish Revival style rows on opposite sides of West 78th Street between
Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues: Nos. 121 to 131 (1885-86) and Nos. 118-134
(1886) . Commissioned by prominent Jewish real estate developer Bernard S.
Levy, Guastavino adapted a style that was most often associated with the
design of synagogues for these umusual rows. The architect was alsc
responsible for the design of the B’nai Jeshurun Synagogue on Madison Avenue

43 1andau illustrates plans of these houses and discusses how they
vary from common interior plannirg; "The Row Houses...," 21.
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near 65th Street (1884-85, demolished) in which he also drew on the Moorish
heritage of his native Spain for inspiration. Guastavino is most often
noted as the innovator of a lightweight tile~arch vaulting system that was a
breakthrough in fireproof construction. In the house at No. 122 West 78th
Street, Levy permitted the architect to utilize his vaulting methods. ILevy
also lziaved in a house across the street, at No. 121, for a mmber of
years.

Most of the single-family houses constructed in the district have been
converted to multiple dwellings. These range in occupancy from having one
unit per floor to as many as three'per floor. Some have been converted for -
institutional use. These changes in use have been accompanied by
alterations to the exteriors of the houses including replacement of original
doors and windows, rooftop additions, and painting and refacing of the brick
ard brownstone. A common alteration associated with conversions of houses
to multiple dwellings has been the removal of stoops and the establishment
of entrances at the basement level, usually by remodeling the existing
basement entrance located beneath the stoop. As a whole, the external
character of these rowhouses remains little changed. On most of the side
streets of the district, scattered later apartment buildings have
interrupted the original rows, but in general the surviving rowhouses
‘present. a strong ccherency and are a major element in creating a special .
sense of place particular to this district on Manhattan’s Upper West Side.

Iymme Marthey _
Elisa Urbanelli

44 1pid., 24-25.
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THE ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT AND CHARACTER OF
MULTTPIE DWELLINGS

Most of the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District was initially built up with the s:i.ngle—family rowhouses which exist:
in greater mmbers than maltiple dwellings in the district. However, from
the beginning a substantial proportion of the population lived in mltiple-
dwellmgs45 and, by 1900 if not well before, the majority of the population
lived in multiple dwellings.4® Although the area was always promoted as a-
niddle-class neighborhocod, the initial wave of construction, especially
before 1895, provided as well for residents of lower income levels.

Six types of buildings originally constructed as miltiple dwellings
have been identified within the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District: tenements, flats, apartment hotels, apartment buildings, studio
buildings, arnd hotels, all distinctions made in building pemit
appllc:atlons Although New Yorkers had lived in shared and mltiple
dwellings since well before the 1860s when the Department of Btuldlngs wass
established ard records kept for mlld:mg construction in New York,47 their
particular forms, in the sense of size, structure, plan, appearance, and .
‘organization of space, were the subject of e:-:perinentatim ard debate in the -
years when the area of the district was developed.

Likewise, the names used to refer to these various types were sometimes
imprecise ard flexible until the pericd of experimentation ended. Their use
in building permit applications and in the press changed over time and at
any given time was subject to interpretation. In practice, these six types
are not always completely separate from one another. In particular, there
is at times a blurring at the edges among the categories of tenements,
hotels, and flats; flats, agarl:ment buildings, ard apartment hotels; and
hotels and apartment hotels.4

45 Robert A.M. Stern, et al., New York 1900 (New York, 1983), 287.

46 Me first generation of multiple dwellings in the area, scattered
wood-frame tenements and lodging houses built before 1879, were completely
replaced during the initial phase of the development in the district, and
later generations of multiple dwellings, such as many flats and tenements of
the period 1879~1900, were subsequently replaced by apartment buildings,
especially in the 1920s.

47 Elizabeth Collins Cramley, "The Development of the New York
Apartment:  1860-1905," Ph.D. dissertation (City University of New York,
1982), 13.

48  Certain criteria, based on an analysis of records at the Department
of Buildings as well as contemporary articles in the architectural press, -
have been used to identify the various types of multiple dwellings found in
the district. Tenements date from roughly 1877-1896, are typically twenty-
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All miltiple dwelling types except hotels and apartment hotels were
subject to regulation by the Tenement House laws. Hotels and apartment
hotels were excluded because under the building laws they were considered
camercial rather than residential buildings.

Tenements

Under the Tenement House Laws the term tenement applied to any-
structure with three or more dwelling units. In common practice the term
was used to refer to residential structures without private baths or toilets
in individual living units, and which were occupied by low-income residents.
The Tenement House laws of 1867, 1879, and 1901 were primarily aimed at
improving conditions in these buildings. Such efforts were supported by a
variety of civic-minded groups for both sanitary and moral reasons: sanitary
because overcrowded conditions were thought to breed disease and endanger
public health, and moral because of the absence of privacy.

Before 1879, there were woocd-frame tenements built scattered within the
area of the district above West 86th Street. These buildings housed a .
. population of low-incame residents in the area before the more permanent.. .
development of multiple dwellings began in the late 1870s. Although none
survive today, they were torn down only as they were replaced by brick

The oldest surviving multiple dwelling in the district is a tenement at
460 Amsterdam Avenue, built in 1877 under the original Tenement House law of
1867. This is the only surviving tenement in the district built under that
law, which had only minimal requirements: a fire escape, the provision of
at least one privy for every twenty residents, ard the elimination of
horses, cows, sheep, arxi goats from the premises. In plan, the building ..
prcbably consisted of two- or three-room suites reached from stair landings
or public corridors. As no interior toilet facilities were required, the
likelihocd is that a privy was probably originally in the back yard. The
building was of brick TasoNry construction with wooden floor ]OlStS and had
an open stairwell. This is a nec-Grec style building which in height,
scale, and general appearance was similar to rowhouses in the neighborhood
and was designed by the prolific architect John G. Prague for B. Schaaf &

to twenty-five feet wide, have four to five residential stories above stores

at street level, and have more than two families per floor. Flats typically

date from 1880 to 1900, range in height from five to eight stories and often -
have street-level stores, range in width from twenty to 100 feet, and

generally have one or two families per residential floor in narrower

uildings {averaging twenty-five feet in width) and the same ratio of

residential units to building width in wider buildings. Apartment buildings

typically post-date 1900, are bigger in scale and plan than flats, have over

eight stories, and contain elevators. Apartment hotels, studio buildings,

and hotels fit different criteria vhich are outlined below.
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m.

In 1879 a new Tenement House law was passed, later called the "0ld
- Iaw," which in plan produced "dumbbell" shaped buildings on standard twenty-
five by 100 foot midblock sites after proposals by James E. Ware and others.
The dumbbell plan was narrower in the middle than at the front and rear due

- to light courts that brought light ard air to every room in the building..

'~ For a twenty-five by eighty-nine foot huilding on a standard lot (with the
- required rear yard), -a tenement at the high end of the scale typically
contained two baths with toilets accessible from the public corridor on a -
four-unit ‘floor, with the baths and staircases situated at the center of the -
neck of the dumbbell. Most had four residential floors above stores at
street level. A typical unit in such a building had three rocams with the
"iving room" of each unit at the front or rear, and bedrooms opening onto
the light court that were reached only by passing directly through the rocms
without the benefit of a separate corridor. The living room contained a
wash tub and cold water and a chimney or flue for a coal stove. ILegally
limited to eight stories, none in the present historic district are over
six.49 The Qumbbell plan was not required for tenements but it was the only
workable solution for midblock huildings on standard lots, as most were.
Corner buildings, with ample light and air from two street frontages, were
typically larger than midblock tenements and were not in the dumbbell plan. ..
"0ld Iaw" tenements were of brick masonry construction with wood floor
joists, and were not considered fireproof. The majority were built in rows
with party walls which brought the cost per building down below individually

At the low erd of the scale two adjoining tenements shared a single
rear yard privy, and water was only available in the rear yard. Owners of
all tenements were reguired to clean and whitewash every room twice a year
and to report cases of serious disease and deaths.®0 Within the district,
such tenements were occupied by rent-paying households whose heads worked in

traditional trades or -jcbs. For example, in 1900, in a group of tenements. .

on the west side of Columbus south of 83rd Street, the following occupations
were represented: tailor, day laborer, stable man, carpenter, janitor,
dressmaker, clerk, coachman, porter, servant, meat dealer, cook, watchman,
and plumber.>1

49 This was in part due to the building laws which by 1895, if not
before, required buildings over eighty-five feet in height (usually eight
stories} to be fireprocof. ‘This is an illustration of the overlapping
provisions of the Tenement House ILaw and the building laws and the necessity
of a close reading of each to find the more restrictive regulations, which
took precedence.

30 while "0ld Iaw" tenements were popularly considered undesirable
places to live by the middle class, they were better than other kirds of
residences in the city such as lodging houses, which were governed by
1odging House Iaws, and tenements built under the 1867 Tenement House law.

51 United States Census, 1900.
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There are nearly forty existing "0ld ILaw" tenements built between 1879
and 1896 in the district. Five of these were constructed as individual
buildings, with the remainder kuilt in rows ranging from two to eight
structures. Almost all of these were built on Columbus and Amsterdam
Avenues, usually adjacent to flats of similar size and appearance from the
same period. Indeed, although tenements were at the bottom end of the.
socio—econcmic scale for multiple dwellings in the area, and often were less
‘expensively or elaborately embellished than flats, the  difference between-
flats and tenements in the district is not cbvious by their exterior-
appearance.

In style, the earliest tenements in the district are neo-Grec. After
1890, they were all designed in variations of the Romanesque or Renaissance
Revival styles. In all cases their designs followed the trends established
by rowhcuses, presumably to suggest to their renters stylishness and
prestige and the image of a New York City middle-class hame. ZAmong the more
prolific designers of tenements in the area were Gilbert A. Schellenger for
the Gordon Brothers, Babcock & McAvoy for Borkel & McKean, and Ernest W.
Schneider for Iorenz Weiher.

Under the Multiple Dwelling Iaw of 1929, owners were regquired to..
upgrade Old Iaw Tenements by replacing cutside privies with a minimm of one -
indoor water closet for every two families, and improving fire safety with
sprinklers and alterations to public corridors and stairs. Althaxh some
argued that these provisions would prove such a hardship on owners that many
buildings would be torn down, it does not appear that such was the case, at
least to any great extent, in the area of the district.

Flats

The term "flat" was first used in Edinburgh and Iondon early in the
nineteenth century to denote living units. that were all on one floor in .
larger buildirgs, often after those buildings were subdivided. In New York
it may have been applied to rowhouses altered in the mid-nineteenth century
to contain separate living units on each of its floors. By the time the
Department of Buildings began keeping records of new building applications
in 1866, a common type of new structure consisting of three or four stories,
each with a separate living unit, above street-level stores, was classified
on the basis of construction ard use as a "second—-class dwelling." At same
point both these second—class dwellings and the living units within them
began to be referred to as flats. The units were larger than those in
tenements and each contained baths and toilets. These buildings had fewer
tenants per floor than tenements.

These buildings were referred to by the Department of Buildings, at
first loosely and after 1874 officially, as "French Flats." In the area of
the district, French Flats or, sometimes simply flats, were built for a -
rangeoftenants None of these buildings had elevators and all were
limited by the Tenement House Law to eight stories. The more prestigious
flats were often named with carved and deccrated inscriptions on the
buildings. Entered on side streets where there were no storefronts, they
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were treated differently from flats at the low end of the scale.

Whereas the low-end flats often occupied midblock avenue frontage, were
uilt adjacent to tenements, and were indistinguishable from tenements in
appearance and the level of architectural embellishment, -the high-end flats, .
although built in rows on the same standard city lots, were often treated
- -architecturally as single larger buildings resewbling apartment baildings, .
either with one or several entrances, and were more elaborately embellished. -
For example, at the low end is a group of three flats at 488,..490, and 492 .
Amsterdam Averme built in 1889-1890 for William Bell by the architect Jacdb
H. Valentine. They are articulated as three separate buildings like the -
tenement row adjacent to them. They are entered through narrow doors next
to storefronts, where a narrow corridor leads back to a stair, and have more
than one unit on each of the four upper-level residential floors.

Better classes of flats were built on larger than standard lots on
corner sites with more light and air. One such example is 221-223 Columbus
Avernue, designed by Arthur Donovan Pickering for George W. Rogers in 1887.
Given a prestigious name, "The Tuxedo," and a modest entry hall, its
developers hoped to attract middle—class tenants and to distinguish their
building from less comodious places. Like less prestigious buildings,
however, this was of non—fireproof, brick construction with wood floor .
joists, and it admitted light to inner rooms by means of narrow rear light
courts in conformance with the Tenement House law.

At the top of the scale were buildings like "The Aylsmere™ at 331-333
Columbus Averme, designed by Henry Andersen for Iecpold Kahn in 1892. This
was conceptually a different type of building, built on several assembled
lots with a central court for light and air instead of narrow side or rear
light wells. It was entered throxh a spacious, ornamented lcbby.
Structurally this later building was a step up, with a fireproof basement
and first floor, as required in the building law, and steel girders on upper
floors. In plan, a typical flat might include a parlor, dining room, . .
several bedrooms, a Kitchen, one or more bathrooms, and one or more
servants’ rooms, all linked by private corridors.

At the lower end, flats were occupied by pecple with such occupations
as clerk, salesman, and ¢ivil servant, and by retired people and widows, the
latter frequently with boarders or lodgers in the household. At the
Aylsmere, on the cother hand, in 1900 its twenty-five households included
people in the occupations of physician, banker, engineer, ship broker, real
estate agent, merchant, insuranceman, and salesman. Seventeen of the
households had servants,

Of the existing flats in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic -
District, fewer than a dozen were built before 1885 and about 185 more were
built by 1900, with only two erected after 1900. These buildings were
constructed on Columbus Averme, on Amsterdam Avenue north of West 80th
- Street, on portions of Central Park West, and on the side streets
inmediately adjacent to the avermes. The older and more modest flats terd
to ke north of 80th Street, ard the more commodious flats are south of 80th
~ Street, although there are mmerous exceptions. Most of the flats
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originally built on Central Park West were equivalent in size and character
to the Aylsmere; these were replaced by larger apartment buildings in the
1920=.,

- The two most prolific designers of surviving flats in. the district are
Thon' & Wilson and Gilbert A. Schellenger, also the most prolific rowhouse -
architects in the district. Thom & Wilson were active for almost the
camplete - period - of flat building, "from 188C to 1896, and -Schellenger’s.
buildings date from 1886 to 1900. While flats resembled rowhouses in scale.
and adopted the architectural styles used in rowhouses, ' such as neo-Grec, -
Queen Amme, Romanesque, -and Renaissance Revival, they were built closer to-
the lot 1line and were generally less expensively finished. Unlike
contemporanecus rowhouses, which are often designed to be distinguished from
one ancther and whose facades are frequently articulated by projecting bays,
oriels, ard various pictureseque roof treatments, flats are generally
regqular in their massing and define a uniform street wall, most apparent on
Columbus and Amsterdam Avenmes. An interesting example of a flats building
designed to harmonize with both neighboring flats on the averme amd
rowhouses on the adjacent side street is the Greystone at 286-294 Columbus
Averme (southwest corner of West 74th Street), which has a planar neo-Grec
facade in brick and limestone on Columbus Avenue and a more robust
" Romanesque Revival facade in rusticated limestone on West 74th Street.

Apartment Hotels

In the effort to develop a suitable middle-class multi-family dwelling,
at least for bachelors ard newly married couples, an early invention in New
York was the apartmernt hotel which conbined features of the new apartment
house type and the hotel, an established kind of residence for middle-class
living. As discussed in the architectural press,®? the apartment house was
considered to lack the privacy of a house and the amenities of a hotel,
whereas the hotel lacked the spacicusness and sense of permanence of an
apartment. Filling the gap, the apartment hotel contained suites of rooms
including, at first, a parlor, dining room, bedrooms, private baths, and
servants’ rooms — everything to be found in an apartment house except a
kitchen (in some cases there would have been a small "housekeeping" kitchen
without a stove®3). Instead, a dumbwaiter connected a serving pantry in
each apartment to a large kitchen on the ground flocor or basement for
delivery of food to each apartment, or tenants could eat in a restaurant on
the ground floor.

The first apartment hotels in the area of the district were: the
Beresford, the San Remo, the Majestic, and the El Dorado, all built on .
Central Park West between 1889 and 1893 and all later replaced in the 1920s

52 pescribed in Cromley, Chapter 5, 150-160.
53  stoves were mot allowed in living units of apartment hotels under

the law but the law was not always strictly enforced,  This situation became
a matter of public controversy in the mid 1920s.
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by apartment buildings with the same names;®? and the Endicott at 440-456

Columbus Averme designed by Edward L. Arngell, and the Brockholst at 520-526

.Colurmtus Averue designed by John G. Prague, both built in 1889 and both
still standing. The Emdicott and the Brockholst were for a distinctly upper
niddle~class clientele and had very similar features. Both were designed in
the Ramanesque Revival style and had commercial avemue frontages. At the

Brockholst the rest of the ground floor was taken up by a large entrance

hall, a reception room, a dining roam, a cafe, and a barber- shop, all richly-
 embellished and furnished. Both an ornate iron stairway and an-elevator: led .
to upper floors where there were suites of rooms of various sizes. The-
" huilding was plamned arcund a large central court-and two smaller courts.-:
It is of load-bearing brick construction with a non-fireproof interior iron

frame.

In 1900 there were seventeen households at the Brockholst, including an
architect, a manager of a foreign campany, a cigar mamufacturer, a
construction engineer, a railrcad supplier, an editor, an accountant, a
banker, a doctor, a member of the corn exchange, a shipper, and several
widows. Seven of these had live-in servants.

While several such huildings were erected in the district in the
nineteenth century, only a few survive. As an article about the Endicott
stated at the time it opened,®® a new kind of building such as this irvolved
a greater risk on the part of its developer than flats for which there was a
proven market.

Subsequent concentrations of apartment hotel construction took place
during the periocds 1902-1907, 1914-1917, and 1922-1929; this resulted in a
group on West 72nd Street and others scattered throughout the area of the
district. A wider range of tenants were accammodated than before, in small
inexpensive units in most cases and in large and very expensive units in a
few cases. These later apartment hotels ciramvented the height
restrictions of the Tenement House law, and after 1916, the Building Zone--
Resolution, under both of which an apartment hotel was considered, like a
hotel, a comercial building. A case in point, the Oliver Cromwell,
designed by Emexry Roth and built in 1927 for Washington Square, Inc., is
considered the first "skyscraper" on the Upper West Side. In at least some
cases, bhuildings may have been altered in the process of design from
apartments to apartment hotels for this reason. Financial conditions
provided a particular incentive for developers to push against the limits of
the laws.

In the period 1914-17 three nearly identical apartment hotels were
designed by Buchman & Fox for Edward West Browning and built in the area of
72nd Street, and a fourth was designed by Robert T. Iyons for the same
developer. The three Buchman & Fox buildings are faced in elakorate terra-

54 ' Like all apartment hotels, the Dakota of 1880 also had a dining -
room and full hotel services; unlike them, it had full kitchers in each apartment.

55 mhe Hotel Endicott,” Real Estate Record & Guide (1889), 44.
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cotta sheathing executed in a neo-Gothic style. In the 1920s, Emery Roth
designed three apartment hotels, including the Oliver Cromwell, and the
firmms of Sugarman & Berger ard Sugarman & Hess also designed a total of
three.

Apartment Buildings

Of the several mltiple dwelling types within the Upper West -
Side/Central Park West Historic District, apartment buildings, although not
the most mmerocus, are the most conspicucus by virtue. of the size and-
location of the buildings. ' There are about 150 apartment buildings and 200+
flats, but the apartment buildings occupy more area, they are much taller,
and they house many more people. Whereas the flats are concentrated along
Columbus Averue and portions of Amsterdam Avenue where they are generally
related in scale to both neighboring tenements and rowhouses, the
buildings form a high eastern boundary to the district along Central Park
West and a western boundary that extends from 69th Street alongy Broadway and
continues up Amsterdam Avenue between 72nd and 79th Streets. They create
several distinct streetscapes, notably on West 72nd, 77th, 79th, 8lst, and
86th Streets; and they are scattered throughout the district so that there
is at least one in almost every block of the district.

: Only two apartment huildings, the pioneering Dakota of 1880, and Ia -
'Rochelle at 321-329 Columbus Avenue of 1895-1898 (designed by Lamb & Rich
for G.H. Merriman), were built in the district in the nineteenth century.
It was after 1900 and especially after World War I that the construction of
apartment huildings transformed the lock and character of the district. The
large majority of apartment buildings in the district replaced existing
"permanent” brick buildings, some of them being flats and tenements, whereas
the development of the area up until this time occurred either on vacant
land or replaced small wood-frame structures. In the search for an
appropriate housing form for the middle class, the apartment building was
gaining acceptance in New York City in the 1890s, but it was only in the
decade after the IRT subway along Broadway opened in 1904 that many were
built in the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
— nearly forty being built during that period.

One could reasonably argue that apartment buildings were already conmmen
here in the form of the higher class of flats since arcund 1890 and that the
distinction is largely semantic. However, changes in the building laws and
the Tenement House Taw in 1901 together with other conditions (electricity,
necessary for elevators, was available from a power substation in 1896)
altered the framework in which these structures were built so that, by amd
large, different kinds of miltiple dwellings were built before and after
1901. Under the Tenement House Iaw of 1901, a multiple dwelling on a.
standard lot was impossible to build, courtyard buildings on multiple lots
being the only altermative. The costs of construction and providing
amenities in a more mechanized building, the introduction of fireproof
buildings mardated by codes and encouraged by insurance companies, and the.
charge in rent structure that was the result of elevators produced a new
kind of building that became the standard solution.
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In the period from 1904 to 1914 most new apartment buildings were U- or
H-shaped in plan or had central courts. Typically built to the maximm
.urder the Tenement House Iaw of about twelve to fifteen stories in height,
" they were serviced by elevators from large and elaborate public lobbies and
were mostly steel-frame fireproof or "semi-fireproof" construction (same
exposed steel members). These lwury buildings were intended for upper .
middle—class tenants and had living units organized with public rooms
grouped together near the entry, private and sleeping rooms grouped -
‘separately, and service rooms with separate circulation. Mulliken & Moeller -
and Schwartz & Gross were the two most prolific architectural firms
‘associated with these buildings in the district. Several of them were built .
on Central Park West and others on prominent corner sites elsewhere in the
district.

In the years Jjust before construction stopped during World War I,
apartment buildings began to appear more frequently on midblock sites.
Although these were much larger buildings, in plan they recalled the
dunbbell ard rear light well plans of midblock flats and tenements of the
previous twenty years.

The biggest wave of development of apartment buildings tock place after
World War I, from 1919 until construction stopped in 1931 because of the
‘Depression. In this period there were nearly ninety new apartment buildings..
constructed in the district, including a mmber of them substantially larger
and taller than anything in the neighborhocod before, with several in the
rarnge of thirty stories. The largest of these buildings, built after 1929,
were shaped by the amended Building Zone Resolution of 1927 and the Multiple
Dwelling Iaw of 1929, and their set-back towers were a new form in the area.
In plan, as before, midblock buildings tended to have side and rear light
courts, like large dumkbells, and corner buildings, while maintaining the
street wall, were U- or E-shaped in the rear. These buildings were intended
for a broader range of income levels than the luwawry buildings of the pre-
World War I years. At the low erd living units were smaller and had lower
ceilings: Mefficiency" apartments (efficient because their rooms were used
for miltiple purposes) had one or two rooms, and three- and four-room units
comitted servants rooms. At the high end they were at least as large and
lavish as they had ever been: buildings like the Beresford and San Remo
included apartments of sixteen or more rooms on two or three flcoors (called
duplex or triplex apartments) with ceilings of twelve feet and higher and
wood-burning fireplaces. Among many prolific architects, George F. Pelham
built the largest mumber of buildings in this period and Emery Roth built
several of the largest and most prominent.

When most of the larger buildings were constructed after the turn of the -
century, a basic compositional format was utilized for almost every
building, on which ormamental details derived from different stylistic
sources — Renaissance, Baroque, Georgian, and Gothic ~- could be placed.
Most facades of large buildings by 1900 had two- or three-part vertical
compositions with a two-story base and an articulated upper section when
there were three parts. These camositions might be embellished with
articulated end bays, balconies, or other features in the broad midsection.
The facades of these buildings were generally brick, embellished with trim
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of stone, terra cotta, arnd ormamental irorwork. 2Among the earliest were
those most richly ornamented, often in the elaborate Beaux-Arts style, such
as the St. Urban at 285 Central Park West (1904-05, Robert T. Lyons,
architect) with its prominent mansard roof.

Until 1930, the overwhelming choice of style  for these buildings was-
neo-Renaissance. In the last few years before construction ended, same of
the largest buildings in the district, including a few located along Central
Park West, notably, the Century (1931, Irwin S. ¢hanin and Jacgues L.
Delamarre, Sr., architects) and the Ardsley Apartments (1931-31, Emery Roth, -
architect), were designed in the Art Deco style. - These huildings were :
treated somewhat differently than nec-Renaissance buildings; they have
articulated bases and other features that helped relate them visually to
their neighbors, but have soaring towers whose designs emphasized
verticality rather than visual termination. Typically clad in brick with
stone, cast-stone, ard terra-cotta decorative trim, the facades of these
buildings incorporate stylized, often geametric, and often polychramatic
ornamental features that tend to emphasize the massing of the building.

studio Buildings

Studio buildings were a form of apartment building or apartment hotel,
initially designed specifically to provide living and working space for. -
artists. The precedent for this building type in New York was set in 1857~
58 by Richard Morris Hunt in his Studio Building (15 West Tenth Strest,
demolished). Because they were expensive to build, many studio buildings
were financed as cooperatives.

To accamnxdate artists, these buildings generally had north-facing,
double-height studio rooms with large industrial sash windows, and one or
two floors of sleeping and service rooms behind the studio. To utilize the
space in the buildings where there were double-height units on the north
- side, some had smaller, ordinary living units on twice as many floors on the.
sauth side. Like the best of other varieties of contemporary apartment
bhuildings, they are of fireproof, steel-frame construction with concrete
floor and roof arches.

To obtain adequate light of the right exposure, most studio buildings
in New York were kuilt on the south sides of streets facing cpen spaces.
The first of these in the area of the district ard the largest concentration
of them, on the north side of West 67th Street, are an exception, ensuring
northern light to studio units at the rear of the building by virtue of the
low-rise rowhouses on West 68th Streect.®® From 1902 to 1907 several studio
buildings were erected on West 67th Street by the same developer-architect

56 Tt has been suggested that restrictive covenants initially governed
the development of 68th Street and the side streets further north, allowirg -
only single—-family rowhouses to be huilt, conversation with architectural
historian Andrew Scott Dolkart, March 22, 1990. Examination of deeds and
conveyances, however, has turned up no specific irdication of covenants.
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team: William J. Taylor and Simonson, Pollard & Steinam (and variations);
two others were added on this block in 1915 and 191¢. All hut two of the
twelve studio buildings located in the district were erected by 1915. Apart
from West 67th Street, the others were built on scattered locations on and

sauth of 77th Street, including the Studic Building at 44 West 77th Street
~ (1907-09, Harde & Short, architects). facing Manhattan Scuare.

- Stylistically, these buildings generally stand out among contemporary
apartment buildings. Most have an Arts and Crafts era. character in the use-
of clinker brick with polychrame terra-cotta trim. and -their facades -
incorporate Gothic, Northern Renaissance, and Tudor details, all of which -
has an immediate association with the production of art by the tenants.
These features are overlaid on conventional two~ or three-part compositional
frameworks.

Hotels

Within the range of building types called hotels that were built in New
York City during the years when the Upper West Side developed, those in the
district appear to be all of one general type. Neither the first-class,
Iuxary hotels of midtown near the city’s principal visitor attractions, nor

the lower end hotels that catered to seasonal laborers or unattached working
" “'men, - these were middle-priced hotels for middle-class professionals and..
business people. They provided food and shelter on a temporary or long=term
basis for bachelors, traveling salesmen, newly married couples and others
who did not want the commitment of a permanent residence with its irwestment
in furniture, costs of servants, and daily responsibilities. At least two,
the Orleans at 410-416 Colunbus Averue designed by Buchman & Deisler for the
Imperial Construction Company, and 291 Central Park West designed by
Clarence True for Eppenstein & Mathews, offered a becarding plan including
meals. Although they were open to tourists and other short-term visitors,
they were widely considered by the middle class to be a residential optlc:n
and had been since before the middle of the nineteenth century.

Of the dozen odd hotels built in the area of the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District, nearly all were buiit between 1898
ard 1913, with a few between World War I and the Depression. Except for one
on Central Park West at 89th Street, all were built on West 8lst Street or
beleow. The earlier group were generally more richly embellished than
contemporary miltiple dwellings of other types because they had a more
urgent need to attract new guests. In fact five of the earliest hotels in
the district were designed in the Beaux-Arts style, both because of its
sumptuousness and its associations with cosmopolitan Parisian life. After
1911, the image of most hotels in the  district was more restrained,
generally in the neo-Renaissance style.

Except for the Hotel Colonial at 441-449 Columbus Avenue (1903-05,
- Frederick C. Browne, architect) with its central court, generally a sign of
~ higher quality and cost, all of these hotels were built with side or rear.
light courts where there were lower cost roams. When they opened, all of
these hotels probably had spacious lckbies and restaurants and provided
varied services to guests. In the earliest hotels typical living units
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probably consisted of rooms with private baths and pairs of rooms with a
shared bath. By the post-World War I period, most rooms had private baths.

Commissions for hotels were considered prestigious and developers
typically selected well-known architects for these highly visible projects.
" Almost every designer of a hotel in the area was a prominent member of the
- profession. Buchman & Fox, Harry B. Mulliken, Schwartz & Gross, Maynicke & -
 “Franke, Clarence True, and George F. Pelham all designed hotels in the area.-

Unlike most other mitiple-dwelling types which  before 1916  were
regqulated by both the building laws and the Tenement House Law,  hotels were -
only regulated by the building laws until 1916 after which they were
regulated by the Building Zone Resolution as well. However, in the building
laws they were more strictly and specifically regulated than many other
building types, and their fire insurance costs were higher because of the
nature of their use.

Subsequent History

There has been relatively little new construction of multiple dwellings
in the area of the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District in
the nearly sixty years since all construction of such buildings came to a
halt in the early years of the Depression. The little activity that has. -
occurred has been as follows: conversion of rowhouses into apartment
buildings, conversion of non-residential buildings into residential
buildings, conversion and remodeling of public spaces such as lobbies and
dining rooms of milti-unit buildings, construction of new apartrrent
buildings, and the alteration of the interiors of wvariocus buildings to
adjust to shifting markets.

Contimuing a development that had becun in the 1920s, several groups of
rowhouses were joined and remodeled as single apartment buildings in every
decade through the 1970s, reaching a maximm of nine such conversions in the. .
1960s. As part of these conversions the stoops were removed and the facades
were usually stripped of original decorative detail and remodeled as single
designs. Sametimes the building was extended to the building line and a new
facade was constructed, usually Moderme or modern in style.  Generally
speaking these changes seem to reflect a decline in the economic value of
rental property in the neighborhood up to the 1970s. Almost all of the
rowhouses in the district, whether or not they have had exterior
alterations, are now ocaupied as apartments. Relatively few are occupied as
single-family dwellings.

- In at least one case, the old Pythian Temple on West 70th Street, a
non-residential building (in this case a clubhouse) has been converted to

An important behind-the-scenes change has been the remodeling of public
spaces such as lobbies, dining rooms, and reception rooms of apartment
buildings, hotels, flats, and apartment hotels. Some such spaces have
becone cammercial, reflecting both econamic pressure and changing social
‘needs. Others have been remodeled, perhaps in efforts to attract new
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business and some have been corverted as part of modernization efforts that
might include air conditioning and new elevators.

There were very few apartment buildings erected in the district between
1931 and the end of World War II. Then two to four were built in each
decade until the 1980s when seven were constructed. Simnce World War II, .
modified building codes, improved 1lighting, heating and wventilating-
technology, and new zoning regulations (since 1961) have changed the long--.
time practice of designing buildings around light courts. 1In this period,
most new buildings  were ‘designed as solid blocks, and sometimes were set-
“back from the building line, as at 15 West 72nd Street, creating..
inharmonicus streetscapes. In the 1980s, revised zoning has encouraged new
construction more sympathetic to its context; an example of this trend is
the Coronado at Broadway and West 70th Street.

Same of the biggest changes in the area of the district have been
imperceptible from the street. While most buildings have undergone interior
remcdelings, their basic use has remained constant. In the case of flats
ard tenements, however, since the 1970s, many have been thoroughly upgraded
to modern apartment buildings with full kitchens and baths in every unit.
Related to these changes have been the imposition of rent control and rent
stabilization laws throughout New York City on the one hand and the
conversion of much rental property to cooperatives and condaminiums on the -
cother.

Current Conditions

Most street-level stores in miltiple dwellings have been remodeled.
Doors to upper-level flats and tenements, particularly when they face the
avenues, are somewhat less likely to have been remodeled. In apartment
buildings, many new entrances have been installed. A significant change to
miltiple dwellings in the district has been the replacement of original
wood- or steel-framed windows with aluminum sash, often in a pattern new to
the building which is not as sympathetic to its overall architectural
character. Often this alteration has been associated with the conversion of
rental property to cooperatives and condominiums. Window replacement has
had an impact on substantial mumbers of every building type in the district.

Despite these changes, however, the multiple dwellings of the district
are in largely original condition. A few cornices have been removed and

parapets altered, but the overvhelming character of the buildings is little
changed since the 1930s.

Michael Corbett
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THE OOMMERCIAL ARCHITECTURE OF THE
UFPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

I'l'ﬂi.] ]E-J:o 1 'thU .].u 57

Very few buildings in the district were erected purely for commercial. -

purposes; however, many were constructed to contain mixed uses or were
"residential lmlld:ln;s later . altered - for camercial use. The relevant-
building types found in the district are: tenements and flats with street-.
level shops, apartment buildings and hotels, rowhouses conwverted to
comercial use at the street level, small commercial buildings, and other
specialized commercial structures. Although the shopfronts contained in
these huildings survive in various states of integrity, the remaining
historic features are significant to the character of the streetscapes.

Tenements and Flats with Street-Ievel Storefronts®8

In most cases, the masonry upper wall of a tenement or flats building
is separated from the street-level storefromts by a cormice or bandcourse of
pressed metal, wood, or stone. Often these horizontal elements contained
frieze bards designed to accommodate commercial signage. Supporting this
feabture are masonry or cast-iron piers, normally ornamented, which divide
the ground story into storefront modules.®® swrviving in various states of
integrity (sometimes details are missing although the piers remain in situ),
these piers ard pilasters frame the storefront openings. Cast-iron columns
often ocaured within the opening and were sometimes placed inside the
storefront. These are in most cases visible today; in a few instances the
original elements are intact, in situ, but hidden behind modern materials.
Nenetheless, they reveal that often the structural divisions of the street-

57 This section is based on the following sources: Atlas of the Entire
City of New York (New York, 1879); Atlas of the City of New York and Part of
the Bronx (New York, 1885); M. Christine Boyer, Marhattan Manners (New York,
1985), 193-219; James Trager, West of Fifth (New York, 1987), esp. 23, 38,
132, 144ff; New York City, Manhattan Department of Buildings, Plans,
Permits, and Dockets; New York Public Library, Photographic Views of New
York City 18707s-1970’s from the Collections of the New York Public Library
(Ann Arbor, Mich., 1981), microfiche nos. 0599, 0608, 0675, 0807, 0808.

58 puildings of this type were constructed on Columbus and Amsterdam
Avenues. While little original storefront fabric survives on Columbus -
Avenue, that on Amsterdam Averme has undergone a lesser degree of change and
shows a greater harmony with the architectural character of the upper
stories of the buildings.

59 This description of storefronts is based on a survey of Photographic

Views... New York Public Library, and Department of Taxes FPhotograph
Collection, Municipal Archives and Records Center.
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level cammercial cpenings did not necessarily align with the bay divisions
of the upper facade. This non-aligmment was architecturally resolved
through the employment of a heavy lintel or architrave which visually acted
to support the lcad of the masonry and which provided a convenient frieze
for the inclusion of signage. When the narrow side of the multiple dwelling
‘faced onto the commercial avenue, the one or two shopfront modules per
building alternated with the residential entrance. When the long side of the.
© building stretched along the aveme, residential entrances were either.
located between the more mumercus shops, or on the side street, or both. The
residential entrances, normally reached by a low stoop (many of which have -
szncebeenremoved)oonta]nedadoorsumumtedbyatranscm y

The typical shopfront designed for these building types was often
tripartite in composition: a recessed doorway with a transom flanked by, or
in some cases, to the side of, show windows that were bracketed between an
wpper transom and lower bulkhead. Bulkheads, sometimes elaborately
decorated, were built of iron or wood painted in solid colors. Transoms
were typically composed of several small glass panes (sometimes several
dozen) and were sometimes partially operable. Signs were most often boards
or lettering attached to or painted on the frieze of the shopfront cornice;
often they were back-painted directly onto the show window glass. Ancther
popular method was projecting signs extended from the upper part of the
facade, mounted on metal  brackets. Many of the shopfronts were shaded by
retractable awnings mounted within the masonry opening and conforming to the
shape of the opening; at times the second-story shopfronts also had them.
Two prevalent first-story types were: (1) those attached to the bar between
the transom and door or show window, which allows natural 1light to
illuminate the display windows; and (2) those installed above the transoms
which often gave the awning a steep slope. Sametimes they alsoc served as
additional signage.

Multiple dwellings located along the avenues (with the main entrance on
the side streets), typically two per blockfront, were erected with narrow
yards between them that opened to the avermue. Over time this short gap
between the two buildings was filled in with one or two narrow one-story
structures; they normally contimue the architectural motifs, in brick or
stone, of the adjacent buildings and include shopfronts.

Buildi and Hotels

Along Columbus and Amsterdam avemues are a number of apartment
buildings, most of which were designed with street-level shops. The
apartment huildings on West 72nd Street between Central Park West and .
Colurbus Averme, on West 79th Street between Columbus and Amsterdam avenues, -
on West 86th Street, on Central Park West, and on side streets throughout .

60 yhile the low stoops have been removed, many original entrance doors
and transoms survive on Amsterdam Averme; others survive on Columbus Avenue
at No. 182, No. 188, No. 207-209, No. 244, No. 302, No. 304-306, No. 463,
amnd Nos. 483, 485, and 487.
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the neighborhood typically do not have shopfronts. Apartment hotels, found
most. often on the avenues and West 72nd Street, resenble the apartment
buildings in exterior appearance. Typically these were built with
‘storefronts at street level; if not, shops were often added soon after
construction.

‘In general, the facades of these kuildings are articulated by large .

ST / piers; clearly separating the ground-story shopfronts into discrete-

units, the pilers, throwh their wvertical continuity, also allow the
- shopfronts to be integrated with the arrangement of the facade at the upper -
stories. “Historically, these shopfronts resembled those in the tenements
and flats: separated from the masonry wall above by a decorative cornice
and/or bandcourse, they often had show windows with bulkheads flanking a
central doorway, the entire glassy span surmounted by transoms, a sign, and
(often) a retractable awning. In apartment buildings and hotels the
residential entrance is normally grand, with decorative treatment or
structural piers clearly separating it from commercial fronts.

Rowhouses Converted to Comercial Use

Rowhouses were altered for commercial use on West 72rdd Street between
Columbus and Amsterdam avermies and on West 79th Street between Amsterdam
Averme and Broadway. A few rowhouses underwent commercial alterations as
early as 1909; however, the overwhelming majority of conversions occurred in
the 1920s.

In a few cases, the residential entrance remained unaltered and a
shopfront was inserted into the front of the raised basement, for example at
104 West 73rd Street, where the areaway with steps leads down to the
shopfront. In other cases the basement and first-story levels were raised to
permit the shopfront ‘to be at grade. Typically these commercial fronts,
surmounited by a pressed metal cornice, contained a doorway, one or two show
windows with bulkheads, ard transcoms.

More commonly, the rowhouse was stripped of its stoop, and shopfronts
were inserted into the raised basement, first story (as at 217 West 79th
Street), or (in the case of rowhouses with American basements) first and
second stories. While these shopfronts vary in detail, they share same
comnon features: commercial and residential entrances are located to the
side of wide display windows.

Another common alteration, seen along West 72nd and West 79th streets,
was the erection of a one- or two-story extension out to the building line -
to accommodate commercial tenants. Often the first-story shopfront, its show
windows and doors framed in cast iron in the early. twentieth centuwry and
steel or alumimm later on, consisted of a side doorway and wide show window
resting on a low bulkhead. The residential entrance would be on one side of .
the shopfront, unless two or more contiguous rowhouses had been converted
similtanecusly, thus permitting one residential entrance to serve all the
apartments. The front extension, often originally faced in stone or brick,
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also contained businesses at the second story, where large windows, or a
fixed central sash flanked by smaller, operable windows and surmounted by
transoms, would be installed. (A mmber of these storefronts, generally
added in the 1920s, still survive.)

The most extensive comercial alteration of rowhouses in the district,
a popular change on West 72nd Street, irvolved the erection of a totally new .-
facade at the building line. In' these instances, a commercial base with--
piers and a cornice, often faced in stone or brick, would frame the first-
story shopfront (résembling those described above) and the entrance to upper
stories, as well as the second-story commercial window arrangement,
typically a fixed sash of metal or wood flanked by double-hung or pivoting-
sash side windows.

Small Commercial Buildings

Scattered along the shopping streets in the district there are a
hardful of small buildings designed solely for comercial use. Columbus
Avenue has two from the 1890s (Nos. 424 and 426), one rebuilt in 1961 (No.
466-468), and two from the 1980s (Nos. 211 and 215). West 72nd Street
contains four examples dating from 1909 to 1920 and a few from the 1930s.
Typically one or two stories, these buildings have facades composed of large
display windows surrounded by frames vwhich reveal their period of
construction through bold stylistic references. Except for the most recent
exanples, these buildings share a comon building plane and degree of
transparency with their larger neighbors. Today, the design integrity of
these =small commercial buildings varies, but they are clear examples of
vibrant commercial design spanning the history of the district.

Cther Commercial Structures

The historic district contains a building related to the livery
business, a stable at 2 West 90th Street built in 1906-07 (now converted to
residential use). A large complex erected in 1900-01 on West 66th and 67th
streets near Central Park West, consisting of a clubhouse and stables (both
now demolished), and the architecturally grand Durland Riding Academy, still
standing at 8 West 67th Street, attests to the recreational aspect of the
horse industry at the turn of the century. One of the largest equestrian
schools in the world ardd home of the New-York Riding Club (organized in
1873),51 the riding academy was later converted into a television center.

Another specialized huilding type found in the district is represented
by the Riverside Memorial Chapel (1925-26), a four-story building in the
Neo-French Renaissance style. ILocated on Amsterdam Avenue between West 75th -
and 76th streets, it contains a mortuary chapel, offices, and residential
space. The six-story Renaissance Revival edifice erected on the southwest
‘comer of Columbus Averue and 72nd Street for the firm of Park & Tilford,
first-class grocers, was designed by McKim, Mead & White (1892-93); it is

61 Ring (1893), 297, 569.
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cne of the few large buildings in the district intended for purely
cammercial use. A six-story dry goods store and warechouse (now corverted to
residential use) in the neo-Renaissance style (George H. Griebel, 1902-03)
erected on Colunbus Avermue at 73rd Street and the eleven-story Metropolitan
Storage Warehouse, designed in the Beaux-Arts style and built at 471-475
Amsterdam Avenue (1922-23), point to further cammercial activity in the
district. More recently, as part of the American Broadcasting Company
Television Center, a’fifteen-story office-and-studic building.was erected on-
West 67th Street (1978-79).

David Breiner



THE ARCHITECTURE OF RELIGIOUS AND OTHER PUBLIC AND PRIVATE TNSTTTUTIONS
IN THE UPPER WEST SIDE/CENTRAL PARK WEST HISTORIC DISTRICT

Religicus Institntions and their Architecture

The rich and varied religious architecture in the .Upper West-
Side/Central Park West  Historic District plays an important role in.
‘defining the district’s character. These buildings are often organized into.-
conplexes to serve the various needs of-a congregation: a house of worship;
a huilding for comgregation functions (called variocusly a parish house,
church house or commmity center), a school, and living aquarters for the
minister, priest or rakbi. These varied buildings for a Im.lltiplicity of
denominations within the Judeo-Christian tradition reflect, in part, the
diverse population of the district during its period of major development. A
mnuber of distinguished architects have addressed the challenge of
designing religious buildings for this densely-built residential
neighborhood., Many are located on midblock sites and relate to the
neighboring rowhouses in scale and materials. Others, on Central Park West,
are grander in scale as befits their more generous sites and the greater
width of the street. In respording to this challenge, the architects have .
- employed a broad range of materials in a wide range of architectural styles.

Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran Church, originally St. Andrew’s
Methodist Church, at 123-125 West 71st Street, built in 1879-80 and designed
by Stephen D. Hatch, is a unique essay in the district in the High Victorian
Gothic style. Two Romanesque Revival churches survive: St. Andrew’s
Methodist Church, now the West Side Institutional Synagogue, at 122-138 West
76th Street, designed by J.C. Cady & Co. and built in 1889-90, and renovated
after a fire in 1966; and the Church of the Third Universalist Society, now
the Mount Pleasant Baptist Church, at 140-144 West 81st Street, built in
1892-93 and designed by John F. Capen. The West End Synagogue {Congregation
Shaaray Tefila), now the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Church of St.
Volodymyr, at 160 West 82nd Street, built in 1893-94 and designed by Brunner
& Tryon, shares many of the same architectural elements of the two
Ramanesque Revival buildings, such as the coupled windows and the arcading
at the doors and wirdows, although Sharaay Tefila was cast in the
Moorish/Byzantine Revival mode considered appropriate for synagogues. The
similarities in form between Capen’s church and Brunner & Tryon’s synagogue
are particularly striking. Both have arcades flanked by towers and are
approached by a double flight of steps.

Three religious complexes on Central Park West represent turm—of-
"~ the—century stylistic interpretations that occurred within the classical
canon. Congregation Shearith Israel Synagogue and Rectory at 99 Central
Park West was designed by Brunner & Tryon in the monmumental Academic
Classical style and built in 1896-97. From colonial times, ' Congregational
Shearith Israel had built houses of worship in the prevailing classical
style. Nonetheless, the shift in Brummer & Tryon’s work from the
Moorish/Byzantine Revival of the West End Synagogue to the classicism of
Shearith Tsrael is striking, The Second Church of Christ, Scientist at 77
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Central Park West was designed by Frederick Comstock in an Academic
Classical mode based on Beaux-Arts principles and built in 1899-1901. Tt is
likely that the Christian Scientists wished to establish a palpable presence
on Central Park West. The New York Society for Ethical Culture at 2 West
64th Street was designed by Robert D. Kohn in the Secessionist style, a .
‘variation of the Art Nouveau, and built in.1909-10.. Although Kohn scaled
his huilding to sympathlze with the Society’s adjacent school, built in.
1902-03 and- designed- in 'a variation of the more traditional neo-Renaissance .
style by Carrere & Hastings with Kohn as associate architect, he chose a.
contemporary although classicizing style for the new religious sect.

Four churches and synagogues within the district display = different
facets of the Gothic style. The Church of the Fourth Universalist Society
church, at West 76th Street and Central Park West, was built in 1897-98 and
designed by William A. Potter in the style of late English Gothic churches.
The adjacent school huilding is contemporary and integral to the design of
the charch. In the design of the Holy Trinity Evangelical Iutheran Church
at Central Park West and West 65th Street, built in 1899-1901, Schickel &
Ditmars created a church based on late~thirteenth-century northern Furopean
prototypes. The Roman Catholic Charch of the Blessed Sacrament at 146-150
West 71st Street, built in 1916-17, was designed by Gustave E. Steinback to
evoke thirteenth—century French Gothic church architecture. It is
constructed of cast stone as are the adjacent rectory and the school, .
behind the church at 147-153 West 70th Street, both contemporary with the
church. The two buildings of the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue/ Hebrew Union
College~Jewish Institute of Religion at 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street,
were begun in 1939-41 and finished in 1948-49. Designed by Bloch & Hesse,
they are unified through the consistent use of a neo-Medieval style with
Gothic elements and executed in Fordham gneiss and limestone.

The architects of this century have tended to organize the camponents
of the typical mligims corplex as a single structure. This is seen in
three examples in the district. The Jewish Center at 131-135 West 86th
Street, built in 1917-20, was designed by Iouis Allen Abramson to
incorporate a synagogue and educ:atlcmal ard recreational facilities within a
ten-story neo-Renaissance style structure. Congregation Rodeph Sholom at
7-21 West 83rd Street incorporates a synagogue, community and meeting rooms,
and living quarters behind a massive facade with deeply cut arches that
evoke Ramanesque and Byzantine prototypes. Designed by Charles B. Meyers,
the structure was built in 1928-29. The most recent religious structure in
the district is the St. Matthew and St. Timothy Church and Center at 26-32
West 84th Street, built in 1967-68 and designed by Victor Christ-Janer and
Associates. Behind the high, reinforced-concrete street screen reminiscent
of le Corbusier’s late Brutalist work, Christ-Janer has juxtaposed the
sanctuary, parish hall, school and living quarters. The Rodeph Sholom.
School at 10-16 West 84th Street, built in 1973-77, as designed by William
Roper echoes this aesthetic.

The changing demographics of a growing metropolis were responsible for
the Upper West Side’s development and religious institutions both
anticipated and followed their congregations uptown. The chronology of the
- construction of religiocus buildings within the Upper West Side/Central Park
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West Historic District reflects the patterns of development within the area.
The earliest religious buildings were constructed near the intersection of
Broadway and West 72nd Street, the site of old Harsenville, the hamlet that
grew at the intersection of the old Bloamingdale Road (now Broadway) arxd
Harsenville Iane (now West 71st Street) which comnected the Bloomingdale
Road to the Boston Post Road on Manhattan’s East Side. These include what
is now Christ and St. Stephen’s at 124 West 68th Street, first organized in
"1879 as the Chapel of the Transfiguration, an uptown branch of .the Church.
of the Transfiguration at 1 East 29th Street ("The Little Church Around the
Corner™); Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran Church at 123-125 West 71st Street, .
originally built as a chapel for a growing congregation of Methodists by .
that dencmination’s Extension ard Missionary Society in 1880; and the Roman
Catholic Church of the Blessed Sacrament which established itself at
Broadway and West 71st Street in 1887 in a building which preceded the
present one.

A second wave of religiocus buildings further to the north followed in
the 1890s. The growing congregation of Methodists on West 71st Street sold
its chapel to Grace Lutheran and moved as St. Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal
Church to 122-138 West 76th Street in 18%0. The Third Universalist Scociety
built its new church at 140-144 West 81st in 1892-93. A second Episcopalian
congregation left its chapel at Columbus Avermie and West 83rd Street to
became the newly organized St. Matthew’s at 26 West 84th Street in 1892-93.
The first synagogue in the district was Congregation Sharaay Tefila, kuilt
1893-94, at 160 West 82nd Street by a congregation that had moved up from
West 44th Street.

As Central Park West was developed later than the side street blocks
with residential structures, this was also the case for religiocus buildings.
However, in the 1890s and in the first decade of this century, six religious
denominations built places of worship on Central Park West. The Scotch
Presbyterian Church moved up to Central Park West and West 96th Street from
West 14th Street in 1894. The city’s oldest Jewish congregation, Shearith ..
Israel, moved to Central Park West and West 70th Street from West 19th
Street just west of Fifth Avenue in 1897. The Fourth Universalist Society
built its Church of the Divine Paternity at Central Park West and West 76th
Street in 1896-97. A Imtheran congregation, Holy Trinity Evangelical
Intheran Church, moved uptown to Central Park West and West é65th Street in
1902. Two sects of relatively recent foundation, the Second Charch of
thrist, Scientist, and the New York Society for Ethical Culture, joined the
more traditional denominations already established on Central Park West: the
christian Scientists at  Central Park West and West 68th Street, in
1898-1901, and the New York Society for Ethical cCulture at Central Park
West and West 64th Street in 1910. Congregation Shearith Israel amd the New
York Society for Ethical CQulture are designated New York City ILandmarks.

Following World War I, the prosperity of the 1920s was manifested in
the construction of large apartment buildings along the avenues, especially
Central Park West. Taking advantage of this trend, in 1928 the Scotch
Presbyterian Church, leased its site to a developer on the condition that
accommodation be provided for the church in a new sixteen-story apartment
building. Other newer houses of worship were constructed on midblock sites
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on the side streets. Some replaced rowhouses, as in the case of the several
building canpaigns of the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue/Jewish Institute of
Religion-Hebrew Union at 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street and Congregation
Redeph Sholom at 7-21 West 83rd Street. 1In cother cases, rowhouses were
refaced and interiors adjusted, as with the Society for the Advancement of
Judaism (1937) at 13-15 West 86th Street. In the case of :the Romanian .
Orthodox Chnrch of St. Dumitru at 50 West 8%th Street, the interior was
renovated in 1940 to' accomodate the chwarch but the facade - was left-
essentially intact.

Several denominations have chosen to reuse -available religious-
buildings now located within the district. At least four examples may be -
cited. Grace Iutheran (now Grace and St. Paul’s Iutheran) purchased its
chapel from St. Andrew’s when the latter moved to West 76th Street in 1890;
the West Side Institutional Synagogue purchased this West 76th Strest
building when St. Andrew’s merged with St. Paul’s in 1937. Three
denominations have been housed in the Church of the Third Universalist
Society: the Disciples of Christ in 1910:; the Mormons in 1945; and recently
the Mount Pleasant Baptists. In 1958 Congregation Sharaay Tefila sold its
buildirg to the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Church of st. Volodymyr.

Other Public and Private Institutions and their Architecture

The Upper West Side’s growing population and increase in residential
development during the late-nineteenth century triggered a parallel increase
in the construction of a variety of institutional buildings to serve the
area. later, as transportation improved and the reputations of some of
these institutions spread, services were made available to a much wider
audience. Some have even gained national and international significance.
The initial isclation of the area necessitated the construction of schools
and libraries to meet educational needs, clubs to meet social and anltural
- aspirations, and fire and police stations to meet citizens’ requivements for -
protective services within their own self-sufficient neighborhocod. The
story of the history and development of the institutions in the district is
a long one and covers pericds of establishment, growth, and reorganization
for same major New York City institutions.

Many of the institutions in the district are housed in buildings
designed by architects specifically for the institution. 1In same cases,
institutions which were originally housed in pre-existing structures were
later moved to such specialized structures. In a few cases pre-existing
structures, typically rowhouses, adequately serve the needs of some smaller
institutions. Institutions located on Central Park West, including the
American Museum of Natural History and the New-York Historical Society, are
typically larger and more grandicse in scale and/or ornamental treatment
than the institutional buildings located on side streets. This character
corresponds to that of the larger apartment buildings and religious
institutions located on the averme. Institutional buildings on the side
streets are typically smaller in comparison and often cccupy two lots rather
than entire blockfronts. 1In this way they conform to the residential
character of the side streets. There are exceptions, however. The

68



ildings housing the Young Men’s Christian Association and the Pythian
Temple, located on side streets, are grarnd structures with exuberant detail.
These buildings were erected during a later phase of development and were
constructed amidst other larger development. These blocks are not primarily
residential in character. Ancther exception is Junior High School No. 44,

'~ whose - building program called for an. umsually large building on.a .

residential block.

Most of the architects who designed buildings specifically for
institutions in the district were not involved in any residential design and
development in the area. The only exception is the firm of Lamb & Rich-
which designed several rowhouses in addition to their school building. In
addition to their work at the American Museum of Natural History, the
architectural firm of Cady, Berg & See designed St. Andrew’s Methodist
Episcopal Church (now the West Side Institutional Synagogue) within the
district boundaries. Of the architects whose only work in the district was
institutional, many were large, well-established New York City firms like
Trowbridge & Livingston; Napoleon IeBrun & Sons; York & Sawyer; Babb, Cook &
Willard; and Thomas White Iamb. These architects were active throughout the
city designing other residential and institutional structures. For more
information on the architects represented in the district, see the
Architects’ Apperdix.

PHASES OF DEVELOPMENT

I) The history of institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District began long before the first institutional cornerstone
was laid.. Tt comenced in the late—eidghteenth century when cultural,
educational, and service institutions were being organized throughout the
city. Institutions founded during the span between the late-eighteenth and
late—nineteenth centuries represent nationally-recognized organizations such
at the American Museum of Natural History, the Young Men’s Christian
Association, and the Knights of Pythias (a fraternal organization), as well
as early educational institutions, such as the Colurbia Grammar School and
Sachs Collegiate Academy for Boys. Most of these organizations were
orlgnlallytmusedelsewherelnthecmyarﬂlaterlmved into the area of the
district as they expanded or required new facilities.

The first phase of development in the district includes the earliest
construction of institutional buildings. The year 1877 saw the campletion
of the first building for the American Museum of Natural History, which was
the first permanent building on Central Park West and the first institution
to be constructed in the district. With little residential development in

the area and the inadequate transportation of the time, the museum’s
- exhibits had few visitors in its early years. It would be ancther five:
years before substantial residential construction was begun in the area, and
an additional six years before another institution was constructed.

Engine Company No. 74, the second institution built in the district, -
was erected in 1888-89 at 120 West 83rd Street. By this time, a boom in
residential construction had occurred in the area. Numerocus rows of houses
and flats were built and the new residents of the commnity needed
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protection from fire. The construction of this fire station symbolizes the
great growth of the period. Educational needs of area residents were
addressed by the close of the nineteenth century, as well. The Veltin
School at 160-62 West 74th Street was constructed in 1893. The school
building would later be occupied by the Baldwin and Calhoun Schools, the
latter established as the Jaccbi School for Girls in 1896. The St. Agnes .
Free Circulating Library (originally located at 121 West 91st Street,
outside the district boundaries), was established in 1893, and the New York
Public Library and its branch system was established in 1895. The St. Agnes
Branch would later occupy a building at 444 Amsterdam Avenue, within the
district boundaries. Thus, the first phase of institutional-development in-
the district saw the establishment of several organizations as well as the
first stages of construction for institutional purposes.

II) The secord phase of institutional development in the district was
a more intense pericd of construction. The first decade of the twentieth
century saw mich of this activity. The Progress Club (later occupied by the
Walden School, demolished c. 1987-88), the Central Park West building for
the New-York Historical Society, the Swiss Home, and the St. Agnes Branch of
the New York Public Library were all constructed early in the decade. Also
built at this time were rowhouses at Nos. 20 through 46 West 74th Street,
some of which would later be converted to institutional use.

The secord and third decades of the twentieth century saw contimied
institutional establishment and construction. The Walden School and the
Jewish Guild for the Blind (which would later have a branch of its services
located within district boundaries) were both organized in 1914. The

' Frarklin School, the Pythian Temple (a lodge of the Knights of Pythias), and

the West Side Branch of the YMCA were also constructed during this period.

IIT) The third phase, from the 1950s through the 1980s, was a
transitional period for institutions in the district. Many organizations
merged, expanded, or relocated at this time. The Knights of Pythias vacated -
its lodge building, the Columbia Grammar and Leonard Schools merged, the
Stevenson School moved to West 74th Street, the Twentieth Police Precinct
moved to a new building at West 82nd Street, the Walden School expanded with
its Andrew CGoodman Building, the Calhoun School moved to West 8lst Street
and then expanded to West 74th Street, the Joselow House occupied a rowhouse
on West 74th Street, and a new high =school building was constructed for the
Columbia Grammar School. Thus, this period saw the continued growth of
institutions and the welcanming of new organizations to the area.

This three—phase develomment pattern clearly summarizes the general
history of the institutions in the Upper West Side/Central Park West ..
“Historic District. A lorxy period of establishment, an intense construction
pericd, and a time of reorganization and expansion has brought to the
district several strong institutions. Some of the organizations have
‘national reputations and are monumental in design. Smaller institutions are
nonetheless firmly established in the history of New York City and the Upper-
West Side, and continue to serve both city and neighborhood. The buildings
which house the institutions of the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District, through both their functions and their architectural
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design, complement amd enhance the residential character of the area. A
more detailed account of the history and architecture of each institution is
found below.

Religious Complexes

Holy Trinity Evangelical hrtheran (troch, 51-53 Central Park West

- The Holy Trinity Evargelical Iutheran Church, designed by Schickel & .
' Ditmars -—— William Schickel (1850~1907) and Isaac E. Ditmars (1850-1934) —
ard built in 1902-03, stands on the northwest corner of Central Park West
and West 65th Street. A neo-Gothic design based on late thirteenth
northern Eurcpean prototypes, the church is faced with rusticated limestone
above a rusticated granite base. The stone of the clerestory walls is
supported by a steel frame. The cornice is of limestone and copper ard is
surmeanted by a peaked roof, covered with slate. A copper fleche rises
above the roof.

- The Evargelical ILutheran Church of the Holy Trinity was organized in
1868 by a group seceding from St. James Iutheran Church on Mulberrry
Street. Holy Trinity first rented St. Paul’s Dutch Reformed Church at 47 .
West 21st Street, then purchased it the fellowing year. There the.
congregation remained until relocating to West 65th Street and Central Park
West. St. James remained on Malberry Street until 1891 when it moved to
East 73rd Street, but in 1938 St. James merged with Holy Trinity.

Second Charch of Chroist, Scientist, 77 Central Park West

The Second Church of ¢Christ, Scientist, designed by  Frederick R.
Comstock (1866-1942), was built in 1899-1901 on the southwest corner of
Central Park West and West 68th Street. Comstock’s design for a domed church
is in the Academic Classical mode based on Beaux-Arts principles. The .
basement, as well as the other architectural elements at the building’s
base — the twelve steps and cheek walls at the building’s entrance ard the
Tuscan portico at 10 West 68th Street (entrance to the reading and reception
rooms) —— are of smooth-faced New Hampshire granite ashlar. The torcheres on
the cheek walls are of cast bronze. The walls of the church are of a
high-grade New York limestone called South Dover marble. The roof is covered
with dark slate; the dame and its cupola are sheathed with copper.

Christian Science was established by Mary Baker Eddy (d. 1910) in 1879.
The First Church of Christ, Scientist, in Boston (or Mother Church) was
- dedicated in 1895. (Frederick R. Comstock was an associate architect on.
‘this project.) Mrs. Eddy sent two disciples to. New . York, Mrs. laura
Iathrop in 1886 and Mrs. Augusta Stetson in 1888. Mrs. lathrop and a groap
of her adherents, encouraged by Mrs. Eddy, seceded from the initial
Christian Science congregation in New York and formed the Second Church of
Christ, Scientist, in 1891. As Christian Science was a new sect, an
impressive architectural presence was deemed an appropriate way to further
its acceptance. Mrs. Stetson, who had enlarged the initial congregation,
turned to Carerre & Hastings to design the First Church of Christ,
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Scientist, 1898-1903, a designated a New York City Iandmark on the
northwest corner of Central Park West and West 96th Street. The Second
Church of Christ, Scientist, wdertook its building at Central Park West and
West' 68th Street similtanecusly,- choosing as its architect, Comstock, who
had worked on the Mother Church. The building activity of the two New York

(1906) . :

Congregation Shearith Israel Symagogue {Spanish and Portuguese Synagogue), -
99 Central Park West and 8 West 70th Street

The Congregation Shearith Israel synagogue is a striking example in New
York City of the monumental Academic Classical style. Designed by Brunner &
Tryon, it was built in 1896-97 of smooth—-faced limestone ashlar. Though a
singular stylistic departure from more conventional synagogue architecture
in New York which had adhered, through 1895, to the mid-ninteenth century
Byzantine-Moorish prototype, it was a choice defended by the architect.
Brumner cited as a prototype the Greco-Roman synagogue ruins in Galilee then
recently discovered by the Palestine Excavation Fund. The architecture of
the Chicago World’s Columbian Exposition (1893) was also an inspiration.
The congregation, with its seventeenth- and eighteenth-century New York
antecedents, had a preference for classical forms as well. The adjacent
Beaux-Arts style rectory to the south of the synagogue is contemporary with.
the synagogue arxl designed by Brunner & Tryon.

Adjacent to the synagogue at 8 West 70th Street is the Polonies Talmud
Torah School. Built in 1949 to the designs of Kahn & Jaccbhs, the school
received a new facade designed by Cole & Liebman as part of alterations
carried cut in 1953-54.

Shearith Israel is the oldest Jewish congregation in the city, tracirg
its history back to the immigration of Spanish and Portuguese Jews to New
- York in 1654. In 1730 when the bans against public assembly were lifted .
they held their first public services on Mill Street, in a synagogue which
was rebuilt to accammodate an enlarged congregation in 1816. With each move
uptown, from Mill Street to Crosby Street in 1833 and from Crosby to West
19th Street off Fifth Averme in 1860, Shearith Israel comissioned a
classical style edifice. AaAnd with each move the congregation tock with it
classical interior architectural elements from the first synagogue on Mill
Street. (Today they are contained today within the present building.)
Shearith Israel is a designated New York City Landmark.

The Scobtch Presbyterian Chmch, 360 Central Park West, 2-10 West 96th
Street, and 3 West 95th Strect

The Scotch Presbyterian Church, located at the southwest corner of
Central Park West and West 96th Street, is encompassed within the first four
stories of the sixteen-story apartment building designed by Rosario Candela
and built in 1928-29, In 1928 the congregation, which has owned this
block-through site since 1892, leased the site to Vinross Realties, Inc.,
developers, with the condition that the new edifice plamed for the site
contain a church. The presence of the church on the site is maintained by
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the treatment of the entrance facade at 4 West 96th Street which is
distinguished from and not subsumed within the apartment building’s overall
design. This entrance takes the form of a smooth-faced heavy neo—Gothic
screen of ashlar limestone set along the building line in front of the
apartment house’s fourth-story sethack. Four buttresses, offset by the
truncated octagonal tower on the right, articulate the facade. The pointed
arch containing the segmentally-topped portal and the four lancet windows
above are flanked by the center buttresses, - Attached to the base of the:
buttress to the right of the portal is a bronze plague, a World War I-
memorial removed from the 1893-94 church previously-on the site, which also..
'had - its entrance on West 96th Street. The Alexander Robertson School, .
affiliated with the chwrch, is also located within the apartment building.

Founded in 1756 by a group of Covenanters who seceded from the old
Wall Street Presbyterian Church, the coxpregation of the Scotch
Presbyterian Church applied to the Associated Presbytery of Scotland and
was sent its first pastor, the Rev. John Mitchell Mason, in 1761. Moving
fram its first home on Cedar Street to Grand Street in 1837, and from Grand
to West 14th Street in 1853, the congregation built its fourth home, a
stone—fronted lecture hall (which included the Alexarnder Robertson School)
at 3 West 95th Street in 1893 and the stone-fronted church on the West 96th
Street corner in 1893-94, both to the designs of William H. Hume
(1834-1899) .

Vinross -— among whose principals was Vincent J. Slattery, former
partner in the architectural firm of Horgan & Slattery -- had the church
ard lecture hall demolished and commissioned Rosaric Candela to design a
building to house the church, a school, a gymnasium, laundry and apartments
for 149 families, erected in 1928-29. This solution, while unusual, was
employed by several other congregations in the 1920s. Other examples are
the Calvary Baptist Church, 123 West 57th Street, located at the base of
the Salisbury Hotel (1929-30, Jardine, Hill & Murdock) and the Manhattan
Congregational Church, 2162 Broadway, once housed in the base of the former..
Towers Hotel (1928-1932, Tillion & Tillion).

New York Society for Ethical Culture and School, 2 West 64th Street ard 33
Central Park West

The meeting house of the New York Society for Ethical Culture, at the
southwest corner of Central Park West and West 64th Street, was designed in
the Secession style by Robert D. Kohn (1870?-1953) and built in 1909-10,
adjacent to the Society’s Ethical Culture School immediately to the south
at the cormer of West 63rd Street. The two buildings are compatible in
scale and detail. The Society’s main meeting room is on the first story of
Kohn’s building; Sunday school rooms and offices are on the stories above.
The building is a strong and unusual architectural statement. The base and
steps are of granite; the walls are of smooth-faced Indiana limestone
ashlar. The entrance facade, with its tall windows of leaded stained glass
in wood frames, is on West 64th Street. Two of the lower panels of the
blind Central Park West facade carry inscriptions. The light fiwtures at
the entrance are original. The entrance pediment sculpture is by the
saulptor Estelle Rumbold Kohn, the wife of the architect. The New York
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Society for Ethical CQulture Meeting House is a designated New York City
Landmark.

The Ethical CQulture Schocl, built in 1902-03, was designed by Carrere &
Hastings with Kohn as associated architect. The juxtaposition of brick and
limestone in this building, a variation of the neo-Renaissance style, makes .
- a strong architectural statement. The rusticated brick base is punctuated.
by paired window openings and a pedimented entrance. The facades above are.
organized into three-story window bays flanked by stylized brick ple:bs A
continmious wrought-iron balcony. sets off the fifth story. - SHp.

Kohn, like many American architects of his generation, had received
his training at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. He was a friend and
follower of the Society’s founder, Dr. Felix Adler (1851-1933), and
President of the Society from 1921 until 1944. Adler, a philosopher,
religious teacher, educator, and reformer, believed in the concept of
functional morality ~- the sense of duty social and national groups owe one
to ancther. Yoursy Adler was sent to Columbia University, and the
universities in Berlin and Heidelberg in his training for the rakbinate (his
father had come to New York from Germany to be rabbi of Temple Emarnu-~El).
Upon his return in 1873 he taught at Cornell for three years. He founded
the Society for Ethical Culture in 1876, and two years later the
‘Workingman’s School (named the Ethical Culture School in 1895) based upon -
the principles of Friedrich Froebel, the German educational theorist. 1In
1927 he founded the Fieldston School in the Riverdale section of the Bronx.
The Society met at a succession of halls (including Carnegie Hall) until it
moved up Central Park West to its present home. Adler was a professor of
political and social ethics at Columbia from 1902 until his death.

The Stephen Wise Free Synagogue and Hebrew Union College — Jewish Institute
of Religion, 28-36 and 38-44 West 68th Street

Bloch & Hesse’s two-part four-story facade along the south side of
West 68th Street for the Stephen Wise Free Synagogue and  Hebrew Union
College—Jewish Institute of Religion was begun in 1939-41 and finished in
1948-49. Although building was interrupted by World War II, any disparity
in appearance is minimized by the architects’ consistent use of a
nec-Medieval style with Gothic elements and identical materials. ‘The
buildings’ base is granite, the walls of rough-cut, random, Fordham gneiss
and the trim is smooth-faced limestone. Although the pointed entrance arch
and projecting bay dominate the otherwise almost blind facade of the
synagogue on the left, and the mullioned reqularity of the casement windows
expressesﬂ)esem.nazyonﬂ)enght the broad facade is united by the
common base, the continuous lower and upper stringcourses, the continuity of
the fourth story fenestration, ard the buildings’ comparable height. To the
lower right of the arched synagogue entrance is a single stone of different
origin, a stone from the Holy of Holies in Jerusalem presented to the Free
Synagogue in 1922 and consecrated as the new building’s corner stone in
1948,

Stephen Wise, the founder of the Free Synagogue, acguired property on
the south side of West 68th Street in 1910 in order to establish a place of
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worship and a seminary, but it was not until 1922 that Wise could commission
Eisendrath & Horowitz, with Bloch & Hesse as associate architects, to
design the Free Synagogue House (at 26-36 West 68th Street) for his Jewish
Institute of Religion (a training school for rabbis —— Reform, Conservative
and Orthodox). Subsequently the Bloch & Hesse firm was called upon to
building- to the west to house the merged Institute and Hebrew Union College.
(38-44 West 68th Street) giving the two buildings their present appearance. ..
Additional alterations to the ground story of the seminary and its
westermmost bay were carried ocut in 1960-61.

Stephen Samuel Wise (1874-1949), social liberal, ardent Zionist, and
champion of the idea of a free synagoque (no mandatory membership, no fees)
was a powerful speaker with a compelling presence. He was brought to this
coamtry from Germany at the age of fourteen months when his father was made
rabbi of Congregation Rodeph Sholom. After studying at the City
University, Columbia University, in Vienna, and at Oxford, he returned to
New York in 1893 to become rabbi of Congregation B’nai Jeshurun. He went
to Portland, Oregon, as rabbi at Temple Beth-El there; in 1906 he refused
the rabbinate at Temple Emanu-El on Fifth Avenue, hut returmed to New York
the following year to found the Free Synagogue. Its congregation met first
at the Hudson Theater, then in 1908-09 rented the Third Universalist Church .
on West 81st Street, and then met at Carnegie Hall until 1940 when services:
were moved to the present site. He founded the Jewish Institute for
Religion in 1922 and twenty-six years later realized its merger with the
Hebrew Union College of Cincimnati. Bloch & Hesse’s use of Gothic elements
may have been at Wise’s request; the pleasure he took in the character of
- Oxford University’s medieval quadrangles has been recorded. Also, Wise would
have been aware of the continuing archaeological research then centered upon
the late medieval synagogues in Europe and their interior furnishings.

Christ and St. Stephen’s Protestant Episcopal Church (former) Chapel of the
Transfiguration and Rectory, 124 amxd 124 West 69th Street _

The design of Christ and St. Stephen’s Chwarch as seen today reflects a
series of changes over time. Initially it was a simple frame building
designed by William H. Day and built in 1879; a porch, supporting a
dimimative tower, was built against the north side of a western addition in
1887. (The church was widened to the south and a secord story built across
the rear to the designs of Sidney V. Stratton the following vear.) In 1897,
in comjunction with a change of congregational ownership, the axchitect John
D. Fouguet changed the shape of the tower above the porch to its present
appearance, inserted new dormers, and covered the roof with tiles:; it may
have been at this time that the exterior walls were rebuilt of red brick.
Eleven years later the newer components of the little church’s north facade -
were stylistically unified through Stratton’s use of the Academic Gothic
idicm. Subsequent additions have broadened the northern transept: in 1914
by Rogers & Zogbaum; in 1950 by Moore & ILaudseidel; and in 1960 by Adams &
Woodbridge. The four-story brick rectory at 120 West 69 Street, built in
1883~84, was designed by George Martin Huss (1853-1941) in an American Neo-
Grec style with ormamental brick accents that also reflect the influence of
" the Romanesque Revival.
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The site of Christ and Saint Stephen’s Church was purchased in
Octcber 1879 ky the Rev. George Houghton, founding Rector of the Church of
the Transfiquration ("The Little Church Around the Corner") at 1 East 29th
Street where he presided from 1848 until 1897. A nephew of George Houghton,
the‘Rev. Edward Clark Houghton, D.D., had organized the uptown congregation
in - 1876. Day’s frame charch was consecrated as the chapel of the.
Transficquration in 1880. Like its parent on East.29th Street, the Chapel of.
" the Transfiguration, now Christ and- St. Stephen’s, is .a..low. building.
- separated from the street by a small garden and greensward. - _ D=

The history of the Christ and St. Stephen’s congrégation is one of
reloecation and consolidation, following the city’s population northward.
- St. Stephen’s was organized in 1805 by a group vhich seceded from the
English Iutheran Church of Zion and joined the Episcopal Church. This
congregation bought the Chapel of the Transfiquration in 1897 and changed
its name to St. Stephen’s Church. Christ Church, organized in 1793, moved
from five homes until it built a buff brick and terra-cotta Romanesque
Revival complex (1889-90) at 211 West 71st Street. Christ Cchurch merged
with its neighbor in 1975.

Grace and St. Paul’s JIutheran Chuarch, (former) St. Andrew’s Methodist
Episcopal Chirch, 123-125 West 71st Street

The building that now houses Grace and St. Paul’s ILutheran Church was
erected in 1880-81 for St. Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal Church by the New
York City Extension and Missionary Society of the Methodist Episcopal Church
© to the designs- of - architect: Stephen D. Hatch (1839-94). Hatch’s design
employs rusticated brownstone ashlar with smooth-faced brownstone sills,
trefoliated lintels, imbrication, copings, and horizontal bands binding the
facade’s vertical elements together. The pointed arches alternate roughcut
and smooth voussoirs. Asymmetrical amd campact, this High Victorian Gothic
style facade contains all of the architectural camponents one would expect .
in a church front twice its size. The peaked church and tower roofs were
originally covered with slate shingles.

St. Andrew’s started in 1864 at Amsterdam Averme and West 68th Street as
a prayer meeting, beccming the Bloomingdale Mission one year later and the
Broadway Mission in 1866, the year it was organized as a church by the
Methodist Sunday School and Missionary Society. Its new church on West 7ist
Street, consecrated in 1882, was constructed using the proceeds of the sale
of the Free Tabernacle Church at West 34th Street and Eighth Avenue.

, Grace Iutheran was organized in 1886 and the congregation had two
howmes — the first at West 50th Street and Ninth Avermie and the second at:
West 49th Street and Broadway — before moving to this bhuilding which was
sold to it by St. Andrew’s in 1890. The congregation was incorporated as
the Evargelishe Imtherishe Gnaden Kirche this same year. In 1933 Grace
merged with St. Paul’s Iutheran ard the present name was adopted.

Roman Catholic Chmirch of the Blessed Sacrament, Rectory, and School, 146-150
and 152 West 71st Street and 147-153 West 70th Street
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The Church of the Blessed Sacrament, rectory, and school, constructed
in 1916-17, were designed by architect Custave E. Steinback. The church
facade is a thirteenth-century Frerch Gothic tour de force in cast stone
which is molded with a sharpness and intricacy as displayed in the pierced
‘gables, the tracery, ard. the minute details of the niche cancpies, the .
archivolt ornamentation, cusps, and finials. A full program of statuary -

" cast stone porch figures, tympamum, as well as figures higher up the facade..

"=— camplements the-architectural ornamentation. .  (Those saints who expounded.-
the doctrine  relative to the Sacrament are. represented on the facade: St...
John' Baptist de la Salle; St. John Vianney; St. Francis de Sales; St.

Philip Neri; sSt. Alphonsus Liquori; St. Francis of Assisi; St. Charles
Borromeo; and St. Vincent de Paul. In the buttresses below the towers are
representations of St. Thomas Acquinas and St. Bonaventure.) The church has
a steel-frame structure, and the roof is supported by Guastavine domes and
arches. Steinback’s design for the four-story rectory, in a damestic Gothic
style appropriate to the adjacent church, is also executed in cast stone.
The six-story cast-stone school facade on West 70th Street employs the
verticality characteristic of the Gothic style to articulate a modern pier
and recessed spandrel system of three bays. It is flanked by two stair
towers. The tracery of the spandrels and central gable of the school facade
remains intact. Most of the terminal pinnacles and finials on the cmurch,

rectory, and school are of copper.

Organized in 1887 in the carriage room of the Havermeyer family’s
stable on the north side of 72nd Street, west of Broadway, by Father Matthew
A. Taylor (1853-1914), the Raman Catholic Church of the Blessed Sacrament
dedicated its first hame on the cormer of Broadway and West 71st Street the
same year and incorporated the following year, Father Taylor had been sent
by Archbishop Corrigan to establish a new parish in this developing sector
of the city; the nearest Catholic church was the Cchurch of the Sacred Heart
on West 51st Street. The congregation continued to assemble lots until 1916
when it had achieved a block-through site east of its corner location for
the present-day church and rectory at 146-150 and 152 West 71lst Street and
-the school at 147-153 West 70th Street. Father Taylor was succeeded by
Father Thomas F. Myhan (1864-1916), a scholar, who initiated the present
building. His successor, Father William J. Guinan, carried Myhan’s plans
to completion.

Curch of the Fourth Universalist Society (Charch of the Divine Paternity),
4 West 76th Street

Designed by William Appleton Potter (1842-1909), the church and
adjacent school were built in 1897-98 in an academic revival of the late
English Gothic called the Perpendicular style. The design is executed in-
smooth~faced limestone ashlar. ILocated at the southwest corner of Central
Park West and West 76th Street, the dwirch is dominated by the fouwr-stage
pimnacled tower. A gabled nave, pointed-arch openings, and large
stained~glass windows with ogival tracery are notable elements of the
design. Prototypes for the design include Gloucester Cathedral and the
Magadalen College tower, Oxford. A cornerstone on the West 76th Street side
bears the dates "1838-1897." The three-story school building on West 76th
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Street continues the design of the church with the stories marked by string
courses and the window openings by drip moldings.

The Fourth Universalist Society was organized in 1838 and had four
different church kuildings prior to its move to Central Park West. By 1865,
‘when it located to Fifth Avenue and West 45th Street, it was known as the.
Church of the Divine: Paternity, which name it retained for many years on.
Central Park West. -The Rev. E.H. Chapin, D.D., pastor.in the last quarter..
of the nineteenth century, attracted several loyal members of great wealth,.
Camong whom was Andrew - Carnegie. . The three-story - school .building is.
"currently occupied by the Winston Preparatory School. he Fourth
Universalist Society’s charch and school is included within the boundaries
of the Central Park West - West 76th Street Historic District.

West Side Institutional Synagogue amd Rectory, (former) St. Andrew’s
Methodist Episcopal Charch, 122-138 and 120 West 76th Street

This church huilding, designed in the Romanesque Revival style by the
architectural firm of J.C. Cady & Co., was constructed in 1889-90 for Saint
Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal Church. As originally designed for this
midblock site, the complex comprised (from east to west) the rectory, tower,
chapel (behind the entrance doors), and church with a gabled front, all
built of roughcut, rusticated limestone ashlar laid in alternating wide and
narrow courses on a bluestone base. Major portions of the complex were
irreparably destroyed in a fire in 1965, resulting in the loss of the
limestone gable, peaked roof, dome, and tower roof. The consequent
reconstruction was carried cut by Emory S. Tabor, a general contractor, and
the changes are reflected on the street facade: a flat roof; altered
sanctuary windows partially filled with bronze-tinted alumirmm grilles; and
a new principal entrance marked by a bronze-tinted alumirnum screen.

In 1957 the current owners, the West Side Institutional Synagogue,
commissioned architect David Moed to reface the rectory and to introduce an.
entrance into the tower’s base. The rectory facade is now a curtain wall of
glass ard aluminum trimmed with travertine marble but the original round
corner buttresses of roughcut, rusticated limestone are retained. The added
fifth story is of yellow brick, and iron basement window grilles
incorporate the design of a menorah.

During the course of construction of St. Andrew’s, J.C. Cady & Co.,
founded by Josiah Cleveland Cady (1837-1919), was renamed as Cady, Berg &
See, with Icuis de Coppett Berg (1856-1913) and Milton See (1854-1920) as
the other partners. The firm is responsible for the impressive camplex of
Romanescue Revival buildings at the American Museum of Natural History along
West 77th Street. St. Andrew’s, previously established at 123-125 West 71st
Street sold that building to the Grace Evangelical Intheran Church in 1890,
the same year this larger chmrch building was dedicated. 1In 1937 St.
Andrew’s congregation moved up to West 86th Street and West End Averme to
merge with St. Paul’s Methodist Episcopal Church and sold these buildings to
the West Side Institutional Synagogue.
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Sisters of St. Ursula, (former Sisters of Charity of St. Vincent de Paul),
168-170 West 75th Street

In 1893 the Sisters of Charity of St. Vincent de Paul purchased a
fifty-foot wide lot on West 79th Street and commissioned a pair of four-
story brownstone-fronted houses from the firm of Thom & Wilson. Built in
 1894-95, these Renaissance Revival style houses appear to have been designed ..

with the row of houses once to the east of them by the same.
fi_tmforwi_lllamHall. -Each house, a mirror image of the other, has a full.
height quarter bow. 'Ihepr::mmlentralmasmllasthelrstoopsare
'juxtaposedmﬁshamapormmﬂ]ascreenofthreemscancolmmsbearmgm
contimious frieze of classical motifs which runs the full width of both
houses.

Rev. Matthew A. Taylor, the first rector of the Roman Catholic Church
of the Blessed Sacrament on West 71st Street and Broadway, represented the
Sisters of Charity in the purchase of the West 79th Street property. The
Blessed Sacrament School was staffed by the Sisters of Charity. The Sisters
occupied both houses as a single unit where they also ran a school for
girls. The property was enlarged with the purchase in 1902 and 1907 of two
houses on West 78th Street immediately behind the house. The Sisters of
charity sold the school and residence (containing a chapel) to the Sisters
of Saint Ursula of the Blessed Virgin of New York in 1944, who ran the
Notre Dame School in the buildings. The property has recently been sold to
the Fleming School.

Mamt Pleasant Baptist Chamch, (former) Cimnch of the Third Universalist
Society (Ctarch of Etermal Hope), 140-144 West 8lst Street

This Romanesque Revival church huilding, presently occupied by the
Mount Pleasant Baptist Church, was built for the Third Universalist Society
in 1892-93 to the designs of the architect Jonathan Capen of Newark. Two
square stair towers - the taller on the left -- flank the gabled facade. A
loggia of three arches, protecting the twin flights of entrance steps, links
the towers with tlle—ccvered pyramidal roofs. The basement, the window
surrounds and sills, the loggia arch voussoirs and spandrels, and the lower
stringcourse are of roughcut limestone ashlar; water table, step parapets,
loggia colums, upper stringeourse and cornices are smooth-faced limestone.
The church’s uper walls are of rough-cast buff brick. Wrought-iron gates
open at the base of the twin flights of entrance steps.

Of the six Universalist Societies founded in New York between 1794 and
1852, the Third was organized in 1834 and met at Bleecker and Downing
Streets until its move to West 81st Street in 1893. Since then the building
has changed owners and tenants several times. The Society leased this
building to Stephen Wise’s fledgling Free Synagogue in 1908-09, but sold it
to the First Church of the Disciples of Christ in 1910. Thirty-five years
later the Disciples moved to Park Averme and sold the building to the
Manhattan Ward of the Chuwrch of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints, its
present owner. Mount Pleasant Baptist ¢hurch leases it, in turn, from the
latter Day Saints.
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Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Chrch of St. Volodmyr, (former) West End

Synagogue (Congregation Shaaray Tefila) and Commmnity House, 160 and 170
West 82nd Street

What is now the Ukrainian Autocephalic Orthodox Charch of St. Volodymyr
was huilt as the West End Synagogue in 1893-94 by Congregation Shaaray
‘Tefila to the designs of Brunner & Tryon. The buff. Raman brick, limestone -
ard terra-cotta facade rises above a basement and double staircase which
spans the facade and is faced with horizontally-channeled smooth-faced-
limestone ashlar. The building, designed :in a Moorish/Byzantine Revival-:
style considered appropriate for synagogues in the second half of the .
nineteenth century, has a kinship in form and material with contemporary
Romanesque Revival religious structures (see, for example, Mount Pleasant
Baptist Church). The superimposed arcades of the facade’s central bay are
framed by two slightly projecting bays. The walls are laid up so that for
every nine courses of brick there is a band of terra cotta bearing a
contimious fret design. The colums and arch voussoirs of the lower arcade
are of limestone; the upper arcade is constructed of terra cotta. The
colomnettes, voussoirs, tracery, spandrels and arched frieze below the
cornice are also of terra cotta.

In 1937 a fire damaged much of the synagogue’s interior; S. Brian
Baylinson was responsible for the renovation. The congregation was able to -
purchase the house just west of the synagogque the same year; the firm of
Schwartz & Gross was commissioned to rehabilitate it as the congregation’s
Carmunity House. When Congregation Shaaray Tefila moved to the Upper East
Side in 1958, 1tsoldthesynagogueandccmnlm1tyhousetothemcram1an
Autocephalic Orthodox Church.

Congregation Shaaray Tefila was organized by a group of English-
speaking Jews who seceded from the German-speaking Congregation B’nai
Jeshurun in 1845. As this congregation moved uptown, it has consistently
employed renowned architects to design its synagogues: Ieopold Eidlitz and ..
Otto Blesch designed the synagogue (1847) on Wooster Street; and Henry
Fernbach was architect for the synagogue (1869) on West 44th Street, also a
Moorish~inspired design. When Arnocld Brunner (1857-1925) received the
Shaaray Tefila commission, his work on Temple Beth-E1 (1891) at Fifth Averme
and East 76th Street had just been completed, and the commission for
Congregation Shearith Israel’s new hame on Central Park West was still to
ccame. Brumner was the grandson of a former president and a great-grandscon
of a founder and first president of Shaaray Tefila.

St. Volodymyr was organized in 1926, a parish in the Autocephalic
Ukrainian Orthodox Church of the United States of America and Canada, with a -
sister church in Toronto. Its first home was a neo-Gothic church at 334
East 14th Street, which is now a synagogue.

Congregation Rodeph Sholom Synagogue, Commamity House, and School, 7-21 West
83rd Street and 10-16 West 384th Street

The five-story building of Congregation Rodeph Sholom, built in 1928-
30, was designed by Charles B. Meyers to contain an auditorium, reception

80



and dining rooms, offices, classrocams, a board room, and a caretaker’s

. The symmetry and mass of the smooth-faced limestone ashlar
facade, emphasized by three mommental and deeply~cut arches, are expressive
of the academic neo-Romanesque/Byzantine style, and may be inspired by
contemporary synagogue excavations at Tiberias, known today in modern Israel
as Natanya. The arches contain tall wmdows with limestone mallions and
"leaded glass; they are flanked by the arched entrances. The eastern..
entrance, leadingtothesynagogueaxﬂmtyans, is the more..
elaborate; the arch is supported by flat archivolts of polished pink amd
- gray granite. - The western entrance leads: to the private -quarters -above. -
The -polychromy of the main entrance is repeated higher on the facade in the .
polished granite colonnettes of the diminutive fifth-story arcades. Every
colonnette in each series has a different capital. The Shield of David
motifs in the rondels and the decorative lozenges are made up of pink, gray,
and blue granite. Prior to the synagogue commission, Meyers had carried out
huildings for Yeshiva University in Washington Heights.

The Rodeph Sholom Day School, located through the block on West 84th
Street, was designed by the architect William Roper and built in 1973-77.
The omgregaticm.purchased four rowhouses for renovation as a school. The
houses, built in pairs, differed in the mumber of stories and ceiling
helghts Roperquttheexwtmgﬂoorlevelsbutatterrptedtodmplaythe-
disparity by employing the contemporary Brutalist aesthetic, superimposing
an asymmetrical pattern of fenestration as well as a system of synpathetic
angulation -— seen in the entrance stoop, window sills and parapet -- to the
facade. A reddish-~brown brick with joints tinted the same color gives
hamogeneity across the whole facade and a cammon parapet is suggested by the
" vhite sheet metal sheathing the upper portion of the school’s facade.

Congregation Rodeph Sholom organized by seceding from Congregation
Anshe Chesed — which had seceded from B’nai Jeshurun -- in 1842, From
1853 until 1858 the congregation worshipped on Clinton Street. 1In 1891 it
moved to the former Temple Beth-El at Lexington and East 63rd Street, and. .
then to West 83rd Street in 1930.

. Matthew and St. Timothy Ctanxch and Center, 26-32 West 84th Street

In 1967 Victor Christ-Janer and Associates was commissioned by the
parish of St. Matthew and St. Timothy to design a new building to contain
not only a church but also a fellowship hall, meeting and reading rooms,
offices, residential units, and a gymnasium to replace the church building
that had been severely damaged by fire. Christ-Janer, known for Brutalist
designs inspired by the later work of the Swiss-French architect Ie
Corbusier (1887-1966), erected -a massive reinforced concrete screen along .
the building line of the site. Even the belfry is masked by a wide, upward
extension of this screen wall. (The open-air roof was constructed to permit
public assembly and recreation.) While horizontal channeling and vertical
joints articulate this facade, it is the residual pattern of the wood forms
in which the concrete was cast that give the facade its texture. In this
broad, windowless and asymmetrical screen there is but one break (the fire
doors at the extreme ends excepted). Within this rectangular brick-paved
recess cother wall planes become apparent: vertically-channeled limestone and
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behind it pink brick, as well as the entrance to the church to the left in
the eastern soffit, the raised entrance to the commmnity house, ard a
horizontal range of second-story windows. Only the raised entrance’s stocp
parapet restates the original plane of the large screen. The rough planar
surface not only unifies the several functions of this wrban church camplex
but dramatizes a space arbitrarily defined by the building lines of the
city’s grid pattern. The resulting monolithic quality of st. Matthew and
© 8t. Timothy’s places this building among the finest examples of the.
architecture of the late 1960s in New York City.

The history of this parish is one of many mergers. St. Matthew’s.
Protestant Episcopal Church, organized in 1887, began as Bethlehem Chapel in
1870 at West 83rd Street and Columbus Averme, a place of worship for German
speaking pecple under the care of St. Michael’s Protestant Episcopal Church.
St. Matthew’s purchased its site on West 84th Street in 1892 and 1893, and
commissioned William Halsey Wood (1855-1897) to design a Romanesque Revival
style church, executed in limestone. This building was demolished in 1966,
after a severe fire. 1In 1897, the year of its incorporation, st. Matthew’s
absorbed St. Ann‘’s Church for Deaf Mutes, a congregation founded by the Rev.
Thomas Gallaudet in 1852. The parish of Zion and St. Timothy’s, merged
since 1890, joined St. Matthew’s in 1922.

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism, 13-15 West 86th Street

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism purchased two houses at 13
and 15 West 86th Street in 1920 from the Alcuin School. Altered in 1925 by
architects Deutsch & Schneider, the buildings were given a new facade
designed by architect  Albert Goldharmer in 1937.  Althouwgh the arch
Goldhammer inscribed at the building’s entrance is an allusion to the
earlier Moorish/Byzantine Revival style often used for synagogues, his
facade derives its character from the warm tones of brick — red, yvellow amd
orange — and cast stone, resting on a base of concrete~limestone aggregate,
- producing a statement in the Modern Semitic style.

The Scociety for the Advancement of Judaism was organized by Dr.
Mordecal Kaplan (1883-1947), a religious teacher arnd philosopher concerned
with religion ard its application in modern life. He emerged from the ranks
of Reformed Judaism to became a founding member of the Federation of
American Zionists. Dr. Kaplan was on the faculties of the Jewish
Theological Seminary, the Teachers’ Institute and Seminary College for
Jewish Studies, and the Hebrew University, Jerusalem.

The Jewish Center, 131-135 West 86th Street

The ten-story building of the Jewish Center, built in 1917-20, was .
deslgnedbylmlsAllenAbramsontocmmamavarletyofusesardspaces
synagogue, educational and recreational center, auditorium, meeting rooms,
gymnasium, and pool. Occupying a midblock site, the neo-Renaissance style
structure was designed to express this multiplicity of functions and to be
compatible with its residential neighbors. The rusticated stone base
supperts a major Ionic order of two stories. The stories above are faced
with brick. However the repetition of window shapes and the use of the
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stone for the window surrounds and quoins unite the upper and lower portions
of this facade. A large tablet bearing the name of this institution is
flanked by escutcheons bearing the building’s date in both the Gregorian and
Jewish calerdars.

Romanian Orthodox Charch of St. Dumitru, 50 West 89th Street

Originally one of five rowhouses designed by Tham & Wilson and built .
for Patrick Farley in 1892, the Romanian Orthodox Church of St. Dumitru. was .
altered for charch use by architects John .H..Kmbel .and John. Solomon -in--
1940. A four-story brownstone-fronted rowhouse with a raised basement, the.
ilding largely retains is original damestic exterior appearance.

Inoorporated in 1939, this was the third Romanian congregation to be
organized in New York City but was the only one under the jurisdiction of
the National Church of Romania. Inalettertothethenmlldlng
Comissioner William Wilson, dated March 6, 1940, Andrei Popovici, Consul
General at the Royal COnsulate. of Ramania, described St, Dumitru’s, "...a
charitable organization to enable those no longer Romanians but not yet
Americans to have spiritual and cultural develcpment; to became good
citizens of this country."

Museums
The American Museum of Natural History, 175 Central Park West

The American Museum of Natural History is one of the world’s finest and
largest institutions devoted to the study of the natural sciences and one of
New York City’s largest cultural structures. The Museum was founded in 1869
for the purpose of establishing in the city a museun and library of natural
history and to encourage the study of natural science. Its founders include
distinguished New Yorkers such as J.P. Morgan, Adrian Iselin, Henry Parish,
Joseph A. Choate, Charles A. Dana, Morris Ketchum Jessup, and Theodore
Reosevelt (father of the President). A gateway to the study of natural
history, the museum exhibits more than 2,300 habitat groups, mounted
specimens, showcases, dioramas, and scientific exhibits. Subjects covered
in these exhibits include birds, reptiles, dinosaurs, fish, geology,
meteorites, mammals, and man. The museum is also a research laboratory, a
school for advanced study, a publishing house for scientific mamiscripts,
and a sponsoring agency for field exploration expeditions. The institution
contains one of the world’s finest natural history libraries consisting of
175,000 volumes. Over three million people from all parts of the world
visit the museum annually.

The Museum first occupied two floors of the Arsenal in Central Park and
remained there for eight years. However, within a year of its founding, it
had outgrown this space. The Department of Public Parks offered Manhattan
Square, an eighteen-acre plot of land bounded by 77th ard 8lst Streets,
Eighth and Ninth Avenues (now Central Park West and Columbus Avenue), to the
Museum Trustees for the site of a new, larger building to house their
collections and exhibits. The comerstone of the first building was laid on
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this site on June 22, 1874. Designed by Calvert Vaux and Jaccb Wrey Mould
in the Victorian Gothic style, the five-story red brick and stone structure
is now barely visible among the later museum additions. As the museum’s
collections continued to grow, plans for expansion were prepared. The
architectural firm of Cady, Berg & See presented a master plan in which the
miseum building was laid out to form a quadrangle with four peripheral
structures joined to a central pavilion by four central wings. = Initial -
construction followed this scheme, including the West 77th Street wing
"designed by the firm, however, the plan was later discarded. The West 77th
Street wing," constructed between 1890 and 1899, is.today one of.the most::
impressive examples of the Richardsonian Romanesque style in the country..

The firm of Trowbridge & Livingston became inwolved in the Museun’s
expansion early in the twentieth century. Most of the remaining buildings
were constructed according to their designs and include buildings in the
interior courtyards, the Hayden Planetarium, and a Central Park West wing.
(Other buildings were designed by architect Charles Volz.}) The Trowbridge &
Livingston design for the Central Park West wing called for a monumental
entrance section facing the Park. Illustrating an Academic Classical style
- based on Beaux-Arts principles, the design of the entrance building, the
central portion of the Central Park West wing, was the work of John Russell
Pope, based on a winning competition entry in 1924. The building
(containing a designated New York City Interior Iandmark) memorializes
Theodore Roosevelt. The 26th President of the United States, Roosevelt was
a museum trustee, participated in museum expeditions, and donated his.
natural science collections to the museum.

Today, the American Museum of Natural History is not a single building
but consists of seventeen interconnected units. Nearly a century of
development and expansion is reflected in its growth and in the several
architectural styles manifested in its facades. The original Vaux & Mould
building, the West 77th Street wing, the Central Park West wing, the
Colunbus Avenue wing, and the Hayden Planetarium were designated New York. -
City Iandmarks in 1967. The museum couplex was listed on the National
Register of Historic Places on June 24, 1976.

The New-York Historical Society, 170 Central Park West

The New-York Historical Society (a designated New York City Landmark),
the second oldest historical scciety in the United States, was organized in
1804 and incorporated in 1809. The Society’s founders were prominent New
Yorkers including: Egbert Benson, a Jjudge and the Society’s first
president; DeWitt Clinton, then Mayor of New York; Samuel Miller, a

clergyman and educator; David Hosack, a physician and later president of the. .

society; Samuel Bayard, a lawyer and jurist; and John Pintard, a merchant -
arximllanthmplstaxﬂtheSocmtysfnstsecretary Overtheyeaxs other
prominent individuals have occupied seats in the Society’s governing body.
Among them were: the artist, John Trumbull; Daniel D. Tompkins, Governor of
New York; Cadwalladexr D. Cblden Mayor of New York City; William Cullen
Bryant, poet; J.P. Morgan, banker; and Cornelius Vanderbilt, steamship and
railrocad promoter and financier. Notable members of the Society have
included individuals such as John Adams, Thamas Jefferson, Noah Webster,
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Washington Irving, and James Fenimore Cooper. The Society was organized to
collect and preserve material pertaining to the history of the United States
in general, and New York in partionlar, and today includes extensive
collections of seventeenth- through nineteenth-century paintings, prints,
furiture, silver, and folk art pertaining to New York. The Society’s
research library was created in 1807 with a gift from Jchn Pintard. By 1813
the Society possessed over 4,000 books, documents, . almanacs, newspapers, and..
maps.

" The “Society’s present building at 170 Central. Park West is.its eighth..
home. Previous sites included Federal Hall (1804-09, Wall and Nassau -
Streets), the Customs House at Bowling Green (1809-16), the New York
Institution (1816-32, formerly the city almshouse in City Hall Park),
Remsen’s Building at Broadway and Chambers Street (1832-37), the Stuyvesant
Institute at 652 Broadway (1837-41), New York University at Washington
Square (1841~57), and 170 Second Avenue, a uilding constructed specifically
for the Society and occupied from 1857 to 1908. The Second Avenue building
had grown inadequate by the late nineteenth century and the Society began to
plan for a new hame. They had been offered free land in Central Park, where
the Metropolitan Museum of Art now stands, but that plan was abandoned. In
1891 the Society acgquired the plot of land along Central Park West between
76th and 77th Streets. As the averme closest to the park, Central Park West
had long been considered a desirable location. With the construction of the .
Anerican Museum of Natural History several years earlier, the early
character of the avemue was established as an acceptable location for
institutional structures. The miseum’s great rise in success since its
opening further encouraged the society to build on Central Park West.

The central section of the society’s present building was designed by
the architectural firm of York & Sawyer and was constructed in 1903-1908. A
rusticated granite basement supports a colonnade of three-quarter engaged
Ionic columns which, together with the pedimented entrance portal, create a
noble, formal coamposition for this distirguished society.  ITts monumental - -
design illustrates an Academic Classical style based on Beaux-Arts
principles. As the society’s collections contimued to expard, the north and
south wirngs, viewed as austere end pavilions flanking the monumental
colonnade, were added in 1937 by the architectural firm of Walker &
Gillette. Their design was so skillfully integrated with the original
uilding that the whole structure appears to have been erected in one
campaign.

Philanthropic Institutions
The Jewish Guild For the Blind — The Joselow House, 46 West 74th Street

The Jewish Guild for the Blind was organized in 1914 to provide care
for blind and visually impaired persons, and has been a leader in this field
since its inception. At its headquarters at 15 West 65th Street (outside
the boundaries of the district), the Guild provides a variety of programs
and services to meet the needs of persons of all ages with a variety of
handicaps. The Joselow House, one of the Guild’s serxvices, was organized in
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1977 as a hostel for mentally retarded, visually impaired, and blind adults.
It provides care amd services for fifteen residents. The hostel is located
at 46 West 74th Street, a huilding originally constructed as a Georgian
Revival style rowhouse in 1902-04 according to the design of architect Percy
Griffin., The Joselow House first occupied this building in 1977.

The Swiss Town House, 35-37 West 67th Street

The Swiss Town House located at 35-37 West 67th Street is a division
‘of, and serves as the headquarters for, the-Swiss Benevolent -Society-of New-~
York, a not-for-profit organization.. Built in 1904-05 according to the.
design of John E. Scharsmith, the kuilding was designed to resenble the town
hall in Basle, Switzerland. Its steeply pitched roof, gabled dormers, brick
facade, and stone trim are characteristics of its Northern Renaissance
Revival style. The structure was built on a street which was not primarily
residential in nature. Rather, its buildings were larger in scale than the
Town House and included primarily stidic buildings, but also a factory amd
warehouses (later replaced), and a riding academy. The Swiss Home, as it
was originally called, is somewhat smaller than its immediate neighbors, and
its design and detail reflect its distinct function.

The initial purpose of the Swiss Home was to house the elderly. A
newspaper article written at the time of its construction indicated that the
new structure was equipped "with the latest improvements for the treatment
and comwenience of the immates." The  building ocould house eighty
individuals. In 1923 the home was rededicated as a residence for girls and
wamen who had recemtly immigrated from Switzerlamd and remained in that
capacity for approximately fifty vears. The 1970s saw a sharp decrease in
Swiss immigration, and a new use was found for the building. At that time
the society began to offer room and board to local female students, most of
whom attended the Julliard School of Music or the Tdbe Coburn School of
Fashion. The Swiss Benevolent Society operates a social service office on
the Muilding’s ground floor, ard offers these services to its residents.
Various Swiss organizations also use the building for their reqular
meetings. A gallery on the main floor is maintained by the Swiss Institute,
a not-for-profit organization separate from the Society, and is used for art
exhibits and other social events.

The Pythian Temple, 135-145 West 70th Street

The Knights of Pythias is a fraternal and charitable organization which
was organized in Washington, D.C. in 1864 with Justus Henry Rathbone as its
head and is the only fraternal organization chartered by the U.S. Congress.
Believing that friendship is the strongest bond of union among men, Knights .
hold it along with charity and benevolence as their cardinal principles.
The organization takes its name from Pythias, a mythological character whose
story represents true friendship. The order first came to New York shortly
after the Civil War.

At the head of the organization is the Supreme Iodge which. has
jurisdiction over the entire order in the United States and Canada. Each
state or district has a Grand lodge, under which are established Subordinate
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Iodges in cities or towns. The building at 135-145 West 70th Street, once
known as the Pythian Temple, was one of 120 Subordinate Iodges in New York
City at the time of its construction. (Total membership in the organization
was nearly one million at that time.) The Temple included thirteen lodge
rooms, an auditorium, a gymnasium, bowling alleys and billiard rooms. The
building’s cormerstone was laid on November 20, 1926, ard was dedicated "on
behalf of the: greatest and oldest patriotic order in .the United States." .
Today, the cornerstone is still inscribed with the phrase, "Dedicated to
Pythianism."  (An inscription above the docrway reads "If fratemmal - love

- held all men bound how beautiful this world would be.')...The structure was-

capleted in 1926-27 according to the design of Thamas White Iamb, best .
known for his theater designs, ard displays an exotic neo-Babylonian style
that incorporates imaginative, polychromatic cornamental details inspired by
ancient sources. This site no longer functioned as a Subordinate Iodge of
the Knights of Pythias by the 1950s. The lkuilding was converted to a
residential cordominium in 1979 at which time a substantial amount of glass
was inserted into the masonry facade as part of the alteration.

The YMCA and the McBurmey School, 3-11 West 63rd Street and 13-15 West 63rd
Street

The Young Men’s Christian Association was first organized in London in -
1844 for the purposes of improving the spiritual condition of young men
through religion. American visitors to London were impressed by the group
and returned to the United States urging the creation of a similar
organization. The first American asscciation was created in Boston in 1851,
The first New York Association was organized one year later but, by 1862, it
was on the verge of dissolution. At that time Robert McBurney (1837-1898),
a young man with an interest in Christian service amd religious work, joined
the organization and with his efforts the New York YMCA McBurney
worked with the "yY" for forty years and concentrated on developn'lg the
spiritual, intellectual, social, and physical character of young men.

realized that in order to offer a substantial "counter-
attraction to the vices of the industrial city" the Association required
"large, attractive, and specially designed buildings." The first building
constructed under McBurney’s aegis appeared at 23rd Street and Fourth Averue
in 1869. For many years McBurney had emphasized the need for a branch to
benefit yourxy men on the West Side. His final building effort was the West
Side branch located on West 57th Street between Eighth and Ninth Avenues
vwhich opened in 1896.

A new West Side branch of the YMCA began construction in 1928 and was
completed in 1930. Iocated at 3-11 West 63rd Street, the building was .
designed to house various social and recreaticnal facilities and provide
room and board for young men. Designed by architect Dwight James Baum, it
extends through the block to 64th Street and rises fourteen stories in
height. TIts brick and stone facade, an abundance of towers and corbel
tables, and window and door openings in rounded arches combine to form a
bold neoRomanesque design. In 1931 a high school was built adjacent to the
main building, designed by Baum to complement the existing structure. Named
the McBurney School, it honored the man whose efforts helped the New York
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YMCA flowrish in its early years. While the scale of the combined
structures corresponds with that of the religicus structures located to the
east and apartment buildings to the south, the YMCA daminates the short
block between Central Park West and Broadway.

When the West 63rd Street buildings were constructed, the West 57th
Street branch ceased to function for the organization. The McBurney School
" (for a time joined with the Baldwin Schocl) vacated its. structure around .
1985, at which time the YMCA expanded its facilities to the former school -

- YMCA on the Upper West Side.

Public Buildings
Erngine Campany No. 74, 120 West 83rd Street

New York City’s paid, professional Fire Department was established in
1865 as the Metropolitan Fire District, serving Manhattan and Brooklyn. At
this time, volunteer companies, which were first organized into a
by the colonial legislature in 1783 and to which the responsibility for fire
fighting previocusly fell, were replaced by paid, professional companies.
below 86th Street. This came about as a result of the rapid urban expansion -
of the city and the increasing frequency of fires.

In 1853, Marriott Field published City Architecture, a bock which
advocated a herovic architecture and appropriate symbolic ornament for fire
stations so0 as to architecturally differentiate the firehouse from other
huilding types, particularly the conventional urban stable. The city’s Fire
Department contracted with the noted architectural firm of Napoleon IeBrun &
Son(s) to design firehouses from 1880 to 1895. The firm’s typical
straightforward use of materials — brick, stone, iron, and terra cotta—-
and sparsely integrated ornament did elevate the basic stable facade and -
make it more consistent with the purposes of the professional fire coampany
within. The firm’s consistent designs also helped to produce a recognizable
idiom for this building type. Engine Company No. 74 was one of the firm’s
many New York City firehouses and was built at 120 West 83rd Street in 1888-
89. While some fire stations were designed with more exuberant detail, this
building exhibits a simple IeBrun design based on Renaissance and Romanesque
Revival detailing. The recognizable design elements of a fire station are
all visible: symmetrical organization, materials of two colors ard
textures, a large ground-story vehicular doorway topped by a simple molding,
intermediate floors exhibiting tripartite double-hung window arrangement,
and a roofline with greater detail, here a round-headed window topped by a .
decorative molding and a gable dormer in a pitched rcof. All these elements
clearly characterized the structure as a fire station, an important
institution in the district. One of the earliest institutions in the area,
Engine Company No. 74 (previcusly known as Engine Campany No. 56) symbolizes
the increased construction and rapid urban growth of the Upper West Side in
the late nineteenth century.
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. Agnes Branch, New York Public Library, 444-446 Amsterdam Avenue

The New York Public Library, today one of the leading research
institutions in the world, was formed in 1895 by the consolidation of three
corporations: The Astor Library, the private library of James ILenox, and
the Tilden Trust. In order to benefit fram a $5,200,000 gift to the city
-made by Andrew Carnegie for library buildings, the New York Free Circulating .
Library (organized in 1887 with eleven branches) joined the Astor-Ienox~-.
Tilden consolidation in 1901. It formed the Circulation Department of the
New York Public Library —— now the Branch. Library System. .The Carnegie..
Grant, a philanthropic effort on behalf of popular education in New York
City, resulted in the large-scale construction of neighborhood branch -
libraries during the early twentieth century ard is largely responsible for
the New York Public Library System as it exists today.

The St. Agnes Free Library was formed in 1893. Trinity Church allowed
the library to be located in the parish house of its St. Agnes Chapel at 121
West 91st Street (a designated New York City Landmark). At that time the
nearest public libraries were found on West 42nd Street and East 125th
‘Street.  (Today, the nearest branches are on West 69th and West 100th
Streets, both ocutside the district boundaries.) In 1897, Trinity dissolved
its ties with the library. The collections were moved to other lecations on
the Upper West Side, generally around Amsterdam Averme, settling temporarily
at West 82nd Strect and Broadway.

The building at 444 Amsterdam Averue was conceived as one of the branch
libraries made possible with Carnegie Grant funds. Opened on March 26,
1306, the Renaissance Revival style building began construction in 1905.
Bullt according to the design of Bakb, Coock & Willard, its three-story
granite and limestone facade displays sylrmetrical orderj.ng of members and
restrained classically-inspired ornament. The use of neo—Classicism in
library design was encouraged by McKim, Mead & White’s designs for Low
Library at Columbia University (1893), Gould Memorial Library at the Bronx.
campus of New York University (1893-94), and the Boston Public Library
-(1888-92). The grand style of these mommental buildings was interpreted on
a smaller scale for midblock city sites, such as those occupied by the St.
Agnes Branch and the earlier Yorkville Branch Library (222 East 79th Street,
1902, a designated New York City Iamdmark). The Yorkville Branch, designed
by James Brown Lord, may have been used as a prototype for the urban branch
library and, therefore, influenced the St. Agnes design of Bakb, Cook &
Willard. This architectuwral firm was also active in other branch library
designs under the Carnegie expansion.

- The Twentieth Precinct Station House of the New York City Police Department, .
110-124 West 82nd Street

The first police office in New York City was established in 1798 at
Federal Hall at Wall and Nassau Streets. In 1844 the State Legislature
passed an act which established the Police Department of the City of New
York. This law called for the division of the city into precincts. The
seventeen wards of Manhattan and portions of the present-day Bronx were thus
divided and each patrol district — or precinct — was edquipped with a
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station house, captain, and sergeant. Before 1970, the Twentieth Precinct
served the Upper West Side from 66th to 86th Street and had its station
house at 150-152 West 68th Street (outside the boundaries of the district).
In the late 1960s the Police Department began closing its older stations and
moving to newly-built structures. The Twentieth Precinct was one of
fourteen precincts that received new station houses. The precinct currently
serves the area from 59th to 86th Streets, from the Hudson River to the
western edge of Central Park, and occupies a -station house at 120 West 82nd. .
Street., (The northern section of the district is served by the Twenty-
fourth Precinct--Station House at West 100th. Street, outside the districkt..
bourdaries.) ‘The building was constructed in 1970-72 according to the
designs of architects Ifill & Johnson. The severe, unornamented concrete
facade illustrates the building’s modern style. The station house was
officially opened at 12:10 p.m. on March 29, 1972, is currently assigned 140
officers, and is one of seventy-three station houses in the five boroughs.

Schools

_The Anglo-American Intermational School (Formerly the Franklin School), 18-
20 West 89th Street

- In 1872, the Sachs Collegiate Academy for Boys was founded by Dr.
Julius Sachs (1849-1934), a prominent educator who held positions in the
Schoolmasters’ Association of New York and the American Philological .
Association, and a professor of secondary education at Teachers College,
Columbia University. The Academy prepared its students for attendance at
Ivy League colleges by following a classic European curriculum. The school
changed its name to the Franklin School in 1912, the year in which its
current home at 18-20 West 89th Street was constructed. The school was
designed by the architectural firm of Denniscn, Hirons & Darbyshire. The
functional style of the building is reflected in its sparse ornament and
large expanses of glass.

The Franklin. School became co-educational in 1958. In 1977, it became
associated with the International School of London and a curriculum to meet
both American and International requirements was developed. Two years
later, the sachool’s Board of Trustees was reorganized, a non-profit
corporation was begun, and a new name was taken. Today, the Anglo-American
International School continues as a college preparatory school with classes
from kindergarten through twelfth grade. ‘There are approximately 5,000
living graduates of the Frarklin School ard approximately 300 currently in
atterdance. The school sponsors "The Red arxd Blue," a literary magazine
founded in 1872 vwhich is one of the oldest of its kind in the United States.

The Calhoun School (Formerly the Baldwin School, Formexly the Veltin
School), 160-162 West 74th Street

In 1896, the Jacobi School for Girls was founded. Mary Edward Calhoun
became the headmistress of the School in 1916, ard retained that position
for twenty-six years. One year later, the school honored its headmistress
by formally changing its name to The Calhoun School. In 1957 a co~
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educational lower school was added to the institution, and the middle and
upper schools turned co—educational in 1971.

In 1989, the Calhoun School increased its facilities to include the
building at 160-162 West 74th Street. (Previous locations were also on the
Upper West Side.) This building was previously occupied by the Baldwin
School (which later joined with the McBurney School) and was originally
uilt as the Veltin School, designed by the firm of Iamb & Rich in the
Georgian Revival style. While the building is larger than the neighboring
rowhouses, its detail is restrained and the design corresponds to the
residential context of 74th Street.

The Veltin School, originally established in 1886, formally opened in
its West 74th Street home on February 10, 1893. Its purpose was to
Hestablish a permanent West Side private day school affording girls every
opportunity for a thorough education from Kindergarten to college
preparatories."  The New York Times reported that the school building was
the "largest and most thoraughly-equipped private educational institution
for young ladies" in New York City.

The Calhoun School currently accepts children from pre-kindergarten
through high school and enrolls approximately 400 students. TIts curriculum
is based on progressive educational principles. Its main building, located
at 433 West End Averne (ocutside the district boundaries), will by 1992 house
grades two through twelve. The West 74th Street building will by that time
house the pre-school children and the first grade.

The Columbia Grammar and Preparatory School, 4-8 West 93rd Street

The Colunbia Grammar and Preparatory Schocl was founded in 1764 as The
Colunbia Grammar School, a boys’ preparatory school for Kings College (later
Colunbia University). Early instructors at the College complained that its
entering students were poorly prepared for their college courses, In 1763
they called for a grammar school annex to the College to remedy this
problem. The success of the school was almost immediate; it scon supplied
the College with half of its entering freshman class. The Grammar School
remained under the College’s care for 100 years until, in 1864, Columbia
College (as it was then known) terminated the relatlonshlp The school
contumedtopxospermﬂerprlvatecammﬂhasbeenlocatedontheUpper
West Side since 1907. In 1909-10 a new building for the school was
constructed at 5 West 93rd Street (outside the district boundaries).

In 1941, Oolumbia Grammar School became a non—profit institution. 1In
1956, the school merged with the ILeonard School, a girls’ school founded in
1937 by Florence Ieonard and housed in several interconnected rowhouses on
West 94th Street which back onto the existing Columbia Grammar School
building. With this merger, the institution turned co-educational for the
first time. Today, the Colunmbia Grammar and Preparatory School is a co-
educational college preparatory school with an emphasis on art, music, and
drama.
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The cornverted rowhouse at 20 West 94th Street, constructed in 1889-30
as a single-family dwelling according to the design of Edward Wenz in the
Renaissance Revival style, and those at 22 through 28 West 94th Street, also
designed as single family dwellings and constructed in 1888 according to the
design of Increase M. Grenell in the Queen Anne style, now serve the lower
grades from kindergarten through fourth grade. The building at 5 West 93rd
Street is now occupied by the middle schocl. The high school is located in .
a recent huilding at 4 West 93rd Street, constructed in 1987-88 according to
the design of Pasanella & Klein.

Junior High School No. 44 — William J. 0’Shea Junior High School, 131-149
West 76th Street

Junior High School No. 44 occupies the eastern half of the city block
boaunded by 76th and 77th Streets, and Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues. The
school is named for William J. O’Shea, a lawyer who was sworn in as a member
of the New York City Board of Education on January 6, 1955. His father (of
the same name) was previocusly the Superintendent of Schools in New York
City. In the late 1940s and ’50s the New York City School Board found
itself short of classroom space. The forces behind this shortage were: a
growing birth rate, a large influx of immigrants and refugees, ard a
shifting of the city’s population. Acknowledging that monmumental school
designs were a thing of the past, the school board boldly confronted these
camplex social, financial, and educational problems. Forced to devise a new
means of economic kuilding and design without . compromising structural .
safety, aesthetic qualities, or educational adequacy, the board set upon a
new design strategy: the introduction of sparse, functional designs with
simple lines and straightforward planning, assisted by modern building
materials including steel, concrete, alumimm, and glass. Additionally,
ceiling heights were lowered, stairways reduced, and elevators installed. A
focus on functional design was found to be the answer. Constructed in 1955,
the modern design of Junior High School No. 44 created by the architectural
firm of Gehron & Seltzer, reflects this period of reform in American school -
design.

The New Walden Lincoln School (Formerly the Walden School), 11-15 West 88th
Street

The Walden School was founded in 1914 by Margaret Naumberg. Naumberg
was considered an imnovator in the field of education and utilized
progressive educational principles. By 1933 the school was located at 1
West 88th Street, in a Beauwx-Arts building originally constructed for the
Progress Club in 1904 according to the design of Nathan Korn. (The Progress
Club was a prominent German-Jewish club organized in 1864. . Its Central Park .
home was the third club built in the area. While the trustees thought that
a move to the West Side would increase membership, this eventually proved
ineffective and the club dissolved in 1932.) The Walden School exparded in
1958 by adding a floor to this structure.

The Andrew Goodman Building at 11-15 West 88th Street was constructed
adjacent to the main school building in 1967. 'The design was by architect
Edgar Tafel, a former Walden student. The modern style of the building is
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reflected in its unornmamented concrete, brick, and glass facade. The
structure honors Andrew Goodman, a c¢ivil rights activist who attended the
Walden School and was murdered in 1964 while seeking to further the cause of
voting rights in Mississippi.

The school made plans in 1984 to renovate the former club building and
‘erect’ a seventeen-story apartment house above it. When this proved
unsuccessful, the school trustees decided to demclish the club building and
replace it w1thanapartmmttowermd1wmldalsocontam space for the
~school. ~The Walden School vacated the club. buzl.ldlng by the.fall of 1987 and.
a new 23-story apartment building is now nearing completion.

The Lincoln School of Teachers College was fourded in 1917 by Abraham
Flexner. Like Walden, it was progressive in its curriculum. It was located
at West 100th Street and later at 210 East 77th Street, a former YMCA
building. Lincoln became independent from Teachers College in 1948 and in
1949 adopted the name New Lincoln. The Walden and New Lincoln Schools
merged in 1989 to combat rising costs and shrinking enrollment, forming the
New Walden Lincoln School, a co-educational school accepting students from

The Robert Iouis Stevenson School, 22 West 74th Street

The Robert ILouis Stevenson School was established in 1908 by Dr.
Willjam Whitney as a school for girls from the elementary grades through
high school. The name, that of a famous author of children’s stories, was
chosen for the popular association of his works with children. The school
turned co-educational in the 1940s. When the current director, Iuncille
Rhodes, arrived at the school in 1960, the aim of the school then became the
education of "promising adolescents with unrealized potential.”" Previocusly
located elsewhere on the Upper West Side, the Stevenson School moved into
its current hame at 22 West 74th Street in the early 1960s. The building
was originally constructed in 1902-04 in the Georgian Revival style
according to the design of Percy Griffin as one of a row of eighteen houses.
CQurrently, the Stevenson School is a co—educational hich school chartered as
a not-for-profit institution and enrolls approximately 100 students.

The Stephen Gaynar School, 22 West 74th Street

The Stephen Gaynor School was organized in 1962. It is a non-profit,
co~educational school for children of pre-school age through thirteen years.
At the school, children with learning disabilities receive an education
based on multi-sensory teaching. In the mid-1960s, the school moved from
its home on the Upper East Side to the Georgian Revival style rowhouse at 22
West 74th Street. Designed by Percy Griffin, the building is one of a row
of eighteen houses constructed in 1902-04.

Margaret M. Pickart
Charles Savage
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NOTE ON BUITDING ENTRIES

For ease of use, the ilding entries are bound separately in
Volumes IT and III.
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INTRODUCTTION TO THE BUTTDTNG ENTRTES TN
THE UPPER WEST STDE/CENTRAIL PARK WEST HISTORTC DISTRICT

The building entries in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Designation Report are organized in mumerical order by address: first
the avermes (Central Park West, Columbus, Amsterdam, and Broadway), then the
streets. On the avenues, the entries alternate between the east and west sides
of the avemie for each block. On the streets, the entries alternate between
+ the north {odd mmbers) and socuth (even mubers) sides of the street for each
block. Tax map block and lot mmbers are also provided in the main heading.of
each entry. Two kinds of huilding entries are contained within this report: 1)
for individual buildings and 2) for buildings in rows. A row is a group of
consecutive houses, tenements, or flats hbuilt according to a single New
Building application. There are three kinds of rows: straight rows (situated
alongy a portion of a blockfront), rows that turn corners, and split rows
(interrupted by later huildings). Entries for all portions of rows of
buildings are located in the report under the lowest mmber in the span of
addresses; tax lot mumbers are listed in the order of the address numbers. The
address mumbers within a row are separated by commas, unless tax lots within
the row have been merged; here, ampersands "&" are used. For example, address
mmbers 3 & 5 & 7, 9, 11 may correspord to lot mumbers 28, 27, 26. Tax lots
which contain more than one huilding that are listed under separate entries in
the report are indicated in the relevant entries as "in part." BAll of the
addresses of buildings in the district, including alternate addresses (A/K/As),
are cross—referenced and indexed. Also indexed in this report are huilding
names, architects, and original owners/develcpers.

The information contained within each entry falls into -two different
categories: Original Data, pertaining to the building or row of kuildings at
the time of construction, and Alteration(s).

ORIGINAL, BUITDING DATA/ORTGINAT, ROW DATA

Primary information, such as construction date, New Building application
nuber and year, building type, architect, original owner/developer, and
style/ornament, is given for each entry. Information pertaining to original
physical characteristics is also given, where applicable. This includes row
configuration; facade materials (listed in crder of predominance, may also
include iromwork); mumber of stories; original window type and wmaterial (if
known) ; basement type for rowhouses (either raised or American); stoop type
(including straight, box, or low); roof type (other than flat) and material,
which also pertains to rcofline facade treatments; and method of construction.
Note is made if the building or row of buildings was originally constructed
with storefront(s). The information given may not reflect current conditions;
however, changes in the original characteristics of the huildings are accounted
for in the Alteration(s) section.

Substantially altered buildings originally constructed within rows, such
as two or more rowhouses which have been consolidated into one building and
given a new facade, are. treated as separate entries in the report, not as part
of the original row. 1In entries for significantly altered buildings, the
- information in the Original Data will be applicable to the kuildings as altered
instead of as originally built.




Date: 'The date refers to the year(s) of construction. The New Building
application number and year are also provided. If only a date is given without
an NB rumber, this indicates that the building in its present exterior form
reflects work carried out as an alteration which will be documented below in
the Alteration(s) section of the entry.

Typre: The most common building types found in the district are rowhouses,
tenements, flats, apartment kuildings, apartment hotels, studio Mildings,
hotels, institutional buildings, and churches and synagogues (sometimes in
- conmplexes with related structures); more specialized building types also occur.

- For rows, a numerical indication of how many buildings swrvive fram the

criginal row is given, for example, (2 of 6) or (5 of 5). A rowhouse which has
had commercial alterations to its lower stories is identified as. a "Rowhouse
with- commercial base." Other types of buildings that have resulted from
alterations to existing rowhouses are identified as well, such as "Small
Apartment Building (converted rowhouses).™

Style/Ornament: Given the variety of architectural styles found in the
district, and the hybrid stylistic quality that characterizes many of the rows
~and individual huildings, more than one style may be identified in the entry.
If equal proportions of two styles or stylistic sources have been identified in
the overall design of a row.or individual building, this will be indicated as,
for example, “"Renaissance/Romanescuie Revival." If one style predominates but
also incorporates other stylistic or ornamental features, it will be identified
as, for example, "Renaissance Revival with Romanesque elements."

Row Confiquration: Rows found in the district often incorporate different
facade designs that are arranged in rhythmic patterns. For the purpose of
identifying the pattern,  facade designs are assigned letters,  for -example,
VABCB/A’." The prime "™'" may be used to indicate that the A’ design varies
slightly or is the mirror image of the A design. If no two facade designs
repeat within a row, it will be identified as "Individualized." A lower-case

g may be used to indicate that a building has lost its architectural features

to the extent that it cannot be identified within the pattern of the row.
Split rows will be identified with "and" separating the portions of the row
("AB and CBA"). If the facade designs within a given row are the same, no Row
Conficquration is given.

ALTFRATTON (s)

Alterations documented using records of the Department of Buildings are
listed in the building entries, as well as alterations which have been
determined through cbservation only. Major alterations and facade changes are
briefly described and documented with Alteration permit mumber and year, date,
architect, and owner at the time of the alteration. Other alterations which
-are noted may include stripping or refacing of facades or portions of facades,
removal of stoops and establishment of primary entrances at basement level,
cornice removal,. rooftop additions, and addition or replacement of storefronts.
Generally, certain types of alteraticns have NOT been listed in the building
entries: window and. door-replacement, painting, areaway remodeling, - change~in
roof material, repointing, removal or replacement of -original - ironwork, -and
addition or replacement of fire escapes.



ARCHITECTS' APPENDIX

This appendix lists all architects who designed buildings
within the Upper West Side/Cemtral Park West Historic District as
well as those who made substantial alterations to the exteriors of
existing buildings.

Each entry lists the name of the architect or firm and the
addresses of the buildings in the district which were designed or
altered by the architect or firm. Biographical information,
including birth and death dates, is provided if known.

Entries have been prepared by Margaret M. Pickart






ARCHITECTS’ APPENDIX
LOUIS AITEN ABRAMSON (b. 1887)

131-135 West 86th Street, 600

Louis Allen Abramson began his architectural career as an office boy, and
then draftaman, in the office of John Duncan (see) where he helped design
several neo-French Classic townhouses in midtown Manhattan. From Duncan’s
office he traveled West and worked in and around Seattle for several
years., He then established an indeperdent architectural practice in New
York in which he received commissions for hospitals and restaurants.
~Included in his hospital designs are buildings for the Iong Islard Jewish
Hospital. His restaurants, including a Horm & Hardart Automat at West
181st Street, six Longchanps restaurants in Manhattan, restaurants for the
Brass Rail including the outlets for the 1939 World’s Fair, and Ben
Marden’s Riviera night club/restaurant perched on the Palisades, were
elegant Art Deco and Art Moderne creations designed in the 1930s and ’40s.
In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Abramscn
designed the Jewish Center, an eleven-story midblock neo-Renaissance
structure of 1917 which combined synagogue space with recreational and
meeting room facilities,

Landmarks Preservation Coamission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981).

ADAMS & WOODBRIDGE

lewis Greenleaf Adams (b. 1897)
Frederick James Wocdbridge (b. 1900)

122-128 West 69th Street, 219

ILewis Greenleaf Adams was born in Ienox, Massachusetts and was educated
at Yale and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris, graduating in 1926. He
began his architectural practice as a draftsman with the firm of Delano &
Aldrich, and was later associated with the firm of Adams & Prentice
(1929-41) . Adams joined the American Institute of Architects in 1931,

James Frederick Woodbridge was born in Minneapolis, Minnesota and was
educated at Columbia University. Before graduating in 1923, he worked as
a drafts=man with McKim, Mead & white (see), then studied at the American
Academy in Rame until 1925. While there, he served as architect for
excavations at Antioch of Pisidea and Carthage, Tunisia. Returning to the
United States, Woodbridge worked again for the firm of McKim, Mead & White
until 1929, then was associated with the firm of Evans, Moore and Wood-
bridge until 1942. Woodbridge joined the American Institute of Architects
in 1931 and was elected to Fellowship in 1950.



continuation of . . . . Adams & Woodbridge

In 1945, Adams and Woodbridge joined in partnership. Buildings construc-
ted according to their design include the Adirondack Museum, New York
(1957-69, btwelve buildings), the Freshman Dormitory and Infirmary at
Hamilton College in Clinton, New York (1958), and the Episcopal Church
Center on Second Avenue in Manhattan (1963). In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District Adams & Woodbridge was responsible in
1960 for enlarging the north transept to St. Stephen’s P.E. Church (now
Christ and St. Stephen’s Church).

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 4, 777.
American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 5, 1011.

HENRY ANDERSEN (dates undetermined)

331-339 Columbus Averue, 86

484, 486 Amsterdam Avenue, 157

39, 41, 43, 45 West 68th Street, 183

130, 132, 134, 136 West 80th Street, 471

41, 43, 45, 47 & 49 & 51, 53, 55, 57 West 89th Street, 652
47, 49, 51 West 90th Street, 663

Henry Andersen was a prolific New York City architect. He began his
practice by 1882 and appears to have specialized in residential design.
He was particularly active in the 1890s and early 1900s, and is represen-
ted in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District by several
neo-Renaissance style rowhouses, flats, including the Aylesmere (see the
essay on multiple dwellings for more information), and tenement buildings.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 11.
ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

GEORGE H. ANDERSON (dates undetermined)

161, 163, 165 West 88th Street, 642
167, 169, 171 West 88th Street, 643

Little is known of the life or career of George H. Anderson. His
architectural practice was established in New York by 1882 ard continued
through the early 20th century. In 1890 he held a brief partnership with
Adolph F. Leicht. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Anderson designed Renaissance Revival style rowhouses (1890)
including the row at 161, 163, 165 West 88th Street which he took over
from Albert Huttira (see) when the ownership of the property changed
during construction. 2Anderson also designed two store and loft buildings
(1906) in the Iadies Mile Historic District.
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Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 11.

Landmarks Preservation Conmission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report {(IP-1609), (New York,
1989).

WALDEN PELL ANDERSON (dates undetermined)
33, 35, 37, 39 West 95th Street, 699

Little is known of architect Walden Pell Anderson. His New York City
architectural practice was established by 1877, and for a short time (1878-
79) he formed a partnership with Schuyler Hamilton, Jr., under the firm nam
of Anderson & Hamilton. IntheU;perWeStSJ.de/Central Park West Historic
District, Anderson designed a row of four Renaissance Revival style houses
in 1889.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 11.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

EDWARD L. ANGELL (dates undetermined)

247, 248, 249 [a/k/a 2-10 West 85th Street] Central Park West, 41

341-349 Columbus Averme, 89

440-444 [a/k/a 101-107 West 81st Street] & 446-456 [a/k/a 100~108 West
82nd Street] Columbus Averue, 101

311-317 Amsterdam Averue, 127

133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145 West 74th Street, 352

140 & 142 & 144, 146 West 74th Street, 361

154, 156 & 158 West 74th Street, 362

53, 55, 57 West 76th Street, 398

44, 46 West 85th Street, 569

Edward L. Angell, a prolific New York City architect of the late
nineteenth century, established his practice by 1886. From 1887 to 1889
Angell worked in partnership with William Higginson. Throughout his
career, Angell designed residential kuildings -- typically rowhouses,
flats, and apartment buildings, employing a mixture of historical styles
including neo—Grec, Queen Anne, Romanesque, and Renaissance Revival.
Examples of Angell’s work can be found in Greerwich Village and the Upper
West Side, including the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District where he designed Renaissance Revival and Queen Anne style
rowhouses, as well as Romanesgue Revival style flats and

uildings. The picturesque gabled houses on Central Park West (1887-88)
are survivors of a block-long row and are rare examples of single—family
residences on that avenue.
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Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 11.

ILandmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, West End—Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1418), (New York, 1984), 253.

BABB, COOK & WILILARD

George Fletcher Bakb (1843-1916)
Walter Cook (1846~1916)
Daniel W. Willard (dates undetermined)

444-446 Amsterdam Averue, 147

George Fletcher Bakb was born in New York City and spent his early child-
hood in New Jersey. He began his architectural career in 1858 in the New
York office of T.R. Jackson. From 1859 to 1865 Bakb collaborated with
Nathaniel G. Foster. Three years later he served as senior draftsman in
the office of Russell Sturgis. Babb was a Fellow of the American Insti-
tute of Architects and a member of its New York chapter. Walter Cook was
born in New York and was a Harvard graduate (1869) who had alsc studied
architecture in Munich and Paris. In 1877, Babb and Cook formed a
partnership. By the 1890s Cock was the principal designer of the firm.
Cock was an early member and Fellow of the American Institute of Archi-
tects and was a menber of the Architectural Ieague of New York and the
Beaux-Arts Society of Architects.

A Fellow of the American Institute of Architects and a member of the
Architectural league, Daniel W. Willard was a graduate of the Massachu-
setts Institue of Technology. He joined Babb and Cock in 1884 to form the
firm of Babb, Cock & Willard. The firm was responsible for the DeVinne
Press Building (393 Lafayette Street, 1885) and the Andrew Carnegie
Mansion (how the Cooper-Hewitt Musenm, 2 East 91st Street, 1899-1903),
both designated New York City Landmarks. In the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District, Bakb, Cook & Willard designed the St. Agnes
Branch of the New York Public Library in the Renaissance Rewvival Style
which employs a three-story granite and limestone facade displaying a
symmetrical ordering of menmbers and restrained classically-inspired
ornament. (See institutional essay for further information.) The firm
also designed several other branches for the New York Public Library
throughout the city.

"Babb, Cook & Willard," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (Neww York, 1982), vol. 1, 121-22.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 12,23,82.
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Landmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.

Nerval White and Elliot Willensky, ATA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 97, 238.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 135-36.

BABOOCK & MCAVOY

John C. Babcock (dates undetermined)
Themas H. McAvoy (d. 1887)

180 [a/k/a 101 West 68th Street], 182 & 184, 186 & 188 Columbus Averme, 59

John C. Babcock was established as a New York City architect by 1868.
Thomas H. McAvoy was established in architectural practice by 1874. In
1882 the architects joined to form the firm of Babcock & McAvoy, a
partnership which was short-lived, dissolving upon the death of McAvoy in
1887. 1In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Babcock
& McAvoy designed one group of five neo-Grec style tenements. Babcock
contimued to practice architecture after his partner’s death.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 13, 53,
Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

GEORGE A. BAGGE & SONS

379-381 Amsterdam Avenue, 133
383-391 Amsterdam Averme, 134
121-127 West 74th Street, 352

(See Neville & Bagge, below)



GEORGE A. BAGGE (dates undetermined)

300 Columbus Averue, 82

429-437 Amsterdam Avermie, 141

140, 142, 144 West 75th Street, 389
141 West 80th Street, 463

143 West 80th Street, 464

145, 147, 149 West 80th Street, 465
172 & 174 West 81st Street, 495
176, 178 West 8lst Styreet, 496

(See Neville & Bagge, below)

WILILIAM BAKER (dates undetermined)

137, 139, 141 West 69th Street, 213

151, 153 West 76th Street, 407

112, 114, 116 West 78th Street, 437

145 West 8lst Street, 485

149 & 151, 153, 155, 157, 159 West 82nd Street, 517

Little is known of architect William Baker. His practice was established
in New York by 1882 and concentrated on the design of residential build-
ings. Baker held several partnerships throughout his career, collabor-
ating with architects including Max Iewinson (1887-88), Edward A. Kent,
and Edward F. Ely (1889-90). In 1888 Baker practiced under the firm name
of William Baker & Co. His residential work is well-represented in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District with designs for
rovhouses typically executed in the Queen Anne style.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 13.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

JOHN BARRY (BUTLDER)

47, 49 West 92nd Street, 681

F.123



DWIGHT JAMES BAUM (1886-1939)

3~11 West 63rd Street, 167
13~15 West 63rd Street, 168

Dwight James Baum was born in Little Falls, New York, and graduated from
Syracuse University in 1909. He established an independent New York City
architectural practice in 1915, the year in which he designed his own
house, Sumybank, in Riverdale, New York. This elegant house was greatly
admired and led to many other Riverdale cammissions for Baum, possibly as
many as 140. He designed houses in a mumber of eclectic styles including
the Colonial, Georgian, Ttalian Villa, English and Dutch Colonial types,
drawing inspiration from his vast architectural library. In addition to
his Riverdale designs, Baum designed residences throughout the country,
including John Ringling’s Venetian style palace in Sarascota, Florida
(1922-26), and several university buildings; including the Scheol of
Medicine, Bendricks Memorial Chapel, and the School for Citizenship, all
at Syracuse University. Other institutions which benefited from his
designs were Clarkson, Hartwick, Middlebury, and Wells colleges. Baum
also designed buildings for the New York City World’s Fair in 1939,

A Fellow of the the American Institute of Architects, Baum was a member of
the Architectural League of New York, the National Sculpture Scciety, and
the Beaux Arts Institute of Design. He served as architectural consultant
to Good Housekeeping magazine and won the American Institute of Archi-
tects Gold Medal for the best small house design in 1926-30. Baum wrote
and lectured extensively on a variety of architectural topics and many of
his designs were published in architectural periodicals. His buildings for
the YMCA in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District include
a club building constructed in 1930 and a high school erected in 1931. The
buildings’ brick and stone facades, their abundance of towers and corbel
tables, and window and door openings set in rounded arches cambine to form
a bold neo-Romanesque design. (See institutional essay for further
information.)

"Dwight James Baum," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 1, 155.

"Dwight James Baum," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), wvol. 1, 70.

Dwight James Baum cbituary, New York Times, Dec. 14, 1939, p.27:1.

"Dwight James Baum," Architectural Record 87 (Jan., 1940), 10.

C. Matlack Price, The Works of Dwight James Baum, Architect (New York,
1927) .

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 43-44.
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GECRGE BEAUMONT CO.
George B. Beaumont (1854-1922)
124-126 West 72nd Street, 305

George B. Beaumont was born and educated in Leeds, fngland. In 1881 he
became a member of the Royal Institute of British Architects and moved to
Chicago, where he was a founder of the Chicago Sketch Club. Beaumont
first found work as a draftsman with J.A. Mclennan, then assumed the
p081t10n of Superintendent of Construction for the firm of Wheeler & Clay
in Chicago. A Fellow of the American Institute of Architects, he began
independent practice in 1886. 1In 1916 the George Beaumont Co., a con-
tracting firm, was first listed in New York City directories. George B.
Beaumont, Wilbert S. Beaumont, and William H. Rowan were listed as the
principals of the organization. In that year the firm was responsible for
a neo-Renaissance style apartment building in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District.

George Beaumont obituary, AIA Journal Vol. 10 (1922), 338.

Trow’s New York City Directory.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 4AS.

ELI EENEDICT

113 West 78th Street, 432

WILLIAM K. BENEDICT (dates undetermined)
127, 129, 131, 133, 135 West 77th Street, 425

Little is known of architect William K. Benedict. His practice was
established in New York by 1887 and from 1894-99 he collaborated with
architect O.R. Neu. Benedict’s work seems to have been mainly residen-
tial, arnd is exemplified by his row of Queen Anne/Ramanesque Revival style
houses found in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 15.




JESS BERKMAN

115 West 88th Street, &40

JOSEPH M. BERLINGER (dates undetermined)

370-374 Columbus Averme, 91
329-335 Amsterdam Averue, 129

Little is known of New York City architect Joseph M. Berlinger, who became
a member of the American Institute of Architects in 1949. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Berlinger combined and =
reconstructed three flats for a new apartment building in 1939-40 and .
enlarged the Riverside Memorial Chapel in 1944-46.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 51.

EETHIL EHEM ENGINEERTNG CORP.

Floyd D. Brown (dates undetermined)
George R. Coughlen (dates undetermined)

134-138 West 75th Street, 389

Little is known of the Bethlehem Engineering Corporation. In 1920-21 the
firm was listed in New York City directories with Floyd D. Brown as
president and George R. Coughlen as secretary ard treasurer of the
organization. The firm’s offices were located at 527 Fifth Averme at that
time. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the
Bethlehem Engineering Corp. designed ard built a neo~Georgian style
apartment building in 1920-21.

Trow’s New York City Directory.

CHARIES E. BIRGE (1871-1942)

287-295 Amsterdam Averme, 126
133 West 72nd Street, 292
148 West 72nd Street, 310

BEducated at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology and the Ecole des
Beaux-Arts in Paris, Charles E. Birge’s early career was spent in Chicago,
but he soon opened a practice in New York which he maintained umtil his
retirement in 1937. Birge is best known for his designs for William
Randolph Hearst and for Schrafft’s Candy Stores. Examples of his work can
be found in the Upper East Side Historic District —— a handscme neo—
Georgian stable, and the rencovation of two existing rowhouses — and in
the Riverside-West End Historic District, where he designed the Clarendon,
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a neo-Renaissance style apartment building on Riverside Drive. He also
designed the North River Savings Bank, which stood at 51 West 34th Street.
His work in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District was
all undertaken within a span of three years: the Hotel Berkley (1911-13),
an office building (1913), and a studio building (1910-11), the latter two
on the busy commercial stretch of West 72nd Street between Columbus and
Amsterdam Avenue/Broadvay .

Charles E. Birge cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 23, 1942, p.23:3.
ILandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,” Riverside
— West End Historic District Designation Report (LP-1626), (New
York, 1989); "Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic

District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

CHRISTTAN BITNN (dates urndetermined)

64 & 66 & 68 & 70 & 72 [a/k/a 235-239 Colunbus Averue] West 7ist Street, 258
109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119 West 78th Street, 432

100 [a/K/a 392-396 Columbus Averme] and 110 West 79th Street, 447

4, 6, 8, 10 West 83rd Street, 536

Little is known of Christian Blinn, an architect active in residential
design on New York City’s Upper West Side in the late nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Blinn designed four rows of neo-Grec style houses with details
which suggest a Scandinavian heritage.

ILandmarks Preservation Caomission, Research Files.
Trow’s New York City Directory.

BIOCH & HESSE

Ben C. Bloch (1890-1977)
Walter Hesse (18977-1975)

28-36 West 68th Street, 191
38-44 West 68th Street, 191

Ben C. Bloch was born in Chicago and received his education at Cornell
University, graduating in 1912. The early years of his career were spent
with Henry B. Herts (1911-12) and William Welles Bosworth (1912-13). He
became a member of the American Institute of Architects in 1921. Walter
Hesse was born in New York City and was educated at Columbia University.

The firm of Bloch & Hesse was organized in 1913. Its principal works

include: The Brooklyn Borough Gas Co. (1922-~25), the Brooklyn Civic
Center, Iundy’s Restaurant (1934), ard the Mid-Manhattan Branch Library.

Al0



contimiation of . . . . Bloch & Hesse

The firm also designed synagogues, hospital additions, schools, and
private homes. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
the firm was responsible for renovating and converting the Jewish
Institute of Religion (first built in 1922 and designed by Eisendrath &
Horowitz [see] with Bloch & Hesse as associate architects) to the Stephen
Wise Free Synagogue and expanding that buildirg to the west to house the
merged Institute and Hebrew Union College. The work was begun in 1939-41
and finished in 1948-49. The massive rough-faced stone walls of the
buildings are enlivened by Gothic details. (For further information, see
the section on religious buildings above.)

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 61, 309.
"Ben C, Bloch," Avery Architectural Library Obitary File. (New York).
'"Walter Hesse," Avery Architectural Library Cbitary File. (New York).

BIOODGOOD & BIOODGEOOD

Freeman Eloodgood (dates undetermined)
William E. Bloodgood (dates undetermined)

134 & 136 West 82rd Street, 521

Little is known of the Blocdgoods or their architectural practice.

Freeman and William established their firm as architects and builders in
1888. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Bloodgood & Bloodgood designed a pair of Chateauesque style houses.
Elsewhere in Manhattan the firm designed commercial buildings. When the
firm dissolved, both menbers contimued in independent practice. William
was associated with Walter Iund from 1895-97.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900

(New York, 1979), 16.
landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

GEORGE & EDWARD EBIIM

George Blum (1874-7)
Edward Blum (1876-1944)

322 Central Park West, 52
105 West 72nd Street, 286
164-168 West 72nd Street, 314
120 West 86th Strest, 604

Edward Blum, born in Paris, graduated from Columbia University in 1892 and
continued his education at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris from 1901 to
1903. George Blum attended the Ecole in 1904.
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The firm of George & Edward Blum received its first commissions in 1909
for apartment buildings, and it is best known for the designs of this
building type. The firm was responsible for four apartment buildings in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, and another three
in the Riverside-West End Historic District. All of them were executed in
the neo-Renaissance style. The firm’s designs are notable for the use of
glazed brick and terra cotta in a distinctive manner.

Edward Blum obituary, New York Times, Mar. 28, 1944.

Andrew Dolkart, Conversation, April 11, 1989.

Landmarks Preservation Commissicon, YArchitects’ Apperdix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; “Architects’ Appendix,” Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1989);
"Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

BOAK & PARTS

Russell M. Boak (dates undetermined)
Hyman Paris (dates undetermined)

143 West 72nd Strest, 295
3-11 West 86th Street, 583

Hyman Paris practiced architecture as early as 1913 and was registered as
an architect in New York in 1922. Russel M. Boak collaborated with Paris
by the late 1920s, and the firm designed many Maphattan buidings. The
firm appears to have been most active in the design of apartment buildings
in the 1930s, including several in what are now the Greerwich Village,
Upper East Side, and West End-Collegiate Historic Districts. Their
structures exhibit a variety of Art Deco, Romanesque, Gothic, and
Elizabethan Revival elements. Examples of their Art Deco/Art Moderne
works are the Midtown Theater (now the Metro Theater, 2624 Broadway,
1932-33, a designated New York City ILandmark), a commercial building at
143 West 72nd Street (1935), and an apartment building at 3-11 West 86th
Street (1937), the latter two in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District.

Boak later formed a partnership with Thomas 0. Raad which was active in
the 1940s and ’50s. That firm was responsible for an apartment building
and a retail store in what is now the Upper East Side Historic District.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Midtown Theater Designation
Report (IP-1615), (New York, 1989).




ALBERT JOSEPH BODKER (dates undetermined)
333 Central Park West, 54

little is known of architect Albert Joseph Bodker, who was active in
residential design in Manhattan in the early twentieth century. Examples
of his residential work can be found in the Upper East Side Historic
District, as well as in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District where he designed the neo-Renaissance style Turin apartment
building, which because of the size of the site displays an unusual plan
with interlocking wings opening onto light courts.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, MArchitects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

BORING & TILTON

William Alciphron Boring (1859-1937)
Edward L. Tilton (1861-1933)

132 West 72nd Street, 307

William A. Boring was born in Carlinville, Illinois, and began his
architectural education at the University of Illinois (1881-83). He
established his practice of architecture in Los Angeles in 1883 under the
firm name of Ripley & Boring and designed schools, hotels, and the first
Ios Argeles Times Building. In 1886 he moved to New York and completed
his education at Columbia University, graduating in the following year,
and continuing his study in Paris from 1887 to 18%0. In 1890 Boring
returned to the U.S. and entered the office of McKim, Mead & White (see).
In 1915 he became a professor of architecture at Columbia and later served
as Dean. Boring was alsc a founder of both the Society of Beaux-Arts
Architects and the American Academy in Rome.

Edward L. Tilton was born and educated in New York. He apprenticed in the
office of McKim, Mead & White and studied further at the Ecole des Beaux—
Arts in Paris (1887-90). He was a member of the American Instibute of
Architects, the Architectural Ieague of New York, and was a founder of the
National Beaux-Arts Society of Architects.

Boring and Tilton, having previously met in the firm of McKim, Mead &
White formed a partnership in 1891. The firm’s first prominent work was
the design of the buildings for the U.S. Immigration Service on Ellis
Island, won in competition and campleted in 1898. Other works include a
variety of institutional amd residential designs. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm added a Beaux-Arts
facade (1901) to an existing rowhouse at 132 West 72nd Street.

After Boring’s retirement from architectural practice, Tilton resumed
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practice under the firm name of Tilton & Githens, with Alfred T. Githens.
In 1901 he wrote a lengthy entry on Greek architecture for Russell
Sturgis’ "Dictionary of Architecture."

"Wwilliam A. Boring," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1,
119.

"Boring & Tilton," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 1, 247.

William A. Boring cbituary, New York Times, May 6, 1937, p.25:1.

William A. Boring cbituary, Royal Institute of British Architects Journal
Vol. 44 (June 16, 1937), 849.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 17, 75.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

"Edward L. Tilton," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1,
1241.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 66, 601.

WILLIAM H. BOYIAN (dates undetermined)

22 & 24 & 26 & 28 & 30 & 32 & 34 & 36 & 38 & 40 & 42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52,
b4 West 91st Street, 674

William H. Boylan was an architect active primarily in residential work in
New York City in the late nineteenth century. His architectural practice
was established by 1886 or 1887. Boylan’s designs typically exhibited the
Queen Anne arxl Romanesque Revival styles, examples of which can be found
in the West Enxd-Collegiate and the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic Districts.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1500
(New York, 1979), 17.

Iandmarks Preservation Coamission, West End-Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1418), (New York, 1984), 255.
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MORRTS EBRODY

54-58 West 68th Street, 192

FREDERICK C. BROWNE (dates undetermined)

441-449 Columbus Avenue, 100
106-112 West 72nd Street, 302

Frederick C. Browne was established as an architect in New York City from
the late 1890s. He designed the Mercantile Building at 34 East 10th -
Street and apartments at 113th Street and St. Nicholas Averme. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Browne designed the -
Beaux-Arts style Hotels Hargrave and Colonial. The Hotel Hargrave is
constructed in two parts extending through the block. The 72nd Street
section was built in 1901-02, while the section at 109 West 71st Street
was not built until 1905-07. In 1910 he joined Randolph H. Almiroty in
partnership. In that year the firm designed an apartment building in what
is now the Greerwich Village Historic District and a neo-Gothic store and
loft building in the ladies Mile Historic District. After the dissolution
of the firm in 1916, Browne and Almiroty continued to work independently
through the 1920s.

"Building for Schmer Piano Co.," American Architect Vol. 124 (Oct. 24,
1923).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(Newr York, 1979), 18.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Greerwich Village Historic
District Designation Report (LP-0489), (New York, 1969), 94;
"Architects’ Appendix,” Iadies Mile Historic District Designation
Report (LP-1609), (New York, 1989).

Trow’'s New York City Directory.

ERUNNER & TRYON

Arncld William Brunner (1857-1925)
Thomas Tryon (1859-1920)

99 Central Park West, 10
160 West 82nd Street, 524

Arnold William Brummer was born in New York City and attended schools in
New York and England before entering the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in 1877. After graduating in 1879, he entered the architec-
tural office of George B. Post as a draftsman. He resumed his studies
abroad in 1883, traveling through Europe and returned to New York in 1885.
Brunner was a president of the New York Chapter of the American Institute
of Architects and a member of the Architectural Ieague of New York.
Thomas Tryon was born in Hartford, Comn. and received his architectural
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training in New York. Tryon was a Fellow of the American Institute of
Architects, a member of its New York chapter, and a member of the
Architectural Ieague.

Brumner and Tryon joined in partnership in 1886. Buildings designed by
them include the Chemistry Building at the College of the City of New
York, the Studio of Daniel Chester French (Eleventh Street, 1888), and
the Temple Bethel (Fifth Avenue and 76th Street, 1890). During their
partnership, Brumner ard Tryon collaborated on a book entitled "Interior
Decoration" (1887). 1In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District the firm produced two very different synagogue designs. The

- first, built for Congregation Shaaray Tefila on West 82nd Street in 1893-
94, is in the Moorish/Byzantine Revival mode, which shares similarities in
form and architectural elements with contemporary Romanesque Revival
church buildings. The second, built for Congregation Shearith Israel on
Central Park West in 1896-97, is in the mormumental Academic Classical
style.

The firm dissolved in 1897 and both partners contimued to practice
independently. Tryon was later associated with the firm of Tryon, Brown &
Burnham with Iouis Brown and George Burnham (1899-1900). Brunner con-—
tinued to be associated with successful architectural projects of a public
nature. 1In 1898 he won the competition for Mt. Sinaj Hospital in New

- York, the Federal Building in Cleveland (1901), and in 1910 the ccanpeti-
tion for the Department of State Building in Washington, D.C. (never
built). Brumner achieved national fame upon the campletion of these
projects., He also produced city plans for Baltimore, Maryland, Denver,
Colorado, ard Rochester and Albany, New York, as well as the chapel and
general plan for Denison University in Granville, Chio. Brunner’s work
exhibited his ability for large scale plamnirg and momumental design in a
Roman classicist style.

"Armold W. Brurmmer," American Architect & Building News 127
(Jan., 1925), 167.

"Arnold William Brunner,™ Avery Architectural Library Obitary File. (New
York) .

"Arnold W. Brunner," Dicticnary of American Biography.

"Arnold W. Brunner," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 1, 314.

"Arncld W. Brunner," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1,
156.

Harvey Wiley Corbett, "In Appreciation of Arnold W. Brunner,"
Architectural Record 57 (May, 1925), 460-62.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 18, 76.

"Thomas Tryon," Avery Architectural Library Obitary File. (New York).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of Awerican
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 85, 608.
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BUCHMAN & DEISIER

Albert €. Buchman (1859-1936)
Gustav Deisler (dates undetermined)

410-416 Columbus Avenue, 95
20 West 70th Street, 229

The partnership of Buchman & Deisler was formed in 1887. Buchman, who
later formed the firms of Buchman & Fox (see) and Buchman & Kahn (1917-
1931), trained at Cornell and Columbia Universities; Deisler was trained
in technical schools in Stuttgart and Munich. Both men worked in the
Philadelphia office of A. J. Schwarzmann, architect of the Centennial
buildings. Buchman & Deisler became very successful during the 1890s with
comissions for coamercial buildings, and lower Broadway is dotted with
the fimm’s works, including several in the ScHo—Cast Iron Historic
District. The work of the firm within the Iadies Mile Historic District
fits within this pattern. Residential work included the Schiff residence
on Fifth Avenme and speculative groups on the Upper East Side in the
fashionable Beaux-Arts and neo~Renaissance styles. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District Buchman & Deisler designed the
Beaux-Arts style Orleans Hotel (1898-1900) and a row of six Renaissance
Revival style houses (1892), only one of which survives. Buchman &
Deisler remained in partnership until 1899,

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designaticn Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Ios Angeles, 1970), 88.

BOCHMAN & FOX

Albert C. Buchman (1859-1936)
Mortimer J. Fox (18757-1948)

15 West 68th Street, 181

30 West 72rd Street, 281

42 West 72nd Street, 283

118 West 72nd Street, 304
126 West 73rd Street, 332
164~166 West 74th Street, 364
18 West 86th Street, 591

Following his partnership with Gustav Deisler, which was begun in 1887,
Albert Buchman formed a new firm with Mortimer J. Fox in 1899, (See
Buchman & Deisler.) A native New Yorker, Fox had studied at the College
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of the City of New York, now City College, and later the Columbia Univer-
sity School of Mines, the predecessor of the Architecture School, and
joined Buchman shortly after graduation (1895). The seventeen-year long
partnershlp produced many designs for commercial and residential bulld—
ings, including the Union Carbide Building at Madison Avenue and 42nd
Street, the old Borwit Teller, Saks, and Hollander department stores, a
French Beaux-Arts style apartment house at 1261 Madison Avenue (1900—01, a
designated New York City Landmark), and the New York Times Annex at 217-
243 West 43rd Street (1913). 1In the ILadies Mile Historic Distict Buchman
& Fox designed neo-Renaissance style store and loft buildings. Within the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm’s work falls
into two categories: Beaux-Arts style rowhouses and neo—Gothic style
apartment hotels. Three identically designed apartment hotels (two on -
72nd Street and one on 73rd Street) were built in 1914-15 for E.W.
Browning. Thirteen stories high, each is faced in terra cotta molded in
neo—Gothic designs.

Fox had other careers in addition to that of architect. In 1917 he gave
up architecture to became a director and vice-president of the Columbia
Bank (later merged with Manufacturers Trust). After ten years in banking
Fox turned to landscape painting. He was said to have mastered the
techniques of oil painting in less than two years and exhibited his works
in New York.

Mortimer J. Fox cbituary, New York Times, May 17, 1948, p.19:1.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.

landmarks Preservation Comission, 1261 Madison Avenue Apartment
House Designation Report (IP-0865), (New York, 1974); “Architects/’
Appendix,™ Ladies Mile Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1609), (New York, 1989); “Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side
Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

GRORGE H. BUDLONG (dates undetermined)

49, 51, 53, 55 West 75th Street, 369
30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44, 46, 48 West 75th Street, 374
50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West 75th Street, 376

Little is known of architect George H. Budlong. His practice was
established in New York by 1883, and he seems to have worked independently
throughout his career. The three rows of houses designed by Budlong with-
in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, all located on
the same block and built between 1889 and 1891, exhibit the Romanesque and
Renaissance Revival styles.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.
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CHARTES BUEK & (0.

Charles Buek {dates undetermined)
Henry F. Cook (dates undetermined)

269-275 Colunbus Avenue, 74

260-268 Colwmbus Averme, 74

53, 55 West 70th Street, 224

57, 59, 61, 63 West 70th Street, 225

40, 42, 44, 46, 48, 50 West 87th Street, 617
52, 54, 56, 58, 60, 62 West 87th Street, 619
261-267 Columbus Avenue, 73

The firm of Charles Buek & Co., formed in 1881 by ¢Charles Buek, an
architect and builder, and Henry F. Cook, primarily an architect,

" dissolved in 1892, although the partners occasionally collaborated on
projects after this date.

Charles Buek was one of the most active developers in New York City in the
1880s. Early in his career, he was associated with the firm of Duggin &
Crossman and remained with that firm until its dissclution in 1879. Buek
then established an independent practice in which he designed a group of
nec—Grec rowhouses known as Astor Row (1880-81) at 8-22 West 130 Street.

The firm of Duggin & Crossman was reorganized in 1881 as Charles Buek &
Co. with Charles Duggin and Henry Cook as Buek’s partners. Charles Buek &
Co. first concentrated its activities on the East Side of Manhattan with
development focused at Madison Averue in the 60s and 70s and at Lexington
Avenue and 36th Street. In 1887 the campany transferred its interests to
the active real estate market of the Upper West Side. Several rows of
houses in the Renaissance and Romanescque Revival styles and two flats
buildings displaying the Queen Anne and neo~Grec styles are found in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District with Charles Buek &
Co. as architect and developer. All of these buildings were designed
during the period that Cook was employed by Charles Buek & Co.

After leaving Buek’s campany and embarking on independent practice in
1892, Cock designed a Beaux-Arts style apartment building ard three rows
of Renaissance and Romanescue Revival houses in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District. (See Hemry F. Cook.) He also acted
as developer for these rowhouses. In addition, Cook designed a row of
Renaissance Revival style flats in 1896-97 with Buek as the developer.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19, 22.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,"
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981) ; West End-Collegiate Historic District Designation Report
(ILP-1418), (New York, 1984), 255.
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DANIEL BURGESS (dates undetermined)
11, 13, 15 West 74th Street, 338

Daniel Burgess was established as an architect in New York by 1855 and was
asociated with James W. Pirsson (see) from 1862 to 1864 and with James
Stroud from 1869 to 1874. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District Burgess designed a row of Queen Anne style houses.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.

Iandmarks Preservation Comnission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York,
1981).

JOHN €. BURNE (dates undetermined)

47 West 68th Street, 184

21 West 74th Street, 339

18, 20, 22 West 75th Street, 372

24 West 75th Street, 373

153, 155, 157, 159 West 75th Street, 383
108 West 76th Street, 411

157, 159, 161 West 80th Street, 466

27, 29, 31, 33, 35 West 87th Street, 609

John C. Burne was established as a New York City architect by 1877 and
specialized in the design of houses and apartment buildings, often
constructed on speculation. After his early work in the neo-Grec style,
Burne favored the Romanesque and Renaisance Revival styles. BExamples of
his work can be found throughout the city and in the Upper East Side,
Mount Morris Park, Park Slope, and Hamilton Heights Historic Districts.
In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Burne designed
several rows of houses in the Renaissance Revival style.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.

Larkimarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981).
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WILLIAM F. BURROUGHS (dates undetermined)

53, 55 West 90th Street, 664
57, 59 West 90th Street, 665
61, 63 West 90th Street, 666

Little is known of architect William F. Burroughs. Established in New
York City by 1880, his practice consisted primarily of residential
designs. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Burrcughs designed three contiguous rows of Queen Anne style houses.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 19.

FREDERICK G. BUTCHER (dates undetermined)
173, 175, 177 West 88th Street, 643

Little is known of Frederick G. Butcher, an architect whose practice was
established in New York City by 1890. In the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District Butcher designed a single row of Romanesque/
Renaissance Revival style rowhouses.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 20.

BUTLER & STEIN

Charles Butler (18717-1953)
Clarence S. Stein (1883-1975)

168-170 West 76th Street, 417

Charles Butler was born in Scarsdale, New York, and studied at Columbia
arnd the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. He received honorary degrees from
Columbia and Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute. In 1899 he was established
as an architect in New York in the firm of Morris, Butler & Rodman with
Benjamin W. Morris and Cary Seldon Rodman. That partnership lasted until
1911, the year of Rodman’s death, and Butler subsequently joined the firm
entitled Robert D. Kohn, Charles Butler & Associates in 1917 (see Robert
D. Kohn). He remained there at least through 1952.

Clarence S. Stein was born in Rochester, New York and studied at Columbia
and the Fcole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. Throughout his career Stein was
interested in issues of urban crowding and regional planning, and formed
the Regional Planning Association of America to address these problems.
Their first projects were Sunnyside Gardens in Queens (1924) and Radburn,
New Jersey (1926). His ideas were published in a book entitled "Towards
New Towns for America™ in 1951.
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Butler collaborated with Clarence Stein and Robert Kohn on the design of
the Temple Emanuel in New York (1929). Indeperxiently Butler designed the
Children’s Hospital of Johns Hopkins Hospital in Baltimore (1909) and the
Departiment of the Interior Building in Washington (1915). In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Butler collaborated with
Clarence Stein on a neo-Federal style building originally known as the
Parkwest Hospital (1925-26) and now an apartment building.

"Charles Butler," Who’s Who in New York City and State, (New York, 1952),
163.

Charles Butler cbituary, Architectural Record 114 (July, 1953), 292.

Charles Butler cbituary, New York Tnnas, June 5, 1953, p.27:4.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 20, 56.

"Clarence S. Stein," Hacmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 122-23.

CADY, BERG & SEE

Josiah Cleveland Cady (1837-1919)
Iouis D. Berg (1856-1926)
Milton See (1854-1920)

175 Central Park West, 20
120, 122-138 West 76th Street, 413

Born in Providence, Rhode Islard, and a graduate of Trinity College in 1860
J.C. Cady was established as an architect in New York by 1864. Earlier he
worked as a draftsman with the firm of Town & Davis. Cady was a Fellow of
the American Institute of Architects and a member of the Architectural
ILeague of New York.

Louis De Coppett Berg was born in New York City and studied architecture in
Stuttgart. He also was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects
and a merber of the Architectural Ieague.

Milton See was born in Rochester, New York, and early in his career entered
the architectural office of Emlen T. Littell. His independent practice was
established in New York City by 1879. A Fellow of the American Institute o
Architects and a member of the Architectural Ieague, he was later associate
with his son Edmund T. See.

The partnership of See & Berg was formed in 1881. 1In the following year
Cady, Berg and See established the firm entitled J.C. Cady & Co., Berg and
See having been associated with Cady unofficially for several years prior t
the firm’s establishment. The name Cady, Berg & See began appearing in
1890, (ILater, Cady was associated with William S. Gregory, previously head
draftsman for Cady, Berg & See.)
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The firm of Cady, Berg & See was a leader in the use of the Ramanesgue
Revival style of architecture. This style is evident in the firm’s work in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, which includes St.
Andrew’s Methodist Episcopal Church (1889-90), now the West Side
Institutional Synagogue, and the impressive complex of buildings at the
American Museim of Natural History along West 77th Street. Other works by
the firm in New York City include the Metropolitan Opera House, the Gallati
Bank on Wall Street, additions to Presbyterian Hospital, and the New York
Skin and Cancer Hospital.

"J.C. Cady," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K. Placzek
(New York, 1982), vol. 1, 364-65.

J.C. Cady obituary, American Architect & Building News 115
(1919), 583.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 15,20,68.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 673.

Montgomery Schuyler, "The Works of Cady, Berg & See," Architectural
Record 6 (1897), 517-56.

Milton See obituary, New York Times, Oct. 29, 1920, p-15:5.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 104, 545.

FREDERTCK T. CEMP (1849-1905)

313-315 Columbus Averme, 81
421 Amsterdam Avenue, 139

423, 425 Amsterdam Averme, 140
171 West 80th Street, 468

Little is known of Frederick Theodore Camp. He was established as an
architect in New York by 1879, at which time he worked with Gilbert
Bostwick Croff. He designed two brownstone residences and a flats build-
ing in the Upper East Side Historic District, and Renaissance Revival
style rowhouses in the Riverside-West End Historic District. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Camp designed flats in the
neo-Grec, Romanesgue Revival, and Renaissance Revival styles.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 20.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ Riverside
- West End Historic District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New
York, 198%9): "Architects’ Appendix, " Upper East Side Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).
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ROSARTO CANDETA (1890-1953)

75 Central Park West, 7

360 Central Park West, 57
321-327 Amsterdam Avenne, 128
36-40 West 67th Street, 179

Born in Sicily, Rosario Candela came to the United States at the age of
nineteen and graduated from the Columbia School of Architecture in 1915.
Noted as the architect of many large lwxury apartment houses on the Upper
East Side, Candela was also responsible for the design of a variety of
buildings, he designed several public schoocls in Baltimore, Maryland.
Among his most interesting projects was the former United States Embassy

- Building in London (the lower stories were the work of the noted architect
John Russell Pope, while the upper residential stories were by Candela).
Also a cryptographer, Candela was the author of two books on the subject.

Candela designed six apartment buildings on Fifth Avenue in the Upper East
Side Historic District. These designs were inspired by the details and
compositional methods of the Italian Renaissance. In the Riverside-West
End Historic District, Candela designed two apar!:ment buildings in the
nec-Renaissance style, and an additional four also in that style are found
in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. The apartment
building (1928-29) at 360 Central Park West contains the Scotch '
Presbyterian Church.

Rosario Candela cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 7, 1953,

Larncdmarks Preservation Commission, “Architects’ Appendix," Riverside
— West End Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1626), (New
York, 1989); "Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper East Side Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

JOHN F. CAPEN (1865-19277)
140-144 West 81st Street, 492

John F. Capen was born in Breoklyn and apprenticed with the architect A.J.
Bloor. He had established an indeperdent architectural practice in
Newark, New Jersey, by the time he received the camission for the Church
of the Third Universalist Society (1892-93), now Mount Pleasant Baptist
Church, on West 8lst Street in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. This impressive Romanesque Revival structure is
dominated by an arcade above a double flight of steps, flanked by towers.
Later in his career he worked on a mumber of hospital buildings.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.
Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticnary of American
Architects (Deceased), (ILos Argeles, 1970), 107.




CARRERE & HASTTINGS

John Merven Carrere (1858-1911)
Thomas Hastings (1860-1929)

33 Central Park West, 2
46-50 West 95th Street, 706

John Merven Carrere, born in Rio de Janeiro of American parents of French
descent, was educated in Switzerland. In 1877 he entered the Eccle des
Beaux—Arts arnd worked in several prominent ateliers, including that of
IeonGmm, a proponent of the Neo-Grec style of architecture. Hastings,
born in New York, spent a short time at Columbia University before enter-
ing the Ecole des Beaux-Arts and serving an apprenticeship in the atelier
of Jules Andre. The futurepartnersmthar:Ls, both earned their
diplamas —— Carrere in 1882 and Hastings in 1884 ~— and entered the office
of McKim, Mead & White (see), where they became re-acquainted. In 1885,
the two established a partnership in New York City. Encouraged by Henry
Flagler, a partner in Standard 0il and a promoter interested in the
development of Florida railrvads and real estate, they designed and
supervised the construction of churches and hotels in Florida. The Ponce
de Ieon and Alcazar Hotels, the Flagler Memorial Presbyterian Church, amd
a house for Flagler soon resulted. These buildings reflected the Spanish
Renaissance style and were innovative in their use of concrete. Later
hotels include the Laurel in the Pines Hotel (1889-90) at Lakewood, New
Jersey and the Hotel Jefferson (1893-94) in Richmond, Virginia. Many of
the firm’s later buildings were designed in the French Renaissance style
and in accordance with the principles of Beaux-Arts design, as seen in the
winning design in the 1897 New York Public Library competition. The
library, constructed 1898-1911 (a designated New York City Landmark),
established Carrere & Hastings as one of the country’s leading architec—
tural firms and leading exponents of the Beaux-Arts methods of design and
plannhing.

In addition to mommental public buildings, Carrere & Hastings was very
active in residential design ard was also responsible for the design of
fourteen Carnegie~funded libraries in New York, awarded after the success
of the central library building. The approaches ard arch of the Manhattan
Bridge (1905, a designated New York City Iandmark) and the design of Grarxd
Army Plaza (1913, a designated New York City Scenic Iandmark) show the
firm’s interest in city planning. The First Church of Christ Scientist
(1899-1903, a designated New York City Landmark) at the northwest corner
of Central Park West and West 96th Street, Woolsey and Memorial Halls at
Yale University (1906), the New (Century) Theater (1906-10), the Varder-
bilt Estate, Iong Island, the Frick Mansion (1913-15), and Richmond
Borough Hall, Staten Island (1903-07) were also by the firm. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm of Carrere &
Hastings was responsible for the school of the New York Society for
Ethical Culture in association with Robert D. Kohn. Built in 1902-03 on
Central Park West, the building, designed in an abstracted neo-Renaissance
style, harmonizes with the Society’s meeting house in scale and detail.
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The neo-Georgian apartment building (1922-23) on West 95th Street is
characteristic of the firm’s large-scale residential work.

Carrere was a member of the Architectural Ieague, a Fellow of the American
Institute of Architects, a member of the Beaux-Arts Society of New York
ard was director of the American Academy at Rome. He was killed in 1911,
Hastings contimied to work under the firmm’s name. His later career in-
cluded the design of large office buildings including the Standard 0il
Building (1926), the MacMillan Building (1924), and the Cunard Building
(1919-21). Hastings was an early exponem: of the curtain wall system of
construction and experimented with it in the Blair Building (1902). He
was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects and a founder and
president of the Architectural Ieague of New York.

"John Merven Carrere," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967}, vol. 1,
197.

"Carrere arnd Hastings," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 1, 387-88.

John Merven Carrere obituary, New York Times, Mar. 2, 1911, p.9:3.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 20.

"Thomas Hastings," who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1, 533.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Henry T. Slcane Residence
Designation Report (IP-0937), (New York, 1977), 2:; "Architects’
Appendix," Upper EFast Side Historic District Desicmation Report
(LP~1051), (New York, 1981).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 109, 269.

"The Works of Messrs. Carrere & Hastings," Architectural Record 27
(Jan., 1910), 1-120.

CHAIN BUILDING CORP. (BUILDER)

4277 Amsterdam Averme, 141



TEWIN S. CHANIN (1892-1988)

25 Central Park West, 1
115 Central Park West, 12

Irwin Salmon Chanin was born in Bensonhurst, Brooklyn. While a young boy,
he lived with his family in its native Ukraine, but returned to Benson-
hurst in 1907. Chanin graduated from Cooper Union in 1915, with a degree
in erngineering and architecture. In 1981 Cooper Union’s architecture
school was renamed in his honor.

Early in his career, Chanin worked as an engineer on New York and
Philadelphia subways. His earliest building activity was the construction
of two houses in Bensonhurst in 1919. This led to other residential
construction in the area and the organization of the Chanin Construction
Company with his younger brother Henry I. Chanin (1893-1973). By 1924
Chanin’s work had expanded to Manhattan with the erection of the Fur
Center Building and the construction of the first of a series of theaters.

In 1927 chanin built the Lincoln Hotel (now the Milford Plaza) as part of
a larger complex which also included three theaters. This was the first
of Chanin’s works that exhibited the Art Deco style in which he became
interested after visiting the 1925 Paris Exposition Imternationale des
Arts Decoratifs et Industriels Modernes. In this building the Art Deco
motifs are restricted to the lobby and dining room. The next building,
the Chanin Building (1927-29, a designated New York City ILandmark), also
exhibited Art Deco motifs.

In 1930 Chanin became a registered architect and proceeded with plans for
two Central Park West apartment buildings —— the Century and Majestic ——
both in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District (both
designated New York City landmarks). These twin-towered apartment houses
clearly exhibit the Art Deco style and greatly contribute to the skyline
along Central Park West. For these buildings Chanin worked closely with
architect Jacques 1. Delamarre, Sr. (see), a staff member of the Chanin
Corporation.

Chanin was alse involved in suburban projects like Green Acres in Valley
Stream, Long Island. He built 2,000 prefabricated houses in Newport News,
Virginia and during World War II designed five hangars at National Airport
in Washington, D.C., the Naval Ordnance laboratory in White Oak, Maryland,
and five Navy powder magazine buildings in Indian Head, Maryland. The
firm also built the Coney Island Pumping Station for the City of New York.
By 1952 the Chanin organization was camposed of approximately 25 firms and
corperations engaged in architecture, engineering, construction, ard in
the ownership and cperation of real estate.

Paul Goldberger, "He Gave Elegance to Manhattan’s Skyline," New York
Times sec. 2 (Mar. 20, 1988), p.31:1.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Majestic Apartments Designation
Report (IP-1518), (New York, 1988).
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" YICTOR CHRIST JANER & ASSOCS.
Victor Christ-Janer (b. 1915)
26-32 West 84th Street, 557

Victor christ-Janer was born in Waterville, Minnesota and studied at Yale
University, graduating in 1947. Early in his career he worked as a
draftsman for the firm of Nemeny & Geller in New York. In 1955 he organ-
ized Victor Christ-Janer & Assocs., a New York City firm irnwolved in the
design of residential, commercial, industrial, religious, and educational
buildings, as well as in city planning, landscape and interior design, and
restoration work. The firm received an award of merit from the American
Institute of Architects in 1961 for its design for the Iake Erie College
Cammons Building. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District the firm designed the St. Matthew and St. Timothy Church Center,
a Brutalist poured-concrete structure designed in the manner of Le
Corbusier.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 117.

SEYMOUR CHURGIN (dates undetermined)
46-52 West 68th Street, 192

Little is known of architect Seymour Churgin. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District he designed an apartment building,
constructed in 1982.

Iandmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.

CIEVERDON & PUTZEL

Robert J. Cleverdon (dates undetermined)
Joseph Putzel (dates undetermined)

302 Colunbus Averme, 83

25 West 71st Street, 244

12, 14, 16 West 76th Street, 401

18, 20, 22, 24 West 76th Street, 401

The firm of Cleverdon & Putzel was established in New York by 1882 ard
remained active through 1901. The partners specialized in the design of
mercantile buildings. Their work was extensive in the city, with mmercus
apartment buildings, townhouses, and commercial structures built in the
Mount Morris Park, Carnegie Hill, Iadies Mile, and ScHo~Cast Iron Historic
Districts. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
they designed flats and rowhouses in the Beaux-Arts and Renaissance
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continuation of . . . . Cleverdon & Putzel
Revival styles in the late 1880s and ‘90s.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 22, 63.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1900), 21.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix,” ILadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989).

CLINTCN & RUSSETL

Charles William Clinton (1838-1910)
William Hamilton Russell (1856-1907)

135 Central Park West, 14

Ctharles William Clinton was born and raised in New York. His architec-
tural training was received in the office of Richard Upjohn. He left
Upjohn in 1858 to begin an independent practice. The following year, he
formed a partnership with Anthony B. McDonald, Jr., which lasted until
1862. later he was associated with Bdward T. Potter. For the next 32
years Clinton practiced alone. Most of Clinton’s important buildings
during this period were office buildings based on Italian Renaissance
prototypes. A strong design feature of all these works was a pronounced
layering of the facade into horizontal sections with monumental pilasters
or piers carrying cornice bands, a usual rendering of the tall building
during the 19th century. Clinton also designed the country estate
Glenview for James Bond Trevor in Yonkers in 1876-77 which exhibited
Victorian Gothic ornament. Wwhile in independent practice Clinton designed
a row of Renaissance Revival style houses in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District, of which one survives.

William Hamjlton Russell, also a native New Yorker, studied at the
Columbia School of Mines before joining the firm of his great-uncle, James
Rerwick, in 1878. Five years later, he became a partner in the firm and
remained there until 1894, during which time the firm became Aspinwall,
Rerwick & Russell.

In 1894, Clinton and Russell joined in partnership. The firm was respon-
sible for scores of buildings including early sKyscrapers, luxury apart-
ment houses, institutions, and fashionable hotels. An office building by
the firm is typically of brick and masonry, with a base of two horizontal

- sections, a shaft characterized by a monumental arcade ex- pressing the
verticality of the structure, arnd a prominent rcof entab- lature crowned
with additional stories. The firm’s apartment buildings include the
Graham Court Apartments (1901, West 116th St. and Seventh Ave.), the Astor
Apartments (1901-05, 2141 Broadway), and the Apthorp (1908, 2101-2119
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contimiation of . . . . Clinton & Russell

Broadway), all constructed for the Astors. The Iangham Apartments (1504-
07) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District is a
massive twelve-story Beaux-Arts apartment building with a modified U-
shaped plan around a series of light courts.

Clinton was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects and a member
of the Architectural Ieague. Russell was a member of the New York chapter
of the American Institute of Architects and of the Architectural leacue.
After Russell’s death, Clinton continued to practice under the name of
Clinton & Russell.

Larkimarks Preservation Camission, "Architects’ Appendix," ILadies

Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

CHARIFES W. CLINTON (1838-1%10)
38 West 70th Strest, 231

(See Clinton & Russell, above)

HENRY JVES COBB (1859-1931)
162 West 72nd Street, 313

Henry Ives Cobb was born in Brookline, Massachusetts, attended the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Harvard University, and traveled
in Furope in 1870. Early in his career, Cobb worked for the architectural
firm of Peabody & Stearns in Boston. While there he entered the competi~
tion for the new Union Club in Chicago. Upon winning the competition,
Cobb moved to chicago ard subsequently joined Charles S. Frost in part-
nership. Cobb & Frost designed the Chicago Athletic Club, the 0ld Post
Office (1888-1905), buildings for the University of Chicago, and
Horticulture Hall and the Fisheries Building at the World’s Columbian
Exposition.

From 1893 to 1903, Cobb was appointed architect for special goverrment
work, and moved to Washington in 1896. In 1902 he opened an office in New
York City where he designed mostly office and commercial buildings,
including the Harriman Bank Building, Liberty Tower (55 Liberty Street,
1910, a designated New York City Landmark), and in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District, a small five-story neo-
Renaissance style office building (1909-10).

Henry Ives Cobb, New York Times, Mar. 28, 1931, p.19:1.
"Henry Ives Cobb," Who Was Who in america, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1, 234.




continuation of . . . . Henry Ives Cobb

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticnary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 128-29.

SAMUEL, COHEN (dates undetermined)

125 West 72rd Street, 289
151 West 72nd Street, 297
134 West 72nd Street, 308

Little is known of Samuel Cohen, an architect who altered existing
buildings in the 1910s and ‘20s. His work can be found in the Upper East
Side Historic District, as well as in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District where he corverted rowhouses to small apartment and
office buildings.

Iandmarks Preservation Comission, "Architects’ Appendix,™
East Side Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York,
1981).

CQOLE & LIEBMAN

8 West 70th Street, 228

H.M. COLE (dates undetermined)

23 West 74th Street, 340

Little is known of architect H.M. Cole. He may be Herman M. Cole, a New
York City architect who joined the American Institute of Architects in
1958.- In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Cole
converted a rowhouse to a small apartment building in 1957.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 127.




JAMES W. COLE (dates undetermined)

118 West 83rd Street, 545
3 West 87th Street, 606

Little is known of architect James W. Cole. He was established as an
architect in New York by 1887 and designed many residential and commercial
buildings in the city, some of which are fourd in the Greerwich Village
Historic District. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed a Renaissance Revival style flats building (1890).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, -1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 22.
Iandmarks Preservation Camission, Research Files.

COLIERAN & BROTHFR & HUGHES

51, 53, 55 & 57, 59 West 74th Street, 345

FREDERICK R. COMSTOCK (1866-1942)
77 Central Park West, 8

Frederick Royal Comstock was born in lLansingburgh, New York and was educa-
ted at Union College, Schenectady, Columbia University, and the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology. Early in his career Comstock was a
partner in the firm of Comstock & Dresser in Gloversville, New York. There
he designed mainly schools and residernces. He then located in Hartford,
Connecticut, and came to Boston in the mid-1820s to serve as consulting
architect for the Christian Sciernce Mother Chmrch. He had joined the
Architectural Ieague in 1892, kut his indeperdent practice was not
established in New York City until 1893, at which time he undertook the
cammission for the Second Church of Christ, Scientist, in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District. Comstock’s design for a domed
church is in the Academic Classic mode based on Beaux-Arts principles.

"Frederick R. Comstock," American Art Annual, ed. F.N, Levy (New York,
1900), vol. 3, 103.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 22.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 133.




HENRY F. CQOOK

418-422 Columbus Avermue, 96

428, 430, 432-434 [a/k/a 200 West 8lst Street] Amsterdam Avenue, 143
25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 65th Street, 198

163, 165, 167, 169, 171 West 76th Street, 409

5, 7 &9 & 11 & 13 & 15 West 87th Street, 606

(See Charles Buek & Co., above)

MAURICE QOOUJRLIAND (1892-1957)
20-26 West 86th Street, 591

Maurice Courland, a native of Palestine, was educated at the Ecole des
Beaux-Arts in Paris ard City College. He practiced in Buenos Aires and
established a New York City architectural practice in 1919, In the late
1920s he was president of the Maurandor Realty Company. Courland was a
specialist in synagogue and school design, but in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District he designed a neoc-Renaissance style
apartment building, a project for which the Maurarndor Realty Coanpany acted
as developer. The senior partner of the firm, Maurice Courland & Son,
Courland was a member of the American Institute of Architects and the New
York Society of Architects.

Maurice Courland cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 18, 1957, p.31:2.

C. HOWARD CRANE & ASSQCS.
C. Howard Crane (1885-1952)
115-123 West 70th Street, 236

C. Howard Crane was born in Hartford, Connecticut and began his
architectural career in that city in 1904. He moved to Detroit one year
later and fourd enmployment with Albert Kahn and Smith, Hinchman & Grylls.
In 1909 Crane began an independent practice in which he specialized in
theaters, designing over 200 in his lifetime. The Guild and Music Box
Theaters in New York City were constructed according to his design. In
1934 Crane continued his career in England. There he designed Earl’s
Court, an arena seating an audience of 30,000 viewers. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District he designed the Stratford Arms
{1928), a neo-Renaissarxe style hotel with Gothic elements.

"C. Howard Crane," Architectural Record 112 (Oct., 1952), 392.
"C. Howard Crane," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 3, 192,
C. Howard Crane cbituary, New York Times, Aug. 17, 1952, p.76:7.




GEORGE W. DACUNHA (d. 1917)

59, 61, 63 West 83rd Street, 533
32, 34 & 36, 38, 40, 42 & 44 West 83rd Street, 539

George W. DaCunha was established as an architect in New York City by
1879, He designed husiness and residential structures, examples of which
can be found in the SciHo—Cast Iron Historic District. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District he designed two rows of Queen
Armne style houses which were constructed in 1884 to 1886. Iater in life
DaCunha moved to Montclair, NeMJexsey His son of the same name was also
an architect,

George W. DaCunha cbituary, New York Times, May 11, 1917, p.1ll1:1l.
Dermnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 24.

DAUB & DAUB

Gerald M. Daub (b. 1925)
Sidney Daub (b. 1894)

32 West 72nd Street, 281
44-46 West 72nd Street, 283

Sidney Daub, father of Gerald, was educated at Cooper Union, graduating
in 1915. He worked with Goldner & Goldbery while a student from 1911 to
1915, and later for Peter J. McKean, from 1915 to 1920. He was a member
of the New York Society of Architects and the American Institute of
Architects.

Gerald M. Daub was educated at Pratt Institute, graduating with honors in
1949, the year in which he received the New York Scciety of Architects
medal for Excellence in Construction. The younger Daub, also an ATA mem-
ber, worked successively as draftsman, chief draftsman, and junior archi-
tect for his father for twelve years.

The firm of Daub & Daub was formed by 1960 and designed residential, comr
mercial, religiocus, and educational buildings. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District, the firm converted rowhouses to small
apartment buildings.

American Architects Directory (1962), 152.

American Architects Directory (1966), 295.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

"Two Indicted Here in Zoning Case," New York Times, Sept. 23, 1966, p.76.




HENRY DAVIDSON (dates undetermined)
17 & 19, 21, 23 West 88th Street, 632

Henry Davidson was established as an architect in New York by 1876.

The designer of an apartment building (1894-95) now in the Greerwich
Village Historic District, he designed a picturesque row of Romanesque
Revival style houses (1888-92) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District, only one of which survives largely intact.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 24.

JOHN A. DAVIDSON

132 West 8l1st Street, 491

RICHARD R. DAVIS (dates undetermined)
309 & 311 Columbus Averme, 80

Richard R. Davis was established as an architect in New York City by 1887.
He specialized in apartment house design, and though concentrated in
Harlem, examples of his work can be found throughout the city. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Davis designed a row
of flats in the Romanesque Revival style. He was also responsible for the
northern section of the Metropolitan Baptist Church (1889-90, a designated
New York City Iandmark).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 25.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Metropolitan Baptist Church
Designation Report (LP-1134), (New York, 1981).

WILLTAM HORATTO DAY (dates undetermined)
122-128 West 69th Street, 219

Little is known of architect William Horatio Day. His work in the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District, seems to have occurred
early in his career. This was the initial Gothic Revival design for the
Chapel of the Transfiguration (1879), predecessor to the present day
Christ and st. Stephen’s Church. Day continmued to practice at least
through 1899.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 25,




EUGENE DE ROSA

130 West 72nd Street, 307

JOHN DEHART (1863-1927)
10-12 West 93rd Street,, 684

John DeHart was established as an architect in New York City by 1892,
typically designing flats, apartments, and office buildings. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District DeHart designed a Renaissance
Revival style flat in 1899, the year in which Paul C. Hunter (see) was
employed as head draftsman in his office.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 25.

RICHARD DEEVES (BUILDER) (18367-1919)
55, 57, 59, 61 West 82nd Street, 503

A native of Ireland, Richard Deeves came to the United States as a boy and
soon embarked on a career in the huilding industry. He was first listed
in New York City directories as a mason in 1870, in 1875 as a mason-
builder, ard in 1880 as a builder. In 1899 he established the firm of
Richard Deeves & Son at 309 Brocadway. By 1902 Deeves was listed as a
contractor. Deeves’ New York Times chbituary stated that he constructed
scme of the "landmarks of the city," including the Casino Theater, the
Navare Apartments, and the New York Athletic Club.

In 1916, Deeves retired and his son, Richard Anderson Deeves, took charge
of the firm, then known as John H. Deeves & Brother, Inc., until 1942.

In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Deeves de-
signed and constructed a row of Renaissance Revival style rowhouses in
1885,

Richard Deeves obituary, New York Times, Oct. 19, 1919, p.22:3.
Richard A. Deeves cbituary, New York Times, 2Aug. 16, 1948, p.19:3.
Trow’s New York City Directory.




JAOQUES L. DEIAMARRE, SR. (1906-1986)
25 Central Park West, 1

Jacques L. Delamarre, Sr. was born in Mt. Vernon, New York, arnd graduated
from Cooper Union. For most of his career Delamarre was associated with
Irwin S. Chanin (see) ard the Chanin Organization, a developer responsible
for reshaping midtown Manhattan’s skyline in the 1920s and ’30s. Art Deco
apartment buildings like the Majestic at 115 Central Park West and the
Century at 22-30 Central Park West (both designated New York City Iand-
marks), are structures planmned and constructed by the firm. For the
Century Apartments, Delamarre is listed as the architect of record. The
collaboration also produced such structures as the Roxy movie theater,

the Hotel Lincoln, and the Majestic, Royale, and Golden Theaters.
Delamarre also designed a large residential development in Iong Island.

Jacques L. Delamarre cbituary, New York Times, Mar. 8, 1986, p.7.

DEMEURCN & SMITH

Francis A. Demeuron (dates undetermined)
Justus J. Smith (dates undetermined)

152, 154, 156, 158, 160 West 76th Street, 415

The architectural firm of Demeurcn & Smith was formed in New York City by
1886. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm
was responsible for the design of a row of Romanesque Revival style houses,
one distinguished by a blind horse-shoe arch, which were completed in 1889.
The firm dissolved at about this time or earlier and the partners began

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 26.

DENNISON, HIRONS & DARBYSHIRE

Ethan Allen Dennison (1881-7)
Frederic Charles Hirons (1882-1942)
Darbyshire (dates undetermined)

18-20 West 89th Street, 655

Frederic Charles Hirons was born in Birmingham, England and in 1892 moved
to the United States, where his family settled in Boston, Mass. As a
teenager interested in drawing, he was introduced to David I. Gregg — a
well-known pen—-and-ink architectural renderer of the 1890s — with whom he
discussed his work. Through Gregg’s influence, Hirons entered the office
of the Boston architect Herbert C. Hale in 1898. In 1201, Hirons entered
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contimuation of . . . . Demmison, Hirons & Darbyshire

the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, where he studied for two years
under Professor Despradelle. In 1904 he won the Rotch Traveling
Scholarship, enabling him to go to Paris ard study at the Ecole des Beaux-
Arts in Paris. While visiting New York in 1206, he won the Institute’s
Paris Prize, which allowed him to comtinue his studies abroad, where he
spent a total of five years. Hirons later spent three years as an in-
structor at Columbia and served as president of the Society of Beaux-Arts
Architects from 1937 to 1939.

Ethan Allen Dennison was born in Summit, New Jersey. After studying at
Erasmus Hall and Pratt Institute, he worked briefly in New York before
spending five years in Europe. He attended the Ecole des Beaux-Arts for
three and a half years, and returning to New York in 1907, opened an
architectural office.

Upon Hirons’ return to New York in 1909, the firm of Demnison & Hirons was
formed. (At this time, Hirons also formed his own atelier.) The firm was
best known for the design of banking institutions which often emplovyed
bold, rectilinear compositions that incorporated beautifully executed or-
namental details and reflected the current of modernized classicism
associated with Art Deco design. In several works, including the Beaux-
Arts Institute of Design (a designated New York City Landmark), the firm
collaborated with the architectural sculptor Rene Chambellan, who executed
the characteristic ornament, often a modern stylization of Greek or Near
Eastern motifs. The State Bank and Trust Campany of New York (now
Manufacturers Hanover) at Eighth Avenue and 43rd Street in Jamaica, Queens
(1929), the City National Bank and Trust Company Building in Bridgeport,
Comnecticut (1929); and the Home Saving Bank in Albany, New York (1929)
were also the products of this fruitful collaboration. In New York, the
firm designed the whimsical Childs Restaurant in Coney Island. Hirons is
also associated with the designs of several courthouses and war memorials.

Darbyshire joined the firm scme time after Dennison and Hirons had formed
their partnership. The three-man team designed the Franklin School in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

WFrederic Charles Hirons," Wwho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967),
vol. 1, 569.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Beaux-Arts Institute of Design
Designation Report (LP-1667), (New York, 1988), 4-5.

Nerval White and Elliot Willensky, ATA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 159.




DEUTSCH & POLIS

160 West 72nd Street, 3)2

ERHARD DIORJP

213 West 79th Street, 456

QUARING DORTAN (b. 1922)
27-29 West 71st Street, 245

Quaring Dorian was bom in Schwarmstadt, Germany and was educated at the
American University in Beirut, Iebanon (1939%-41) and at Columbia Univer-
sity (1946-48). Dorian worked independently for a time and in 1961 formed
the firm of Baryla & Dorian. He designed residential, commercial, and
religious buildings and undertook interior design projects as well.
Joining the American Institute of Architects in 1957, Dorian was a lec—
turer on Near and Middle Eastern architecture. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District Dorian converted two rowhouses into

a small apartment building in 1963.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 175.

JOHN H. DUNCAN (1855-1929)

32, 34, 36, 38, 40 West 71st Street, 255
167 West 71st Street, 266

27, 29 West 74th Street, 342

16 West 74th Street, 348

15, 17, 19 West 76th Street, 394

21, 23, 25 West 76th Street, 395

8, 10 West 76th Street, 400

43, 45, 47 West 86th Street, 586

John Hemenway Duncan spent his boyhood in Binghampton, New York, and
established a New York architectural career in 1886. He was active as the
architect of many residential and commercial structures throughout
Manhattan, but his reputation was largely the result of his designs for
two important moruments: the Scldiers’ and Sailors’ Arch on Grand Army
Plaza in Brooklyn (1889-92), and the imposing neo—Classical Grant’s Tonb
in Manhattan (1891-97). These monuments, both designated New York City
Landmarks, were prestigous commissions for Duncan and attested to his
commitment to neo—Classical design. Following these projects, a clientele
of affluent New Yorkers began to commission Duncan to design residences on
the Upper East Side, in Midtown Manhattan, and on West 76th Street. For
these designs Duncan preferred the French sources promilgated by the Ecole
des Beaux-Arts in Paris; rusticated facades, large scale ornamental

A39



contimuation of . . . . John H. Duncan

details, and imposing mansard roofs were his favorite motifs. His work in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District is represented by
several rows of houses designed in the Renaissance Revival and Beaux-Arts
styles. Duncan alsoc designed the Trenton Battle Monument in Trenton, N.J.
ard civic buildings in Havana, Cuba. He was a member of the New York
Chapter and a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects, a member of
the U.S. Public Architectural Ieague, and a founding member of the
Architectural Ieague of New York in 1881.

"John H. Duncan," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 106.

"John H. Duncan cbhituary," American Art Armual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1930) s VO1l. 27, 409.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Ardutects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 28.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 677-79.

Rey to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 19200), 29.

Key to the Mrchitects of Greater New York (New York, 1901), 31.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Desmnatlm Report (LP-1609), (New ' York,
1989) ; Metropolitan Museum Historic District Designation Report
(LP-0955), (New York, 1977).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Ios Angeles, 1970), 183.

JOSEFH M. DUNN (dates undetermined)

103, 105, 107, 109, 111, 113, 115, 117 & 119 and 129 & 131 West 74th
Street, 350

Joseph M. Dunn was established as an architect in New York by 1873 with an
office at 318 Broadway. He designed three store buildings in what is now’
the ScHo—~Cast Iron Historic District in the 1870s and ’80s and apartment
buildings on the Upper West Side in the late 1880s. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District he designed a row of Renaissance
Revival style houses. An example of his commercial work, noted for its
neo~Grec cast—iron facade, can be found at 857 Broadway in the ILadies Mile
Historic District. Dumn remained in practice at least through 1894.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 28.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ ladies
Mile Historic District Desicnation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .
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JUDITH EDETMAN (b. 1923)
560-568 Columbus Averue, 122

Judith H. Edelman was born in Brooklyn ard studied at Commecticut College,
New York University, and Columbia University, graduating in 1946. She was
registered as an architect in New York in 1964 and joined the New York
firm of Hudson Jackson as a designer and draftsperson. She entered
private practice in 1958 and in 1960 formed the firm of Edelman & Salzman,
Architects. Currently a partner in the Edelman Partnership, the successor
firm to Edelman & Salzman, Judith Edelman served as partner in charge for
the 1982 apartment building designed by the firm in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District. Other partners of the firm
include Harold Edelman and Gerald Buck. In addition to architectural
design, the firm provides services in interior and landscape design, site
planning, rehabilitation, adaptive re-use, and historic preservation.

The firm has won mumerous awards for its work, including first prize in
the Queens Chamber of Commerce Building Awards in 1989, the Concrete
Industry Board Award of Merit in 1986, the Settlement Housing Fund Public
Service Award in 1983, awards from the National Trust for Historic
Preservation in 1983 and 1975, and awards from the American Institute of
Architects in 1975, 1969, and 1961. Edelman has served on several
committees of the New York Chapter of the American Institute of
Architects. A Fellow of the AIA, she served as chairwoman for that
organization’s Task Force on Women in Architecture and was a founding
menmber of the Alliance of Women in Architecture. From 1972 to 1976 she
was a professor of Architecture at City College and lectured on
architectural topics at other American universities, as well as in China.

"Judith Edelman," Who'’s Who in America, ed. John W. ILeonard (Chicago,
1982), 919.

Firm description and partners’ biographies, Provided by the Edelman
Partnership, 1990.

EISENDRATH & HOROWITZ

Simeon B. Eisendrath (1867-1935)
B. Horowitz (dates undetermined)

28-36 West 68th Street, 190

Simeon B. Eiserdrath was first established as an architect in Chicago,
where the Plymouth Building is the best known example of his work.
Eisendrath was appointed Comissioner of Buildings in Chicago in 1894,
then worked briefly in Pittsburgh prior to relocating to New York in 1903.
In New York he later developed a reputation as a designer of synagogues.
among his earliest New York commissions were the Knickerbocker Jewelry Co.
store building at 574 Siwxth Avenue (1903-04) and the loft building (1906)
at 55 West 1l6th Street. Eisendrath worked with the New York architect amd
engineer Oscar Lowinson (1868~1946) on the design of the Criterion Club
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contimiation of . . . . Eisendrath & Horowitz

building at 683 Fifth Averme in 1903 (demolished) arnd several
alterations projects. In addition to other commercial buildings in
Manhattan, Eisendrath’s known work includes a townhouse at 526 Eighth
Street, Brooklyn (1904-05, within the Park Slope Historic District).

Eisendrath later worked in partnership with Bernard Horowitz, of whem
little is known. Their firm was active in New York architecture in the
1910s and ‘20s. Synagogues constructed according to their designs include
the Temple Beth Elchim (1910, 277 Garfield Place, within the Park Slope
Historic District), Temple Beth Emeth (1913, 83 Marlboro Road, within the
Prospect Park South Historic District), and Temple B/nai Israel (1917,
Fourth Averue and 54th Street, Sunset Park). The firm also designed
several motion picture theaters in Manhattan, including the Ideal Theatre
(now the Cameo Theater, 1915, 693 Eighth Avenue), ard the Tivoli Theatre
{(now the Adonis Theater, 1920-21, 839 Eighth Avernue). The Home for the
Aged, ard Temple Shaari Zidek in Brooklyn are other projects of the firmm.
In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, Eisendrath &
Horowitz designed the Free Synagogue School (1922), the first home of the
Jewish Institute of Religion, in association with Block & Hesse (see).
This was later rencvated and converted for the Stephen Wise Free
Synagogue.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

ILandmarks Preservation Cammission, “Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 195.

YESHAYAHU ESHKAR

322-326 Columbus Avenue, 87
25 West 74th Street, 341

6 West 75th Street, 371

53 West 76th Street, 398
55-57 West 83rd Street, 532
23-25 West 84th Street, 551
49-51 West 85th Street, 563
69-71 West 85th Street, 565



JOSEFH FEINGOLD (b. 1923)

120-122 West 78th Street, 439
203-209 West 79th Street, 454

Joseph Feingold was born in Kiev, Russia anxd was educated at Cooper Union
and Colurbia University, graduating in 1958. Early in his career he served
as draftsman for Charles M. Spindler and later worked as job captain for
the firm of Henry George Greene. In 1959 he established an i

practice. His works include the Garden Apartments in Spring Valley, New
York of 1962. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Feingold combined rowhouses to form two small apartment buildings.

Armerican Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 1920.

IRVING FEIRTAG

1le West 85th Street, 567

H.I. FEIIMAN (1896-1981)

34-40 West 72nd Street, 282
121 West 72nd Street, 288
147-161 West 81st Street, 486

Hyman Isaac Feldman, born in Iemberg (now Lwow, U.S.S.R.), was brought to
New York in 1900. He studied at Cornell, Yale, and Columbia, and began an
architectural practice in New York in 1921. Over the course of a long
career he designed well over 4000 residential and commercial buildings,
including many hotels and apartment houses; he also wrote articles on
economics, real estate, and architecture. In 1932, the Brooklyn Chamber
of Commerce presented him with its first award for best apartment house
design (for the Granlyn Apartments).

Many of Feldman’s most interesting designs were Art Deco style apartment
buildings, examples of which can be found in the Bronx and in the River-
Side-West End Historic District. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District he designed the Raliegh and the Bancroft apartment
buildings, and collaborated with H. Herbert Lilien (see) on a thind
design. His work dating from after World War IT is represented in the
Upper East Side Historic District.

Hyman Isaac Feldman obituary, New York Times sec. B (Jan. 27, 1981), p.19.
"Hyman Isaac Feldman," Who’s Who in American Jewry — 1938-39.
Lardmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside

- West End Historic District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New

York, 1989); "Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper East Side Historic

District Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York, 1981).
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FELIHEIMER & WAGNER

Alfred Fellheimer (b. 1895)
Steward Wagner (1886-1958)

103 West 72nd Street, 285
57-59 West 86th Street, 588

Alfred Fellheimer was born in Chicago and studied at the University of
Illinois. He was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects ard a
member of the Society of Civil Engineers. He wrote a book entitled "Forms
ard Functions of Twentieth Century Architecture™ in 1952.

Steward Wagner was born in Marlin, Texas and received his architectural
education through private instruction, through the Intermational
Correspondence Schools, and at Columbia University and the Beawxt-Arts
Institute of Design. He worked as a draftsman in various architectural
firms in Texas and New York, and in 1914 established an independent prac-—
tice in New York City which lasted until 1921. Wagner was a Fellow of the
American Institute of Architects and a member of the Society of Beaux-Arts
Architects and the Architectural League of New York.

In 1921 Fellheimer and Wagner joined in partnership. Their firm special-
ized in the design of banks, office buildings, hospitals, schools, amd
large housing projects. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Fellheimer & Wagner conwverted rowhouses to two small apartment
buildings.

"Alfred Fellheimer," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 3,
275.

'Steward Wagner," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 3, 882.

Steward Wagner cbituary, New York Times, June 28, 1958, p.l7:6.

J.M. FEISON (1886-1962)

350 Central Park West, 55
149-157 West 71st Street, 264
41-47 West 72nd Street, 278
32-42 West 77th Street, 421
147-153 West 79th Street, 445
146 Wesst 79th Street, 451
40-44 West 86th Street, 594
105-113 West 86th Street, 597
115-121 West 86th Street, 598
114-116 West 86th Street, 604

Jaccb M. Felson left Russia for the United States in 1888. He studied at
Cooper Union and began to practice architecture in 1910. Felson designed
many movie theaters and apartment buildings in New York, including several
fine Art Deco style buildings on the Grand Concourse in the Bronx. In
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contimiation of . . . . J.M. Felson

1938, he became president of Fleetwood Enterprises, Inc., of Bromxville,
New York, which specialized in the erection of apartment buildings. He
also designed private homes in Westchester County and in New Jersey. In
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Felson was active
in the design of apartment buildings in the 1920s. These designs exhibit
the popular styles of the pericd including neo-Renaissance, neo—Gothic,
and Art Deco. Another example of his apartment building design can be
found in the Riverside-West End Historic District.

Jacocb M. Felson cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 19, 1962.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, “Architects’ Appendix," Riverside
- West End Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1626), {New
York, 1989); "Architects’ Apperdix," Upper East Side Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

MARTIN V.B. FERDON (dates undetermined)

481 [a/k/a 175-177 West 83rd Street], 483, 485 Amsterdam Avenue, 154
33, 35, 37, 39 West 71st Street, 247

146, 148, 150, 152, 154 West 73rd Street, 335

38, 40, 42 West 85th Street, 568

46 West 94th Street, 694

43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 95th Street, 700

18, 20, 22, 24 West 95th Street, 702

Martin V.B. Ferdon was established as an architect in New York by 1885.
Ferdon designed a mumber of buildings in Manhattan in the late nineteenth
and early twentieth centuries, several of which can be found in the
Greerwich Village Historic District. These include a Romanesque Revival
style warehouse and five five-story apartment buildings. Other residen-
tial work can be found on Manhattan’s Upper West Side, including rows of
houses and tenements in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District constructed from the late-1880s to the mid-1890s arxd others in
the Riverside-West End Historic District, most in the Renaissance Revival
style.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 30.

Iandmarks Preservation Caomission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Greermwich Village Historic
District Designation Report (LP-0489), (New York, 1969), 234 +;
"Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989).
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HENRY EIMWARDS FICKEN (d. 1929)
135 West 81st Street, 484

Henry Fdwards Ficken, born in ILondon, was educated at the Greenock Academy
in Scotland and studied art in Eurcpe. He moved to Awerica in 1869 and
began a New York architectural practice in 1878. Early in his career,
Ficken worked with the firms of Rerwick & Sands, Potter & Robertson, and
McKim, Mead & Bigelow. He was also associated with Charles H. Smith in
1878, and Charles D. Gambrill in 1880. In 1913 Ficken was appointed
supervising architect and engineer of Woodlawn Cemetary. He was noted for
civic and damestic work throughout the country and was a Fellow of the
American Institute of Architects and a member of its New York Chapter.
Ficken designed a Beaux-Arts style store and loft building in the ILadies

- Mile Historic District and a Queen Anne style rowhouse in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District.

"Henry Edwards Ficken," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.
1, 394.

"Henry Edwards Ficken," who’s Who in New York City and State, (New York,
1914), 245.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 30.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1501), 32.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Desigmation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989).

"Who’s Who in Architecture," American Art Anmual, (Washington, D.C.,
1924-25), vol. 21, 397.

ALEXANDER I. FINKIE (dates undetermined)
136 West 78th Street, 440

Alexander I. Finkle was established as an architect in New York City by
1886. At the turn of the century his representative work was listed as a
synagogque at Iexington Avenue and 72nd Street, but much of his work was
residential in nature. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Finkle designed one row of Queen Anne style houses, only one of
which survives.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 30.
landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.




BUTLFR & OLIVER FORD

111 West 72nd Street, 287

HENRI FOUCHAUX (1856—1910)
46, 48 West 86th Street, 595

Henri Fouchaux was born to French parents in Coytesville, New York. He

his architectural career in New York City as superinterdent of the
firm of Schickel & Ditmars (see). There he participated in the work on
St. Joseph’s Hospital. Fouchaux was extremely successful in his own -
architectural practice, which was under way in 1886. He designed munercus
houses and large apartment buildings in a variety of styles in what are
now the Hamilton Heights and Jumel Terrace Historic Districts. He also
designed the Institution for the Instruction of the Deaf and Dumb at 163rd
Street and Riverside Drive. His work in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District is represented by a pair of rowhouses (1910-11) of
neo~Renaissance design with Beawx-Arts elements. Fouchaux remained in
practice until his death.

"Henri Fouchaux," American Art Annmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1903),
vol. 4, 109.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 31.

landmarks Preservation Coammission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 216.

JOHN FOUGUET

122-128 West 69th Street, 219
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DONAID E. FREED

466-470 Colunbus Averme, 107

WILLIAM J. FREED

466-~470 Columbus Averme, 107

C. ABBOTT FRENCH & OO,
C. Abbott French (dates undetermined)

328-338 Colunbus Averme, 88
102, 104, 106 West 76th Street, 410

Charles Abbott French’s architectural career began in New York in 1887
under the firm name of C. Abbott French & Co. The firm designed many
houses and apartment buildings in the city. A flats building and three
adjacent rowhouses were constructed in 1888-89 in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District. 1In 1890 the firm became French,
Dixon & DeSaldern as the firm of Robert C. Dixon, Jr. and Arthur
DeSaldern, which had been active since 1899, merged with French’s
business. In 1894 DeSaldern entered private practice and Dixon followed
in 1896. French contimied practicing alone until at least 1907.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840~1900
(New York, 1979), 32.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989).

FRED F. FRENCH (0.

Fred F. French  (1883-1936)
H. Douglas Ives (1888-1945)

22-24 West 77th Street, 420

Fred F. French was born in New York City and first became interested in
building in 1905 when he enrolled in an engineering course at Columbia
University. French held variocus building-related jobs and in 1910 formed
his namesake comparny. From hunble beginnings, his company grew to be one
of the largest real estate concerns of the inter-war years.

French is best known for the development of Tudor City (1925-27), at the
time of its construction one of the largest housing proijects ever urder-
taken in Maphattan ard still one of the most successful. French also

developed the Knickerbocker Village houses on the Lower East Side (1932).
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contimuation of . . . . Fred F. French Co.

The extent of French’s personal involvement with architectural design in
his organization has not yet been determined. He was primarily a devel-
oper and builder, and therefore relied mainly on his chief architect, H.
Douglas Ives for his designs. One of the most notable designs of this
collaboration was the headquarters of the firm —— the Fred F. French
Building at 551 Fifth Averme (1927, a designated New York City Landmark).
In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the Fred F.
Frerxh Co. was responsible for a six-story neo-Tudor style apartment
building (1921).

H. Douglas Ives was born in Canada, where he received his architectural
education and practiced until 1914. After World War I Ives relocated to
New York where he was employed for a time by Cass Gilbert. Ives sub-
sequently established an independent practice, then was employed by French
for ten years. Ives also worked for French’s concerns in London. A
member of the Architectural Ieague of New York, Ives was associated in
1944 with T.E. Rhoades, a local buildirng contractor and engineer. Their
brief collaboration terminated with Ives’ death.

Fred F. French obituary, New York Times, Aug. 31, 1936.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Fred F. French Building
Designation Report (IP-1416), (New York, 1986); “Architects’
Apperdix," Upper East Side Historic District Desicnation Report
(IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

JOHN H. FRIEND (dates undetermined)
10, 12, 14, 16, 18 West 87th Street, 614

John H. Friend was established as an architect in New York as early as
1875, the year in which he joined the American Institute of Architects,
and practiced at least through the turn of the century. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Friend designed a row of
Renaissance Revival style houses (1892).

Denmnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 32.
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FURMAN & SEGATL

Joseph J. Furman (dates undetermined)
Ralph Segal (dates undetermined)

329-335 Amsterdam Averme, 128

(See Joseph J. Furman, below)

JOSEFH J. FURMAN (dates undetermined)
3-5 West 83rd Street, 528

Little is known about architect Joseph J. Furman. He was active from the
" 1920s through the 1940s ard designed a one-story garage in ScdHo—Cast Iron
Historic District, altered a building in the Upper East Side Historic
District, and designed the neo-French Renaissance style Riverside Memorial
Chapel (1925-26) with Ralph Segal, of whom little is known, in the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District. Also in the district
Furman combined two rowhouses into a small apartment building in 1929.
ILandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™

Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

EMANUEL GANDOLFO (dates undetermined)
126, 128 West 82nd Street, 519

Little is known of architect Emanuel Gandolfo. His practice was estab—
lished in New York City by 1882 and in 1885 he designed a row of Jaccbean
Revival style rowhouses (1885-86) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District.

Dermmis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 33.
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GEHRON & SELTZER

William Gehron (1887-~1958)
Gilbkert L. Seltzer (b. 1914)

131-149 West 76th Street, 407

William Gehron was born in Williamsport, Pemnsylvania and attended the
Carnegie Institute of Technology, graduating in 1912, He also received an
honorary degree from Denison University in Granville, Chio. Early in his
career Gehron was associated with Arnold W. Brumner (see Brurmer & Tryon}
ard later formed the firm of Gehron & Ross (1925-32). He then practiced
indeperdently in New York and Williamsport until 1953. ;

Gilbert Ieslie Seltzer was born in Toronto, Canada and graduated from the
University of Toronto in 1937 with a degree in architecture. From 1937 to
1951 he served as draftsman, job captain, and office manager for William
Gehron.

The firm of Gehron & Seltzer was formed in 1952. The firm designed
camercial, educational, public and transportation buildings. Among their
projects are: Thayer Hall, West Point (1958), Buildings at Denison
University, in Gramwville, ohio (1960), ard the East Coast Memorial, in
Battery Park (1961). In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, Gehron & Seltzer designed Junior High School No. 44 in 1955.
(See institutional essay for further information).

Armerican Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 242, 631.
"William Gehron," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 3, 318.
William Gehron obituary, New York Times, Nov. 18, 19858, p.37:1.
Norval White and Elliot Willensky, AIA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 7.

ARTHUR GENSIFR

211-213 Columbus Averme, 62
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EDWIN C. GEORGI (dates undetermined)
12-14 West 68th Street, 189

Little is known of architect Edwin C. Georgi, whose practice was estab-
lished in New York at the turn of the centwry. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District Georgi designed an addition to a
rawhouse when it was converted into a studio building in 1925.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 33.

JOHN GILLIS

28 & 30 West 86th Street, 592
28-30 West 86th Street, 592

HORACE GINSBERN & ASSCCS.

Herace Ginsbern (1900-1969)
Marvin Fine (1904-1981)
Frederick M. Ginsbern (b. 1919)
Jules Kabat (b. 1913)

13-25 West 72nd Street, 276
15-21 West 84th Street, 550

Horace Ginsbern was born in New York City amd graduated from Columbia
University in 1919. By 1921 he established his own architectural firm in
the city. His expertise was in the design and layout of apartment
buildings. Ginsbern joined the American Institute of Architects in 1942
and organized the firm of Horace Ginsbern & Associates in 1944. The firm
designed residential, commercial, religious, and educational buildings.
Among its principal works are the Harlem River Houses, the first federally
funded, federally built and federally owned housing project in New York
City (1936-37, a designated New York City Landmark, in association with
other architects), the Garvin Printing Plant and the Neptune Storage Plant
in New Rochelle (1951, 1954), arxd buildings for the Chock Full of Nuts
Chain (1930-60).

Marvin Fine was born in New York and educated at the University of
Pemnsylvania, where he was influenced by the work of Paul Cret, a nation—
ally prominent Beawx=-Arts architect. Early in his career he worked as
draftsman for Cass Gilbert and later George & Edward Blum (see). He first
worked with Ginsbern in 1928 and became a partner in the firm in 1944.

The designs of elevations of the firm’s buildings were typically his re-
sponsibility. Ginsbern and Fine designed the Park Plaza Apartments (1929-
31, a designated New York City Landmark), one of the first Art Deco
apartment houses in the Bronx. Frederick M. Ginsbern was born in New York
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continuation of . . . . Horace Ginsbern & Assocs.

City and studied at New York University, graduating in 1942. He also
joined the firm in 1944.

Jules Kabat was born in Brooklyn, New York, and educated at New York
University, graduating in 1934. He worked as a draftsman and designer for
Horace Ginsbern from 1934 to 1941, draftsman for Kindland & Drake from
1942 to 1945, and practiced independently in 1941-42 and 1945-46. He
joined Horace Ginsbern & Associates in 1946,

In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Horace Ginsbern
designed one apartment building irdependently (built in 1941), prior to
the establishment of Horace Ginsbern & Assocs. The successor firm was
responsible for two additional buildings. 'The 1961 building on West 72nd
Street was built on the site of the gardens and tennis courts of the
Dakota.

Mmerican Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 212, 249+.

Horace Ginsbern cbituary, New York Times, Sep. 22, 1969, p.33:6.

Landmarks Preservation Coammission, Research Files.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Park Plaza Apartments Designation
Report (ILP-1077), (New York, 1981), 4-6.

HORACE GINSBERN (1900-1969)
66 West 88th Street, 638

(See Horace Ginsbern & Assocs., above)

ATBFRT GOIDHAMMER

13-15 West 86th Street, 583

OSCAR GOLDSCHIAG (1884-1948)
163 West 72nd Street, 301

Little is known of architect Oscar Goldschlag. His "New York Times"
cbitvary indicated that he worked as an engineer on the 1939 New York
World’s Fair and had been registered as an architect for 19 years. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Goldschlag designed an
Art Deco style commercial building.

Oscar Goldschlag cbituary, New York Times, May 5, 1948, p.25:3.
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TAFAYETTE A. GOILSTONE (1876-1956)

19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47 West 85th
Street, 562

Born in Poughkeepsie, Lafayette A. Goldstone came to New York City at the
age of 15 after receiving lessons in architecture and drawing from William
Henry Cusack. He was first an apprentice with Carrere & Hastings (see)
ard later managed to dbtain positions with William A. Bates, of Bates &
Barlow, ard with the firm of Cleverdon & Putzel (see). After service in
the Spanish-American War in 1898, he found employment with a real estate
developer and builder active in erecting 0ld Law tenements on the Lower
East Side. In this position he supervised the construction of tenements
designed by George F. Pelham (see). Goldstone also worked for a time with
the building firm of Norcross Brothers. Finally, in 1902, he opened his
own practice with the design of three private residences on the Upper West
Side. His row of fifteen American basement Beaux-Arts style rowhouses
within the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District came four
years later, as did a store amd loft building in the Iadies Mile Historic
District. Goldstone’s early work was devoted largely to designs of New
Iaw tenements, but he later received commissions for apartment houses. At
one point in his career, Goldstone hired Alfred Ieuchtag (see Gronenbery &
Leuchtag) as an office boy and from 1909 to 1926 he worked in partnership
with William Laurence Rouse (see Rouse & Goldstone). This firm is best
known for its lwary apartment buildings, including early cooperative
apartments, on the Upper East Side. When the firm dissclved in 1926,
Goldstone practiced independently, again specializing in apartment house
design. In 1941 he was associated with Frederick L. Ackerman on the
design of the Lillian Wald Houses.

Lafayette A. Goldstone cbituary, New York Times, June 23, 1956, p.17:2.

Aline Iewis Goldstone, Harmon H. Goldstone, Lafayette A. Goldstone: A
Career in Architecture (New York, 1964).

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, “Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989); “Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).




STANTEY CHARIES GRANT

120-122 West 72nd Street, 304

HARRY F. GREEN (dates urdetermined)
80 Central Park West, 8

Little is known of architect Harry F. Green. He joined the American
Institute of Architects in 1946 and was associated with the firm of Kahn &
Jacchs (see) and architect Paul Resnick (see) in designing 700 Park Avenue
in the Upper East Side Historic District in 1959. Green collaborated with
- Resnick again in 1967-70 on the structure at 980 Fifth Avenue in the -
Metropolitan Museum Historic District. In the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District he designed the Central Park West Apartments,
Inilt in 1965.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 263.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 346.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Metropolitan Museum Historic
District Designation Report (LP-0955), (New York, 1977), 87:
"Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

HENRY GEORGE GREENE (dates undetermined)

219 West 79th Street, 457

Little is known of architect Henry George Greene who joined the New York
chapter of the American Institute of Architects in 1946. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District he altered an existing
rovhouse for commercial use.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 264.

INCREASE M. GRENELL (dates undetermined)

113 West 87th Street, 621

115, 117, 119 West 87th Street, 622

121, 123, 125 West 87th Street, 622

147, 149, 151 & 153, 155, 157 West 87th Street, 625

22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44 West 94th Street, 692

Increase M. Grenell was established as a New York City architect by 1859
and practiced indeperdently, designing residential structures. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District he was active in the
1880s and also acted as his own developer. His rowhouses on West 87th
Street are in the neo-Grec style. In the records of the Buildings



contirmation of . . . . Increase M. Grenell

Department, his name was recorded as J.M. Grenell for the row of houses at
22-44 West 94th Street, which are in the Queen Anne style. Grenell also
acted as the developer for architect Charles M. Youngs for a row at 49-59
West 94th Street (1890~91).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 35.

GEORGE H. GRIEBEL (dates undetermined)

281-287 Columbus Avenue, 76

289-205 Colurbus Avenue, 77

28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44 West 73rd Street, 321

53, 55, 57, 59, 61, 63, 65, 67 and 73, 75 West 85th Street, 563

George H. Griebel was established as an architect in New York by 1885. 1In
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District he designed rows
of houses in the Queen Anne and Renaissance Revival styles. For Frederick
Ambrose Clark he designed the building (1902-04) at 289-29% Columbus
Avenue for use as a dry geoods store and warehouse, an unusual building
type in the district, and did alteration work on the adjacent flats
building at 281-287 Columbus Avernue. Griebel also designed a number of
apartment buildings on the Upper West Side in the 1880s and ’90s, and a
Romanesque Revival style commercial building (1890-91) in what is now the
Stuyvesant Square Historic District. He contimied in practice at least
through the early 1900s.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 35.

ILardmarks Preservation Camnission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Central Park West - 73rd - 74th
Street Historic District Designation Report (IP-0964), (New York,
1977), 17; "Architects’ Appendix," Ladies Mile Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York, 1989).




PERCY GRIFFIN (dates undetermined)

18, 20, 22, 24, 26, 28 & 30, 32 & 34, 36, 38, 40, 42 & 44, 46, 48 & 50, 52
West 74th Street, 348

Percy Griffin was established as an architect in New York City by 1887.
From 1891 to 1895 he was associated with Thomas Henry Randall in the firm
of Griffin & Randall. In 1896 Griffin designed the Hotel Carribbee in
Jamaica, in 1899 the Jefferson Davis Momment in Richmond, Virginia, and
the Colored Orphan Asylum on West 114th Street. In the early years of the
twentieth century Griffin designed a fire station ard a loft building in

““Manhattan. Iater he was associated with another architect in the firm of

Griffin & Wynkoop. That partnership produced the United Hospital in Port
Chester, New York (1913).

Griffin, a third-place winner in the Improved Housing Council’s competi-
tion of 1896 for model tenements, had begqun working for the City and
Suburban Homes Comparnty in 1897, designing brick, stucco and half-timber
houses for the Homewood Estate in Brooklyn. In 1904-05, two buildings at
the campany’s York Avenue (Avenue A) Estate were constructed according to
Griffin’s revised ccmpetltlm design. His row of eighteen Georgian
Revival style houses (1904) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District for Frederick Ambrose Clark are steel-framed and
equipped with elevators and every cother modern corvenience. Both his
housing projects ard his rowhouses are indicative of his interest in
housing innovation, at a whole range of economic levels.

Dennis Steadman Frarncis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900

(New York, 1979), 35~36.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

GRONENBERG & LEUCHTAG

Herman Gronenbery (dates undetermined)
Albert Ieuchtag (dates undetermined)

17-21 West 67th Street, 174
135 West 72rnd Street, 293
127-133 West 79th Street, 443
120-128 West 79th Street, 450
25-31 West 81st Street, 478
138-147 West 82nd Street, 516
30-34 West 90th Street, 672

Herman Gronenberg and Albert Leuchtag formed a successful architectural
partnexshlparxiwereactwemﬂlefmtdecadesofﬂmetwentleﬂlcenuw
The firm specialized in the design of apartment buildings and examples of
their work can be seen in the Upper East Side and Greenwich Village
Historic Districts. Quite prolific on the Upper West Side of Manhattan,
the firm was responsible for several apartment buildings constructed



contimuation of . . . . Gronenberg & Leuchtag

during the 1920s and into the 1930s in the Riverside-West End ard the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic Districts. The firm preferred
the neo-Renaissance and neo-Romanesque styles.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

fandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Desicnation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; “Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989);
‘"Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

EMITE GRUWE (dates undetermined)
380-384 Columbus Avenue, 93

Little is known of architect Emile Gruwe. His practice was established in
New York City by 1878. Begimming in 1891 he practiced under the name of
Emil Grewey, and worked in partnership with Robert W. Firth in Brooklyn
until 1894. In 1897-99 Gruwe worked under the firm name of E. Grewey &
Co. His sole design in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, a Renaissarce Revival style flats building known as the Evelyn,
is distimguished by its wealth of architectural sculpture and surviving
original basement level shopfronts.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-~1900
(New York, 1979), 35, 88.

RAFAEL GUASTAVINO (1842-1908)

121, 123, 125, 127, 129, 131 West 78th Street, 433
118 and 124, 126, 128, 130, 132, 134 West 78th Street, 438

Rafael Guastavino, born in Valencia, Spain, was trained as a musician and
worked for a time in Barcelona. He developed a vaulting system which he
called Cohesive Construction ard which came to be known as the Guastavino
arch, first developing it while designing Spanish factories which required
fireproof construction. Cchesive Construction was developed as a thin,
laminated tile system which combined Portland cement with plaster of
Paris. The system resisted both flames and intense heat — a quality
which stone masonry could not offer. The Guastavino method did not rely
on buttressing for the stability of vaulting, a fact which enabled the
construction of the largest dame ever erected without scaffolding —— the
crossing dome of St. John the Divine.

Guastavinc brought his new method of construction to the United States in
1881. Settling in New York, he was listed as an architect in directories



contimuation of . . . . Rafae]l Guastavino

as early as 1884. Two early works were the Progress Club (1883-84), 110
East 59th Street, and the B’nai Jeshurun Synagogue (1884-85), Lexington
Avenue near 65th Street (both demolished). In 1885 he was hired by
Bernard S. lLevy, a developer active on the Upper West Side, to design the
two rows of houses on West 78th Street with Moorish Revival details. Levy
himself lived at No. 121 for many years. In No. 122 on the south side of
the street (now rebuilt as a small apartment building), Guastavino
introduced cohesive construction. ILater he stopped practicing architec-
ture, organized the Guastavino Fireproof Construction Co., and concen—
trated solely on Cohesive Construction, becoming known as a builder and~
contractor. The Church of the Blessed Sacrament at 146-150 West 71st
Street in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District has
Guastavino domes and arches.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840~1900
(New York, 1979), 36.

"Rafael Guastavino,” Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 280-81.

Sarah Bradford ILandau, "The Row Houses of New York’s West Side," Journal
of the Society of Architectural Historians 34 (Mar., 1975).

WRafael Guastavino," American Architect & Building News 93
(Feb. 12, 1908), 15.

Peter B. Wight, "The Works of Rafael Guastavino," Brickbuilder Vol. 10
(Apr., 1901), 79-81.

CHARTES GUILIEAUME

116 & 118 West 69th Street, 217
133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145 West 87th Street, 624

DAVID GURA

135-145 West 70th Street, 239
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HARDE & SHORT

Herbert Spencer Styne-Harde (1873-1958)
Richard Thomas Short (dates undetermined)

44-48 West 77th Street, 421

Herbert Spencer Styne-Harde studied architecture in London and set up a
New York City architectural practice in 1894. His early work included the
design of several tenement buildings. Between 1895 and 1900 Harde worked
with both James E. Ware & Assoc. (see Ware & Styne-Harde) and Ralph
Townsend (see Townsend, Steinle & Haskell) on Upper West Side tenement
projects, two of which Harde owned. Richard Thomas Short established an
architectural practice in Brookilyn in 1894 and moved to Manhattan in 1898.
He won first prize in an influential model tenement design competition
sponsored by the Charity Organization Society in 1900.

The firm of Harde & Short was established in 1901 with a coamission from
the City & Suburban Homes Company for a pair of buildings at the western
end of the compary’s York Avenue (Avemie A) Estate. The partners revised
Short’s competition design, incorporating features from James E. Ware’s
designs for the.campany’s First Averue Estate. The firm went on to design
other apartment buildings. Red House (a designated New York City Iand-
mark) was erected in 1903-04 at 350 West 85th Street. In 1906 the firm
received a camission to design an apartment building at 45 East 66th
Street (a designated New York City Lardmark), now in the Upper East Side
Historic District. That structure’s exuberant terra-cotta detail, exten-
sive use of large windows, ard corner tower, give it a distinctive
appearance. Another apartment building designed by the firm, Alwyn Cowrt
{a designated New York City Landmark), also exhibits magnificent terra-
cotta detail, as does the neo-Gothic studio building in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Short also worked independently of Harde and designed a variety of
buildings, including a police station (1907-08, West 30th Street) and the
Moorish Style Kismet Temple Mystic Shrine (1909, Brooklyn).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37, 69.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, 45 East é6th Street Building
Designation Report (IP-0963), (New York, 1977); "Architects’
Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1051), (New York, 1981).
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HENRY J. HARDENBERGH (1847-1918)

281-287 Columbus Avenue, 76

280-284 Colunbus Averme, 77

1 West 72nd Street, 275

15A, 15, 17, 19 West 73rd Street, 317

41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59, 61, 63, 65 West 73rd Street, 319
103 West 73rd Street, 323

156 West 73rd Street, 336

163, 165 West 81st Street, 486

Henry Janeway Hardenbergh was born in New Brunswick, New Jersey, to Dutch
parents. He attended the Hasbrouck Institute at Jersey City and received
his architectural training under Detlef Lienau (see) in New York from 1865
to 1870. In 1870 he opened his own New York practice. Hardenbergh
designed a mmber of city office buildings including the Western Union
Office Building at Fifth Avenue ard 23rd Street (1884, in the Iadies Mile
Historic District), but was best known as a pioneer in luwury hotel and
apartwment house design. The Plaza Hotel (1905), the Waldorf-Astoria Hotel
(predecessor of the current hotel by that name, demolished 1929), and the
Dakota Apartments (1880), all in New York and the latter, a designated New
York City Iandmark in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, the Copley Plaza in Boston (1912), and the Willard in Washington
(1901) are some of his most famous commissions. His buildings are recog-
nized for their picturesque compositions, practical plamning, and imnova-
tive use of historical style. Hardenbergh was also associated with Edward
S. Clark in the early development of the Upper West Side and several
examples of his rowhouse designs, primarily for Clark, can be found in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. Hardenbergh was one
of the founders of the American Fine Arts Society and the Municipal Art
Society of New York. He was president of the Architectural League
(1901-02), was elected to the American Institute of Architects in 1867 and
to Fellowship in 1877, and was an associate of the National Academy of
Design.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37.

"Henry Janeway Hardenbergh," National Cyclopedia of American Biography,
(New York, 1967), vol. 11, 329.

"Henry Janeway Hardenbergh," Dictionary of American Biography, supp. 4.

"Henry J. Hardenberch," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (New York, 1982), wvol. 2, 307-8,

"Henry Janeway Hardenberdgh," Who’s Who in New York City and State, (New
York, 1909), 619.

Henry Janeway Hardenbergh cobituary, ATA Journal Vol. 6 (Apr., 1818), 199.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 691,697-8.

landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Apperdix, ™ ILadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989).

Asl
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Montgamery Schuyler, "Henry Janeway Hardenbergh," Architectural Record 6
(Jan., 1897), 335-75.

Norval White and Elliot Willensky, ATA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 130.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticnary of American
Architects (Deceased), (los Angeles, 1970), 263-64.

HARMON & HART

Arthur Locomis Harmon (1878-1958)
Donald Purple Hart (1868-1942)

35-39 West 72rnd Street, 277

Arthur Icomis Harmonh was born in Chicago ard studied at the Art Institute
of Chicago and at Columbia University, graduating in 1901. From 1902 to
1911 he practiced with the firm of McKim, Mead & White, during which time
he supervised the construction of the extension to the Metropolitan Museum
of Art. For two years Harmon worked with the firm of Wallis & Goodwillie
and from 1913 to 1929 he practiced independently. In 1929 Harmon joined
the firm of Shreve & Lamb as a parther, at which time the firm’s name was
changed to Shreve, ILamb & Barmon. That firm is best known for its design
of the Empire State Building, which was already under way at the time of
Harmon’s arrival at the firm. Harmon’s independent designs include the
Shelton Hotel (now the Halloran House) ard the Julliard School of Music
(now the Manhattan School of Music). He also acted as architectural
consultant for the design and construction of the Parkchester, Stuyvesant
Town, and Peter Cooper Village housing projects.

Donald Purple Hart was born in Marietta, Georgia and was educated at the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology, graduating in 1895. Early in his
career he worked as draftsman in the Boston office of Peabody & Stearns.
At the turn of the century, Hart opened an office in New York, vhere he
practiced independently. He was a member of the New York Chapter of the
American Institute of Architects and designed many country residences on
Iong Island and in Comnecticut.

Although both architects typically worked independently, in 1928-29 Harmon
and Hart collaborated on a nec-Romanesque style apartment building in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

"Arthuar Ioomis Harmon,” Wwho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.
3, 371. -

"Arthur Ioomis Harmon," who’s Who in New York City and State, (New York,
1952), 502.

Arthur Loomis Harmon cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 18, 1958, p.21:3.

Donald Purple Hart obituary, New York Times, June 28, 1942, p.32:6.
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"Shreve, Lamb & Harmon," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 54.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 267.

HENRY L. HARRIS (ATTR.)

137 West 77th Street, 426

HENRY L. HARRIS (dates undetermined)

109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121, 123, 125 West 77th Street, 424
133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145, 147, 149 & 151 West 78th Street, 434
106, 108 West 78th Street, 436

33 West 8lst Street, 479

117, 119, 121, 123, 125 West 8lst Street, 481

127 West 81st Street, 482

129 & 131, 133 West Slst Street, 483

116, 118, 120, 122 West 81st Street, 489

56 & 58 & 60 West 82nd Street, 508

31, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 84th Street, 553

56, 58, 60, 62, 64 & 66 & 68 West 9lst Street, 676

70 West 91st Street, 678

Herny L. Harris was established as an architect in New York by 1884, the
year the row of houses at 117 through 125 West 8lst Street was begun. His
work in the city was mainly residential and appears mostly on Manhattan’s
Upper West Side. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Harris was active into the early 1890s, designing rows of houses
in a variety of revival styles. While it is not certain that the rowhouse
at 137 West 77th Street was designed by Harris, its form and detailing
suggest this attribution. Harris practiced at least through 1906.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37.
Iandmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.
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HORACE EDGAR HARIWEIL (dates undetermined)
6, 8 West 95th Street, 701

Little is known of Horace Edgar Hartwell, whose architectural practice
was established in New York City by 1893. 2n example of his Renaissance
Revival rowhouse design (1893-94) can be found in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District.

Dermnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37.

STEPHEN DECATUR HATCH (1839-1894)
123-125 West 71st Street, 261

Stephen Decatur Hatch was born in Swanton, Vermont, and early in his
career worked as a draftsman in the office of John B. Snook (see). By
1864 Hatch had established his own architectural practice in New York City
which consisted of commerxcial buildings, hotels, and residences. Some

of his best known buildings were: the Gilsey House (1869-71) at 1200
Broadway and the Robbins & Appleton Building (1879-80) at 1 Bond Street,
both designated New York City Landmarks, and the Boreel Building at 115
Broadway, the Murray Hill Hotel at Park Avenue and 40th Street, and the
William Rockefeller residence at 54th Street ardd Fifth Avenue (all
demolished). In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Hatch designed St. Andrew’s Methodist Episoopal Church, now Grace and St.
Paul’s Iutheran Church (1881-82), a diminutive High Victorian Gothic style
structure. (See essay above on religious buildings for more information.)

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 38.

"Stephen Decatur Hatch," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed.
Adolf K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 330.

"Stephen Decatur Hatch," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.
H, 239.

Stephen Decatur Hatch cbituary, American Architect & Building News 45
(Aug. 25, 1894), 69.

Stephen Decatur Hatch cbituary, Real Estate Record & Guide,
Aug. 18, 1894.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Gilsey House Designation Report
(LP~1039), (New York, 1979).

"Stephen Decatur Hatch," Architecture & Building, Aug. 18, 1894.
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0.P. & R.G. HATFIELD

Oliver Perry Hatfield {1819-1891)
Robert Griffith Hatfield (1815-1879)

461-463 Amsterdam Averue, 149
465 & 467 & 469 Anmsterdam Averme, 149

Oliver Perry ard Robert Griffith Hatfield were born in Elizabeth, New
Jersey. Robert, the elder brother, became interested in architecture
after spending time in the building trades. In that role he was the
author of "The American House Carpenter," which went through twelve
editions between 1844 and 1892. His independent practice was established
in New York by 1844. He was joined by his younger brother, Oliver, four
years later. Both brothers were early members of the American Institute
of Architects and served as president of the New York Chapter. Among
their works in the city were buildings for the Department of Charities and
Correction on Randall’s Island, Seaman’s Savings Bank on Wall Street, and
the Institute for the Deaf and Dunb (none of which are extant). In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm designed a
series of contiguous flats buildings, all in the neo-Grec style. Experts
in the field of building construction, the brothers published an article
entitled "The Theory of Transverse Strain and Its Application to the
Construction of Buildings."

Dermnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1200
(New York, 1979), 38.

“Oliver Perry Hatfield," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.
H, 239.

YRobert Griffith Hatfield," wWho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967),
vol. H, 239,

“Oliver Perry Hatfield," American Architect & Building News 32
(May 2, 1891), 61l.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 271.

FRED H. HAWKINS (dates urxetermined)

11a, 15, 17 West 94th Street, 686

Little is known of architect Fred H. Hawkins. His work in New York may be
limited to that found in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District —— a row of Colconial Revival style houses with Flemish details.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.
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ATFRED M. HEDLEY (dates undetermined)

102 West 80th Street, 469

Little is known of architect Alfred M. Hedley whose practice was estab-
lished in New York by 1899, 1In that year he designed a Beaux-Arts style
flats building in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 38.

MAX HENSEL (dates undetermined)

244-246 Columbus Averme, 72
41, 43, 45, 47, 49 West 74th Street, 344

Little is known of Max Hensel, whose architectural practice was estab-
lished in New York by 1887. Hensel designed the building at 311-317 West
76th Street in the West End-Collegiate Historic District and rowhouses at
68-72 East 93rd Street. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed a row of houses (1881) in the Renaissance Revival
style on West 74th Street and added storefronts to a pair of houses on
Columbus Averme to convert them to commercial use.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, West End—Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1418), (New York, 1984), 258.

HERTS & TATIANT

Herry Beaumont Herts (1871-1933)
Hugh Tallant (1870-1952)}

49 West 71st Street, 249

Henry Beaumont Herts and Hugh Tallant were celebrated theater architects,
particularly active in the Times Square area of New York City, although
the firm also carried ocut comissions for residential architecture. Herts,
the son of Henry B. Herts who had established the decorating firm of Herts
Brothers, studied at the Columbia University School of Mines (later the
Department of Architecture), while Tallant received two degrees from
Harvard College. Both Herts and Tallant attended the Ecole des Beaux-Arts
in Paris and worked together on student projects. Tallant graduated with
a Grand Medal of Honor in 1896 and worked for a time in the Boston firm of
Shepley, Rutan & Coolidge. Herts, also a talented painter, exhibited at
the Paris Salon of 1898.

Returning to New York, the two formed the firm of Herts & Tallant in 1897
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continuation of . . . . Herts & Tallant

and soon began to achieve a reputation in theater architecture. Among the
theaters which the firm designed are: the New Amsterdam and the Iyceum
(1902, 1903, both designated New York City Iandmarks); the Liberty (1904):
the Gaiety (1909, demolished); the Folies-Bergere (later the Helen Hayes,
1911, demolished); and the Brooklyn Academy of Music (1908, a designated
New York City ILarximark). In the design of the New Amsterdam Theater,
Herts & Tallant pioneered the use of cantilever construction to create
theater balconies without supporting piers that would cbstruct the vision
of those in the lower seating area. The partners were alsc talented
acousticians, and Tallant wrote extensively on that subject, as well as on
other theater design problems. Herts & Tallant theaters were executed in
a variety of revival styles, with an undercurrent of the American Art
Nouveau. The firm’s only major residential building in New York City is
the Beaux-Arts style Isaac L. Rice Mansion (a designated New York City
Landmark) . In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Herts & Tallant undertock alterations in 1909 to an existing rowhouse,
reconfiguring the entrance and adding a projecting bay window to the second
story.

After the firm dissolved in 1911, Tallant practiced with the firm of Lord,
Hewlett & Tallant and Herts contimued in the field as well. Both men were
members of the Architectural Ieaque and the Society of Beaux-Arts
Architects.

Roberta Cooper, "Rice Mansion," Thesis in IPC Research Files, 12-14.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39,74.

"Herts & Tallant,"™ Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 369.

Henry Beaumont Herts cbituary, New York Times, Mar. 28, 1933, p.19:1.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Isaac Ieopold Rice Mansion
Designation Report (LP-1089), (New York, 1980), 2-3; “Architects’
Appendix," Iadies Mile Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1609), (New York, 1989); PArchitects’ Appendix," Riverside -

West End Historic bistrict Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

Hugh Tallant obituary, New York Times, Dec. 9, 1952, p.33:2,

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 280.
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SAMUEL A. HERTZ

212 West 79th Street, 459

HIGGS & ROOKE

Paul F. Higgs (dates undetermined)
Frank A. Rooke (dates undetermined)

373-375 Amsterdam Avernue, 132

Frank A. Rocke (see) was established as an architect in New York by 1887.
Paul F. Higys’ first architectural work occurred with Rooke in .the firm of
Higgs & Rooke in 1888. ‘'That partnership remained active until 1890,
during which time they designed a Flemish/Ramanesque Revival style flats
building (1889) for Lorton Horton in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. Two years earlier Horton had commissioned the commer-
cial building immediately to the south from Rooke. Other buildings
designed by the firm can be found in the Park Slope Historic District.
After 1890 Higgs practiced indeperdently, then in 1899-1900 formed a
partnership with James J.F. Gavigan. Rooke continued to practice indepen-
dently after the break—up of the firm.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39, 66.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

HILIBERG & IAVELLE

Albert G. Hillberg (dates undetermined)
Paul B. LaVelle (dates undetermined)

102-108 West 79th Street, 448

Paul B. Lavelle was born in Switzerland and educated in Munich and at the
Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. In 189% he moved to the United States and
established an architectural practice in New York. IaVelle was respon-
sible for the design of several hospitals and apartment buildings. Little
is known of Albert G. Hillberg, who collaborated with ILaVelle in New York
in the 1930s. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Hillberg & IaVelle designed an Art Moderme style apartment building which
was constructed in 1930-33.

Paul B. IaVelle obituary, New York Times, May 6, 1942.

New York City Directory (New York, 1933), 1605,1964.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 364.




WILLIAM I. HOHAUSER (b. 1896}

498 Colwnbus Avenue, 115
504 Columlxas Averme, 115

William I. Hohauser was born in New York City and was educated at Cooper
Union and Columbia University, graduating in 1917 with a B.S. in Civil
Engineering. From 1916-17 he was Naval Architect at the Brooklyn Navy
Yard. From 1917-20 he was associated with M.H. Harrison. In 1923 he
crganized his own firm, first named Hohauser Associates, Inc., and later
changed to William I. Hcohauser, Inc. Among his principal works are a
series of housing projects including the Fort Greene Houses (1942) in
Brooklyn, the Stephen Foster Houses in New York (1950), and the Bronx
River Houses (1952). Hchauser won mmerous citations for his work, in-
cluding a New York State Association of Architects Award in 1949 for the
apartment house at 870 Fifth Avenme, in the Upper East Side Historic
District. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Hohauser undertook commercial alterations in 1936 on a pair of flats
buildings.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 319.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, MArchitects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

GECORGE HOLIDAY (BUIIDER)

10, 12, 14, 16 West 95th Street, 701

HERMANN HORENBURGER (1858-1941)

12, 14, 16, 18, 20 West 90th Street, 668
22, 24, 26 West 90th Street, 670
28 and 36, 38 & 40 & 42 West 90th Street, 671

Hermann Horenburger was born in Hamburg, Germany, and moved to New York
City in 1884. He established an independent architectural practice in
the city in 1889 and in 1893 collaborated with Julius Pfurd. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Horenburger designed three
contiguous rows of Renaissance Revival houses, built in 1892-93.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 40,41,61.
Hermann Horenburger cobituary, New York Times, Apr. 20, 1941, p.44:1.

A6Y9



WILLIAM HOWE (dates undetermined)

127, 129, 131 West 87th Street, 623

Little is known of architect William Howe, whose practice was established
in New York by 1871. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed a single row of neo-Grec style houses built in 1882.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 41l.

HUBERT & PTRSSCN

Philip Gergembre Hubert (1830-1911)
James W. Pirsson (1833-1888)

201 [a/k/a 67-69 West 69th Street] & 203-205 & 207-209 Columbus Avenue, 61
219 Columkbais Avenue, 63

61, 63, 65 West 69th Street, 201

60, 62, 64 West 70th Street, 233

Philip G. Hubert was born in Paris and moved with his family to Cincimmati
in 1849. There he studied architecture with his father who was a civil
engineer and an architect. Moving to New York to begin his architectural
career in 1865, Hubert was the originator of a system of cooperative
apartment construction and ownership, which he called the "Hubert Home
Clubs." He held a patent for his method of constructing duplex and tri-
plex apartments and also took a special interest in fireproofing. As a
result, he devised a special fireproof sheathing system for structural
beams. After retiring in the mid-1890s, Hubert moved to California where
he designed an received patents for varicus household devices.

Pirsson, who began his architectural career in New York under the firm
name of Burgess & Pirsson in 1862-64, formed a brief partnemh.xp with his
 brother, Robert L. Pirsson, in 1874. An amateur musician and painter,
Pirsson was a member of several musical societies, and an early member of
the American Institute of Architects.

Hubert and Pirsson formed their partnership in 1871. They were pioneers
in apartment building design and were responsible for same of the earliest
large apartment houses in New York. 1In the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District the Hubert & Pirsson firm was commissioned by Sarah
J. Doying to design a series of huildings for the western end of the block
bounded by West €9th Street, West 70th Street, and Columbus Avenue. Built
in 1886-87, the project consisted of a row of neo—Grec flats buildings on
the averue (later interrupted by two camrercial buildirgs) and rows of
Queen Anne style houses on the side streets. In 1889 the firm became
Hubert, Pirsson & Hoddick as August O. Hoddick joined the partnership.
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Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 40-42, 61.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 681-83.

"Philip Gengenbre Hubert," American Art Annmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1913), vol. 10, 78.

Philip Gengenbre Hubert cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 17, 1911, p.13:5.

Hubert, Pirsson & Hoddick, "New York Flats and French Flats,"
Architectural Record 2 (July, 1892), 55-64.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Desicmation Report (IP-1609), {(New York,
1989).

James W. Pirsson dbituary, American Architect & Building News 23
(Mar. 24, 1888), 133.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 305-6,474.

WILLTAM H. HOME & SON,

99 Central Park West, 11

William H. Hume was first known as an architect/builder in the South, and
associated with Jacob Rief of Nashville for a short time. He began his
New York practice in 1855. Frederick T. Hume was born in New York City
and initially trained and practiced in the field of medicine. In addition
to his medical degree he received an architectural degree fram Columbia

PAUL C. HUNTER (1862?-1935)
117 West 72nd Strect, 287

Paul Cairnes Hunter was first established as an architect in New York in
1894 in the firm of Collins & Hunter with W. Scott Collins. In 1895 he
began independent practice established an office in Queens. In 1899 he
collaborated with architect Everett Murgatroyd. During World War I he
served in France in various building-related activites. In 1931 Hunter
rebuilt a rowhouse as a five-story neo-Federal commercial building in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 42.

Paul C. Hunter cbituary, American Architect & Building News 147
(Sep., 1935), 116.
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HURIEY & HUGHES

57 West 71st Street, 249

GEORGE MARTIN HUSS (1853-1941)
120 West 69th Street, 218

George Martin Huss was born in Newark, New Jersey. He received his
education at City College and studied further with architects Calvert Vaux
(see) and Frederick C. Withers. He also stidied engineering. Huss was an
advocate of the use of the Gothic style of architecture not only for
religiocus structures but for other types of buildings as well.  His design
for the st. John the Divine competition — one of four finalists — was
executed in the French Gothic style. In the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District Huss designed the neo-Grec/Romanescue Revival style
rectory of St. Stephen’s P.E. Chmirch. Huss was a mexber of the
Architectural Ieague and the American Art Society.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 43.

"George Martin Huss," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Ievy (New York,
1900), vol. 3, 114.

George Martin Huss cbituary, New York Times, Feb. 11, 1941, p.23:2.

MARCUS HUTCHINSON

24, 26, 28 & 30 West 83rd Street, 538

ATBERT HUTTTRA (dates undetermined)
161, 163, 165 West 88th Street, 642

Little is known of architect Albert Huttira. His practice was established
in New York by 1820, the year in which he was commissioned to design a row
of Renaisance Revival style houses in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District. The ownership of the property changed during con-
struction, and the work was completed by George H. Anderson (see).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 43.
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IFIIL & JOHNSON

Ifill (dates undetermined)
Johnson (dates undetermined)

110-124 West 82nd Street, 518
124 West 88th Street, 645

Little is known of the architectural firm of Ifill & Johnson which was
active in New York in the 1960s and ’70s. The firm designed a swimming
pool and bath house in Mt. Morris Park and a police station in the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Norval White and Elliot Willensky, AIA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 275.

ISRAETS & HARDER

Charles Henry Israels (1865-1911)
Julius F. Harder (18657-1930)

210-216 Columbus Avenue, 65

Nephew of the painter Joseph Israels, Charles Israels was born in New York
arﬂwasaiucatedatﬂleIrvingInstimtejnTarrytmm,theArtstudents
Ieague, and in Paris. He traveled in Europe in 1889 and returned to New
YorkmthesaneyeartobegmaxdutMralpmctme Israels was
mterestedmteneme:ﬁrefomarﬂwmteseveralartlcleswhlmexpressed
his interests, including: New York Apartment Houses and Socialism and the
Architect,bdthpublishedmArchitecunalRecord. He served on the
Building Code Revision Commission in 1907, was secretary of the Municipal
Art Society, and was a member of the executive comittee of the
Architectural league of New York.

Julius F. Harder worked with John R. Thomas (see) on the plans for City
Hall and the Hall of Records. He was involved in civic matters in Queens,
where he lived for same time, and was a member of the Architectural
League.

In 1894 Israels ard Harder were partners in the firm of Marsh, Israels &
Harder, having previcusly met while in the employ of Charles B. Atwood
during an 1888 competition for the New York City Hall. In 1897 the firm
became known as Israels & Barder with commissions ranging from apartment ..
houses and hotels to commercial designs. In the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District Israels & Harder designed the Beaux-Arts style
Hotel Walton (1903-04).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37, 43.

A73



continuation of . . . . Israels & Harder

Julius Harder cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 22, 1930, p.17:3.

"Charles Henry Israels," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Ievy (New York,
1913), vol. 10, 78.

" Israels & Harder," American Art Anmial, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 111, 115.

Iandmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; Riverside Drive-West 80th-8lst Street Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1429), {New York, 1985).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 316.

H. DAVIS IVES

213 West 79th Street, 456

JANES & IEO

Elisha Harris Janes (dates undetermined)
Richard Ieopold Ieo (d. 1911)

171 West 71st Street, 266

Little is known about the lives and careers of Elisha Harris Janes and
Richard Lecpold Ieo despite the many buildings on the Upper West Side ard
the Upper East Side erected acoording to their designs at the tarn of the
century. The firm of Janes & leo was formed by 1897, specializing in
apartment buildings and town houses designed predaminantly in the Beaux-
Arts style. Major examples of their work are the Alimar (925 West Exd
Avenue, 1899), the Marhasset (2801-2821 Broadway, 1902-05), and in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, the Dorilton (1900-
02, a designated New York City Iandmark). The latter is given particular
prominence by its high mansarded roof and location at the northeastern
corner of Broadway ard West 71st Street. Town houses designed by the firm
on the Upper West Side are concentrated near Riverside Park, including
those in the Riverside-West 105th Street and the Riverside-West End
Historic Districts. Several cothers are located on the Upper East Side in
the Metropolitan Museum Historic District. Janes & l1eo also designed the
neo-Gothic style All Soculs Church (88 St. Nicholas Averme, 1900) in
Harlem, and the Ieyland, a Renaissance Revival style tenement building in
the Riverside Drive-West 80th-81st Street Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 44.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, “Architects! Apperdix," Riverside
- West End Historic District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New
York, 1989): Riverside Drive-West 80th-81st Street Designation
Report (LP-1429), (New York, 1985), 84.
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D. & J. JARDINE

David Jardine (1830-1892)
John Jardine (Gates urdetermined)

136 West 71st Street, 272

157 and 161 and 165, 167 West 72nd Street, 298
162, 164 West 8lst Street, 494

51, 53 West 82nd Street, 502

113, 115, 117, 119 West 82nd Street, 513

65, 67, 69 West 83rd Street, 534

71 West 83rd Street, 535

58, 60 West 83rd Street, 541

62, 64, 66, 68 West 83rd Street, 542

Born in Scotland, David Jardine was trained under his father before
immigrating to America at the age of 20. In New York he first practiced
alone and then with Edward Thompson from 1858-60. After the Civil War his
brother John imnigrated to New York, and in 1865 the Jardines formed the
partnership which was especially active in the residential development of
New York City in the 1870s. Early examples of townhouses in the
Italianate and French Second Empire styles can be found in the Greenwich
V:Lllage and SoHco—Cast Iron Historic Districts. The firm achieved special
prominence in the 1880s and designed many warehouses, office buildings,
and apartment houses. During this period the firm designed several rows
of Queen Anne, Romanesgue Revival, and Renaissance Revival style houses in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. David also
designed a number of churches and charity buildings elsewhere in the city.

After the death of David his brothers John and George joined with William
Kent to form the firm of Jardine, Kent & Jardine. Kent had been in prac-
tice in New York since 1888 and was a mermber of the American Institute of
Architects and the Architectural Ieague. Jardine, Kent & Jardine
contimued the residential work which D. & J. Jardine initiated in the
1870s. The successor firm designed several large store ard loft buildings
in the Iadies Mile Historic District.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 44, 46.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 685-89.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York, 1981).
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ARTHUR BATES JENNINGS (18507-1927)

174 West 72rd Street, 315

Arthir Bates Jemnings was born in North Brookfield, Massachusetts, and
spent. the early years of his career in the offices of George B. Post and
Russell Sturgis (see Simonson & Sturgis). By 1876 he had established an
independent practice in New York City. He designed churches, institu-
tional buildings, and residences and his works include the Webb Institute
of Naval Architecture in New York and the Hanover Fire Insurance Company
Building. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Jernings designed a Flemish/Romanesque Revival style rowhouse (1886-88)
later altered for commercial purposes. Jemings was a Fellow of the -
American Institute of Architects and a member of its New York chapter.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 44.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 325.

KaHN & JAQOBS

Ely Jacques Kahn (1884-1972)
Robert Allan Jaccbhs (b. 1905)

8 West 70th Street, 227

Born in New York City, Ely Jacques Kahn was educated at Columbia Univer-
sity and the Ecole des Beaux—Arts in Paris. Soon after joinirg the firm
of Buchman & Fox (see) in 1917, he became a partner and assumed effective
control of the office, then known as Buchman & Kahn. His best-known
designs are those for skyscrapers of the 1920s and 1930s which merged the
stylistic influences of Art Deco ard the Viemna Secession with his inter-
est in oriental art and archaeoclogy. Extensive travel permitted Kahn to
develop a specialized knowledge of building materials. As part of his
devotion to architectural education, he organized numerous exhibitions
which introduced new ideas in interior and industrial design to students,
and taught at Cormell and New York University. Xahn wrote widely for
professional journals and in 1935 he published Design in Art and
Industry. A Fellow of the American Institute of Architects, he lectured
extensively, was consultant to the United States Housing Authority, and
served as president of the Municipal Art Society.

Fram 1941 to 1972 Kahn’s partner was Robert Allan Jacobs. Also a native
of New York City, Jaccbs was educated at Amherst College and Columbia
University. After working in Paris as a designer and draftsman for Le
Corbusier in 1934-35, he returmed to New York ard joined the newly formed
firm of Harrison & Fouilhoux. In 1938 Jacobs began working for Kahn and
was soon elevated to partner. The firm maintained a broad practice
including commercial, industrial, and institutional comissions, as well
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as research and development, housing, and airport design. The firm’s
Municipal Asphalt Plant, erected in 1941-44 (a designated New York City
TLandmark), constructed in the form of a parabolic arch, was admired as an
early use of reinforced concrete in the United States. The firm also
designed several buildings in the Upper East Side Historic District, were
associate architects for the Seagram Building (a designated New York City
Landmark) , and designed a school huilding for Congregation Shearith Israel
in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Seagram Building Designaticn
Report (LP-1664), (New York, 1989).

RAIFH M. KARGER (dates undetermined)
4 West 90th Street, 668

Little is known of architect Ralph Morelard Karger. In 1926 he enlarged
ard refaced an existing building in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. In 1943 he was registered with the Maine Chapter of
the American Institute of Architects. In 1962 his office was located at
301 East 63rd Street in Manhattan.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 365.

5. WALTER KATZ

221 West 79th Street, 458

GEORGE KEISTER (dates undetermined)
355 Amsterdam Avenue, 131

Little is known of the life of this New York theater architect. He was in
active practice in New York beginning in the mid 1880s. His earliest
comissions were tenements and rowhouses, but from 1905 mumerous theater
camissions filled his office. The Earl Carroll, the Selwyn, the Belasco,
and the Apollo Theaters are some of his more famous works. Keister was
skilled in a variety of styles but disapproved of architectural fads and

~ indiscriminate copying of architectural designs. He worked alone through-
out his career, except for a brief partnership from 1887 to 1888 with
Frank Wallis (nicknamed Colonial Wallis, and credited with reviving
interest in colonial architecture). Keister practiced through 1930 and
was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects and a member of its
New York chapter and the Architectural Ieague. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District Keister designed a Renaissance

Revival style flats building.

A77



contimiation of . . . . George Keister

Landmarks Preservation Comission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New ' York,
1989) .

. RUSSELIL KENYON

137 West 71st Street, 263

AIONZO B. KIGHT (dates undetermined)
111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121, 123, 125, 127, 129, 131 West 88th Street, 640

Alonzo B. Kight was established as an architect in New York by 1891. He
was active primarily in the design of Upper West Side rowhouses and
apartment buildings, most located west of West End Averme. Kight designed
in a variety of styles, and typically his rowhouses were of the American
basement type. His work was praised by critics of the day. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Kight designed a long row of
Renaissance Revival style rowhouses. Others can be found in the West End-
Collegiate Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 46.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 225-27.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, West End-Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1418), (New York, 1984), 258-59.

HENRY FRANKT.IN KTIBURN (1844-1905)

8 West 67th Street, 178
161 West 72nd Street, 299

Henry Franklin Kilburn was born and educated in Ashfield, Mass., and first
established an architectural practice in Northampton. In 1868 he moved
his practice to New York. There he designed a mmber of churches,

- including the West End Preshbyterian Church (1891, Amsterdam Avenue and
West 105th Street), the Mt. Moriah Baptist Church (1888, 2050 Fifth
Avenue) , and the West Park Presbyterian church (1890, Amsterdam Averne and
West 86th Street). Kilburn also designed private residences. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the Durland Riding
Academy building (1900-01), now a production studio for ABC, was construc-
ted according to his design. He also added a projecting bay window to an
existing rowhouse on West 72nd Street. Kilburn was a Fellow of the
American Institute of Architects and a mewber of its New York chapter and
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the Architectural Ieague.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-~1900
(New York, 1979), 46.

"Henry Franklin Kilburn,"™ 2merican Art Anmual, ed. F.N. lLevy (New York,
1%00), vol. 3, 116.

Norval White and Elliot Willensky, AIA Guide to New York City
(New York, 1978), 195, 208.

Henry F. Withey and E151e R. Withey, Biographical chtlonary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Arngeles, 1970), 342.

EDWARD KITPATRICK {1829-1895)

65, 67, 69, 71, 73 West 68th Street, 186
75, 77 [a/k/a 181-189 Columbus Averme] West 68th Street, 187
22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32 West 96th Street, 708

Edward Kilpatrick, architect and developer, was born in Killea, Ireland
and came to New York at an early age. He was trained as a carpenter and
built many houses in the Upper West Side and Murray Hill areas of Man-
hattan. Kilpatrick usually designed the structures he built, but he
scmetimes collaborated with the firm of D. & J. Jardine (see). Products
of this collaboration include the Cornell Memorial Methodist Episcopal
Church (231 East 76th Street, demolished)}. Kilpatrick designed houses in
the Metropolitan Museum and Upper East Side Historic Districts, as well as
in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District where he
designed rowhouses and flats in the Renaissance and Romanescue Revival
styles. His group of rowhouses and flats (1893-94) on West 68th Street
are characteristic examples, showing the interrelationship between the two
building types.

Kilpatrick was vocal about problems concerning the building trade and law.
He testified before the Iexow Comittee on the relation of the police
department to the building industry, and criticized contradictory sections
of the building law and the appointment of building inspectors.

Edward Kilpatrick obituary, New York Times, Dec. 6, 1898, p.9:6.

Lardmarks Preservation Camission, “Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York,
1981).
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FRANCTS H. KIMBAIT, (1845-1919)
41 West 74th Street, 344

Francis Hatch Kimball was born in Maine and was apprenticed to a carpenter
in Massachusetts. In 1867 he entered the Boston office of Louis P. Rogers
who later formed a partnership with Gridley J.F. Bryant. Rogers & Bryant
entrusted Kimball with the supervision of two important projects in
Hartford, Connecticut — the Charter Oak and the Comnecticut Mutual Life
Insurance Company Buildings. This work led to Kimball’s preparation of an
entry for the Connecticut State House campetition and, more importantly,
to his appointment as supervising architect for Trinity college. In the
latter capacity he traveled to London to consult with William Burges, the
designer of Trinity’s new buildings. Ultimately, Burges’ designs were
only partially executed and much altered by Kimball.

In 1879 Kimball moved to New York; his first work was the remodeling of
the Madison Square Theater in association with Thomas Wisedell, an English
architect with Gothic training. Kimball & Wisedell remained active in
theater design and achieved renown for the caisson system of foundation
construction at the Fifth Averme and Garrick Theaters. The firm’s
extravagant Moorish style Casino Theater reflected Kimball’s mastery of
the use of ornamental terra cotta. The firm dissolved with Wisedell’s
death in 1884. Except for a brief partnership with Henry S. Innen in
1886, Kimball practiced independently until 1892, the year in which he
altered a rowhouse in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, adding an exotic Moorish-inspired balcony to the fourth story.
In that year the firm of Kimball & Thompson was formed with George Kramer
Thompson. That firm became prominent and pioneering designers of tall
commercial structures, mostly in lower Manhattan.

Lardmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,” Iadies

Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-160%), (New York,
1989) .

GEORGE S. KINGSLEY

471-475 Amsterdam Avemie, 150



SERGE KIETN (b. 1914}

41-45 West 71st Street, 247
131-135 West 85th Street, 576

Serge Klein was born in St. Petersburg, Russia, and was educated in Paris
and at Columbia University. Early in his career (1940-41) he worked as a
drafteman for Clarence S. Stein (see Butler & Stein). Iater, he worked
for the firms of Mayer & Whittlesey, Shreve, lamb & Harmon, and Kelly &
Gruzen. In 1953 Klein began an independent practice and designed
residential, commercial, industrial, ard religious structures. 1In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District he converted rowhouses
to small apartment buildings. In 1949 Klein won second prize in the New
York State Housing competition.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 496.

IEO F. KNUST (1876-1946)

11-17 West 695th Street, 196
12-20 West 96th Street, 707

Little is known of Ieo Frederick Kmist. He was working as an architect in
New York by 1899, became a member of the American Institute of Architects
in 1923, and practiced through 1932. Kunst was active in apartment house
design on Manhattan’s Upper West Side; examples of this work can be found
in both the Riverside-West End and Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic Districts.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 47.

Iandmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ Riverside
- West End Historic District Desicnation Report (1P-1626), (New
York, 1989).

"who’s Who in Architecture," American Art Annual, (Washington, D.C.,
1924-25), vol. 21, 424.




KOHN FEDERSEN FOX ASS0CS.

A. Fugene Kohn (b. 1930)
William Pedersen (b. 1938)
Sheldon Fox (b. 1930)

26-34 West 67th Street, 179

A, Eugene Kohn was born in Philadelphia and studied at the University of
Pennsylvania, graduating with a Master of Architecture degree in 1957.
Early in his career Kohn was associated with the firms of Vincent G. Kling
- Associates (1960-65), Welton Becket Associates New York (1965-67), and -
John Carl Warnecke & Associates (1967-76) vhere he was president ard
partner.

William Pedersen was born in St. Paul, Minn., and studied at the Univer-
sity of Mimmesota, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and the American
Academy of Rome. Early in his career Pedersen worked with Pietro
Belluschi (1963), Eduardo Catalano (1964-65), I.M. Pei & Partners (1967-
71), ard John Carl Warnecke & Associates (1971-76) where he was vice—
president,

Sheldon Fox was born in New York City and graduated from the University of
Pennsylvania in 1953. From 1955 to 1972 Fox was a partner in the firm of

Kahn & Jacobs (see) and from 1972-76 he was senior vice-president of John

Carl Warnecke & Associates.

Kohn Pedersen Fox Asscciates was founded in 1976 with Kohn acting as
partner-in-charge of many of the major projects. Shortly after its
fourding, the firm received a major comission from ABC to conwert several
older buildings on West 66th arxd West 67th Streets, as well as design
several new structures for office and production use. These include a
converted building, the Durland Riding Academy, 8 West 67th Street, and a
new office building (1978-79), 26-34 West 67th Street, both within the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Kohn Pedersen Fox Associates has risen rapidly in the field of architec-
ture. In 1985 the firm was inwvited by the Royal Institute of British
Architects to exhibit their work in London. Its buildings at 333 Wacker
Drive in Chicago and the Procter & Gamble Headgquarters in Cincimmati were
voted as two of the world’s best buildings to be designed in five years in
a Progressive Architecture poll. The firm has received numercus other
awards for its architectural designs, including the 1990 Architectural
Firm Award from the American Institute of Architects.

Paul Goldberger (Intro. by), Kohn Pedersen Fox Buildings and Projects
1976-1986 (New York, 1987).

Partners’ Biographies and Firm Description, Provided by Kohn Pedersen Fox
Assocs., 1990.




ROBERT D. KOHN (1870-1953)
2 West 64th Street, 169

Robert D. Kohn was born in New York City and studied at the College of the
City of New York (now City College, graduating in 1889), Columbia Univer-
sity (graduating in 1890), and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris (1891-
95). His architectural practice in New York dated from 1895 ard included a
nunber of important New York City buildings. Kohn’s style, formed during
his studies in Paris, developed into an American version of the Secession
or Art Nouveau style which can be seen in buildings such as the former New
York Evening Post Building (1906), 20 Vesey Street and his store and loft
building (1908) at 19-27 West 21st Street in the Iadies Mile Historic
District. His 1931 addition to Macy’s is in the Art Deco style. He also
designed buildings in Cleveland, Chio, including the Lindner Company and
‘the H. Black Campany Buildings (1908, 1919). Kohn was associated with
various architects in the first year of his practice but by 1896 he
practiced under his own name. Kohn was a friend and follower of Dr. Felix
Adler, founder of the New York Society for FEthical Culture. He worked in
asociation with Carrere & Hastings on the design of the Ethical Culture
School (19202-03) in an abstracted neo-Renaissance style, then went on to
design the Society’s meeting house (1909-10) in the Secession style. Both
buildings are in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.
later, in the 1920s and 1940s, he collaborated with Charles Butler and - -
Clarence Stein (see Butler & Stein), ard in 1929 designed the Temple
Emanu~el on Fifth Avenue in the Upper East Side Historic District.

In 1921 Kohn founded the New York Building Congress. He served as direc-
tor of the Housing Division of the Public Works Administration (1933-34)
and grew experienced in low-cost housing design. In 1939 Kohn was ap—
pointed vice-president of the New York World’s Fair and was a member of
the Board of Design. He was president of the Society of Ethical Culture
(1921-44), and a member, past president, and honor medalist of the
American Institute of Architects. He was a member of the Beaux-Arts
Society of Architects andanHonorarycorrespmﬂmgMemberoftheRoyal
Institute of British Architects. Kohn was also a member of the Regional
Plamning Association of America, formed to resolve urban crowding.

City College Alumni Register.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-160%), (New York,
1989) .




COONSTANTINE KONDYLIS

279-281 Central Park West, 46

NATHAN KORN (18937-1941)

230 Central Park West, 39
327 Central Park West, 53
6-16 West 77th Street, 419

Educated at Cooper Union and Columbia University, Nathan Korn’s
architectural firm was active in the design of New York apartment
buildings in the 1920s. Examples of his work can be found in the Upper -
Fast Side and Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic Districts. Korn
typically designed in the neo-Renaissance and neo-Georgian styles.

Nathan Korn cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 23, 1941, p.53:1.

ILandmarks Preservation Cammission, "Arc:hltects Appendix, " Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

ETWARD J. ROVACH

129 West 72nd Street, 291

HERBERT J. KRAPP (1883-1973)
20«28 West 72nd Street, 280

Herbert J. Krapp was one of New York City’s major theater architects;
today’s Broadway theater district owes more to him than any other archi-
tect. Upon his graduation from Cooper Union, Krapp joined the office of
noted theater architects Henry Herts and Hugh Tallant (see Herts &
Tallant), who had designed several early twentieth century New York
theaters including the Iyceum (1903), Helen Hayes (1911, demolished), and
Longacre (1912-13). Increasingly, Krapp gained responsibility for desiom
ard operations in that office, gradually becoming the chosen architect of
the Shubert organization, for wham he was commissioned to design a dozen
theaters in Times Scuare from 1916 to 1928. (The Shubert’s -- Sam S.,
Lee, and Jacob J. =~ formed perhaps the most powerful family Broadway has
ever seen; they rose to become the dominant force in legitimate theater in
America.) Krapp also designed Shubert theaters in Boston and Philadelphia
and supervised alterations to existing theaters natiorwide.

Krapp designed nine other Times Square theaters besides those for Shubert.
Six of these were built for the Chanin Construction Company (see Irwin S.
Chanin). Krapp’s theater designs reflect the interest and needs of a new

breed of theatrical entrepreneur —— the large-scale speculative owner/
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huilder. The Shubert theaters were seen as financial ventures, and their
designs reflect a certain simplicity compared with theaters designed for
impresarios. Although restrained in detail, Krapp’s theaters reflect a
mastery of layout. Krapp’s Barrymore Theater, the Biltmore, and the E4
Sullivan are all designated New York City Landmarks, as are the Alvin,
Plymouth, Broadhurst, Ambassador, Brooks Atkinson, Golden, Royale,
Majestic, and the 46th Street Theater.

- During this period Krapp alsc designed a neo-Renaissance style. apartment -
hotel (1925) in the Upper West Side/Central- Park West Historic District.
Krapp stopped designing theaters subsequent to financial problems of the -
Depression. He then worked as a building assessor for the City of New
York, and turned increasingly to industrial design.

Herbert J. Krapp obituary, New York Times, Feb. 17, 1973, p.34:5.
Iandmarks Preservation Camission, Barrymore Theater Designation
Report (LP-1313), (New York, 1987).

DAVID KRAUSS

162-166 West 76th Street, 416

TRVING KUDROFF (dates undetermined)
216 West 79th Street, 460

Irving Kudroff was a member of the American Institute of Architects and

maintained an architectural office on Park Avemue in 1956. In the 1920s
Kudroff was active in storefront alterations in the Iadies Mile Historic
District, and in 1950 undertook the same type of work in the Upper West

Side/Central Park West Historic District.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1956), 313.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ILadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (1P-1609), (New York,
1989) .

A85



OTIS E. KURTH (dates undetermined)
40 West 95th Street, 705

Little is known of architect Otis E. Kurth. His work in New York City
seems to have consisted of alterations to existing buildings and the re-
construction of rowhouses for small apartment buildings; this was the case
at 40 and 42 West 95th Street in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. Other examples of his work can be found in the Upper
East Side Historic District.

Landmarks Preservation Camission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York,
1981).

MORRIS KWELIER

148-152 West 74th Street, 362

I2aMB & RICH

Hugh Iamb (1849-1903)
Charles Alonzo Rich (1855-1943)

321-329 Columbus Avenue, 85

24 West 71st Street, 254

26, 28, 30 West 71st Street, 254

161, 163, 165, 167, 169 [a/k/a 301 Amsterdam Averme] West 74th Street and
303, 305, 307, 309 Amsterdam Avenue, 355

160-162 West 74th Street, 363

130, 132 West 82nd Street, 520

Hugh Ianb was born in Scotland and was established as an architect in New
York by 1878, working with Lorenzo B. Wheeler in the firm of Lamb &
Wheeler. The firm designed French flats and rowhouses on the Upper East
Side and in Greerwich Village. Charles Alonzo Rich was born in Beverly,
Mass. He studied engineering at Dartmouth College, graduated in 1875, and
trained in architecture in both the United States (1875-79) and in Europe
(1879-82) .

Established in 1882, the firm of lLamb & Rich was active through 18929 and
became one of New York City’s most prominent firms. Iamb & Rich were
particularly noted for commercial and institutional architecture, produc-
ing designs in the Romanesque Revival, Chateauesque, neo-Renaissance,
Queen Anne, and neo-Gothic styles. Among these designs are: the Pratt
Institute Main Building, Brooklyn (1885-87, a designated New York City
Iandmark) ; Millbank, Brinkerhof and Fiske Halls, Barnard College (1890-
97); the Harlem Club and Harlem Free Library (1889, 1892, in the Mt.
Morris Park Historic District); Mt. Morris Bank (later Corn Exchange Bark,
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1889) at 81-85 East 125th Street; and the Berkeley School (later
Mechanics’ and Tradesmen’s Institute, 1890, a designated New York City
ILandmark) at 20 West 44th Street. Buildings at Colgate, Dartmouth, Smith,
Williams, and Amherst Colleges were also designed by Iamb & Rich. The
firmm enjoyed an active practice in residential architecture as well,
designing houses which are located in the Park Slope, Henderson Place, and
Hamilton Heights Historic Districts. The firm was also active on the
Upper West Side of Manhattan. 'Ihe:rmrkmtheareaappearedasearlyas
1885 and many of their designs were published in architectural
periodicals. The firm’s use of Richardscnian Romanesque in rowhouse

. design acted as a catalyst to further expard the variety of styles chosen
by other architects for houses in the area. In addition to Romanesque,
the firm used the Renaissance Revival and Chateauesque styles, as seen in
the rowhouse group (1891) on West End Avenue between West 76th and West
77th Streets and a pair of houses at 35 and 36 Riverside Drive (1888-89),
among the first rowhouses built on that averme, all in the West End~
Collegiate Historic District. 1In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District Lamb & Rich designed several rows of Renaissance
Revival, Romanescque Revival, and Queen Anne style houses, as well as a
school and an apartment building. Other examples of their work can be
fourd in the Riverside-West End Historic District.

The firm of Iamb & Rich was active until 1899, after which time the part-
ners worked independently. Rich practiced alone until 1903, then became
senior partner in the firm of Rich & Mathesius (see), and later Rich,
Mathesius & Koyl, which designed commercial, institutional, and school
buildings. Rich was elected a Fellow of the American Institute of
Architects in 1913, and was a member of the Architectural Ieague of New
York. He retired from architectural practice in the 1930s.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 48.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Bryant Park Studios Designation
Report (LP-1542), (New York, 1988), 5; "Architects’ Appendix,™
Iadies Mile Historic Dlstrlct Designation Report (IP-1609), (New
York, 1989); "Architects’ Apperxix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1989).

"Tamb and Rich," Macgmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf XK.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 605.

"Hugh Lamb obituary," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1903), vol. 4, 142.

Hugh Lamb obituary, New York Times, Apr. 4, 1903, p.9:6.

Sarah Bradford Landau, "The Row Houses of New York’s West Side," Journal
of the Scciety of Architectural Historians 1 (Mar., 1975), 19-36.

*Charles A. Rich," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 2, 496,

Charles A. Rich cﬂ:utuaxy New York Times, Dec. 5, 1943, p.66:5.

Mho’s Who in Architecture," American Art Annual, (Washlngton D.C.,
1524-25), vol. 21, 451-52.
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Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 360, 506.

THOMAS WHITE IAMB (1871-1942)
135-145 West 70th Street, 239

Thomas White Lamb was born in Dundee, Scotland, came to the United States
at an early age, and studied at Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art in New York. He established an architectural practice,
Thomas W. Lamb, Inc., .in New York by 1892, ard in 1899 he was associated
with J.F. Kelly & Co. Although his earliest comissions, as listed in the
fimm’s account books, include work in the St. Nicholas Skating Rink at 157
West 66th Street (demolished), the Grand Central Depot, and factories,
lofts, stables, and residences, he is best known for his prolific work as
a theater designer. ILamb designed over 300 theaters throughout the world,
including the Cort Theater at 138-146 West 48th Street (1912, a designated
New York City Iandmark). Iater in his career, Iamb continued to design
legitimate theaters but also designed movie theaters throughout the U.S.,
including the Riwvoli Theater (1919), and Loew’s State Building and Theater
(1922). In 1926-27 he designed the Pythian Temple in the Upper West

- 8ide/Central Park West Historic District, a building with an abundance of
polychromatic ornament inspired by exotic neo-Babylonian sources. Lamb
won honorable mention in the 1932 Palace of the Soviets Competition in
Moscow. -

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 48.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, Cort Theater Designation Report
(LP-1328), (New York, 1987).

"Thomas White Lamb," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 625.

Thomas White Lamb obituary, New York Times, Feb. 27, 1942, p.l12:4.

"Thomas White Lamb," Pencil Points Vol. 23 (Mar., 1942), 54.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 360-61.
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NATHAN IANGER (dates undetermined)
127 West 72nd Street, 290

Little is known of architect Nathan lLanger. His New York City architec-
tural practice was established by 1897. In 1899 he began to specialize in
the design of tenements, and formed a partnerhsip with George R. Bintley
urder the firm name of Langer & Bintley. Examples of Langer’s work can be
found in the Mt. Morris Park Historic District. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District, he was responsible for the conversion
of a rowhouse to an office and apartment building in 1921.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 48.

FRED C. IARY

432-436 Columbus Avenue, 99

N. LE BRIN & SONS

Napolecn E.H.C. Ie Brun (1821-1901)
Pierre L. 1e Brun (1846-1924)
Michel M. Le Brun (1857-1913)

120 West 83rd Street, 546

Napoleon Le Brun, architect and engineer, was born in Philadelphia to
French parents. He apprenticed to Thomas U. Walter (the designer of the
dome and wings of the U.S. Capitol) for six years beginning in 1836. Ie
Brun opened his own firm in Philadelphia in 1841 where he proceeded to
work on many ecclesiastical projects (the Roman Catholic Cathedral of
Saint Peter and Saint Paul, completed 1864, is a notable example) as well
as residential and cammercial buildings. At some peint in his Philadelphia
career Ie Brun formed a partnership with Gustave Runge. The association
did not last long, but the Academy of Music {1855-56) is a product of
their collaboration. In 1864 ILe Brun moved his already successful prac-
tice to New York where his early cammissions were again ecclesiastical,
but expanded to include residential and cammercial work as well. His
winning entry in the competition for the Masonic Temple (1870) on West
23rd Street near Sixth Avenue (predecessor of the present Masonic Temple)
did much to establish his reputation.

Ie Brun’s office expanded as his sons Pierre and Michel joined the firm in
1870 and 1892, respectively. The firm then became known as N. Le Brun &
Scns. Perhaps the best known buildings of this phase of 1e Brun’s career
are the Home Life Insurance Building (1893-94) at 253 Broadway and a
series of buildings for the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company on Madison
Square (complex, 1890-1909, the tower, 1907-09, is a designated New York



contimuation of . . . . N. Le Brun & Sons

City Iandmark). These were early experiments in skyscraper design. As
the official architect of the New York City Fire Department from 1879 to
1895, the firm completed several firehouses in a variety of styles but
particularly in the Renaissance ard Romanesque Revival, including the
building for Engine Company No. 14 within the Iadies Mile Historic
District and Engine Company No. 74 in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District. (See the essay on institutional buildings for
more information.) Ie Brun served as President of the New York Chapter of
the American Institute of Architects, was a Fellow of the same organiza-
tion, and a member of the Architectural Ieaque. He was also president of
the Willard Architectural Commission,:organized to acguire architectural.-
models for the Metropolitan Museum of Art.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 49.

A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 701.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989).

'"Napoleon Ie Brun," Dictionary of American Biography.

"Napoleon Ie Brun," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 2, 627-28.

"Napoleon 1e Brun," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. H, 308.

Napoleon Ie Brun cbituary, American Architect & Building News 4
(1903), 142.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 366-67.

CHARTES H. LENCH

102-104 West 85th Street, 582

IEVIROM ASS0OCS.

215-217 Columbus Averne, 63



DAVID M. IEWIS (b. 1945)
386-390 Columbus Avenue, 94

David M. Lewis was born in New York City and was educated at the Univer-
sity of Cincinnati, graduating with honors in 1968. Early in his career
he worked with the firm of Schuman, Lichtenstein & Claman (see) where he
participated in the design of high-rise residential developments. Iewis
was licensed in 1972 and became an associate in the firm of Stephen B.
Jacdbs & Associates. After working for a short period with Shapiro & Lawn
Associates, Lewis established an independent practice in 1981. David
ILewis Architects undertakes both new construction and renovation projects:
for residential;, commercial, and institutional uses. The firm designed an
elgl'rteen-storyaparl:ment]:nuldug mtheUpperWestSJ.de/Gentral Park West
Historic District and has recently comverted an estate in rural Pemnsylva-
nia into a substance abuse treatment center and a Hoboken, New Jersey
schoolhouse to residential use.

Firm description, Personal correspordence with David M. Iewis, 1990.

LTEEMAN ITEBMAN ASSOCS.

Harold M. Liebman (b. 1920)
Norman M. Liebman (b. 1926)

130-136 West 79th Street, 450

Harold M. Liebman was born in New York City and Norman M. Liekman was born
in Broocklyn. Both brothers completed their education at Pratt Institute;
Harold received his degree in 1940, Norman in 1950. Early in his career,
Harold joined with Morris Iapidus, forming the firm of Iapidus & Liebman.
later, Norman joined that firm, which produced designs for apartments and
hotels such as the Summit and the Americana in New York City and the
Fountainbleau in Miami, Florida. In 1964 the Liebmans established their
own firm and received comissions for office and apartmwent buildings in
New York City, Boston, and Ft. Lauderdale. In addition to an apartment
building in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
constructed in 1985-88, the firm is also responsible for Ie Triomphe (245
East 58th Street, 1986), the Beaumont (30 West 61st Street, 1983), ard the
Morgan Court (211 Madison Avenue, 1987).

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 544.
Firm description, Personal correspondence with Norman M. Lielman, 1990.
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DETLEF IIENAU (1818-1887)

48 West 82nd Street, 505
50 West 82nd Street, 506
52 West 82nd Street, 507
54 West 82nd Street, 508

Born in Schleswig-Holstein, which is now a part of Germany, Detlef Lienau
attended elementary ard technical schools in Stettin, Germany, and was
trained as a carpenter and cabinetmaker from 1837 to 1841 in Berlin and
Hamburg. HestudledardntecmrearﬂenglnaermgattheRoyalArdutec-
tural School in Munich in 1841-42, and under praminent architect Henri
Iabrouste in Paris until 1847. Lienau then traveled extensively in - -
Eurcpe, producing hurndreds of drawings, and worked for a short time (in
1847} as a draftsman with the Paris and Lyon Railway Company.

Lienau traveled to America in 1848 and by 1850 was listed in the New York
City Directory as an architect working with Leon Marcotte. That partner-
ship did not last long as Marcotte tirmed to interior design and Lienau
opened his own architectural practice. Lienau designed virtually every
type of building: mansions, townhouses, apartments, tenements, stores,
offices, warehouses, lofts, factories, and schools. He was one of the
early proponents in New York of the Second Empire and neo-Grec styles and
helped popularize the use of the mansard roof. Examples of his French-
inspired designs are found in four contigucus rowhouses constructed in
1886-87 in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.
Lienau was also responsible for the design of the Parish Buildirgy at 860
Broadway in the Iadies Mile Historic District.

Lienau’s firm was the training ground for both Paul Pelz (1859-66),
designer of U.S. lighthouses and winner of the Iibrary of Congress campe-
tition, and Henry J. Hardenbergh (see), designer of the Plaza Hotel (a
designated New York City Iandmark) and the Dakcta Apartments. In 1873,
Lienau invited his son, J. August Lienau (1854-1906), to join his
practice. The elder Lienau was a Fellow of the American Institute of
Architects and one of its thirteen original members. He remained active
as an architect until his death.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840~1900
(New York, 1979), 50.

Ellen W. Kramer, "Detlef Lienau, an Architect of the Brown Decades,"
Journal of the Society of Architectural Historians 14 (Mar., 1955), 18~25.

Lardmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), {(New York,
1989) .

metlef Lienau," HNational Cyclopedia of American Biography, (New York,
1967), vol. 29, 16.

"Detlef Lienau," Dictionary of American Biooraphy.

"Detlef Lienau," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 6-8.
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Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 371-72.

H. HERBERT LILTEN (b. 1898)

10 West 74th Street, 347
147-161 West 81st Street, 486

A native of New Jersey, H. Herbert Lilien began a New York City
architectural practice in 1829. Through the Depression years and early
19408 he was responsible for the design of mumercus Art Deco and Art
Moderne style apartment buidings, particularly in the Grand Concourse area
of the Bronx. Two Art Moderne apartment buildings were constructed
according to his designs in 1940 and 1950 in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District (one of which was a collaborative effort with
H.I. Feldman), and ancther can be found in the West End-Collegiate
Historic District. Lilien practiced through the 1950s.

landmarks Preservation Comission, West End-Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (ILP-1418), (New York, 1984).

FRANK S. LINDGREN

53 West 70th Street, 225
55 West 70th Street, 225
57 West 70th Street, 226

CHARLES H. LINDSIEY (dates undetermined)

128, 130, 132, 134, 136, 138, 140 & 142 West 70th Street, 241
3 & 5 West 83rd Street, 528

23, 25 West 83rd Street, 530

25 West 83rd Street, 530

Little is known of Charles H. Lindsley. He was first listed in New York
City directories in 1880. 1In 1885 he was listed in the field of real
estate and in the same year a Charles W., perhaps his son, was listed in
the same field at the same address. In 1893 Charles H. was listed as a
builder and was no longer listed after 1895/96. (Charles W. was first
listed as a builder in 1899.) In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District Lindsley designed nec—Grec and Romanescue Revival style
rowhouses in the 1880s and ‘90s.

Trow’s New York City Directory.
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JOSEFH PEIL IOMBARDT

131 West 72nd Street, 291

JAMES BROWN IORD (1859-1902)

153, 155, 157, 159 West 74th Street, 354
156, 158, 160, 162 West 75th Street, 391

James Brown Iord, a New York City native and member of the influential
-Brown barking family, graduated from Princeton College in 1879. Iord
began an architectural apprenticeship in 1879 or 1880 with Willijam A.
Potter (see), a noted architect who worked primarily in the Victorian

. Gothic Style ard was a senior partner in the firm of Potter & Robertson.
The association with Potter stemmed from a close relationship between the
Potter and Brown families. In 1882 Lord worked with Potter as a junior
associate in the design of the Union Theological Seminary complex at Park
Averme and 70th Street (demolished). About this same time Lord received
his first indeperdent commission, two houses for Howard Potter on East
37th Street; comissions followed for private houses in Yonkers, Tuxedo
Park, Bar Harbor, Maine and Roslyn, Long Island, as well as in New York
City. In 1820 lord, along with Stanford White of the firm of McKim, Mead
& White (see) and Bruce Price, designed rowhouses which became known as
the King Model Houses or Striver’s Row on 138th Street in Harlem (included
in the St. Nicholas Historic District).

Lord’s non-residential commissions included commercial and institutional
work. He designed two restaurants for Delmonico’s, the building at Beaver
- ard South William Streets (1891) and the one at 44th Street and Fifth
Averme (1897). In the 1890s he designed several hospitals, including St.
Iukes Hospital for which he won a competition, as well as the Society of
New York Hospital (Bloomincdale Asylum) at White Plains, New York (1894)
and the New York Infant Asylum at Amsterdam Avenue and 6lst Street (1901).
The Bloomingdale branch of the New York Free Circulating Library amd the
Yorkville Branch Library (both designated New York City Landmarks), and
Lord’s most prominent work, the Appellate Division Courthouse (1896-99, a
designated New York City Iandmark) on Madison Scuare, were executed in the
Renaissance-inspired style he favored in the late 1890s. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Lord designed two rows of
Queen Anne style houses that were built in 1886-88 on back-to-back sites
for developer Charles Barney. His successful career was brought to an
untimely end by his death in 1902 at the age of 43.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 51.

.. A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.

(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 690.
Lardmarks Preservation Commission, New York Free Circulating Library
Designation Report (LP-1616), (New York, 1989), 2-3.
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MJames Brown Lord," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 32-33,

"James Brown Lord," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1, 746.

James Brown Lord obituary, New York Times, June 2, 1902, p.S%.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 380.

PAUL IIU BROTH

16 West 85th Street, 567

ROBERT T. LYONS (dates undetermined)

285 Central Park West, 46
72-76 West 68th Street, 195
12 West 69th Street, 202

31 West 71st Street, 246
164-168 West 75th Street, 392
135-139 West 79th Street, 444
29-39 West 90th Street, 662

Robert T. Iyons was established as an architect in New York by 1897. He
specialized in the design of apartment buildings and hotels, but also
designed rowhouses and commercial buildings. He apparently favored the
neo-Renaissance style but also emploved the more florid Beaux-Arts and
more severe nec-Federal styles in his designs. 2Among his more important
comnissions were the Coronet apartment building (1901, West 58th Street),
the Tammany Central Asscociation Clubhouse (1902, East 32nd Street), the
City Athletic Club (1906, West 54th Street), and a townhouse at 70 East
91st Street (within the Carnegie Hill Historic District). His work
includes the Beaux-Arts style St. Urban (1904-05) on Central Park West and
other apartment and studio buildings in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District constructed from 1913 to 1931. Lyons worked for
F.P. Platt & Brother (see} on one building in the district.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 51.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).




MANN & MACNEIILE

Horace B. Mann (1868-1937)
Perry R. MacNeille (1872-1931)

33 West 75th Street, 368

Horace Borchsenius Mann was born in Orange, New Jersey and studied
architecture at Columbia University, graduating in 1890. He then became
associated with J.C. Cady (see Cady, Berg & See)}. After travel and study
abroad, Marm worked as a draftsman for the firm of Snelling & Potter.
Perry R. MacNeille began his career in architecture with Marn in the firm
of Mann & MacNeille in 1902. The firm was active in the design of a
variety of buildings in New York including office buildings, schools,
churches, and residences. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District Mann & MacNeille altered an existing rowhouse. The firm
also designed innovative duplex rowhouses in the Park Slope Historic
District. From 1917 to 1919 Mann worked with the U.S. Shipping Board
which was actively engaged in a large-scale building program to house
workers in war-related shipping industries. The firm remained in practice
until 1931.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticnary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 384, 389.

MARGON & HOLDER

Irving Margon (1888-1958)
Adolph M. Holder (dates urdetermined)

300 Central Park West, 49
133-135 West 71st Street, 262
49-51 West 72nd Street, 278

Although he practiced architecture in New York for over fifty years,
little is known about Irving Margon. He designed brick apartment
buildings in what are now the Greemwich Village and Upper East Side
Historic Districts during the 1930s, as well as a neo-classical residence
at 5 East 64th Street in 1950, also in the Upper East Side Historic
District. He practiced with Charles Glaser in the mid-1920s and later
joined with architect Adolph M. Holder. Little is known of Holder but
the firm of Margon & Holder is most noted for the design of apartment
buildings, particularly the twin-towered Eldorado Apartments in the Upper.
West Side/Central Park West Historic District (1931, with Emery Roth as a
consultant, a designated New York City landmark). The firm designed two
other apartment buildings in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District, constructed between 1928 and 1930, and another in the
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Riverside-West Frd Historic District.

Lardmarks Preservation Commission, Eldorado Apartments Designation
Report (IP-1521), (New York, 1985); "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside — West End Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989).

Irving Margon cbituary, New York Times, Sep. 24, 1958, p.27:2.

ELT MARTIN (dates undetermined)
106, 108 West 81st Street, 487

Little is known of architect Eli Martin, whose practice was established in
New York City by 1887. An example of his residential work can be fourd in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District -- a row of nec—
Grec style houses,

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 52.

MAYNICKE & FRANKE

Robert Maynicke (1849-1913)
Julius Franke (1868-1936)

20542062 Broadway, 163

Robert Maynicke was born in Germany and studied mechanics and mathematics
at Cooper Union for the Advancement of Science ard Art. By 1872-73
Maynicke was employed by prominent architect George B. Post. While in
Post’s office Maynicke studied the structural properties of iron and
steel. This study allowed him to participate in the firm’s pioneering
work in commercial structures of the 1870s and ’80s whose increased height
was made possible by the introduction of elevators. The Mills Building
(1881-83), the Produce Exchange (1881-85, demolished), the Cotton Exchange
(1883-85), and the Union Trust Building (1889-90) are some of the elevator
buildings with which Maynicke was involved in Post’s office. Maynicke
remained with Post until 1895.

Franke .was born in New York and graduated from the College of the City of -
New York, (now City College) in 1889. As a student he entered the office
of Geocrge B. Post sametime during the construction of the New York ‘Times -
. Building (1881-90) which he supervised. . That structure was, upon comple-
tion, the tallest building in the world. Franke then went to Paris to

study at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts. By 1894-95, he was back in the U.S.

and was established as an architect at 287 Fourth Averme. By 1900 Franke
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worked in Maynicke’s office, where he served as head draftsman. Begimning
in 1901, both Franke and Maynicke can be fourd in Trow’s directory at 725
Broadway. By 1905 the firm of Maynicke & Franke, ing offices at 298
Fifth Averne, is listed in addition to the individual architects’
listings.

Over 100 large commercial structures were completed in New York by
Maynicke & Franke. The buildirgs were known for their advanced structural
systems using iron and steel, as well as for developments in the struc-
tural properties of reinforced concrete. Maynicke was the single most

- prolific architect within the ladies Mile Historic District, with most of
his work commissioned by Henry Corn, a builder and real estate operator
who was described as a pioneer in loft building construction. The firm’s
work in the ladies Mile Historic District dates primarily from the first
two decades of the twentieth century and displays a predominance of the
neo-Renaissance style. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Maynicke & Franke designed the nec-Renaissance style Hotel Alamac
(1922). Independently Maynicke designed the Hotel Embassy, formerly the
Hotel Ormonde (1899-1900).

Maynicke was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects, and a mem—
ber of the Municipal Art Society and the Architectural league. As a mem—
ber of the Joint Committee of the AIA, FrankehelpeddrafttheNewYork
City Building Code. After Maynicke’s death in 1913, Franke continued to
practice independently, but retained the firm name of Maynicke & Franke
until 1925. Franke retired in the following year and turnmed to landscape

painting.

Diana Balmori, "George B. Post: The Process of Design and the New
American . . .," Journmal of the Society of Architectural Historians
46 (Dec., 1987), 342-55.

City College Alumni Register.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 31, 53.

"Julius Franke," National Cyclopedia of American Biography, (New York,
1967), vol. 27, 85.

"Freed of $1,852,000 Debts," New York Times, Jan. 18, 1916, p.7:6.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1900), 45.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1901), 49.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Desiomation Report (ILP-1609), (New York,

1989).

Robert Maynicke obituary, Real Estate Record & Guide, Oct. 4, 1913, 623.

New York Times, June 17, 1934, p.29:5.

* "George Browne Post," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 460-63.

"Who’s Who in Architecture," American Art Anmual, (Washington, D.C.,
1924=25), vol. 21, 399.
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Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticonary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 218, 402.

ROBERT MAYNICKE (1849-1913)
2028-2032 Broadway, 162

{See Maynicke and Franke, above)

MCDOWELL & HENRY (BUILDERS)

145, 147, 149, 151, 153, 155 West 88th Street, 641

MCKENZIE, VOORHEES & GMELIN

Andrew C. McKenzie (1861-1926)
Stephen Francis Voorhees (1878-1965)
Paul Gmelin (1857-1937)

121-139 West 731d Street, 325

Andrew McKenzie, born in Dunkirk, New York, and educated in Buffalo, came
to New York City in 1884 and worked for the firm of Babb, Cook & Willard
(see). He later became associated with Cyrus L.W. Eidlitz, son of the
prominent 19th—century New York architect Lecpold Eidlitz (see), and the
two formed the partnership of Eidlitz & McKenzie in 1902. That firm’s
major work was the New York Times Building at Times Square which still
stands, although its exterior clad&ling was destroyed in a remodeling of
1965. Eidlitz retired from the firm in 1910. While practicing
architecture, McKenzie also served as a member of the City Planning and
Survey Comittee.

Stephen Voorhees was born near Rocky Hill, New Jersey, and was a descen-
dent of a Dutch family which settled in Flatlands, Brooklyn, in 1660.
Educated as a civil engineer at Princeton University, he worked in that
capacity in Newark, New Jersey, from 1900, the year of his graduation,
until 1902. That year, he joined the newly formed partnership of Eidlitz
& McKenzie as a civil engineer and superintendent of construction; one of
his first jobs was the supervision of the foundation work for the New York
Times Building. Besides his work in the firm, Voorhees was president of
the American Institute of Architects in 1936 and 1937, and chairman of the
board of design, chief architect, and vice president of the New York
World’s Fair of 1939-40. As an engineer, he believed that architects
should be closer to the processes of construction;: he was a founder in
1921 ard later president of the New York Building Congress.
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Paul Gmelin was born in Ulm, West Germany, and studied in Stuttgart. As a
young man he came to this country to be a draftsman for "The Bridge
Builder Magazine," and while employed there Charles Follen McKim (see
McKim, Mead & White) asked him to make perspective drawings of the fimm’'s
Boston Public Library. Shortly afterward Gmelin joined the firm of Bakb,
Cock & Willard, where he must have met Andrew McKenzie. He and McKenzie
won a competition in 1885 for a proposed telephone building in New York;
the first such building to be constructed in the United States, it was the
- first of a lorg series of telephone and telegraph company buildings
designed by the firm.

The firm of McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin was organized in 1910 and con— -
timed McKenzie & Gmelin’s successful relationship with the telephone
company, with commissions for the neo—Federal style structure (1920) in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District and other tele-
phone buildings in Albany and Buffalo. The firm’s most notable work,
campleted just after McKenzie’s death, was the Barclay-Vesey Telephone
Company Building, one of the finest Art Deco skyscrapers in lower Man-
hattan; its design is generally credited to Ralph Walker, although he had
not yet become a partner. The firm also designed the Brooklyn Edison
Company building and the Brooklyn Municipal Building, as well as a few
private residences, an example of which can be seen in the Upper East Side
Historic District.

After McKenzie’s death in 1926, the firm became Voorhees, Grelin & Walker.
The new partner, Ralph Walker, became known in the 1920s and 1930s as one
of the city’s major architects having designed a series of Art Deco office
buildings. Voorhees retired from the firm in 1959, at which time it was
knowm as Voorhees, Walker, Smith, Smith & Haines.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 730.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 54.

Paul Gmelin cbhituary, New York Times sec. 2 (Nov. 21, 1937), P.8:8.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP~1051), (New York,
1981) .

"McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin,™ Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed.
Adolf K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 139-40.

"Stephen Francis Voorhees," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967),
vol. 4, 973.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 237.
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MCKTM, MEAD & WHITE

charles Follen McKim (1847-1909)
William Rutherford Mead (1846-1928)
Stanford white (1853-1906)

248-254 Colurbus Avenue, 72
167, 169, 171 & 173 West 83rd Street, 543

One of the most famous and productive firms in the history of American
architecture, McKim, Mead & White exerted considerable influence over the
development of this country’s architecture in the late-nineteenth and
early-twentieth centuries. -Slowly breaking with the Richardsonian :

- Romanesque aesthetic, in which both McKim and white were trained, the firm
played a leading role in promoting the popularity of classically-inspired
forms in the decades around the turn of the century. Work in both the
Colonial Revival and the nec-Ttalian Renaissance styles are products of
thelorx;caxeerofﬂns firm. Their work marked the increasing sophis-—
tication of American architecture.

tharles Follen McKim was born in Chester County, Pernsylvania. After un—
successfully atterpting to study ergineering at Harvard University, McKim
turned to architecture. He began his apprenticeship in the office of New
York architect Russell Sturgis, before leaving for three years of travel
and study in Eurcpe. On his return in 1870, McKim joined the fimm of
Gambrill & Richardson in which influential American architect Henry Hobson
Richardson was a partner. Soon he rented his own office and began col-
laboration with Mead in 1872. 1In 1878 the firm of McKim, Mead & Bigelow
was established, as William Bigelow joined the firm.

William Rutherford Mead was educated at Amherst College and studied in
Eurcpe. Like McKim, he apprenticed in Sturgis’s office. Mead was largely
involved with the management of the firm, rather than design.

Stanford White achieved fame not only for his prolific work in residential
design, but also because of the public scandal which surrounded his murder
in 1906. White came from a family in which cultural pursuits were the
daminant interest. He wanted to be an artist but instead joined the firm
of Gambrill & Richardson in 1872. He succeeded McKim as head draftaman in
Richardson’s office and stayed there until 1878, becoming quite adept in
the Richardscnian Romanesque style and contributing greatly to many of
Richardson’s designs, especially in residential work, interior design, and
ornament on public commissions. In 1878 he left the firm to travel in
Europe. Upon his return, he assumed William Bigelow’s position and the
firm of McKim, Mead & White was bequn.

‘The firm’s national reputation and influence are largely attributable to
the chicago World’s Columbian Exposition of 1893 which.popularized Roman—
-and Renaissance-inspired mommental architecture, and in which they
designed the Agriculture Building on the Court of Honor, the New York
State Building, and two small pavilions. Buildings such as the Iow
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Memorial Library at Columbia University (1895-97) amd the U.S. Post Office
(1910-13) on Eighth Averme (both are designated New York City ILandmarks),
reflect this grandeur of turn-of-the-century American Classicism. The
firm also designed mansions and sumer hames, many constructed for members
of wealthy Newport, Rhode Islarnd, society, as well as grand public
camissions, such as the Boston RPublic Library (2887-98). In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District, flats dating from 1885
reflect the firm’s earlier Romanesgue Revival aesthetic, while the

Beaux-Arts style store for the Park & Tilford grocery concern (1892-93)
displays the increasing classicism of the firm’s work. The firm’s prom—
inence continued well into the twentieth century. McKim retired in 1907
and died two years later. The firm remained active for a mmber of years,
first under the leadership of Mead, and then under many talented young
architects. Mead retired to Europe in 1920.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 54, 82.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix,” Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).
Sarah Bradford ILandau, "The Tall Office Building Artistically
Reconsi ;" 1In Search of Modern Architecture: A Tribute to
Henry Russell Hitchcock (New York, 1982), 136-64.
"McKim, Mead & White," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf
K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 140-51,
Ieland M. Roth, McKim, Mead & White, Architects (New York, 1983).
Russell Sturgis, "The Works of McKim, Mead & White," Architectural Record,
1-111.
"Stanford White," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 390-94.

MARVIN H. MELTZER (dates undetermined)

432-436 Colurbus Averme, 99

Marvin Herman Meltzer joinied the American Institute of Architects in
1970, and collaborated with architect Fred €. lary on the reconstruction
of flats to a small apartment building in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 614.
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MORTIMER C. MERRTTT (18407-1931)
128 West 73rd Street, 332

Mortimer C. Merritt was born in New York and graduated form the College of
the City of New York (now City College) in 1859. He was established as an
architect by 1868 and always worked independently. Merritt’s practice
consisted mostly of cammercial structures, including the Hugh O’Neill
Building in the Iadies Mile Historic District. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District he designed a rowhouse (1883-84) in a
Medieval Revival style. Merritt practiced architecture until about 1915.

‘Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 54.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-160%), (New York,
1989) .

Mortimer C. Merritt obituary, New York Times, Dec. 5, 1931, p.l17:6.

CHARIES BRADFORD MEYERS (18757-1958)
7-21 West 83rd Street, 529

A graduate of Pratt Institute and City College, Charles Bradford Meyers
was a prolific New York City architect whose practice was first estab-
lished in 1900. Wwhile many of his designs were for residential buildings,
he also designed several hospital and govermment buildings, in addition to
the nec-Ramanesque style Rodeph Shalom Synagogue Complex (1928-30) in-
cluded in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. (See
essay on religious institutions for more information.) During his career
Meyers worked for the Building Code Revision Commission and other city
agencies. A member of the American Institute of Architects ard the New
York Society of Architects, Meyers won a gold medal for his New York State
Building at the Panama-Pacific International Exposition in 1915.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 56.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Charles Bradford Meyers cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 23, 1958, p.31:3.
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GEORGE G. MIITER (b. 1893)
35-45 West 92nd Street, 680

George Gottlieb Miller was born in New York City and was educated at
Colunbia University. Early in his career he served as chief draftsman for
the firm of Gronenberg & lLeuchtag (see). He established an independent
practice in 1921 designing buildings of a variety of types. His principal
works, however, were apartment kuildings, examples of which can be found
in the Bronx and in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. Miller was a member of the New York Society of Architects and
of the New York Chapter of the American Institute of Architects.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 483.

WILLIAM J. MINOGUE (1902-1954)

128 West 72nd Street, 306

William J. Minogue, a native of New York, studied at Columbia University.
He was active in the first half of the twentieth century, particularly in
work for the Catholic Archdiocesan Building Committee. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District Minogue undertoock alterations to
an existing building.

William J. Minogue cbituary, New York Times, Aug. 12, 1954, p.25:5.

FRANCIS A. MINUTH (dates undetermined)

487, 489, 491 Coluwmbus Averme, 110
493=-495 Columbus Averme, 111

569~-579 Columbus Averme, 121

57, 59 & 61, 63 West 68th Street, 185

Little is known of Francis A. Mimuth. He was established as an architect
in New York by 1887 and was responsible for the design of many rowhouses
in the city including a group in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District and several in the Riverside-West End Historic District.
Minuth also designed flats buildings in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District and typically worked in the Renaissance Revival and
Queen Anne styles.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 55. _

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Comnission, "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside
- West End Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1626), (New
York, 1989).
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JOHN H. MORRCW

211 West 79th Street, 456

CHARIES T. MOTIT (dates undetermined)
25, 27, 29, 31 West 95th Street, 698

Charles T. Mott established an architectural practice in Brooklyn by 1885
and moved his firm to Manhattan in 1887. From 1893 to 1896 Mott worked in
partnership with Hugo RKafka (see). A prolific architect in New York,
examples of Mott’s residential designs can be found in the Park Slope and
West End-Collegiate Historic Districts, as well as in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District where he was responsible for one
group of rowhouses. He also designed the ILong Point Hotel in Senaca Lake,
New York. Mott typically employed a mixture of nineteenth—century styles
for his designs, including elements of the Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival,
Francois I, and Renaissance Revival styles Mott was elected a Fellow of
the American Institute of Architects in 1894.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 56.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, West End—-Collegiate Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1418), (New York, 1984}, 261.

"Charles T. Mott," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 121.

JACOB WREY MOULD (1825-1886)
175 Central Park West, 19

Jacch Wrey Mould was born in Chiselhurst, Kent, England and received his
education at King’s College in Iondon, graduating in 1842. Mould studied
architecture under Owen Jones ard assisted him in compiling and illustra-—
ting a book on the Alhambra in Granada, Spain, an important architectural
momument with a wealth of polychramatic ornamental features. He also
collaborated on a book entitled "Grammar of Ornmament." In 1852 Mould
moved to New York and established a practice. His first major commission
was for All Soul’s Unitarian Church and Parsonage (1853-55, demolished),
in which he introduced constructional polychromy to American architecture.
In subsequent ecclesiastical designs Mould designed in the English High
Victorian Gothic style. His work in association with Calvert Vaux for the
first building for the American Museum of Natural History, located in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, exhibits this style.
{See essay on institutional buildings for more information.)

As assistant architect to Frederick Law Olmsted and Calvert Vaux, Mould

devoted much of his career to the design of architectural details for
structures in Central Park. His most notable work there is the Terrace
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(now known as the Bethesda Terrace). Iater he served as architect-in-chief
of the New York Department of Public Parks. Mould also designed residen-
ces, ard in collaboration with Vaux, the first building of the Metropoli-
tan Museum of Art (1874-80) which is now incorporated inte the much
expanded museum camplex. From 1875~79 Mould was employed by Henry Meiggs
as architect-in—chief of the Department of Public Works in Lima, Peru.
Returning to New York in 1880, he designed architectural features for
Morningside Park, then worked again for the Department of Public Parks as
a draftsman.

"Tacob Wrey Mould," American Architect & Building News 19 (June 26,
1886), 301-02.

‘"Jacch Wrey Mould," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 246-47.

"Jacob Wrey Mould," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. H, 371.

Jaccbh Wrey Mould cbituary, New York Times, June 16, 1886, p.5:2.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (los Angeles, 1970), 431.

MULLIKEN & MOELIER

Harry B. Mulliken (1872-1952)
Edgar J. Moeller (1874-1954)

251 Central Park West, 42

257 Central Park West, 43

521-527 [a/k/a 77 West 85th Street], 529-535 [a/k/a 76 West 86th Street]
Colurbus Avenue, 116

261-267 Amsterdam Averue, 124

269-275 Amsterdam Averme, 124

2016-2018 Broadway, 16l

Harry B. Mulliken was born in Sterling, Illinois, and graduated from
Columbia University in 1895. He studied architecture under William R.
Ware and A.D.F. Hamlin, and in Paris. A member of the Architectural
league, he was associated with D.H. Burnham in ¢chicago in 1895-96 and
Ernest Flagg in New York in 1897. Edgar J. Moeller also graduated from
Columbia in 1895 and was elected president of the Colunbia Alumni Federa-
tion in 1921. He remained imvolved in alumni affairs for most of his
life,

Mulliken and Moeller had joined in practice by 1902 and designed many
apartment b'ulldmgs amd hotels in New York. Several of these buildings,
designed in the neo-Renaissance and Beaux-Arts styles and dating from' 1904
to 1907, appear in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
Dlstrlct:. Independently, Mulliken designed a neo-Renaissance style hotel,
as well. Mulliken retired from practice in 1949 after which Moeller
practiced independently.
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contimuation of . . . . Mulliken & Moeller

"Mulliken & Moeller," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1924), vol. 21, 440.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 57.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

Moeller New Head of Columbia Alumni," New York Times sec. II
(July 24, 1921), p.1:3.

Edgar J. Moeller cbituary, New York Times, May 26, 1954, p.29:3.

Harry B. Mulliken obituary, New York Times, June 21, 1952, p.15:6.

HARRY B. MULLIKEN (1872-1952)
402-408 Amsterdam Averme, 137

(See Mulliken & Moeller, above)

JULTUS F. MUNCKWITZ (1829-1902)
424 Colunbus Avenue, 96

Julius F. Munckwitz was born in lLeipzig and was established as an archi-
tect in New York in 1862. In the early 1870s he was appointed Supervising
Architect and Superinterdent of Parks and designed a small hotel in the
Iadies Mile Historic District. His jurisdiction in this capacity included
Central Park and his son by the same name succeeded him in this position.
Munckwitz worked through 1200 designing buildings of all types: a small
Beaux-Arts style comercial building dating from the end of his career was
erected according to his design in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. He was a member of the New York Chapter of the
American Institute of Architects and was elected to Fellowship in 1864.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 57.
Larndmarks Preservation Comnission, Research Files.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .
Julius F. Munckwitz cbituary, American Architect & Building News 78
(Nov. 29, 1902), 66.
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NEVILIE & BAGGE

Thamas P. Neville (dates undetermined)
George A. Bagge (dates undetermined)

292 & 293 Central Park West, 48

498 {a/k/a 101 West 84th Street] & 504 Columbus Avenue, 114
123, 125, 127, 129, 131 West 75th Street, 379

117-119 West 79th Street, 441

119, 121 & 123, 125, 127, 129, 131, 133, 135, 137, 139 West 80th Street, 462
151, 153, 155 West 80th Street, 466

167, 169 West 80th Street, 468

35-39 West 8lst Street, 479

110, 112, 114 West 8ist Street, 488

124, 126, 128, 130 West 81st Street, 490

158-160 West 81st Street, 493

50 West 86th Street, 595

35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59, 61 West 88th Street, 634
103, 105, 107, 109 West 88th Street, 639

128~130, 132, 134 West 88th Street, 646

136, 138, 140, 142 West 88th Street, 646

144, 146, 148 West 88th Street, 647

150, 152, 154, 156 West 88th Street, 648

11, 13, 15, 17 West 89th Street, 650

59, 61, 63, 65, 67, 69, 71 West 89th Street, 654

26, 28, 30, 32 West 95th Street, 703

34, 36, 38 West 95th Strest, 704

George A. Bagge established an architectural practice in New York by 1889.
Thomas P. Neville began his career in 1892 when he joined Bagye in
partnership. The firm of Neville & Bagge was active through the second
decade of the twentieth century, specializing in the neo-Renaissance style
for store and loft buildings, many located in the Iadies Mile Historic
District, and apartment buildings, some fourd in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historie District. The firm’s residential work was
concentrated on Manhattan’s West Side and they were extremely prolific
during the 1890s in the design of rowhouses and flats in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District. ‘There it is concentrated
primarily in the blocks of 80th, 81st, and 88th Street, between Columbus
and Amsterdam Avermes. The work of the firm is also found in Harlem, as
well as in the Chelsea, Hamilton Heights, and Mount Morris Park Historic
Districts.

Bagge was also responsible for several independent designs for flats and
rovwhouses in the Upper West Side/Central Paxk West Historic District, all
predating the Neville & Bagge partnership. Three additional apartment
buildings were designed by the firm of George A. Bagge & Sons, -established
after that of Neville & Bagge.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 13, 57.
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continuation of . . . . Neville & Bagge

Landmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989); "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1939).

"Neville & Bagge," New York Public Library Artists File. (Alexandria,
Va., 1987).

Robert A.M. Stern et al, New York 1900 (New York, 1983), 303-04.

NORMAN & FARBER

Oscar A. Norman (dates undetermined)
William C. Farber (dates undetermined)

6, 8 West 87th Street, 613

Little is known of the architectural firm of Norman & Farber which was
established in New York by 1899 with offices at 111 Fifth Avenue. In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm designed a
row of four Chateauesque style houses, of which two survive.

Dennis Steadman Framcis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 58.

A.B. OGDEN & SON

Alfred B. Ogden (dates undetermined)
Samuel B. Ogden (dates undetermined)

320 Columbus Avenue, 87

441-447 {a/K/a 175 West 81st Street] Amsterdam Avenue ar 167, 169, 171,
173 West 8lst Street, 144

477 Amsterdam Avenue, 151

128, 130, 132, 134 West 71st Streek, 270

113, 115, 117, 119, 121 West 75th Street, 378

107 & 109 & 111 West 82nd Street, 512

137 West 82nd Street, 515

12, 14, 16, 18, 20 West 83rd Street, 536

Alfred B. Ogden established an independent New York City architectural
practice in 1874. In 1885 he invited his son, Samuel B. Ogden, to join
his firm and changed the name to A.B. Ogden & Son. The father and son
team specialized in rowhouse design in the Queen Anne, Romanesque Revival,
and Renaissance Revival styles, and examples of their work can be found in
the Carnegie Hill ard Greerwich Village Historic Districts. A.B. Ogden &
Son designed several flats and rowhouses, predominantly in the Renaissance
Revival style, in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.
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continuation of . . . . A,B. Ogden & Son

In 1897 the firm became S.B. Ogden & Co. with Samuel B. Ogden arxd John H.
Tamlinson as principals in the firm, presumably following the death or
retirement of Alfred.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 58.

Landmarks Preservation Comission, "Architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-160%8), (New York,
1989).

J.W. OGDEN, JR. (dates undetermined)
159, 161, 163, 165 West 71st Street, 265

Little is known of architect J.W. Ogden, Jr. His architectural practice
was established in New York City by 1871, the year in which he designed a
row of Ttalianate style houses in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. It is one of the earliest groups of rowhouses to be
built in the district.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 58.

GEORGE PACCISON

225, 227, 229 Columbus Avenue, 66

HENRY PAIMER (dates undetermined)

47 West 94th Street, 6389

Little is known of architect Henry Palmer whose practice was established
in New York by 1882. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Palmer designed a Queen Anne style rowhouse.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 60.
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PASANETTA & KIETN

4-8 West 93rd Street, 683

GEORGE F. PEIHAM (1866-1937)

325 Central Park West, 52

401-405 Amsterdam Averne, 135

17, 19, 21, 23 West 68th Street, 181
25-37 West 68th Street, 182

49, 51, 53, 55 West 68th Street, 184
16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26 West 68th Street, 189
60-66 West 68th Street, 193

22-24 West 69th Street, 204

26-28 West 69th Street, 205

110-114 West 69th Street, 217

12-18 West 70th Street, 228

17-23 West 71st Street, 244

59-65 West 71st Street, 249

27-33 West 72nd Street, 276

21-39 West 73rd Street, 318

105, 113-119 West 73rd Street, 324
11-19 West 75th Street, 366

146, 148, 150, 152, 154 West 75th Street, 390
125-129 West 76th Street, 406

18-20 West 77th Street, 420

50-58 West 77th Street, 422

158-164 West 77th Street, 428

166, 168, 170 West 77th Street, 429
165-173 West 79th Street, 447
160~166 West 79th Street, 453

163, 165 West 80th Street, 467

104, 106, 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 118 West 80th Street, 470
168-170 West 81st Street, 494

32-36 West 82nd Street, 505

125-129 West 82rxd Street, 515
148-154 West 82rd Street, 523

18-24 West 84th Street, 556

34-38 West 84th Street, 557

40-42 West 84th Street, 558

32, 34, 36 West 85th Street, 567
10-12 West 86th Street, 590

17 & 19 & 21 West 90th Street, 660
23, 25, 27 West 90th Street, 661

7, 9, 11, 15 West 95th Street, 697
34, 36, 38, 40, 42 West 96th Street, 709
46-48 West 96th Street, 710

George Frederick Pelham was born in Ottawa, Canada and was brought to New
York as a child. His father, George Brown Pelham (1831-1889), opened an
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contimation of . . . . George F. Pelham

architectural practice in New York in 1875 arnd served as an architect with
the City’s Department of Parks. After being privately tutored in
architecture and servirg as a draftsman for a number of years, George F.
Pelham opened his own office in 1890. A prolific architect, he specialized
in apartment buildings designed in the neo-Renaissance, neo—Gothic, ard
neo-Federal styles during the forty-three years that he practiced, and his
work is fournd in the Riverside-West End, ILadies Mile, and Upper East Side
Historic Districts. Especially active on the Upper West Side, Pelham’s
work is well-represented in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, where he designed rows of Renaissance Revival style houses ard .
flats early in his career ard by 1916 shifted to the design of 1arger

- apartment buildings in the neo-Renaissance style.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 60.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1609), (New York,
1989); “Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989);
“Architects’ Appendix," Upper Fast Side Historic District
Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York, 1981).
George Frederick Pelham cbituary, New York Times, Feb. 9, 1937, p.23.

THE PENTA GROUP, ARCHITECTS

143 West 72nd Street, 296

CHARIES J. FERRY (dates undetermined)
428 Columbus Averme, 98

Little is known of Charles J. Perry. Established as an architect in New
York by 1889, Perry designed a small cast-iron-fronted office building
(1900) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-~1900
(New York, 1979), 61.
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ERNST E. PFEIFFER

212 West 79th Street, 460
214 West 79th Street, 460

ARTHUR DONOVAN PICKERING (1861-7)
221-223 Columbus Avernue, 66

Arthur Donovan Pickering was born in Chicago, Illinois and studied archi-
- tecture in New York with John H. Duncan (see) and Bruce Price. Residing.
in Brooklyn, Pickering established a New York City architectural practice
in 1886 with an office in Manhattan. In the Upper West Side/Central Park-
West Historic District he designed a Renaissance/ Romanesque Revival style
flats building soon after setting up practice. A member of the Archi-
tectural Ieague, Pickering collaborated for a time with Harry L. Walker.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 61.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
Fast Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

- "Arthur Donovan Pickering," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Ievy. (New York,
1903), vol. 4, 124, 130.

"Arthur Donovan Plckerlng " American Art Armual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York
1900), vol. 3, 124.

F.P. PIATT & BROTHER

Frederick Putnam Platt (d. 1955)
Charles Carsten Platt (dates undetermined)

170~-172 West 72nd Street, 314
147-151 West 74th Street, 354

Frederick Putnam Platt, a native New Yorker, was an architect in the city
for more than fifty years. For forty years he was the senior partner in
F.P. Platt & Brother with Charles Carsten Platt, a firm which became well-
known for the design of housing projects and Horn & Hardart Autcmat
restaurants. The firm was involved with many conversions and renovations
ard maintained an alterations department for twenty-five years. Examples
of the firm’s work can be found in the Ladies Mile Historic District, as -
well as in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District where
it was responsible for a neo-Renaissance style apartment building (1922)
and a Horn & Hardart restaurant (1931).

Frederick Putnam Platt cbituary, New York Times, Mar. 28, 1955, p.27:5.
Frederick Putnam Platt chituary, Michigan Society of Architects Monthly
Bulletin Vol. 29 (May, 1955), 9.
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contimiation of . . . . F.P. Platt & Brother

"What Modernizing 400 Buildings Has Taught Us," American Architect Vol.
141 (Jan., 1932), 46-49.

FOLIARD & STETNAM

George Mort Pollard (b. 1865)
Joseph L. Steinam (dates undetermined)

39-41 West 67th Street, 177

' George Mort Pollard was born in:Brooklyn and studied at the College of the
City of New York, now City College. He established an architectural '
practice in New York arourd 1894 and formed a partnership in 1897 with
Joseph L. Steinam, a member of the Architectural Ieaque who lived in New
York. Pollard & Steinam specialized in the design of studio buildings, a
specific type of miltiple dwelling developed to accommodate living and
working spaces for artists, typically in duplex units. The firm’s work is
represented in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District by
a neo-Renaissance style studio building constructed in 1906-07. Indepen—
dently, Pollard designed another studio building in the district, the neo-
Gothic style Hotel des Artistes, constructed from 1915 to 1918, Both
buildings were constructed on the north side of West 67th Street, along
with another studio building, the earliest of those on the block, designed
by Simonson & Sturgis (see) in 1902-03 and two others designed by Simonson,
Pollard & Steinam (see) in 1904-05. The duplex studio units in these
buildings take advantage of the northern exposure available at the rear
that was preferred by artists for their work.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 62, 77.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Apperdix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

"George M. Pollard," Who’s Who in New York City amd State, (New York,
1924}, 1003.

"Joseph L. Steinam," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 129.
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GECRGE M. POLIARD (b. 1865)
1 West 67th Street, 173

(See Pollard & Steinam, above)

JOHN RISSELL POPE (1874-1937)
175 Central Park West, 30

Born in New York, John Russell Pope studied at the College -of the City of
-New York, Columbia University, the American Academy in Rome, and the Ecole
des Beaux-Arts in Paris. - Returning to New York in 1900, Pope entered the
office of Bruce Price. During this time he met Charles McKim of McKim,
Mead & White (see), an association which greatly influenced his later
designs. By 1903 Pope had established an independent practice in New
York. His commissions were for public buildings, colleges, churches,
hospitals, momments and private residences; those displaying traditional
classical styles are considered his most successful. Pope is best known
for his moruments and grard public institutions: the Roosevelt Memorial
Wing of the American Museum of Natural History in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District (a designated New York City
Landmark) , and Constitution Hall (1929), the National Archives Building
(1935), the National Gallery of Art (1939), and the Jefferson Memorial
(campleted after his death), all in Washington, D.C. Also in New York
City, Pope designed the Mrs. Graham Fair Vanderbilt House (1930-31) and
the Frick Reference Library (10 East 71st Street), both designated New
York City Landmarks.

Pope was a Fellow of the American Institute of Architects amd received
medals of honor fram the Architectural Ieague and the New York Chapter of
the ATA. At the time of his death Pope was considered one of the foremost
architects in the United States.

Herbert Croly, "Recent Works of Jochn Russell Pope," Architectural Record
29 (June, 1911), 441-508.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 62.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

"John Russell Pope," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 450-51.

"John Russell Pope," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1,
482.

John Russell Pope cbituary, New York Times, Aung. 28, 1937, p.15:1. :

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 480~81.
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JAMES S. POST (dates undetermined)
40 & 42, 44 West 95th Street, 705

Little is known of architect James S. Post. His practice was established
in New York by 1886, the year in which he designed a row of Renaissance
Revival style houses in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District.

Denmnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 62.

WILLTAM APPTETON POTTER (1842-190%)
4 West 76th Street, 399

Born in Schenectady, William Appleton Potter spent his childhood in
Philadelphia. His family was influential in ecclesiastical ciycles -— his
father was Alonzo Potter, Episcopal Bishop of Pernsylvania and vice presi-
dent of Union College, and his brother was Henry Codman Potter, Episcopal
Bishop of New York. William graduated from Union College in 1864, where
he specialized in chemistry, and later taught that subject at Columbia
University. Potter retirned from a tour of Eurcpe in 1867 to. apprentice
in the New York architectural office of his half-brother, Edward T.
Potter. By 1869, he was working independently in this office, and two
years later, was appointed architect of Princeton College, a position
which established his professional reputation and occupied him through the
mid-1870s and later. Potter formed a partnership with R.H. Robertson in
late 1874 or early 1875 which lasted through 1880; the work of this part-
nership included commissions for university buildings and suburban houses
featuring Queen Anne and Shingle style designs. In 1875 Potter served as
Supervising Architect of the Treasury in Washington, D.C., in which
capacity he designed customs houses ard post offices.

The majority of Potter’s comissions were for schools, government
buildings, and churches. In the 1870s he designed in the High Victorian
Gothic style, as represented in the Chancellor Green Library at Princeton
University (1871-73), the South Congregational Church in Springfield,
Mass, (1873-75), and the Evansville Customs House in Indiana (1875-79).
In the late 1880s and early 1890s his designs were executed in the
Romanesgue Revival style, influenced by the work of Henry Hobson Richard—
son. The St. Agnes Chapel camplex (of which the Parish House at 121 West
91st Street is extant, a designated New York City Landmark) falls within
this period, as does Potter’s Holy Trinity Church complex at 230 Lenox -
Averme (1887-89, now St. Martin’s Episcopal Church, a designated New York
City Landmark); the Grand Rapids (Michigan) Courthouse and Post Office
(1875 on); and Alexander Hall at Princeton University (1891-94). The
Gothic Revival Church of the Divine Paternity in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District is another of Potter’s important
ecclesiastical designs. (See essay on religious institutions for more
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continmuation of . . . . William Appleton Potter
information.)

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 62.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Trinity School and the Former St.
Acnes Parish House Designation Report (IP-1659), (New York, 1989).

"William Appleton Potter," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed.
Adolf K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 3, 467-68.

William Appleton Potter cbituary, New York Times, Feb. 22, 1962, p.9:6.

Montgomery Schuyler, "The Work of William Appleton Potter," Architectural
Record 26 (Sep., 1909), 176-96.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American-
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 485.

- Lawrence Wodehouse, "William Appleton Potter, Principal Pasticheur of
Henry Hobson Richardson," Journal of the Society of Architectural
Historians 32 (May, 1973), 175-92.

JOHN G. PRAGUE (dates undetermined)

509-517 Columbus Avenue, 113

508-516 Colurmbus Avenue, 115

520-526 Columbus Averme, 117

528534 Colunbus Averme, 118

541-547 [a/k/a 61 West 86th Street], 549-555 [a/k/a 72 West 87th Street]
Columbus Averme, 119

540-546 [a/k/a 101 West 86th Street] & 548-556 [a/K/a 100 West 87th
Street] Colunbus Averme, 120

460 Amsterdam Averue, 151

521-527 Amsterdam Avenue, 159

68, 70, 72 West 85th Street, 572

74, 76 West 85th Street, 573

107, 109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121 West 85th Street, 574

123, 125, 127, 129 West 85th Street, 575

137, 139, 141, 143, 145, 147, 149, 151, 153, 155, 157, 159 & 161, 163, 165
West 85th Street, 577

167, 169 and 173 West 85th Street, 530

55 West 86th Street, 587

103 West 86th Streect, 597

123, 125, 127, 129 West 86th Street, 599

137 West B86th Street, 600

102 West 86th Street, 601

112 West 86th Street, 603

124 West 86th Street, 605

70 West 87th Street, 620

102, 104, 106, 108 West 87th Street, 627

110, 112, 114, 116 West 87th Street, 628

118, 120, 122, 124, 126, 128, 130, 132 West 87th Street, 629

134, 136, 138, 140, 142 West 87th Street, 630

John G. Prague, architect and builder, established a New York City
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contimuation of . . . . John G. Prague

architectural practice in 1867. In 1871 he was associated with architect
James MacGregor, and in 1895 he formed a partnership with Jesse Acker
Hays. Prague’s practice was mainly residential with styles varying from
Ttalianate to neoGrec and Cueen Arme. His work as an architect and
builder was concentrated on the Upper East and West Sides of Manhattan.
He was especially prolific in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District where numercus rows of flats and houses were constructed
according to his designs in variations of the Ramanesgue Revival and Queen
Anne styles. Often acting as his own developer, and sometinmes in
collaboration with real estate speculator D. Willis James, Prague’s work
- in the district is concentrated in the blocks of 85th to 87th Streets
‘between Colurbus and Amsterdam Avermes. A particularly noteworthy example
of Prague’s work is the Brockholst, a Romanesque Revival style apartment
hotel at the northwest corner of Columbus Avenue and West 85th Street. In
1894 Prague suffered severe financial difficulties, owing considerable
amounts of money to huilding materials dealers. Even so, he was con—
sidered one of the most popular architects and most prolific of builders
in the city. Prague was a member of the American Institute of Architects
and its New York Chapter.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 62-63.
John G. Prague cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 30, 1915, p.13:8.

FRANK RANDAZZO (b. 1899)

12 West 75th Street, 371
39 West 84th Street, 553
20-22 West 87th Street, 615

Frank Randazzo was born in Palermo, Italy and was educated at the Beaux-
Arts Institute of Design, graduating in 1920. From 1930-35 he was Assist-
ant Architect for the State of New York and fram 1935-37 he was the
architectural designer for the City of New York Department of Hospitals.
In 1937 he joined the firm of Rardazzo & Samenfeld, while also working
independently. He received commissions for commercial, residential,
industrial, religious, and public buildings, and in the Upper West Side/
Central ParkWestHistoric District reconstructed rowhouses into the
equivalent of small apartment buildings. Randazzo was a member of the
Brocklyn Chapter of the American Institute of Architects.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 573. -
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STANLEY RAPAFORT

46 West 73rd Street, 322

SAMUEL B. REED (dates undetermined)
112, 114, 116, 118, 120, 122, 124 West 88th Street, 645

Samiel B. Reed was established as an architect and builder in 1873 with
offices in Queens, New York. In 1880 his office relocated to lower Broad-
way in Manhattan. In 1878 he wrote House Plans for Everybody and in 1883
- Cottage Houses for Village and Country.  These books contained designs for
" houses which were also published in the leading agricultural journal of -
the day, "The Agriculturist,™ and addressed the need for economical and
- practical house plans for farmers and mechanics. Reed designed the
Bloamingdale Reformed Church at the northeast corner of Broadway and 68th
Street (1883, demolished) and the Passaic County Court House in Paterson,
New Jersey. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District he
designed a row of Romanesque Revival style houses. Reed was a member of
the New York Chapter of the American Institute of Architects and the U.S.
Public Architectural League.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 63.

Lardmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.

"Samuel B. Reed," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 125.

TED REEDS & ASSOCS.

409-415 Amsterdam Averue, 136

CHARLES RENTZ (dates undetermined)
480 [a/k/a 201 West 83rd Street], 482 Amsterdam Avenue, 156

Little is known of architect Charles Rentz. His practice was established
in New York by 1885 and in 1888 he began a brief partnership with Rudolph
L. Iange. Rentz designed Renaissance Revival style tenements in the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District in addition to many other
residential structures throughout the city, including several in the
Greerwich Village Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects . in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 64.

Allo



PAUL RESNICK (1907-1966)
80 Central Park West, 8

Paul Resnick was born in Brocklyn and was trained as a draftsman.
Registered in 1945, he practiced architecture in partnership with Rosario
Candela {see). Following Candela’s death in 1953, Resnick practiced
architecture in association with Harry F. Green (see). A nmember of the
American Institute of Architects, Resnick received cammissions for apart-
ment buildings on Manhattan’s East Side, and a single example of his work,
dating from 1965, can be found in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, “Architects’ Appendix," Upber
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

Paul Resnick obituary, New York Times, June 18, 1966, p.31:4.

RICH & MATHESTIUS

Charles A. Rich (1855-1943)
Frederick Mathesius, Jr. (1880-1963)

70 Central Park West, 6

Frederick Mathesius, Jr. was educated at the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology, graduating in 1902. A member of the American Institute of
Architects and the Architectural league, he primarily designed school and
office buildings. Iater in his career Mathesius acted as chairman of the
New York Architect’s Code Committee and was the Northeast Regiocnal Chair-
man of the Federal Housing Administration. Charles Alonzo Rich, pre—
viously associated with the firm of Lamb & Rich (see), practiced indepen—
dently after that firm’s dissolution in 1899.

In 1913 Rich and Mathesius joined in partnership. Their collaboration
produced a neo~Renaissance style studio building in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 48.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designaticn Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1589).
Frederick Mathesius cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 24, 1963, p.33:1.
Charles A. Rich cbituary, New York Times, Dec. 5, 1943, p.66:5.
"Who’s Who in Architecture," American Art Annual, (Washington, D.C.,
1924~-25), vol. 21, 435.
Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 506.
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JACOB RTVLIN

16 West 75th Street, 371

JOHN A. ROFRANO

225 West 79th Street, 458

ROGERS & ZOGBAUM

122-128 West 69th Street, 219

CHARTES WILLIAM ROMEYN (1854?7-1942)
50 Central Park West, 3

Charles William Romeyn was born in Kingston, New York, and trained in the
architectural offices of William B. Olmsted, Calvert Vaux (see), and
others. With Olmsted he planned commercial and industrial buildings.
Rameyn established an independent architectural practice in New York in
1880. At variocus times throughout his career Romeyn was associated with
another architect, Arthur Jay Stever, under the firm names of Charles W.
Romeyn & Co. and, in the 1890s, Romeyn & Stever. Romeyn designed a
carriage house located in the Upper East Side Historic District and the
0l1d Grolier Club (later the Kiamie residence, a designated New York City
Iandmark). He devoted the later years of his career to the design of
apartment buildings, an example of which — the Beaux-Arts style Prasada
— can be found in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. A member of the American Institute of Architects and the
Architectural Ieague, Romeyn retired from practice in 1913.

Pernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 66.

Landmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051}, (New York,
1981).

Charles William Romeyn cbituary, New York Times, Feb. 6, 1942, p.19:3.

Norval White and Elliot Willensky, AIA Guide to New York City
{New York, 1978), 132.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (ILos Angeles, 1970), 524-25.
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FRANK A. ROOKE (dates undetermined)
371 Ansterdam Averue, 132

Little is known of architect Frank A. Rooke. His practice was established
in New York in 1887, the year in which he designed a building combining a
store, a stable, and flats in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. Roocke also designed the Claremont Rldmg Academy and
the adjacent stables at 173-177 West 89th Street, and in 1880 joined in
partnership with Paul F. Higgs. Active until 1890, that partnership
produced rowhouses in the Park Slope Historic District, as well as flats
in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District adjacent to the
building designed by Rooke. Both the Rocke and the Higgs & Rooke :
- buildings were comissioned by Lorton Horton. Rocke later returned to - -
private practice.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39, 66.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

WILLIAM ROPER

10-16 West 84th Street, 555

ROSS & MCNEIL

James Ross (1864-1944)
- Charles R. McNeil (dates undetermined)

133 West 70th Street, 238

James Ross was born in Williamsburg, Va., moved to Yornkers, New York as a
boy, and studied at Columbia University. Ross became associated with
architect Charles R. McNeil; the firm of Ross & McNeil was established in
1899 and remained active for nearly forty years. In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District the firm altered an existing rowhouse
in 1902 with the addition of one story and a mansard roof.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 54, 66.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Ios Angeles, 1970), 528.
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ROSSTTER & WRIGHT

Erick Kensett Wright (1853-1941)
Frank Ayres Wright (1855-1949)

137, 139, 141, 143 West 8lst Street, 484

Erick K. Rossiter was born in Paris, France, studied at Cornell Univer-
sity, and later acted as managing director of the Central Park Studios, a
cooperatively-financed studio building located in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District. He first established an independent
architectural practice in New York in 1879. Frank A. Wright was born in
Liberty, New York and studied at Comell University, graduating in 1879.
In that year he established himself in the practice of architecture.

In 1880 Reossiter and Wright joined in partnership. At the turn of the

the firm’s work included the President Taylor Residence at Vassar
College and the Hotel Royalton at 47 West 43rd Street. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm designed a row of
Romanesqgue Revival style houses dating from 1886-87.

Both partners were members of the New York cChapter of the American
Institute of Architects and the Architectiral Ieague. Wright also taught
architectural courses and wrote "Modern House Painting™ (1880) and :
"aArchitectural Perspective for Beginners" (1882). Rossiter later prac-
ticed under the firm name of Rossiter & Muller.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 66, 84.

"Erick K. Rossiter," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 126.

"Erick K. Rossiter," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 2,
460.

Erick K. Rossiter cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 16, 1941, p.21:3.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 528-29.

"Frank A. Wright," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Ievy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 136.

"Frank A. Wright," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967}, vol. 2, 594.
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EMERY ROTH & SONS

Emery Roth (1871-1948)
Julian Roth (dates undetermined)
Richard Roth (b. 1904)

295 Central Park West, 49

{See Emery Roth, below)

EMERY ROTH (1871-1948)

65 Central Park West, 5
145~146 Central Park West, 15
211 Central Park West, 36
225 Central Park West, 37
275 Central Park West, 45
300 Central Park West, 49

320 Central Park West, 51
341-347 Amsterdam Avemue, 129
12-18 West 72nd Street, 279
34-40 West 72nd Street, 282
141-145 West 79th Street, 444
112-118 West 79th Street, 449
15-23 West 8lst Street, 477
110 West 86th Street, 602

Emery Roth was born in Galzecs, Hungary and was sent to America in 1884.
‘He first immigrated to Chicago ard then to Bloamington, Illinois. With
painting and drawing as his hobbies, ard with no formal architectural
training, he spent three years as an apprentice in an architectural firm,
most of which time was spent copying plates of classical orders. In
Bloomington, Roth also worked as a carpenter/builder for a short time.
After an unsuccessful attempt to f£ind work in Kansas City, Roth was
offered, and accepted, a position with Burmham & Root as a draftsman for
the World’s Columbian Exposition in ¢hicago. Roth assisted Julius Harder
with the preparation of drawings for the celebrated Palace of Fine Arts,
(which had been designed by Charles B. Atwood), and drew plans for two
small fair pavilions. He also assisted Richard Morris Hunt with modifi-
catlons to his plans for the fair’s Administration Building. Roth so

Hunt with his talent that he was promised a jcb with Hunt in
New York if he chose to relocate.

Faced with the difficulty of finding work in Chicago after the close of
the Exposition, Roth opened a very successful mail-order architectural
rendering business. He soon decided to move to New York and was hired
into Bmt’s office. While with Hunt, Roth drafted interior perspectives.
of the Breakers, Cornelius Vanderbilt’s Newport, Rhode Island, mansion,
and met Ogden Codman, Jr., an architectural and interior designer. After
Hnt’s death, Roth accepted a position in Codman’s office, where he became
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continuation of . . . . Emery Roth
familiar with historical styles.

In 1895 Roth opened his own office at 248 West 16th Street. Three years
later, he bought the architectural practice of Theodore G. Stein & Eugene
Yancey Cochen for $1000. As part of the agreement, Roth was entitled to
represent himself as a partner in the firm of Stein, Cohen & Roth in order
to capitalize on the established name of the firm; in reality, Roth worked
on his own. To the firm’s credit are the Irving Place Theater (1899-1500)
and the Saxony Apartments (1901) at 250 West 82nd Street, Roth’s first
apartment design.

Soon after the turn of the century Roth returned to independent practice,
specializing in luxurious apartment houses. The Hotel Belleclaire (1901-
03, 2171-2179 Broadway, a designated New York City Landmark) which ex-
hibits elements of the French Beaux-Arts and Viennese Secession styles, is
considered Roth’s first major work in New York City. In the 1910s he
experimented with the Art Nouveau style, and in the 1920s his designs be-
came more classically-inspired and often incorporated elements of the Art
Deco style. Among Roth’s designs are three of the notable towered
buildings on Central Park West, the San Remo Apartments (1928-29, 145
Central Park West), the Beresford Apartments (1928-29, 211 Central Park
West), and the Eldorado Apartments (300 Central Park West, in association
with architects Margon & Holder), all designated New York City Iandmarks,
and many other apartment buildings included in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District. Other examples of his work can be found in
the Riverside-West End Historic District. In 1932 Roth’s son Richard, and
later his son Julian, joined the firm which then became known as Emery
Roth & Sons. The yourger Roths contimued in practice after their father’s
death and enjoyed prolific careers. That firm was responsible for Art
Moderne style apartment building in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. The firm still exists today.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 22,66,72.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1900), 56.

Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1901), 62.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

Steven Rattenbaum, Mansions in the Clouds (New York, 1986).
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SAMUEL: ROTH (dates urdetermined)

49 West 68th Street, 185
16] West 71st Street, 265

Little has been discovered about the life or career of Samuel Roth. He
practiced architecture in New York from the 1920s to the 1950s and was
responsible for alterations to existing buildings in the Upper East Side,
Iadies Mile, and Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic Districts.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ILadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; MArchitects’ Appendix,® Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

ROUSE & GOLDSTONE

William L. Rouse (1874-1963)
Iafayette A, Goldstone (1876-1956)

118-126 West 70th Street, 241
117-121 West 71st Street, 260
138-140 West 71st Street, 272
138-144 West 79th Street, 451

William Iaurence Rouse was born in New York City and educated at the
Stevens Institute of Technology in Hoboken, New Jersey. After setting up
his practice in the early twentieth century, he began to design apartment
buildings. - The Hendrik Hudson Apartments at Riverside Drive and 110th
Street (1907) is one of his most successful early works noted for its
ornate Renaissance-inspired belvederes at the roof line. Early in his
career, Rouse worked with John T. Sloan. The firm of Rouse & Sloan was
responsible for a six-story neo-Georgian style flats building in the
Riverside-West End Historic District. Fram 1909 to 1926 Rouse worked in .
partnership with lafayette A. Goldstone (see).

Rouse & Goldstone established an early foothold in the redevelopment of
the Upper East and Upper West Sides of Manhattan with apartment buildings
which altered the appearance and character of these neighborhoods in the
years before and after World War I. Examples of the firm’s work can be
found in the Riverside-West End Historic District and in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District where its designs reflect a
variety of styles.

The firm of Rouse & Goldstone & Steinam also designed an apartment
building at 43-47 East 62nd Street (1914-15, located in the Upper East
Side Historic District) which was given a medal by the New York Chapter of
the American Institute of Architects for its handsome brick and marble
facade. (see also Pollard & Steinam and Simonson, Pollard & Steinam)
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contimuation of . . . . Rouse & Goldstone

After 1926, Rouse and Goldstone practiced separately, each continuing to
specialize in apartment house design. In 1941 Goldstone was associated
with Frederick L. Ackerman on the design of the Lillian Wald Houses
(1947), a joint project of the New York City Housing Authority and the New
York State Division of Housing.

ILafayette A. Goldstone cbituary, New York Times, June 23, 1956, p.l17:2.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (ILP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix,™ Riverside — West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), {New York, 1989);
"Architects’ Appendix,” Upper Fast Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

william L. Rouse obituary, New York Times, Ang. 20, 1963, p.33.

Trow’s New York City Classified Directory (New York, 1925), 2462.

JOHN C. RUME

430 Columbus Avenue, 98
103 West 80th Street, 462

SAMUEL SASS (dates undetermined)
2 West o0th Street, 667

Samiel Sass was established in independent architectural practice from
1893, In 1899 Sass joined Max J. Smallheiser in partnership to form the
firm of Sass & Smallheiser. The firm lasted at least until 1905, design-
ing muercus apartment buildings in the city, after which time Sass re-

. turned to independent practice. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District Sass designed a Romanesque Revival style stable.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 67,70,95.
Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1900), 54.
Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1901), 58.
ILandmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.
Landmarks. Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Apperdix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1989).
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JOSEPH SCHAFRAN (dates undetermined)

44 West 96th Street, 709

Little is known of architect Joseph Schafran. He jeined the Bronx Chapter
of the American Institute of Architects in 1946 and in 1962 had offices at
2112 Broadway. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Schafran altered an existing flats building in 1961.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 617.

JOHN E. SCHARSMITH (dates undetermined)
35-37 West 67th Street, 176

John E. Scharsmith was established as an architect in New York in 1889, at
which time his name was spelled Schaarschmidt. In 1893 he worked with
Arthur M. Thom & James W. Wilson in the firm of Thom, Wilson &
Schaarschmidt (see Thom & Wilson). While this liaison was brief, lasting
approximately one year, it produced the design for the New Criminal Courts
Building (replaced in 1939 by the present Criminal Courts and Prison
Building, "The Tombs"). In 1896 Scharsmith’s name was listed in direc-

- . tories with its anglicized spelling. At the turn of the century his

specialty was listed as residences, although the only known residential
bu.11d.mgs constructed according to his d&s:.gn were the Northern
Renaissance style Swiss Home, a dormitory in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District, and the Chatsworth Apartments at 340 and 344
West 72rd Street (a designated New York City Iandmark).

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 67.

ILandmarks Preservation Commission, The Chatsworth Apartments and
Annex Designation Report (LP-1506), (New York, 1984).

GILEBERT A. SCHELIENGER (dates undetermined)

354, 355 Central Park West, 56

301-303 Columbus Averme, 79

305 & 307 Columbus Avenue, 79

306-316 Columbus Avenue, 84

483, 485 Columnus Avermue, 109

349, 351, 353 Amsterdam Averue, 130

420 [a/k/a 201 West 80th Street], 422, 424, 426 Amsterdam Avenue and 203
West 80th Street, 142

- 449-455 [a/kR/a 184 West 82nd Street]) Amsterdam Avenue and 176, 178, 180,
182 West 82nd Street, 145

440 [a/k/a 201 West 81st Street], 442 Amsterdam Averme, 146

448, 450, 452, 454 [a/k/a 200 West 82nd Street] Amsterdam Avenue, 148

462, 464, 466 Mnsterdam Avenue, 152
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contimnuation of . . . . Gilbert A. Schellenger

23 West 69th Street, 198

16 West 69th Street, 203
20 West 69th Street, 203
32 West 69th Street, 205

14,
18,
30,
34,
48,
72,
23,
33,
43,

36,
50,
74,
25,
35,
45,

38, 40, 42, 44, 46 West 69th Street, 206

52, 62, 64, 66, 68, 70 West 65th Street, 207

76 [a/k/a 191-199 Columbus Averue] West 69th Street, 209
27, 29, 31 West 70th Strest, 222

37, 39, 41 West 70th Street, 223

47, 49, 51 West 70th Street, 223

111, 113 West 70th Street, 235

125, 127 West 70th Street, 237

6, 8, 10, 12, 14 West 71st Street, 252

16 & 18, 20, 22 West 71st Street, 253

145, 147, 149 West 72nd Street, 296

130, 132, 134, 136, 138 West 72md Street, 307
136, 138, 140 & 142, 144 West 73rd Street, 334
6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16 West 75th Street, 370

133, 135, 137, 139, 141 West 75th Street, 381
143, 145, 147, 149, 151 West 75th Street, 382
104 West 75th Street, 385

106, 108, 110, 112 West 75th Styeet, 385

114, 116, 118, 120, 122 West 75th Street, 386
124, 126, 128, 130, 132 West 75th Street, 387
39, 41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 76th Street, 397
28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38 West 76th Street, 403
150, 152, 154, 156 West 77th Street, 427

123, 125 West 79th Street, 442

140, 142, 144, 146, 148 West 80th Street, 472
14, 16 West 82nd Street, 504

146 West 82nd Street, 523

172, 174 West 82rd Street, 525

104 West 83rd Street, 544

106, 108 West 83rd Street, 544

11, 11A West 84th Street, 549

27 West 84th Street, 551

29 West 84th Street, 552

41, 43, 45, 47 West 84th Street, 554

58, 60, 62, 64 West 85th Street, 571

66 West 85th Street, 572

30, 32, 34, 36, 38 West 87th Street, 616

159, 161, 163, 165, 167, 169 West 87th Street, 626
14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 24 West 88th Street, 636
158, 160, 162, 164, 166 West 88th Street, 649
19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 8%th Street, 651
22, 24, 26, 28, 30 West 89th Street, 656

52, 54, 56, 58, 60, 62, 64, 66 West 89th Street, 658
4, 6, 8, 10 West 90th Street, 667

7 West 92nd Street, 679
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contimuation of . . . . Gilbert A. Schellenger

19, 21, 23 West 94th Street, 686
25, 27 & 29 West 94th Street, 687
17, 19, 21, 23 West 95th Street, 697

Gilbert A. Schellenger was established as an architect in New York by
1882. He had an extremely prolific career during the 1880s and ‘90s.
Examples of Schellenger’s work can be found in what are now the Carnegie
Hill, Greermich Village, Ladies Mile, and Upper East Side Historic
DlStrlCtS In addition, he was the second most prolific architect in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, with work spanning
“almost twenty years. Working for a mumber of developers in the district,.
he was re- sponsible for mmerous rows of houses and flats, as well as a
tenement. His designs were primarily executed in the Renaissance Revival
style, although he also used the neo—Grec, Queen Anne, arnd Romanesgue
Revival styles.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840~-1900
(New York, 1979), 67.

Lardmarks Preservation Cammission, Research Files.

Lardmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Apperdix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-160%8), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Apperdix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

WILLTAM SCHICKEL & QO.

William Schickel (1850-1907)
Isaac Edward Ditmars (1850-1934)
Hugo Kafka (1843-1915)

121 West 79th Street, 442

(See Schickel & Ditmars, below)

SCHTCKEL & DITMARS

William Schickel (1850-1907)
Isaac Edward Ditmars (1850-1934)

51-53 Central Park West, 4
26 West 76th Street, 402
11 West 81st Street, 477

William Schickel is said to have received his initial architectural
training in Germany before immigrating to New York City at the age of

twenty. In New York he found employment as a draftsman in the office of
one of the most important American architects of the second half of the

Al130



continuation of . . . . Schickel & Ditmars

nineteenth century, Richard Morris Hunt. Hunt’s office, organized along
the lines of a Parisian atelier such as the one he had worked in during
his years at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts, was one of the few places in
America at the time it was established where a young architect could
receive an academic architectural education. Schickel worked for Hunt for
about six months in the early 1870s, then entered the office of Henry
Fernbach. In 1873, Schickel established his own practice, relying
initially on the patronage of wealthy German immigrants for important
cammissions, such as those from the Ottendorfers: the German Dispensary -
(now known as the Stuyvesant Polyclinic Hospital, 1883-84) and the .

. Ottendorfer Branch of the New York Public ILibrary (1883-84),. both d&'s:lg-

nated New York City Iandmarks. Schickel was especially prominent as an
architect of commercial structures. These buildings are distinguished not
only in their architectural quality but also in their innovative and
attractive use of materials such as terra cotta and cast iron. Schickel
also designed a number of buildings in the American version of the
Erglish-inspired Queen Anne style, exemplified by the Century Building at
33 East 17th Street, a rare swrviving Queen Armne style commercial building
in New York (1880-81, a designated New York City Lardmark).

Schickel expanded his office in the 1880s and formed a partnership known
as William Schicke) & Company in 1887 with the architects Isaac E. Ditmars
and Hugo Kafka. Ditmars, born in Nova Scotia, had been associated with
New York architect John F. Miller before joining Schickel. He was a
founder and past president of the Brooklyn Chapter of the American
Institute of Architects and was nominated a Fellow in 1895. William
Schickel & Co. desigend a Renaissance Revival style rowhouse in the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District, as well as several major
department stores in the Iadies Mile Historic District. Kafka left the
firm after a short time to practice on his own, but Schickel & Ditmars was
active from 1896 into the first decade of the twentieth century. This
firm designed buildings for the Lenox Hill Hospital and several impressive
Roman Catholic churches. In the Upper West Side/ Central Park West
Historic District the firm designed a Beaux-Arts style apartment building,
the neo—Gothic style Holy Trinity Evangelical Duatheran Church, and a
Renaissance Revival style rowhouse.

Isaac Edward Ditmars cbituary, Who’s Who in American Art Vol. 1, 496.
Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-~1900
(New York, 1979), 45.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Apperdix," Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; “Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District .
Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York, 1981).

Al131



ERNEST W. SCHNEIDER (dates undetermined)

461 [ask/a 73-77 West 82nd Street], 463 and 467, 469, 471, 473, 475 [a/k/a
70 West 83rd Street] Columbus Averme, 102

Little is known of Ernest W. Schneider. In 1885, he designed a row of
neo—Grec style tenements located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. In 1887 he joined Henry Herter in partnership.
Schneider & Herter was responsible for the design of numercus residential
buildings in the city, especially five- and six-story tenements on the
Iower East Side in the 1890s. Examples of the firm’s work can be found in
the Greenwich Village and Riverside-West End Historic Districts, as well.
The firm also designed the Park East Synagogue at- 163 East 67th Street - -
(1889-90, a designated New York City Landmark).

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39, 68.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.
Tandmarks Preservation Commission, Park East Synagogue Designation
Report (LP-1056), (New York, 1980); “Architects’ Appendix,"
Riverside - West End Historic District Designation Report (LP-1626),
(New York, 1989).
Elliot Willensky and Norval White, ATA Guide to New York City,
3rd Edition (New York, 1988), 247.

SCHUMAN & LICHTENSTEIN

Sidney Schuman (dates undetermined)
Sam Lichenstein (dates undetermined)

7-21 West 83rd Street, 529

(See Schuman Lichtenstein Claman Efron, below)

SCHUMAN TICHTENSTEIN CLAMAN EFRON

Peter Claman (dates undetermined)
Jerrold Clarke (dates undetermined)
Albert Efron (b. 1929)

2040-2052 Broadway, 163

Sam Lichtenstein was a graduate of New York University and was a founding
partner of the firm of Schuman & Lichtenstein with Sidney Schuman. That
firm was responsible for alterations to the Congregation Rodeph Shalcom
‘Synagogue Complex (1928-30) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District.

Peter Claman was educated at Pratt Institute, graduating in 1949. His
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continuation of . . . . Schuman Lichtenstein Claman Efron

expertise is in residential and commercial dvelcopment, 2zoning and site
evaluation. The fimm of Schuman, lichtenstein & Claman was organized in
1949 and designed No. 2 Lincoln Square (1975) and the Montefiore Apart-
ments IT (1972), one of the tallest buildings in the Bronx. The firm was
also associated with the design of the North Central Bronx Hospital.

Albert Efron was born in Brooklyn, New York. A Fellow of the American
Institute of Architects, he received a Certificate of Architecture from
the Institute of Design and Construction in 1959. The firm of Schuman
Lichtenstein Claman Efron was organized in 1956, .as Efron joined the firm .
" and rose to limited partnership. -Jerrold Clarke, a graduate of Pratt
Institute, is currently a partner in the firm. His area of expertise is
in institutional design and project development, including health care and
geriatric facilities. Enzo DePol, also a partner, studied at Columbia
University. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Schuman Lichtenstein Claman Efron designed the Postmodern style Coronado
American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 248.
Firm description and partners’ biographies, Provided by Schuman
Lichtenstein Claman Efron, 1990.

SCHWARTZ & GROSS

Simcn I. Schwartz (18777-1956)
Arthur Gross (1877-1950)

55 Central Park West, 5

88 Central Park West, 9

91 Central Park West, 10

101 Central Park West, 11
241 Central Park West, 40
271 Central Park West, 45
315 Central Park West, 50
336 Central Park West, 54
19-21 West 69th Street, 197
102-106 West 69th Street, 215
30-36 West 70th Street, 231
111-115 West 71st Street, 260
139-147 West 71st Street, 263
114-116 West 72nd Street, 303
141-153 West 73rd Street, 326
155-161 West 79th Street, 445
150-158 West 79th Street, 452
150-156 West 80th Street, 473
35-39 West 82rd Street, 501
41-49 West 82rd Street, 501
170 West 82nd Street, 525
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41-47 West 83rd Street, 532
46~56 West 83rd Street, 540

Simon I. Schwartz was a graduate of the Hebrew Technical Institute and was
Henry Andersen’s (see) head draftsman in the late 1890s. Arthur Gross was
also a graduate of the Hebrew Technical Institute. Schwartz and Gross
formed their successful partnership in 1902, and from the beginning
specialized in the design of both luxury apartment buildings and hotels,
including the Grosvenor (1925, 35 Fifth Avermue, in the Greenwich Village
Historic District), the Croydon (Madison Avenue and 85th Street), and the
- Victoria (Seventh Avenue and 51st Street, now demolished), and worked
throughout Manhattan. The firm also designed camercial structures,
examples of which can be found throughout the Iadies Mile Historic
District. Extremely prolific on the Upper West Side, Schwartz & Gross
desmnedtmlargeapaxtnentbulldmgs predmmmntlymtheneo—
Renaissance style, which are located in the Riverside-West End Historic
District, and more than twice as many in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Iﬁstoric District.

Arthur Gross cbituary, New York Times, Nov. 7, 1950, p.25:2.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Desicnation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1989);
"Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York, 1981).

Simon I. Schwartz obituary, New York Times, Apr. 25, 1956, p.35:3.

GEORGE SCHWARZ

126 West 82nd Street, 520

CHARIES SEE (d. 1915)
410, 412, 414, 416 [a/k/a 200 West 80th Street] Amsterdam Avenue, 138

Little is known of architect Charles E. See, whose architectural practice
was established in New York in 1890. In the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District he designed a row of Renaissance Revival style
tenements.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City,. 1840-1900
{(New York, 1979), 68.
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JOHN SEXTON (d. 1904)

47, 49, 51, 53, 55, 57 West 71st Street, 248
22 West 83rd Street, 537

Little is known of architect John Sexton whose architectural practice was
established in the city by 1853. Shortly after establishing his own
practice, Sexton joined 0.C. Dodge in a short-lived partnership. Sexton’s
"New York Times" obituary stated that he had designed a variety of promi-
nent buildings. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District, Sexton designed neo-Grec style rowhouses dating from the 1880s.

-~ Dennis Steadman. Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900

(New York, 1979), €9.

- Iandmarks . Preservatlon Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,' Upper
East Side Historic District Designaticn Report (IP-1051), (New York
1981) .

Jaohn Sexton obituary, New York Times, Feb. 20, 1904, p.9:5.

SHAPE & BRADY

42-50 West 67th Street, 180

SIMONSON & STURGIS

B. Hustace Simonson (dates undetermined)
Daniel Nathaniel Barmey Sturgis (1866-1911)

23-27 West 67th Street, 175

Danforth Nathaniel Barney Sturgis, son of architect and architectural
critic, Russell Sturgis, was born in New York and ¢raduated from Yale in
1889. He was established as an architect in New York City by 1893 ard
practiced independently for several years, designing country residences.
Like his father, Sturgis contributed to the architectural press. In 1903
he wrote "Brick Building in London®” and in 1904 he wrote about the planmning
and decoration of the "Modern American Residence," both for the
"Architectural Record." At the time of his death he was associated with
the firm of Sturgis & Faxon, also of New York. Sturgis was a member of the
Architectural Ieague ard the National Sculpture Society.

Sturgis practiced with B. Hustace Simcnson for a time at the beginning of
the twentieth century. Simonson was first established as an architect in
New York in 1894 and was later associated with the firm of Simonson,
Pollard & Steinam (see). Simonson & Sturgis designed a studio building in
1902-03, the first of its type to be constructed in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District, whose design reflects an Art Nouveauw/
Arts and Crafts aesthetic. Other buildings in the district with which
Simonson was irnvolved were also studio buildings located on the northern
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side of West 67th Street, whose duplex units at the rear take advantage of
the northern exposure preferred by artists for their work.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 73.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), {(New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic
District Designation Report (ILP-1626), (New York, 1989).

“"Joseph L. Steinam," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York, 1900),
vol. 3, 129.

SIMONSON, FOLIARD & STEINAM

B. Hustace Simonson (dates undetermined)
George Mort Pollard (dates urdetermined)
Joseph L. Steinam (dates undetermined)

11-15 West 67th Street, 173
29-33 West 67th Street, 175

B. Hustace Simonson was first established as an architect in New York in
1894. He worked under the firm names of Kramer & Simonson in 1895 and
Brazier & Simonson in 1896. At the beginning of the twentieth century he
practiced with Danforth N.B. Sturgis (see Simonson & Sturgis).

George Mort Follard was born in Brooklyn and educated at the College of
the City of New York, now City College. He established an architectural
practice in New York arocund 1894 and in 1897 formed a partnership with
Joseph L. Steinam, a menber of the Architectural Ieague (see Pollard &
Steinam) .

Simonson, Pollard & Steinam was active in the early part of the twentieth
century. The firm designed the distinguished apartment building at 131~
135 Easzt 66th Street in the neo-Renaissance style (1905-07, a designated
New York City Landmark, with Charles A. Platt). In the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District, the firm designed two Neo-Renaissance
style studio buildings in 1904-05. Both studio buildings were developed
to accommodate living and working space for artists., Iocated on the
northern side of West 67th Street, the duplex studios located at the rear
were assured of the even, unshadowed northern sunlight typically preferred
by artists for their work. The firms of Simonson & Sturgis and Pollard &
Steinam also designed specialized studio buildings located on West 67th -
Street.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 69, 72.
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continuation of . . . . Simonson, Pollard & Steinam

Iandmarks Preservation Camnission, 131-135 East 66th Street
Apartment House Designation Report (LP-0418), (New York, 1970):
YArchitects’ Appendix," Ladies Mile Historic District Designation
Report (IP-1609), (New York, 1989); "Architects’ Appendix,"
Riverside - West End HlstorJ.c District Designation Report (LP-1626),
(New York, 1989).

EDWARD CHESTRE SMITH (dates undetermined)
25, 27, 29, 31, 33 West 82nd Street, 500

Little is known of architect Edward Chestre Smith. His architectural
practice was established in New York by 1886, the year in which he
designed a row of Ramanesque Revival style rowhouses in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District. In 1892 he had an office in
Brooklyn and in 1894 he was listed in directories as Edward Belden
Chestresmith.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 21, 70.

. HOIMAN SMITH

35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45 West 94th Street, 689

JCHN B. SNOOK & SONS

John Butler Snook (1815-1901)
Thomas Edward Snook (18647-1953)
James Henry Snook (1847-1917)
Samiel Booth Snock (1857-1915)
John W. Boyleston (1852-1932)

51 West 75th Street, 369

John Butler Snook was born in England where his father was a carpenter and
builder. The younger Snook worked as a bookkeeper ard draftsman in his
father’s office and there received a strong fourxation in construction
methods. By 1835 Snock was established as a carpenter/builder, in 1836 he
worked with William Beer, and by 1837 he was established as an architect.
The Snock/Beer partnership dissolved in 1840 and by 1842 Snook found work
with Joseph Trench. ILater, Trench and Snook formed a partnership with
Trench taking the senior position. The work of this firm helped to
introduce the Anglo-Italianate style to New York with buildings such as
the A.T. Stewart Store in 1846, the country’s first department store (at
Chambers Street ard Broadway, a designated New York City landmark), and the
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contimuation of . . . . John B. Sncok & Sons

Metropolitan Hotel. With Trench’s departure for California in the 1850s,
Sncok rose from junior partner to the head of the firm.

Snook became an extremely prolific architect-builder who worked in vir-
tually all revival styles and designed structures of all types, thereby
expanding his architectural practice into cne of the largest in New York.
The first Grand Central Station (1869-71, demolished) was one of his best
known works. In 1887, Snock took his three sons (James Henry, Samuel
Booth, and Thamas BEdward) and a son—-in-law (John W. Boyleston) into his

- office, changing the firm’s name to John B. Snook -& Sons to celebrate the
firm’s fiftieth anniversary. - This firm was responsible for the addition
of a mansard roof to an existing rowhouse in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District. A few years after the death of John B.
Snock, the firm’s name was changed to John B. Snook Sons. The firm
continued well into the next century.

Tandmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix,™ Ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) ; "Architects’ Appendix," Upper East Side Historic District
Designation Report (ILP-1051), (New York, 1981).

"John Butler Snock," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 95.

HERMAN M. SOHN

281-285 Amsterdam Averme, 125

SOMMERFELD & STECKLER

William €. Sommerfeld (dates undetermined)
Benjamin Steckler (1874-1924)

112-116 West 70th Street, 240

Benjamin Steckler began his career with McKim, Mead & White (see). Both
he and William C. Sommerfeld established independent architectural
practices in New York by the late 1890s. As early as 1906 they estab-
lished the firm of Sommerfeld & Steckler, which was active through 1915
with the design of apartment buildings, an example of which was con-
structed in 1922 and is located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District, and commercial structures, as seen in the Iadies Mile
Historic District. Samerfeld was probably well-versed in structural
matters, for in 1937 he was called as an expert witness in a building -
collapse trial.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 71, 72.
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Key to the Architects of Greater New York (New York, 1901), 61.

ILandmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.

Landmarks Preservation Comission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989) .

"State Contradicted in Buildirg Trial," New York Times, Mar. 18, 1937,
p.52:5.

Benjamin Steckler cbituary, New York Times, Jan. 16, 1924, p.19:6.

ANDREW SPENCE (1826?-1907)
35, 37, 39 and 49, 51, 53 West 83rd Strest, 531

Andrew Spence was a prolific New York City architect. First establishing
his practice in 1851, Spence’s work was mostly residential in nature and
was concentrated on Manhattan’s Upper West Side in the 1880s and ’90s. A
group of Italianate rowhouses designed by him is among the earliest of the
rows constructed in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. Other examples of his work, constructed in 1895, can be fourxd
in the Hamilton Heights Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979}, 71.
ILandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

ABRAHAM SPERLING (dates undetermined)
152 West 72nd Street, 300

Abraham Sperling was born in Berlin, Germany, and was educated at
Pennsylvania State College, earning a Certificate in Civil Engineering in
1944, and Pratt Institute, graduating with an architectural degree in
1947. In 1948, he joined the firm of Daniel Schwartzman & Assocs. In
1965 Sperling established his own firm and in 1972 he designed a comwer-
cial building in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

American Architects Directory (1970), 866.
American Architects Directory (1962), 664.
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SPRINGSTEEN & GOLIHIAMMER

George W. Springsteen (18797-1954)
Albert Goldhammer (dates undetermined)

153-155 West 72nd Street, 298

Born in Brooklyn, George W. Springsteen studied at Cooper Union for the
Advancement of Science and Art and Pratt Institute. The early years of
his architectural career were spent in the office of Rouse & Goldstone
{see). He later formed the partnerships of Mast & Springsteen and Saff &
Springsteen. In 1919 the firm of Springsteen & Goldhammer was formed with
- Albert Goldhammer, of whom little is known. In partnership for fifteen
years, the firm was active in the design of apartments for low-cost
housing in the city, many examples of which can be found in the Bronx.
Their first such project was the Amalgamated Cooperative Apartments and
was erected in 1926-27 at Sedgwick, Jackson, and Dickson Avenues in the
Bronx. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
Springsteen & Goldhammer designed a neo-Renaissance/neo-Rananescue style
store and loft building in 1922-23. Independently, Goldhammer designed a
synagogue, school and apartment building for the Society for the Advance-
ment of Judaism in 1938.

George W. Springsteen cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 6, 1954, p.25:1.

GUSTAVE STEINBACK

146-150 [a/k/a 147-153 West 70th Street], 152 West 71st Street, 273

STETNMETZ & CARTER

12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26, 28, 30 West 85th Street, 566

(See Christian Steirmetz, below)
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144, 146, 148 West 70th Street, 243

Little is known of architect Christian Steimmetz, whose practice was
established in New York by 1897. At the turn of the century, he was
associated with architect William H. Boylan (see). In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District, Steirmmetz designed a row of
Queen Amne style houses. He may also have been a partner in the firm of
Steirmmetz & Carter which designed a row of neo—Grec houses in the
district.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 72.

SIENEY V. STRATTON (dates undetermined)
122-128 West 69th Street, 219

The designer of the New York House and School of Industry on West 16th
Street, Sidney V. Stratton was one of the first Americans to study at the
Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris where he was in an atelier with Charles
McKim (see McKim, Mead & White), with whom he became well-acguainted.
Returning to New York in 1870, Stratton found employment with the promi-
nent architect Richard Morris Hunt, in whose office he met Louis Sullivan,

Stratton established his own practice in the city in 1877 and during the
mid-1880s was an adjunct partner in the firm of McKim, Mead & White. It
was during this period that Stratton added a porch ard a tower to the
Chapel of the Transfiguration (now Christ and St. Stephen’s Protestant
Episcopal Church) in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. From 1890-92 he practiced with Francis J. Ellingwood, then
returned to private practice. A menber of the New York Chapter and a
Fellow of the American Institute of Architects, Stratton was also a member
of the Architectural Ieague.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 73.

Landmarks Preservation Canmission, Research Files.

leland Roth, The Architecture of McKim, Mead & White (New York, 1978),
AXV=XXV1.

Louis H. Sullivan, The Autcbiography of an Idea (New York, 1956), 190-91.
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JAMES STROUD (dates undetermined)
5 West 95th Street, 696

Little is known of architect James Stroud. Establishing his practice by
1865, his work was mainly residential in nature. Stroud designed a
Renaissance Revival style rowhouse (1890-91) in the Upper West Side/
Central Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 73.

SUGARMAN & BERGER

M. Henry Sugarman {1888-1946)
Albert G. Berger (1879-1940)

239 Central Park West, 40

262 Central Park West, 44

289-295 Columbus Averme, 77
48-54 West 72nd Street, 284
17-25 West 86th Street, 584
27-35 West 86th Street, 585
37-41 West 86th Street, 585
49-53 West 86th Street, 587

M. Henry Sugarman was born in New York and studied at Columbia University,
the National Academy of Design, and in England and France. He first
practiced with New York architect J.E.R. Carpenter for eight years, then
worked in Alabama and South Carolina from 1915 to 1917. He then formed
the firm of Sugarman & Bloodgood which lasted until the early 1920s. A
menber of the American Institute of Architects he was awarded its Gold
Medal in 1925.

Albert G. Berger was born in Hungary arnd studied architecbure amd
engineering at the University of Budapest. He traveled to the United
States in 1904 and began his architectural career with the New York firm
of Schwartz & Gross (see) where he assumed the position of chief drafts-
man, and later practiced with the firm of Starrett & Van Vleck, also of
New York.

Little is known of Arthur P. Hess. Sugarman, Hess and Berger practiced
together in the 1920s. The organization of the partnership was flexible;
Sugarman worked with Hess and Berger both together and separately.

The firm of Sugarman, Hess & Berger was responsible for a neo-Renaissance
style apartment building located in the Riverside-West End Historic
District in 1922-23. Sugarman & Hess designed the neo-Moorish style
Standish Hall apartment hotel in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District in 1922. Sugarman & Berger was active in the district
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particularly around 1926-27, designing apartment buildings in the
neo-Renaissance style. The firm was also responsible for the New Yorker
Hotel and the Fifth Avenue Hotel ard their work is represented in the
Greenwich Village Historic District by two apartment buildings erected in
1925. In the Riverside-West End Historic District, the two partners
designed one apartment building in the neo-Renaissance style.

Albert G. Berger obituary, Pencil Points Vol. 21 (Dec., 1940}, 24.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Greerwich Village Historic
District Desicnation Report (LP-0489), (New York, 1969), 47, 49;
"architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic District
Designation Report (IP-1626), (New York, 1989).

"M. Hemry Sugarman," Avery Architectural Library Obitary File. (New
York) .

Trow’s New York City Classified Directory (New York, 1925), 2461,2462.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Ios Angeles, 1970), 53, 582.

SUGARMAN & HESS

M. Henry Sugarman (1888-1946)
Arthur P. Hess (dates undetermined)

41-49 West 81st Street, 480

(See Sugarman & Berger, above)

B. ROBERT SWARTBURG (b. 1912)
171 West 85th Street, 581

Little is known of architect B. Robert Swartburg. He maintained offices
in midtown Manhattan in the 1930s and undertook alterations to existing
buildings in the Upper East Side and Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic Districts.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, “Architects’ Appendix,"™ Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).
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EDGAR TAFEL (dates undetermined)
11-15 West 88th Street, 631

Edgar Allen Tafel was born in New York City, was educated at New York
University (1931-32), and received a fellowship to study at Taliesin
under Frank Lloyd Wright (1932-41). He established his cwn firm early in
his career and has received numercus commissions for residential, com-
mercial, religious, and educational buildings. In 1959 Tafel designed the
Church House of the First Presbyterian Church located in the Greerwich
Village Historic District. An example of his school design is found in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, an addition to
the Walden School completed in 1967.

American Architects Directory (1970), 900.
American Architects Directory (1962), 691.

TAYIOR & IEVI

Alfredo 5.G. Taylor (dates undetermined)
Julian Clarence Ievi (b. 1874)

8 West 86th Street, 589

Little is known of Alfred Taylor, although he held joint cwnership in the
Osborne Apartments, 205 West 57th Street (1883-85, James E. Ware), in
1906, the year he filed plans to enlarge that building. Julian Ievi, born
in New York City, was the son of Augustus Ievi, one of the fourders of the
Society for Ethical Culture. (See essay on religious institutions for
more information.) ILevi received his A.B. from Columbia University in
1896, studied from 1895 to 1897 with Prof. William R. Ware at Columbia,
ard trained at the Ecole des Beaux~Arts in 1898-1904 in the Atelier
Ginain-Scellier de Gisore. On his return to New York he worked as a
designer for six months in the office of Herbert D. Hale; fram 1905-06, in
association with Francis H. Kimball, he designed the J. & W. Seligman
office and banking building in lower Manhattan; and in 1907 he formed the
partnership of Taylor & levi. Principal works of the firm include: the
Chandler Building, the Kesner Department Store, and a cooperative apart-
ment building at 160 East 72nd Street, all in New York City; the Church of
the Tmmaculate Conception in Norfolk, Commn.; the Eclair Moving Picture
Studio in Ft. lee, New Jersey, (the first movie studic in the United
States); and private residences in New York and elsewhere. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District Taylor & Levi designed a
Georgian Revival rowhouse (1908). Levi was an associate architect for the
United States Pavilion at the Paris exposition of 1937 and for the
Rumanian House at the New York World’s Fair of 1939, As secretary of the
committee on foreign building cocperation of the American Institute of
Architects, he organized the first exhibition abroad of U.S. architecture
(1921) ; was founder and first chairman of the French traveling fellowship
of the A.T.A,; and was founder ard first chairman (1930-35) of the
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architects’ emergency committee which found jobs for unemployed
architects. He received many awards and citations in the United States
and abroad, and was also active as a painter and etcher.

Iandmarks Preservation Camnission, M"Architects’ Apperdix,"
East Side Histori¢ District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

AIFRED H. TAVIOR (dates undetermined)

165 West 72nd Street, 299
133 West 78th Street, 434

Little is known of Alfred H. Taylor whose architectural practice was
established in New York City by 1897. A member of the Architectural
Ieaque, Taylor designed a new facade for a store and apartment building
in 1908 in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District, and
in 1909 added a curved bay window to a rowhouse also in the district.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 74.

AILFRED A. TEARIE

210 West 79th Street, 459
218 West 79th Street, 460

THOM & WILSON

Arthur M. Thom (dates undetermined)
James W. Wilson (dates undetermined)

227 Central Park West, 38
171-179 Columbus Averue, 58
190-198 Columbus Averme, 60
200-208 Colunbus Avenue, 64
220-228 Columbus Avernie, 68
230-238 Columbus Averne, 68
241-247 Columbus Averne, 69
249-257 Columbus Averme, 70
240-242 Colunmbus Avermie, 71
244 & 246 Columbus Avenue, 71
270-276 Columbus Averme, 75
286-294 Colunmbus Avenue, 78
351-357 Colurbus Avernue, 90
360-368 Columbus Avenue, 91
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376 Columbus Averue, 92

451-457 Columbus Averme, 100

481 Columbus Averme, 108

501 [a/k/a 57 West 84th Street] & 503 Columbus Avenue, 111
505 & 507 Columbus Avenue, 112

561-567 Columbus Averue, 121

407 Amsterdam Avenue, 135

409-415 Amsterdam Avenue, 136

468-476 Amsterdam Avenue, 153

68, 70 West 68th Street, 194

41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51 & 53, 55, 57, 59 West 69th Street, 200
103 & 105, 107 & 109 West 6%9th Street, 210

111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121 West 69th Street, 211

123, 125, 127 West 69th Street, 212

129, 131, 133, 135 West 69th Street, 212

108 West &9th Street, 216

9, 11, 15, 17, 19, 21 West 70th Street, 221

22, 24, 26, 28 West 70th Street, 230

40, 42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West 70th Street, 232
103, 105, 107, 109 West 70th Street, 234

129, 131, 133 West 70th Street, 238

67 & 69 & 71 & 73 West 71lst Street, 250

42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56 & 58, 60 West 71st Street, 256
103 West 71st Strect, 259

131 West 71st Street, 262

102, 104, 106 West 7lst Street, 267

108, 110, 112, 114, 116 West 71st Street, 269

118, 120, 122, 124, 126 West 71st Street, 269

129 West 72nd Street, 291

137 & 139, 141 West 72rd Street, 294

140 & 142 & 144 & 146 West 72rd Street, 309

150 & 152 & 152a-154, 156, 158 West 72nd Street, 310

102, 104, 106 & 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 118 West 73rd Street, 329
120, 122, 124 West 73rd Street, 331

31, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 74th Street, 343

102, 104, 106, 108 West 74th Street, 357

110, 112, 114, 116, 118, 120, 122, 124, 126, 128 West 74th Street, 358
110, 112, 114, 116, 118 West 76th Street, 412

140, 142, 144, 146, 148, 150 West 76th Street, 414

103, 105 West 77th Street, 423

148 West 77th Street, 427

153, 155, 157, 159, 161, 163, 165, 167 West 78th Street, 435
168 & 170 West 79th Street, 453

206, 208, 210, 212 & 214, 216, 218, 220, 222, 224, 226 West 79th Street, 458
164 West 80th Street, 475

134, 136, 138 West 81st Street, 492

7, 9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19, 21 & 23 West 82nd Street, 498

62, 64, 66, 68, 70, 72, 74 West 82nd Street, 509

76, 78 West 82nd Street, 510
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202, 204, 206 West 83rd Street, 547

208, 210 West 83rd Street, 548

49, 51 & 53, 55 West 84th Street, 554

48, 50, 52, 54, 56 West 85th Street, 570

17, 19, 21, 23, 25 West 87th Street, 608

47, 49, 51, 53 West 87th Street, 611

59, 61, 63, 65 West 87th Street, 612

24, 26, 28 West 87th Street, 615

26, 27, 29, 31, 33 West 88th Street, 633

26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West
88th Street, 637

32, 34, 36, 38, 40 West 89th Street, 656

42, 44, 46, 48, 50 West 89th Street, 657

15 West 90th Street, 659

41, 43, 45 West 90th Street, 662

48 & 50 & 52 & 54 West 94th Street, 694

While the most prolific architectural firm represented in the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District, little is known about the
backgrounds of the partners in the firm of Thom & Wilson. In addition to
several buildings located within the Greermich Village Historic District,
the architects Arthur M. Thom and James W. Wilson designed the Harlem
Courthouse, a designated New York City Landmark. Erected in 1891-93, the
Courthouse reflects the Romanesque Revival style with Victorian Gothic
detailing. The firm was also responsible for a row of neo—Grec style
brownstone~fronted houses located in the Metropolitan Museum Historic
District. Collaborating with a third architect under the firm name of
Thom, Wilson & Schaarschmidt (see John E. Scharsmith), the firm designed
the Criminal Courts Building, erected on Centre Street in 1890-94
(demolished). Their mmercus rows of houses and flats constructed on the
Upper West Side of Manhattan in the 1880s and ‘90s, with examples in the
Riverside-West End and Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
Districts, are highly inventive in design and generally executed in the
neo~-Grec and Renaissance Revival styles incorporating elements from a
number of historic sources.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 74.

Iandmarks Preservation Cammission, Metropolitan Museum Historic
District Designation Report (IP-0955), (New York, 1977):
“architects’ Appendix," Riverside - West End Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989).
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THOM & WILSON (ATTR.)

158 & 160 & 162 West 80th Street, 473

JOHN ROCHESTER THOMAS (1848-1901)
62 West 71st Street, 257

John Rochester Thamas was born in Rochester, New York and studied at the
University of Rochester and in Eurcpe. In 1874, after returning to New
York, Thamas was appointed Architect and Commissioner of the State
Reformatory in Elmira. In 1877 he established an independent practice in
Rochester where he designed buildings for the Theological Seminary at the
University. Thomas moved to New York City and established an office by
1882. This was a very successful move; Thomas was said to have designed
more buildings in New York City than any of his contemporaries. Among his
notable work in the city are armory buildings, such as the Squadron “A"
Armory at Madison Avenue and 94th Street (surviving Madison Avenue facade
is a designated New York City Iamdmark), the Second Reformed Church (now
the Ephesus Seventh Day Adventist Church in the Mt. Morris Park Historic
District), and the imposing Surrogate’s Court (formerly the Hall of
Records, a designated New York City Landmark). Thomas also designed the
Brooks Museum of Natural History at the University of Virginia. 1In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Thomas designed a
Renaissance Revival style rowhouse.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 74.

"John Rochester Thomas," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.

John Rochester Thomas cbituary, American Architect & Building News 73
(1901), 74.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (los Angeles, 1970), 595.

THEODORE E. THOMSON (dates undetermined)

130, 132, 134, 136, 138 West 74th Street, 360
120, 122, 124, 126, 128 West 80th Street, 471
37, 39, 41, 43, 45 West 87th Street, 610

44, 46, 48 & 50 & 52 West 90th Street, 672

Little is known of Theodore E. Thamson. He was established in New York as
an architect by 1874 and for a time had an office in Brooklyn. Much of
his practice was devoted to the design of residential buildings in
Marhattan. His work is represented in the Upper West Side/Central Park
West Historic District by four rows of Renaissance Revival style houses
ard a store. Other rowhouses constructed according to his designs appear
in the Carnegie Hill Historic District (a neo-Grec style brownstone), and
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contimuation of . . . . Theodore E. Thomson

in the Riverside-West End Historic District (Renaissance Revival style
rowhouses) . Thomson contimued in practice at least through the early
1200s.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 75.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Carmegie Hill Historic District
Designation Report (IP-0861), (New York, 1974), 11; "Architects?
" Riverside — West End Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1626), (New York, 1989).

IOUIS THOUVARD (dates undetermined)
12-14 West 68th Street, 189

Little is known of architect Ilouis Thouvard. His architectural practice
was established in New York by 1895, the year in which he designed a Queen
Anne style rowhouse in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. Thouvard also designed a factory and stables at the turn of the
century.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 75.

TILLION & TIILION

Clement V. Tillion (1892~1947)
Philip Garnier Tillion (1888-1951)
Philemon Tillion (dates undetermined)

158-168 West 73rd Street, 336

Philemon Tillion was born in Cheltenham, England and immigrated to the
United States in 1880. His architectural practice was established in
Brooklyn and was active there for twenty-five years. The firm then moved
to Manhattan. Philemon had two sons, Clement V. ard Philip Garnier, both
born in Brooklyn. Clement studied at the University of Pennsylvania and
Philip studied at Pratt Institute and Columbia University. Early in his
career Clement worked for a mumber of architectural firms before entering
the fim of his father in which his brother also practiced. In the Upper
West Side/Central Park West Historic District the firm of Tillion &
Tillion designed the neo-Gothic style Sherman Square Apartments, which
offered soundproof roams to attract professional misicians as residents.
Cther projects of the firm include the Industrial Home for the Blind,
Trinity Baptist Church, the Greenpoint Mascnic Temple, and several apart-
ment buildings, all in Brooklyn, as well as the Towers Hotel incorpor-
ating the Manhattan Congregational Church (1928-32) at 2162 Broadway in
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continuation of . . . . Tillion & Tillion
Manhattan.

"Music to Test Builders’ Claims for Sourdproof Suites Today," New York
Times, Apr. 14, 1929.

Philemon Tillion ocbituary, New York Times, Feb. 3, 1932.

Clement V. Tillion cbituary, New York Times, Oct. 16, 1947, p.27:2.

Philip G. Tillion obituary, New York Times, June 4, 1951, p.27:5.

Hernry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), {Los Angeles, 1970), 600-01.

CSCAR TOILHURST

304 Ceolumbus Avenue, 84

RALFH S. TOWNSEND (4. 1921)

460 Columbus Averme, 105

103, 105, 107, 109, 111 West 75th Street, 377
121, 123 and 131, 133, 135 West 82rd Street, 514
138, 140, 142, 144 West 82nd Street, 522

(See Townsend, Steinle & Haskell, below)

TOWNSEND, STEINLE & HASKELL

Ralph Samiel Townsend (d. 1921)
Charles Albert Steinle (1863-1930)
William C. Haskell (1869-1933)

151 Central Park West, 15

Ralph Samuel Townsend was one of New York City’s foremost architects of
fashionable hotels and apartment houses. He established an architectural
practice in New York City by 1881 and designed a mmber of stores, lofts
and apartment buildings located in the Greenwich Village Historic
District. He also designed the Hotel Savoy ard the Pierrepont Hotel in the
1890s, office and loft buildings located in the Iadies Mile Historic
District, and an apartment building and rowhouses in the Riverside—West
End Historic District. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed a flats building and rowhouses in the Renaissance
Revival and neo-Grec styles. At the turn of the century he collaborated
with architect Herbert Harde (see Ware & Styne-Harde) in the design of a
mnumber of apartment buildings on the Upper West Side. Townsend was noted
for skillful designs with bold crnamentation. The apartment buildings
with which he was involved are typically configured around light courts
and have elaborate classically-inspired ornament. Townsend was a member
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continuation of . . . . Townsend, Steinle & Haskell

of the Architectural Ieague and an associated member of the American Art
Society.

tharles Albert Steinle was born in New York and educated in Germany.
Arourd the turn of the century he worked as the head draftsman for Ralph
S. Tawnsend. Steinle was a member of the American Institute of
Architects, the Architectural Ieague of New York, and the American Society
of Civil Engineers.

William Cock Haskell was born in Detroit, Michigan and studied at the
College of the City of New York and Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art. Haskell entered the architectural office of George E.
Harding in 1887 and later assumed the position of superintendent of New
York school buildings. In 1897 he became associated with Ralph S.
Townsend. Haskell was active in civic affairs in New Rochelle, New York,
where he resided, and on his own designed three large apartment buildings
in that city. He was a mewmber of the American Institute of Architects,
the Architectural Ieague of New York, the American Society of Civil
Engineers, arxd the New York Sketch Club.

The firm of Townsend, Steinle & Haskell was formed by 1906 and was
especially known for its designs of large apartment buildings. The firm
was responsible for the Beaux-Arts style Kenilworth apartment building in
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. Elsewhere in New
York, the firm designed the Willard and Herald Scuare Hotels, the
Marbridge Building, the Best & Co. Department Store building (at Fifth
Averue arnd 35th Street), and apartment buildings in the Riverside-West End
Historic District. The firm was financially involved in many of the
apartment buildings it designed.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 37,72,76.

"William C. Haskell," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1933), vol. 30, 390.

'"William C. Haskell," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1924), vol. 21, 408.

William C. Haskell cbituary, American Architect & Building News,
Sept., 1933, 137, 143.

Iandmarks Preservation Comission, Research Files.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Central Park West — West 76th
Street Historic District Designation Report (LP-0713), (New York,
1973), 4; "Architects’ Appendix," ladies Mile Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York, 1989); “Architects’
Appendix, " Riverside - West End Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1626), (New York, 1989).

"Charles A. Steinle," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. levy (New York,
1924), vol. 21, 465.

"charles A. Steinle," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. levy (New York,
1930), vol. 27, 419.
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"Ralph Samiel Townsend," National Cyclopedia of American Biography,
(New York, 1967), vol. 30, 149-50.

Who’s Who in American Art, 633.

Who’s Who in American Art, 646.

Who’s Who in Architecture," American Art Anmial, (Washington, D.C.,
1924-25), vol. 21, 408.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dicticnary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 269, 570.

TROWERTDGE, & LIVINGSTON

Samuel Beck Parkman Trowbridge (1862-1925)
Goodhue Livingston (1867-1951)

175 Central Park West, 28

S.B.P. Trowbridge was born in New York City. After his early education in
the city’s public schools, he did his undergraduate studies at Trinity
College in Hartford. Upon graduating in 1883, he entered Columbia
University’s School of Mines where his father was teaching engineering,
ard later furthered his training at the American School of Classical
Studies in Athens and at the Ecole des Beaux—-Arts in Paris. On his return
to New York, he entered the office of George B. Post.

Goodhue Livingston, a descendant of a prominent colonial New York family,
received his undergraduate and graduate degrees from Columbia during the
same period Trowbridge was at the University. He also practiced with
George B. Post.

In 1894, Trowbridge, Livingston and Stockton B. Colt formed a partnership
that lasted until 1897 when Colt left the firm. The firm then became
known as Trowbridge & Livingston and gained recognition for its public and
camercial buildings, among which are: the B. Altman & Co.

Store (1906, 34th Street and Fifth Awve.), the St. Regis Hotel (1904, 55th
Street and Fifth Ave.), the Morgan Guaranty Trust Campany Building
(formerly the J. P. Morgan & Co., 1913, 23 Wall Street), all of which are
designated New York City Landmarks, and the New York Stock Exchange
extension (1923). Buildings designed by the firm for the American Museum
of Natural History, including the Hayden Planetarium (a designated New
York City landmark), are located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District. Trowbridge & Livingston also designed residential
buildings in a variety of styles popular in the early twentieth century,
including the neo-Federal, Beaux-Arts and neo-Renaissance. FEwamples of
their residential work can be fourd in the Upper East Side Historic
District.

Trowbridge was a member and past president of the Architectural Isagque of
New York and a member of the Society of Beaux-Arts Architects. He was
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also appointed Chairman of the National Council of Fine Arts and was a
Trustee of the American Academy in Rame. Livingston was a Fellow of the
American Instituiite of Architects, a member of the Architectural league and
a recipient of its medal of honor.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 50, 76.

Iandmarks Preservatmn Commission, "Architects’ Apperdix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

"Goodhue Livingston," Wwho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 3,
524.

Goodhue Livingston obituary, New York Times, June 4, 1951, p.22:1.

"Samuel B.P. Trowbridge," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol.
1, 1254.

"Trowbridge & Livingston," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed.
Adolf K. Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 228-30.

Samuel B.P. Trowbridge obituary, New York Times, Jan. 20, 1925, p.17:4.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 606-07.

CITARENCE TRUE (1860-1928)

291 Central Park West, 47

426 Columbus Avemie, 97

155, 157, 159, 16l West 76th Street, 408

163 West 79th Street, 446

211, 213 West 79th Street, 455

215, 217, 219, 221, 223, 225 West 79th Street, 457
64, 66, 68 West 87th Street, 620

157, 159 West 88th Street, 642

31, 33 West 94th Street, 688

Clarence F. True, a prolific and well-known architect and developer of the
1890s, practiced extensively on the Upper West Side of Manhattan where he
is said to have designed over 400 houses. Trained in the office of
prominent architect Richard M. Upjohn, he established his own firm in
1884. True helped popularize the American basement plan rowhouse in New
York and was largely responsible for developing the southern end of
Riverside Drive in the 1890s. In 1899 he published "A True History of
Riverside Drive," intended as a real estate prospectus to pramote his
work. Envisioning the Drive lined with large elegant town houses, True
purchased all the available lots along the Drive south of West 84th Street
and designed houses for them. Many of True’s houses, including nine
located in the West-End Collegiate Historic District, were designed in his
idiosyncratic Elizabethan Renaissance Revival style based on English
Rena:l.ssanceprototypes Other examples of his rowhouse design can be
fourxd in the Riverside-West End Historic District. True also designed
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apartment buildings. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed several rows of houses displaying elements of the

Renaissance, Romanesgue, and Jaccbean Revival styles, in addition to a

comercial building and a hotel.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 76.
A History of Real Estate Building and Architecture in New York City.
(1898; rpt. New York, 1967), 233.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, "architects’ Apperdix," Riverside
- West Fnd Historic District Designation Report (LP-1626), (New
York, 1989); West End-Collegiate Historic District Designation
Report (LP-1418), (New York, 1984), 266-67.

JOSEFH TURNER

103, 105, 107 West 78th Street, 431

WILITAM B. TUTHILL (1855-1929)
464 Columbus Avenue, 106

William Barnet Tuthill was born in New York and educated at City College.
Early in his career he worked as a draftsman for Richard Morris Hunt and
in 1877 established an indeperdent architectural practice. An early com-
mission, in association with Adler & Sullivan, was Carnegie Hall in which
Tuthill was responsible for solving acoustical problems. Tuthill also
designed school, public and hospital buildings. One of his best-known
designs was the Schinasi Residence on Riverside Drive, a designated New
York City Iandmark. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District Tuthill designed a Renaissance Revival style flats building. A
founder of the Architectural League of New York, Tuthill also wrote
several books on architecture.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(Neww York, 1979), 77.

"William B. Tuthill," American Art Annual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1900}, wvol. 3, 132.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 608-09.
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JOSEFH UNGER

171 West 85th Street, 581

JACOB H. VALENTINE (1823-1903)

472, 474, 476 [a/k/a 100-102 West 83rd Street] Columbus Avenue, 107
570-572 Columbus Avermue, 123

488, 490, 492 Ansterdam Avermie, 158

494 Amsterdam Avermie, 159

155, 157, 159, 16l West 73rd Street, 326

163 & 165, 167 & 169, 171 West 73rd Street, 327

Little is known of architect Jacocb H. Valentine, whose practice was
established in New York by 1880. He designed buildings in a variety of
styles, ranging from Italianate and neo-Grec to Queen Anne and Renaissance
Revival. Several flats, rowhouses, and a tenement were constructed
according to his designs in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. Other examples of his residential work can be found in the
Upper East Side Historic District.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 77.

landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Uppex
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981) .

CAIVERT VAUX (1824-~1895)
175 Central Park West, 19

Calvert Vaux was one of America’s foremost architects and 1

designers. Born in Iondon, he studied at the Merchant Taylor’s School and
with Architect Lewis W. Cottingham. After weeting Andrew Jackson Downirgy
in 1850 Vaux moved to Newburgh, New York, to assist Downing in the design
and lardscaping of country residences. While associated with Downing,
Vaux also worked on the lardscaping plans for the Capitol, the Smithsonian
Inst:l.tutlon, and the white House, all in Washington, D.C. After Downing’s
death in 1852, Vaux formed a partnership with Frederick Clarke Withers. In
1857 Vaux p.lblished "villages arnd Cottages," a book which documented his
early work. 1In 1856, Vaux’s practice was established in New York City,
still in partnership with Withers. In the following year Vaux collabo-
rated with Frederick Iaw Olmsted on a plan for the Central Park competi-
tion. Inspired by the English picturesque tradition, their plan was
chosen as the winner of the campetition. Vaux was subsequently appointed
consulting architect and later landscape architect, and he and Olmsted
supervised the execution of their designs. ©Other products of the Vaux and
Olmsted collaboration are found at Prospect Park in Brooklyn, and at
Riverside and Morningside Parks (all but the latter are designated New
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York Scenic Iandmarks). Vaux and Olmsted continued to work in independent
practices for some time. Vaux also held associations with Lewis W. Leeds
(1863) , George K. Radford (1874-92), and Samuel Parsons, Jr. (under the
name Vaux & Co., 1880-95). Vaux was appointed Iandscape Architect to the
New York City Department of Public Parks (1888-95). He also produced
designs for public buildings, among them are the Jefferson Market Court
House (10th Street and Sixth Avenue, in association with Withers, 1874-77,
a designated New York City Iamdmark). In collaboration with architect
Jacch Wrey Mould (see), Vaux also designed the first buildings for the
Metropolitan Museum of Art (1874-80) and the American Museum of Natural
History (both are designated New York City ILandmarks, the latter is
located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District). The
designs for the American Museum of Natural History and the Jefferson
Market Court House reflect the influence of the English High Victorian
Gothic style.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 78.

"Calvert Vaux," Dictionary of American Biography.

"Calvert Vaux," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf K.
Placzek (New York, 1982}, vol. 4, 303-04.

"Calvert Vaux," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. H, 550.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 618-19.

CHARIES VOIZ (b. 1859)
175 Central Park West, 26

Charles Volz was born in Wildobad, Germany, and was educated at the
Polytechnic School in Stuttgart. He began an independent architectural
practice in New York in 1893. In 1899 he began a partnership with James
Brown Iord (see) which was active for twelve years. Volz became a member
of the American Institute of Architects in 1908, having completed a
country residence in Comnecticut, the Police Station of the 36th Precinct
in New York, and two buildings for the American Museum of Natural History
located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," ladies

Mile Historic District Designation Report (LP-1609), (New York,
1989) .
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GEORGE M. WAILGROVE (dates undetermined)

3, 5, 7, 9 West 75th Street, 365

21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31 West 75th Street, 366

33, 35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47 West 75th Street, 368
26, 28 West 75th Street, 373

27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37 West 76th Street, 396

40, 42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56 West 76th Street, 404

Little is known of architect George M. Walgrove. Establishing an
architectural practice in New York by 1886, he was soon active in the
residential development of the Upper West Side of Manhattan. Many
exanples ofhlsrmvlmsedemgnsdatlngfmnt]uspermd several in the
Renaissance Revival style, can be found in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District.

Dermis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 79.

WALKER & GILIETTE

A, Stewart Walker (18807-1952)
Ieon N. Gillette (1878?-1945)

170 Central Park West, 17

A. Stewart Walker was born in Jersey City, N.J., and received an
architectural degree fram Harvard in 1898. ILeon N. Gillette was borm in
Malden, Mass. and studied at the Universities of Mimmesota and Pennsyl-
vania. In 1895-97 he was employed by the firm of Bertrand & Keith, in
1899 by Howell & Stokes, and later by Babb, Cook & Willard (see), and
Schickel & Ditmars (see). He then attended the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in
Paris from 1901-03. Returning to New York in 1903, he worked with Warren
& Wetmore, then joined Walker in partnership.

Walker & Gillette rose to a praminent position in New York and eventually
worked natiorwide. Their commissions were for private residences, banks,
apartment and office buildings, hospitals, clubs, museums, and hotels.
Among these were the First National Bank building at 2 Wall Street (which
was voted the second best building in downtown New York in 1927), the Art
Deco style Fuller Building (East 57th Street, 1929, a designated New York
City Landmark), and a substantial addition to the New York Historical
Society, located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. (See essay on institutional buildings for more information.)
The firm received many awards for its designs. Walker was a member of the
New York Chapter of the American Institute of Architects and Gillette was
a Fellow of that organization. Both partners were members of the
Architectural Ieague and the Beaux-Arts Institute of Design.
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"Ieon N. Gillette," Wwho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 2, 210.

Leon N. Gillette cbituary, New York Times, May 4, 1945, p.20:2.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appe.ndix "
Bast Side Historic District Designation Report (IP-1051), (New York,
1981).

YA, Stewart Walker," Who Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967}, vol. 3
883.

A. Stewart Walker ocbituary, New York Times, June 11, 1952, p.29:4.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 235-36.

FRANK F. WARD (dates undetermined)

7, 9 West 84th Street, 549

46, 48, 50, 52 West 84th Street, 559
54, 56, 58 West 84th Strect, 559

60, 62, 64 West 84th Street, 560

Little is known of architect Frarnk F. Ward. His practice was established
in New York by 1884 and he later practiced with Herbert E. Davis. A
product of that collaboration is the Third Baptist Church at Alexarder
Avenue and East 141st Street in the Mott Haven Historic District. The
adjoining parsonage was also designed by Ward. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District Ward designed four rows of houses
in the nec-Grec arnd Renaissance Revival styles.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 80.

Iandmarks Preservation Coammission, Mott Haven Historic District
Designation Report (LP-0451), (New York, 1969).

WARE & STYNE-HARDE

James Edward Ware (1846-1918)
Herbert Spencer Styne-Harde (1873-1958)

2020-2026 Broadway, 161

James E. Ware, a native New Yorker, studied at the College of the City of
New York, apprenticed to Robert Griffith Hatfield (see), and began
architectural practice in the city in 1869. Ware was an early pioneer in
the design of fireproof warehouses; his work in that field included the
Manhattan Storage and Warehouse Company’s buildings, one at ILexington
Avenue and 42rxdl Street and the other at Seventh Averme and 52nd Street.
Ware was also interested in improving the design of tenement buildings,
ard is best known for his experiments with the dunbbell plan, which was a
pioneering effort in that field and for which he won the competition of
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1879 sponsored by "The Plumber and Sanitary Engineer." In later years
Ware was among the first to design tenements with central light courts.
An example of his work in this respect is the First Avenue Estate
constructed for the City and Suburban Homes Campany in 1899-1905. Ware
also designed residences, churches, grard hotels, school buildings, arxd
apartment buildings. Although trained in the Second Enpire style, he was
an early exponent of the Queen Anne style as exemplified by his rowhouse
at 1321 Madison Avenue (1890-91, a designated New York City Landmark).
His Osborne Apartments (1883-85), a massive ten-story structure at the
corner of West 57th Street and Seventh Averue cavbining Romanesque and
Florentine Renaissance Revival elements, was one of the city’s finest
early luxury apartment buildings. Other works include the Gothic Revival
Madison Averme Preshyterian Church, 917 Madison Avenue, of 1899 and the
Twelfth Regiment Armory at Columbus Avenue arxd 61st Street of 1886,

Ware took his two sons, Franklin B. and Arthur, into his firm in 1879 ard
1900, respectively. James practiced architecture until his death, at
which time the firm became F.B. & A. Ware. Ware collaborated briefly in
the 1890s with Herbert Spencer Styne-Harde (see Harde & Short). In the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Ware & Styne-Harde
designed a neo-Renaissance style flats building (1895-96).

Dermnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 73.
Iandmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.
Landmarks Preservation Commission, 1321 Madison Averue House
Designation Reporxrt (LP-0866), (New York, 1974); "“Architects’
Apperdix, " Iadies Mile Historic District Designation Report
(LP-1609), (New York, 1969).

JAMES EDWARD WARE (1846-1918)

143 & 145 West 69th Street, 214
130, 132, 134 West 73rd Street, 333

(See Ware & Styne-Harde, above)
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EDWARD J. WEBB (dates undetermined)
132 West 8lst Street, 491

Little is known of architect Edward J. Webb., With an architectural prac-
tice established by 1830, Webb’s specialty was in perspective drawirgs.
Later in his career he practiced with Samel Curtiss. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District Webb designed a neo-Grec style
rowhouse late in his career.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 80.

WECHSIER & SCHIMENTT

Max Wechsler (b. 1906)
Michael Schimenti (b. 1915)

17-19 West 74th Street, 339
17 West 88th Street, 632
19 West 88th Street, 632

Max Wechsler was born in New York ard was educated at Columbia University
and New York University. Michael Schimenti was born in New York City and
studied at Cooper Union for the Advancement of Science and Art, the
Mechanics’ Institute, the New York Structural Institatte, and the Ecole des
Beaux-Arts in Paris. In 1941-47 he was employed as draftsman with William
I. Hohauser (see).

Wechsler and Schimenti joined in partnership in 1946 and designed resi-
dential, cxxmercial, educational, and public buildings. They were also
imvolved in city plamning and restoration work. The firm remained active
for many years, although the partners may have practiced independently as
well. Wechsler & Schimenti was responsible for alterations to existing
rowhouses located in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District during the 1980s. Iater known as Wechsler, Grasso & Menziuso,
the firm designed an apartment building in the district (1985-88) and was
responsible for renovating and adding stories to an existing flats
building (1982-86).

American Architects Directory (New York, 1962), 619, 744.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 807, 972.

Larndmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ A;pelﬁlx " Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (1LP-1051), (New York,
1981).
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WECHSIFR, GRASSO & MENZIUSO

Max Wechsler (b. 1906)
Grasso (dates urdetermined)
Menziuso (dates undetermined)

465 Columus Avenue, 104
521-527 Amsterdam Averne, 160

(See Wechsler & Schimenti, above)

ARTHUR WEISER (b. 1894)
2080-2094 Broadway, 164

Arthur Weiser joined the American Institute of Architects in 1945. He was
educated at Cooper Union for the Advancement of Science and Art. Weiser
received awards for his designs for the United Home for Aged Hebrews in
New Rochelle, New York, and for the buildings at 60 Sutton Place and 517-
21 East 86th Street. In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District he designed a modern comercial building. Weiser later retired
to Florida.

American Architects Directory (New York, 1970), 975.

ALEXANDER M. WELCH (1869-1943)

9 West 69th Street, 196
14, 16 West 86th Street, 590

(See Welch, Smith & Provot, below)

WEICH, SMITH & PROVOT

Alexander McMillan Welch {(1869-1943)
Bowen Bancroft Smith (1869-1932)
George H. Provot (1868-1936)

3, 5, 7, 9, 11 West 73rd Street, 317
6 West 74th Street, 346

206 West 79th Street, 459

28 & 30 West 86th Street, 592

32, 34 West 86th Street, 593

36, 38 West 86th Street, 593

Alexander McMillan Welch was both a banker and an architect. He grad-

vated from Columbia University and the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris, an
educational background shared by many successful New York City architects
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continuation of . . . . Welch, Smith & Provot

of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries. From 1899 to 1908
Welch practiced architecture with Bowen Bancroft Smith and George H.
Provot under the firm name of Welch, Smith & Provot. Born in Newton,
Mass., Bowen Bancroft Smith was a graduate of the Massachusetts Institute
of Technology ard the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris. George H. Provot was
born in New York and stidied at Columbia and in Paris.

The firm was extremely active in the residential development of both the
east and west sides of Manhattan, and many of the firm’s residential
commissions were carried out on speculation for developers William W. &
Thomas M. Hall. The firm catered to its clients’ taste for the fashion-
able French-inspired Beaux-Arts style in the first decade of the twentieth
century. The townhouse at 20 East 65th Street in the Upper East Side
Historic District is a fine example of this work. Others are located in
the Metropolitan Museum Historic District.

Although Welch, Smith & Provot primarily worked in a Beaux-Arts manner,
the firm designed buildings in a variety of other styles in other parts of
the city. The firm’s rowhouses in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District represent the neo-Renaissance and Georgian Revival
styles that were also popular at the beginning of the twentieth century.

After 1908, Welch returned to private practice and designed muerous
Manhattan town houses, buildings which reveal his mastery of the elegant
Beaux-Arts style employed by contemporary Parisian architects. Welch
practiced architecture independently from 1908 until 1925, designing
suburban houses as well as St. Stephen’s Methodist Church, a simple
shingled structure in the Bronx. He was also the restoration architect of
a number of historic strixctures, including Hamilton Grange (a designated
New York City Landmark, also in the Hamilton Heights Historic District),
Washington’s Headquarters in White Plains, New York, and the Dutch
Colonial Dyckman House (a designated New York City I_animark) At the time
of his death, Welchlssaldtohaveownedoneofthelargestarﬂnnst
important architectural libraries in the camtxy Independently, Welch
also designed two additional rows of houses in the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 81.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Metropolitan Museum Historic
District Designation Report (LP-0955), (New York, 1977), 118;
"architects’ Appendix,” Riverside - West End Historic District
Designation Report (LP-1626), (New York, 1989).

"Alexander M. Welch," American Art Anmual, ed. F.N. Levy (New York,
1900), vol. 3, 134.

Alexander M. Welch cbituary, New York Times, Sep. 25, 1943, p.15:5.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 492, 559.
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ETMARD WENZ {dates undetermined)

487, 489, 491, 493, 495 [a/k/a 162 West 84th Street] Amsterdam Averue, 155
169 West 78th Street, 435
20 West 94th Street, 691

Little is known of Edward Wenz. Established as an architect in New York
by 1887, his practice was mostly residential in nature. Examples of his
flats and rowhouses designed in the neo-Grec and Renaissance Revival
styles are found in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic
District. Wenz was also involved in the design of an addition to the
College of Mount St. Vincent Administration Building, a designated New
York City ILandmark, in 1906-08.

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979}, 8l.

Iandmarks Preservation Commission, College of Mount Saint Vincent
Administration Buildirg Designation Report (ILP-1014), (New York,
1979).

A.E. WESTOVER (dates undetermined)
460 Amsterdam Averue, 152

Little is known of Albert E. Westover. Appearing in Philadelphia
directories from 1901 to 1919 he was known as a theater architect with
several theaters in the Philadelphia area to his credit. In New York
Westover designed the Oscar Hammerstein Theater at 254-58 West 42nd Street
ard is listed as the architect of record for the Victory (originally the
Republic) Theater at 209 West 42nd Street. In the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District Westover constructed a small commercial
structure at the rear of an existing flats building in 1899, suggesting
that his practice was first established in New York before moving to
Philadelphia in the early twentieth century.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

Ale3



B.H. & C.N. WHINSTON

Benjamin H. Whinston (dates undetermined)
tharles N.?7 (dates undetermined)

137 West 86th Street, 601

Benjamin H. Whinston studied at Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art, and in 1922 he won honorable mention in the Chicago
Trilume Tower campetition. During his career he specialized in the design
of single-family homes in the Bronx and Queens. Little is known of his
partner C.N. Whinston. Together they designed office buildings, and also
altered an existing rowhouse in the Upper West Side/Central Park West
Historic District.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, Research Files.

E. WILBUR (dates urndetermined)
167 West 72nd Street, 299

Little is known of E. Wilbur. This architect may be Edwin Wilbur, whose
practice was established in New York by 1900. In the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District Wilbur altered an existing row-
house into bachelor apartments and a store (1909).

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 82.

HENRY W. WILKINSON (dates undetermined)
41 Central Park West, 2

Henry W. Wilkinson was born in New York and graduated from Cornell
University. His New York architectural practice was established early in
the twentieth century and included cammissions for commercial buildings
and public structures, such as those for the New York Telephone Company.
In the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District Wilkinson
designed a neo-Renaissance style apartment building. A member of the
Architectural Ieague, he moved to West Orange, N.J., in 1925 where he
contimued to practice architecture.

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Biographical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 658.




FRANK WILI.TAMS

402-408 Columbus Averme, 94

HARRTSON G. WISEMAN (1878-1945)
281-287 Colunbnus Avenue, 76

Harrison G. Wiseman was born in Springfield, Ohio, and established a New
York City architectural practice which thrived cn the design of theater
buildings, including the John Golden Theater and the Yiddish Art Theater
(12th Averme and Second Street), as well as the Oriental, Alpine, Cameo,
and Cammodore Theaters, as a camission for the Ioew’s theater chain. In
the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District he altered a
flats building in 1921.

Harrison G. Wiseman cbituary, New York Times, June 14, 1945.

YORK & SAWYER

Edward Palmer York (1865-1928)
Phillip Sawyer (1868-1949)

170 Central Park West, 16

Edward York, born in Wellsville, New York, studied at Cornell University,
from vhich he graduated in 1889. The most formative influence on his
work, however, was the eight years he spent working in the offices of
McKim, Mead & White (see) as a personal assistant to Stanford white.
Phillip Sawyer, born in New Iondon, Connecticut, and raised in Washington,
D.C., was trained as an engineer. In 1888 he studied ergineering with the
U.S. Geological Survey, Division of New Mexico, and did an irrigation
survey of drainage in Yellowstone. The following year he went on to the
Architectural School at Colunbia University, and then to the Ecole des
Beaux-Arts in Paris.

York and Sawyer met while working in the McKim, Mead & White offices. In
1898 they Jjoined in partnership and won a competition for the design of
the Rockefeller Recitation Hall at Vassar College, in Poucghkeepsie, New
York; from that point on their professional status was secured.

Although the firm contimied on long after York’s death in 1928, that year
may be said to mark the end of the classically-inspired work which won

the firm its reputation. During those previcus thirty years the firm had
concentrated on several types of commissions: close to thirty hospital
buildings, fifteen college ard school buildings, and a dozen office
buildings. By far the greatest mumber of their comissions, however, were
for banks, and by 1928 they had designed almost fifty of this building
type.

Al65



contimation of . . . . York & Sawyer

Among the firm’s many fine works in New York City are three designated New
York City landmarks: the New—York Historical Society at 170 Central Park
West, in the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District (see the
essay on institutional buildings for more information); the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, 33 Liberty Street, designed in 1924 in a neo-
Italian Renaissance style; and the Central Savings Bank, 2100-2108
Broadway, designed 1926-28, also in the neo-Italian Renaissance style.
These three buildings are excellent examples of the kind of work which
made the firm so prominent in its time. Other buildings designed by York
& Sawyer are lecated within the Metropolitan Museum Historic District
(three elegant Beaux-Arts town houses at 1014 to 1018 Madison Avenue), and
in the Upper East Side Historic District (two town houses and an apartment
building) .

Dennis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 67, 84.

Iandmarks Preservation Cammission, "Architects’ Appendix," Upper
East Side Historic District Designation Report (LP-1051), (New York,
1981).

"Phillip Sawyer," Who Was Who in America, {(Chicago, 1967), vol. 2, 469,

Henry F. Withey and Elsie R. Withey, Bicgraphical Dictionary of American
Architects (Deceased), (Los Angeles, 1970), 536, 675.

"Edward Palmer York," Wwho Was Who in America, (Chicago, 1967), vol. 1,
390.

"York & Sawyer," Macmillan Encyclopedia of Architects, ed. Adolf X.
Placzek (New York, 1982), vol. 4, 460-61.

Edward Palmer York obituary, New York Times, Dec. 23, 1928, p.l15:S5.

CHARLES M. YOUNGS (dates undetermined)
49, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59 West 94th Street, 690

Little is known of Charles M. Youngs whose architectural practice was
established in New York by 1889. Youngs’s contribution to the Upper West
Side/Central Park West Historic District is a row of Renaissance/
Romanesdque Revival style houses which began construction in 1890.

Demnis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), B4.
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ATFRED ZUCKER & CO.

Alfred Zucker (b. 1852)
Jorh R. Hinchman (1863-1933)

110 West 78th Street, 437

Alfred Zucker was born in Freibury, Prussian Silesia, ard received his
training in German polytechnic schools. In 1872 he traveled to the U.S.
and found work as a draftsman in the office of the Supervising Architect
of the U.S. Treasury in Washington, D.C. From 1875 to 1882, Zucker
practiced in the southern U.S. where he formed a partnership with John
Moser and was the official architect of public buildings in Mississippi.
His New York architectural practice began in 1883.

John R. Hinchman worked for Alfred Zucker & Co. from 1885 to 1888, During
that period the firm designed a Renaissance Revival style rowhouse in the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District. In 1891 Hinchman’s
office was located in Brooklyn, ard in 1894-95 he practiced with his
brother Fred B. Hinchman,

Zucker returned to indeperdent practice in 1889 and between 1891 ard 1893
often employed John Edelmann. Edelmann designed the Union Building
(1892-93, formerly the Decker Building, 33 Union Square West, a designated
New York City Iandmark), and the interiors of the Hotel Majestic (1891-92,
Central Park West and 72nd Street, predecessor of the current Majestic
apartments) for Zucker’s firm. The designs of the Zucker firm within the
Iadies Mile Historic District are generally attributed to him, as well.

In 1903 or 1904 Zucker was sued by a former partner and was forced to
close his New York practice. He then moved to Argentina where, as Alfredo
Zucker, he designed a mmber of Beaux-Arts hotels, including the Plaza in
Buenos Aires.

Dernis Steadman Francis, Architects in Practice in New York City, 1840-1900
(New York, 1979), 39, 85.

Landmarks Preservation Commission, "Architects’ Appendix," Iadies
Mile Historic District Designation Report (IP-1609), (New York,
1989).
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATICN

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the
architecture, and other features of this area, the Upper West Side/Central
Park West Historic District contains kuildings and other improvements which
have a special character and special historical and aesthetic interest and
value and which represent ocne or more eras in the history of New York City
ard which cause this area, by reason of these factors, to constitute a
distinct section of the city.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the
Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District evckes the distinctive
qualities of the Upper West Side fram its powerful iconography of twin
towers along Central Park West to its active commerce along Columus Avenue
to its residential side streets; that the district is defined by its large
concentration of architecturally distinctive and high guality buildings;
that these huildings are characteristic of the dewvelopment of the Upper West
Side east of Broadway over a fifty-year period from the 1880s to the 1930s
and that the district encompasses a mmber of residential building types, as
well as related institutional and commercial buildings; that the ocomplex
historical and architectural interrelationahip among these buildings is one
of the factors which helps to define the character of the district; that the
architects who contributed to the development of this area included Herry J.
Hardenbergh, Rafael Guastavino, Detlef Lienau, Percy Griffin, John J.
Prague, George F. Pelham, Gilbert A. Schellenger, and Thom & Wilson for the
design of rowhouses; John J. Prague, Gilbert A. Schellenger, Thom & Wilson,
Charles Buek & Co., and McKim, Mead & White for the design of tenements and
flats huildings; and Rosario Candela, Mulliken & Moeller, Neville & Bagge,
George F. Pelham, Emery Roth, Schwartz & Gross, and Irwin Chanin for the
design of larger apartment buildings and apartment hotels, including the
distinctive multi-towered buildings on Central Park West; that the rowhouses
located on the side streets throughout the district and in isolated groups
on Central Park West and the cross streets of West 72nd, West 79th, and West
86th Street present a picture of the final years of rowhouse construction in
Manhattan; that the unusually long side street blocks that form the heart of
the district are built up with long rows of four and five-story houses which
unify the streetscapes by consistent height, setback, and overall form,
althcugh the rows are stylistically varied and there is often a great deal
of variety in form and ornamental detail within each row, thus producing a
multiplicity of configurations; that the high stoops and the earth tones of
the brick and brownstone facades are other qualities which unify the
rowhouses; that contenporanecus with the rowhouses are five- and six-story
tenements and flats buildings, often in the neo-Grec ard Romanesque Revival
styles which are predominantly located on Columbus and Amsterdam Avenues;
that many were built in conjunction with the side street rowhouses and that
they are related to the rowhouses in height, scale, material, amd
architectural detail; that Central Park West, the cross streets, the lower
portion of Amsterdam Avenue, and the portion of Broadway within the district
derive much of their quality from the larger twelve- to twenty-story
apartment buildings that were constructed in two phases, befcre and after
World War I; that the huilding walls of these apartment buildings help to
define and frame the eastern and western boundaries of the historic
district; that the apartment building facades are generally characterized by
simple wall surfaces with base and upper level elaborately embellished with



ornament inspired by the Beaux-Arts, Renaissance, Gothic, and Romanesque
styles; that throughout the period of development of the district, a variety
of specialized kuildings designed by some of the city’s most prestigious
architects have been constructed to meet the social, educational, and
religious needs of the residents, and these complement the residential
huildings and enhance the architectural character of the area; that Central
Park West with its stylistically diverse buildings constructed over the
entire development span of the district plays a special role in the district
as its buildings create a streetscape and a skyline which is exuberant and
varied as to scale, height, and form; that the role of Columbus Averwe as a
comercial street has survived to the present, making the avemue a strong
spine in the district; that while 1little original storefront fabric
survives, stretches of facades of relatively uniform height and scale give
the averue its distinctive character; that Amsterdam Avenue shares a number
of characteristics with Columbus Avenue including tenements and flats
designed with storefronts at street level and built over a roughly ten—year
period (1885-1895); that despite the avenue’s consistent commercial
character, the storefront fahric has undergone a lesser degree of charge
than storefronts on Columbus and shows a greater harmony with the
architectural character of the upper stories of the buildings; that the
camercial portions of West 72nd Street and West 79th Street achieve a
distinction because of the transformation of earlier rowhouses for
comnercial use beginning in the early vears of the twentieth century; that
the resultant streetscape on West 72nd Street is created by the altermation
of largely intact nineteenth-century residential facades, set back from the
street above twentieth—century extended two-story commercial bases, and
1920s facades erected at the kailding line, and that the total effect is a
diverse comercial street which contains a mix of swviving historic
storefronts fram the 1920s and contenporary vernacular storefronts; that the
commercial streetscape of West 79th Street retains a unified appearance by
virtue of projecting bays, continuous stringcourses, and other architectural
details of the surviving portions of the residential facades above the
comercial bases and by virtue of the street-level storefronts themselves
which show a degree of regqularity in retaining transparency, the modularity
of the rowhouses, and the plane of the facade; and that the district
portrays the historical and architectural development and the varying scale,
form, and character of this section of the city; and that the rich variety
of interrelated buildings on the avenues and streets produce a complex urban
area constituting a distinct section of the city.

Accordingly, pursuant to Chapter 21, Section 534 of the Charter of the
City of New York and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the
City of New York, the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a
Historic District the Upper West Side/Central Park West Historic District
contammgthepropertybmmiedbyahmbegnmugatthesartlmtcoxner
of the intersection of Central Park West and West 96th Street, extending
scutherly along the western curbk line of Central Park West, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 62nd Street, northerlyalorgthewasten'l
property line of 25 Central Park West, northerly across West 63rd Street,
westerly along the northern carb line of West 63rd Street, northerly and
easterly along the western and northern property lines of 13-15 West 63rd
Street, northerly along part of the western property line of 3-11 West 63rd
Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 64th Street, northerly
across West 64th Street, northerly and easterly along the western arnd part



of the northern property lines of 41 Central Park West, northerly along the
western property line of 50 Central Park West, easterly along the southern
curb line of West 65th Street, northerly across West 65th Street, northerly
along the western property line of 51-53 Central Park West, westerly and
northerly along part of the southern and the western property lines of 55
Central Park West, northerly across West 66th Street, westerly along the
northern curb line of West 66th Street, northerly along part of the western
building line of 8 West 67th Street, westerly along the southern property
lines of 26-50 West 67th Street, northerly along the western property line
of 42-50 West 67th Street, northerly across West 67th Street, westerly along
the northern curb line of West 67th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 39-41 West 67th Street, westerly alorng part of the southern
property line of 60-66 West 68th Street, westerly along the southern
property lines of 68-76 West 68th Street and 171-179 Columbus Avenue,
northerly along the eastern curb line of Columbus Avenue, northerly across
West 68th Street to the northeast corner of Columbus Averme, westerly across
Columbus Avenue, westerly along the northern curb line of West 68th Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 180-188 Columbus Avenue,
westerly along the southern property lines of 108-120 West 69th Street and
the irregular scuthern property lines of 122-128 West 69th Street and
2016-2018 Broadway (as determined by the City Surveyor’s Map), northwesterly
and northerly along the eastern curb line of Broadway, northerly across West
72nd Street, northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Avenue,
easterly along the southern curb line of West 77th Street, northerly across
West 77th Street, northerly amd easterly along the western and part of the
northern property lines of 137 West 77th Street, northerly along the westemn
property lines of Lot 148 and 136 West 78th Street, northerly across West
78th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 78th Street,
southerly across West 78th Street, southerly along the eastern property
lines of 371-375 Amsterdam Averme, westerly along the southern property line
of 371 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam
Avenue to the southeast comer of West 79th Street, westerly across
Amsterdam Avenue, westerly along the southern curb line of West 79th Street,
southerly along the eastern property line of 206 West 79th Street, westerly
along the southern property lines of 206-226 West 79th Street, northerly
along the western property line of 226 West 79th Street, northerly across
West 79th Street, northerly along the western property line of 225 West 79th
Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 225-203 West 79th
Street, northerly alorg the western property lines of 410-416 Amsterdam
Averme, northerly across West 80th Street, northerly along the western
property lines of 203 West 80th Street and 428-434 Amsterdam Avenue,
ncrtherly across West 8lst Street, northerly along the western

lines of 440-446 BAmsterdam Avenue, easterly along part of the northern
property line of 444-446 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly along the western
property lines of  448-454 Amsterdam Averue, northerly across West 82nd
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 82nd Street, northerly
along the western property lines of 460-466 Amsterdam Avenue, northerly
along part of the western property line of 208 West 83rd Street,
northwesterly along part of the southern property line of 208 West 83rd
Street and the southern property line of 210 West 83rd Street, northerly
along the western property line of 210 West 83rd Street, easterly along the
southern curb line of West 83rd Street, northerly across West 83rd Street,
northerly along the western property lines of 480-486 Amsterdam Avenue,
easterly along part of the northern property line of 486 Amsterdam Avenue,



northerly along the western property lines of 488-494 Amsterdam Avenue,
easterly along the southern curb line of West 84th Street, southerly along
the eastern property lines of 495-489 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly alorg part
of the northern property line of 487 Amsterdam Avenue, easterly along the
northern property lines of 173-167 West 83rd Street, southerly along the
eastern property line of 167 West 83rd Street, westerly along the northern
curb line of West 83rd Street, southerly across West 83rd Street, scutherly
along the eastern property line of 471-475 Amsterdam Avenue (aka 168 West
83rd Street), southeasterly along part of the northern property line of 159
West 82nd Street and the northern property lines of 157-137 West 82nd
Street, northerly alorg part of the western property line of 135 West 82nd
Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 135- 113 West 82nd
Street, northerly along the western property line of 120 West 83rd Street,
easterly along the southern curb line of West 83rd Street to the southeast
corner of Columbus Avenue, northerly across West 83rd Street, northerly
along the eastern cwb line of Columbus Avenue to the northeast corner of
West 84th Street, westerly across Columbus Avenue, westerly along the
northern curb line of West 84th Street, northerly along the western property
lines of 498-504 Columbus Avenue and 102-104 West 85th Street, northerly
across West 85th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 85th
Street, northerly along the eastern curb line of Amsterdam Averue, easterly
along the northern property lines of 521-527 Amsterdam Avenue and 173-163
West 85th Street and part of the northern property line of 159-161 West 85th
Street, southerly along part of the eastern property line of 159-161 West
85th Street, easterly along part of the northern property line of 159-161
West 85th Street and the northern property lines of 157-119 West 85th
Street, northerly along the western property line of 124 West 86th Street,
nertherly across West 86th Street, westerly along the northern curbline of
West 86th Street, northerly along the western property line of 137 West 86th
Street, westerly along part of the southern property line of 140 West 87th
Street and the southern property line of 142 West 87th Street, northerly
along the western property line of 142 West 87th Street, northerly across
West 87th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 87th Street,
northerly and westerly along the western and northern property lines of 169
West 87th Street, northerly along the western property line of 166 West 88th
Street, northerly across West 88th Street, westerly along the northern curb
line of West 88th Street, northerly along the western property line of 177
West 88th Street, easterly along the northern property lines of 177-103 West
88th Street, southerly along the eastern property line of 103 West 88th
Street, southerly across West 88th Street, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 88th Street and contimiing easterly after crossing Columbus
Averme, northerly across West 88th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 61 West 88th Street, westerly along part of the southern
property line of 64 West 89th Street, westerly and northerly along the
southern and western property lines of 66 West 89th Street, northerly across
West 89th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 89th Street,
northerly along the western property line of 71 West 89th Street, easterly
along the northern property lines of 71-65 West 89%th Street and part of the
northern property line of 63 West 839th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 52 West 90th Street, northerly across West 90th Street,
westerly along the northern curb line of West 90th Street, northerly and
easterly along the western and part of the northern property lines of 63
West 90th Street, northerly along the western property line of 70 West 91st
Street, easterly along the southern curb line of West 91st Street, northerly



across West 9lst Street, northerly along the western property line of 315
Central Park West, westerly and northerly along part of the southern and the
western property lines of 320 Central Park West, northerly across West 92nd
Street, westerly along the northern curb line of West 92nd Street, northerly
along the western property line of 49 West 92nd Street, easterly along the
northern property lines of 49-35 West 92rnd Street, northerly along part of
the western property line of 4-36 West 93rd Street (aka 3-33 West 92nd
Street), easterly along the southern curb line of West 93rd Street,
northerly across West 93rd Street, northerly along the western property line
of 333 Central Park West, westerly along part of the southern property line
336 Central Park West and the southern property lines of 20-54 West 94th
Street, northerly along the western property line of 54 West 94th Street,
northerly across West 94th Street, westerly along the northern curb line of
West 94th Street, northerly and easterly along the western and part of the
northern property lines of 59 West 94th Street, northerly along the western
property line of 46-50 West 95th Street, easterly along the southern curb
line of West 95th Street, northerly across West 95th Street, northerly along
the western property lines of 51 West 95th Street and 46-48 West 96th
Street, easterly along the scuthern orb line of West 96th Street to the

point of beginning.
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181-189 Columbus Averwe (See:
Street), P32

190-198 Columbus Avenue, 60, P34

191-199 Columbus Avenue (See: 76 West &%9th
Street), P33

200-208 Columbus Avenue, 54, P35

201 [a/ksa 67-69 West &9th Street] & 203-205
& 207-209 Columbus Averwe, 61, P34

210-216 Columbus Averue, &5, P37

211-213 Columbus Averue, 62, P35

215-217 Columbus Avenue, 63, P35

219 Columbus Averwe, 63, P36

220-228 Columbus Avenue, &8, P39

221-223 Columbus Avenue, 6&, P37

225, 227, 229 Columbus Avenue, &6, P38

230-238 Columbus Avenue, 68, P39

235-239 Columbus Avenue {See: 72 West 7ist
Street), P38

240-242 Columbus Avenue, 71, P41

241-247 Columbus Avenwe, 69, P40

244 & 246 Cotumbus Avenwe, 71, P41

248-254 Columbus Avenwe, 72, P42

249-257 Columbus Avenue, 70, PiQ

260-268 Cotumbus Avenue, 74, P43

261-267 Columbus Avenue, 73, P42

269-275 Columbus Avenue, 74, P43

270-276 Columbus Avenue, 72, P44

280-284 Columbus Avenue, 77, P45

281-287 Columbus Avenue, 76, P44

286-294 Columbus Avenue, 73, P46

289-295 Columbus Avenue, 77, P45

300 Columbus Avenue, 82, P48

301-303 Columbus Avenue, 79,

302 Columbus Avenue, B3, P49

304 Columbus Avenue, 84, P49

305 & 307 columbus Avenue, 79, P47

306-316 Columbus Avenue, 84, P50

309 & 311 Columbus Avenue, 80, P47

313-315 Columbus Avenue, B1, P48

320 Columbus Avenue, 87, P51

321-329 Columbus Avenue, B5, P50

322-326 Columbus Avenue, 87, PS2

32B-338 Columbus Avenue, 88, P52

331-339 Columbus Avenue, 85, P51

340-358 Columbus Avenue {See: 131-149 West
T6th Street), P54

341-349 Columbus Avenue, 89, P53

351-357 columbus Averwe, 90, P53

360-3568 Columbus Averwe, 91, P54

77 West &8th

P46

INDEX

I-5

370-374 Columbus Avenue, 91, P55
376 Columbus Avenue, 92, P55
380-384 Columbus Avenue, 93, P56
386-390 Columbus Avenue, 94, P56
392-394 Columbus Avenue (See: 100 West 79th
Street), P57
§02-408 Columbus Avenue,
410-416 Columbus Avenue,
418-422 Columbus Avenue,
424 Columbus Avenue, %6,
426 Columbus Avenue, 97,
428 Columbus Avenue, 98,
430 Columbus Avenue, 98, P&D
432-436 Columbus Avenue, 99, P61
440-444 [afk/a 101-107 West 81st Street] &
446-456 [a/k/a 100-108 West 82nd Street}
Columbus Avenue, 101, P62
441-449 Columbus Avenue, 100, P&1
451-457 Columbus Avenue, 100, P&2
460 Columbus Avenue, 105, Pb4
461 [a/k/a 73-77 West 82nd Street}l, 463 and
467, 469, 471, 473, 475 [a/k/a 70 West
83rd Street] Columbus Avenue, 102, P&3
462 Columbus Avenue, 103, P&5
464 Columbus Avenue, 106, P63
465 Columbus Avenue, 104, P64
466-470 Columbus Avenue, 107, P&6
467, 469, 4T1, 473, 475 laskfa 70 West 83rd
Street] Columbus Avenue (See: 461, 463
Columbus Avenue)
472, 474, 476 [asksa 100-102 West B3rd
Street] Columbus Avenue, 107, P&S
481 Columbus Averwe, 108, P&7
483, 485 Columbus Averwe, 109, P47
487, 489, 491 Cotumbus Avenue, 110, P68
493-495 Columbus Averue, 111, P68
498 [askfa 101 West B4th Street] & 504
Columbus Avenue, 114, P70
501 [ask/a 57 West 84th Street] & 503
Columbus Avenue, 111, P59
505 & 507 Columbus Avenue, 112, P49
20B-516 Columbus Avenue, 115, P71
509-517 Columbus Avenue, 113, P70
520-526 Columbus Avenue, 117, P72
521-527 [askfa 77 West B5th Street], 529-535
[ask/a 76 West 86th Streetl Columbus
Avenue, 116, P71
528-534 Columbus Averue, 118, P72
540-546 [a/kfa 101 West B&th Street] &
548-556 [a/k/a 100 West 87th Street]
Columbus Avenue, 120, P73

94, PST
95, P58
96, P58
P59
P59
P60



INDEX

541-547 [askfa 61 West 86th Street], 549-555
[a/k/a 72 West B7th Street] Columbus

Avenue, 119, P73

560-568 Columbus Averue,

561-567 Columbus Avenue,

569-579 Columbus Averwe, 121, PT4

570-572 Columbus Averwe, 123, P75

Columbus Averwe Assocs., 99

Columbus Averwe, 370, ¥

Columbus Enterprises, 465, 104

Columbus Partners, 465, 104

Comstock, Frederick R., B

Conger, H.C., 521

Congregation Shearith Israel Synagogue &
Rectory (99 Central Park West), 10

Congress Hotel (19-21 West 69th Street), 197

Conley, John, 79

Cook, Henry F., 96, 143, 198, 409, &0&

Cooke Holding Corp., W.B., 287

Cordler, Theodore, 155, 435

Corn Exchange Bank & Trust Co., 285, 588

Corn Exchange Bank (former) (57-59 West 86th
Street), 588

The Ceronado (2040-2052 Broadway), 163

Corporal Holding Co., 581

Courtand, Maurice, 591

Crane & Assocs., C. Howard, 236

Crawford, Francis, 652

Crawford, George, 247

Crawford, Margaret, 270, 296, 307, 334, 658

Crow, Ralph L., 287

Cudlipp, Edwin, 266

DaCunha, George W., 533, 53¢

DaCunha, R.W., 533

The Dakota Apartments (1 West 72nd Street),
275

baly, Philip, 537

Daub & Daub, 231, 282, 283, 2B4

Davidson, Henry, 632

Davidson, John A., &M

Davis, J.L., &89

bavis, Richard R., 80

Day, William Horatio, 219

De Rosa, Eugene, 307

Delart, John, 684

Deeves (Builder), Richard, 503

Deeves, Margaret, 503

Deeves, Richard, 502, 541, 542

Del Genovese, ¥irgilia, 519

122, P75
121, P74

The Del Monte (former) (306-316 Columbus
Avenue), 84

betamarre, Sr., Jacques L., 1

Demeuron & Smith, 415

Denig, George A., 446

Dennison, Hirons & Darbyshire, 655

Deutsch & Polis, 312

Diller, William E., 203, 207, 370, 442, 867

Disken, Margaret, &83

Djorup, Erhard, 456

Donnellon, Samuel R., 642, 643

Donohue, Owen, 248

Donovan, Walter J.M., 314

Dorian, Quaring, 245, 246

The Dorilton (171 West 71st Street), 266

Dose Engineering Co., George, 163

bDoying, Sarah J., &1, 63, 201, 233

Drought, Witliam, 466

puff, Alexander D., 97, 109

Duffy, T.d., 437

Duncan, John H., 255, 266, 342, 348, 394,
395, 400, 586

unker, John F., 107

Dunn, George R., 131

Dunn, Joseph M., 350

Dunne Inc., Joseph A., 709

Durland Riding Academy {fermer) (8 West &7th
Street), 178

purlard Riding Academy Co., 178

Earle, Ellen H,, 705

The Earlton {118 West 72nd Street), 304

East River Holding Co., 306

Edelman, Judith, 122

Edgar & Son, George C., 235, 237, 554, 571

Edgar's Sons, George C., 198, 205, 206, 386,
387, 616, 636, 657

Edgar, Thomas C,, 381, 651

Egan & Hallecy, 379

Ehrich, William J., 342

Eisenberyg, Willjam, 98, 462

Eisendrath & Horowitz, 190

Elbero Realty Corp., 44%

The Eldorado (300 Central Park West), 49

The Eliott and The Prague {5341-547 [a/k/a 61

West BSth Streetl, 549-553 [a/kfa 72 HWest

87th Street] Columbus Avenue}, 119

Elkay Builders Corp., 4%

Elliott, F.A., 310

Elmorton Holding Corp., &&2

Endicott Apartments (261-267 Columbus
Avenue), 73



INDEX

Engine Company Wo. 56 (former) {120 West Frankenheimer, Louis S., 4B4
83rd Street), 546 Franklin School {(fermer) (18-20 West 8%9th
Engine Company No. 74 (120 West 83rd Street), 655
Street), 346 Fray, A.P., 689
Eppenstein & Matheuws, 47 The Free Synagogue (28-36 Uest &8th Street),
Erdman, Julius P., 181 190
Eshkar, Yeshayshu, 87, B8, 341, 371, 398, Free Synagogue, The, 190, 191
532, 533, 531, 563, 565 Freed, Donald E., 107
The Evelyn (former) (380-384 Columbus Freed, William J., 107
Avenue), 93 French & Co., C. Abbott, 88, 410
Excelsior Hotel (41-49 West 81st Street), 480 French Co., Fred F., 420
F.H. Realty Corp., 129 Friedenberg, Daniel M., 192
Faeger, Adem, 362 Friedman Realty Co., Ed & AL, 182
Fair Deal Realty Co., 174 Friedman, Leopold, 73
Farley & Son, John, 68, 234 Friend, John K., 614
Farley & Son, Terence, 75, 329 Futler, Charles, 101, 127
Farley, Cardinal John, 273 Furman & Segal, 128
Farley, J.T. & J.A., %0, 232, 262, 267 Furman, Joseph, 528
Farley, John, 250, 256 G & W Building Corp., 486
Farley, John T., 69, 70 Gahren, Charles, 121, 612
Farley, Patrick, 343, 412, 656, &57 Galoy, H.G., 91, 423
Farley, Patrick & John J., 608 Gandolfo, Emanuel, 519
Fay, James F., 290 Gault, Mary, 5%1
Feingold, Jeoseph, 439, 454, 455 Gehron & Seltzer, 407
Feirtag, Irving, 567 Genin, Sidney C., 681
Felco Realty Corp., 445 Gensler, Arthur, &2
Feldman, H.I., 2B2, 288, 486 Georgi, Edwin C., 189
Fellheimer & Wagner, 285, 284, 588, 589 Giblin & Taylor, 462, 465, 488, 490
Felson, J.M., 55, 264, 278, 421, 445, 451, Giblin, Michael, &4, 82, 210, 464
594, 597, 598, &04 Gibut & Fliess, &94
Felt, George L., 302 Gillie, James B., &45, 647, 648, 654, 702,
Ferdon, Martin V.B., 154, 247, 335, 568, 704
694, 700, 702 Gillis, John, 592
Ferris, George F., 106 Ginsbern & Assocs., Horace, 276, 550
ficken, Henry Edwards, 484 Ginsbern, Horace, 638
Figor, Albert E., 667 Glick Fein Building Co., 523
Finkle, Alexander 1., 440 Gold, Elias, 263
Finney, Robert 5., 1146 Goldhammer, Albert, 583, 584
Fischer, Adam E., 113, 572, 573 Goldman, Herman, 402
Fisher, Frank L., 89 Goldschlag, Oscar, 301
Fisher, George A., 661 Goldstone, Lafayette A., 562
Fishman & Sons, Inc., Julius, 231 Goodwin, Addraetta, 23t
Fleischmann, Gus & Leon, 591 Gordon Bros., 130, 142, 145, 146, 148, 152
Ford, Butler & Oliver, 287 Gotham Building & Construction Co., 42, 43
Forster & Livingston, 504 Gottlieb, Julius, 385
Fouchaux, Henri, 595 Grace and Saint Paul's Lutheran Church
Fouguet, John, 219 (123-125 West 71st Street), 251
Frame, James A., 196, 570, 615 The Grandview (former) (370-374 Columbus
The Framor (146 West 79th Street), 451 Averwe), #1

Grant, Robert, &71



Grant, Stanley Charles, 304, 305

Gray, William H., 2™

The Graystone {(former) (2B6-294 Columbus
Avenue), 78

Green, Harry F., 8

Greene, Henry George, 457

Grenell, Increase M., 621, 622, 625, 690,
692, 694

Greycourt Realty Co., 501

The Greylock (former) (301-303 Columbus
Avenue), 79

Griebel, George H., 76, 77, 321, 563

Griffin, Percy, 348

Gronenbery & Leuchtag, 174, 293, 294, 443,
450, 478, 516, 672

Gruwe, Emil, 93

Guastavino, Rafael, 433, 438

Guilleaume, Charles, 217, 624

Gunning, Ellen, &6

Gura, David, 239

Haines, Samuel B., 3

Hall, Arlington C., 295

Hall, James T., 369, 374, 376

Hall, J4r., William H., 593

Hall, W.W. & T.M., 317, 346, 592

Hall, William H., 38, 200, 211, 435

Hall, William W., 458

Halleran, John, 62

Halleran, Mary, 63

Hamilton, George H., 326

Hamilton, George J., 60, 216, 30%, 310, 335,
662

Hamilton, George W., 238, 289, 327

Hanfietd, C., 696

Harde & Short, 421

Hardenbergh, Henry J., 76, 77, 275, 317,
319, 323, 336, 486

Hartow, George J., 700

Harmon & Hart, 277

Harperly Hall (41 Central Park West), 2

Harperly Hall Corp., The, 2

Harris (attr.), Henry L., 426

Harris, Henry L., 424, 434, 436, 479, 481,
482, 483, 489, 508, 553, &76, 678

Harris, Sarah, 595

The Hartford (313-315 Columbus Avenue), 81

Hartwell, Horace Edgar, 701

Hartwell, Luther F., 701

Hatch, Stephen Decatur, 261

INDEX

Hatfield, 0.P. & R.G., 149

Hauck, Ferdinand B., 528

Haupt, Harry §., 116

Haven Properties, Inc., 347

Hawkins, Fred H., 686

Hawley, John S§., 257

Hayden House (11 West Blst Street), 477

kebrew Union College (former) (38-44 West
68th Street), 191

Hedley, Alfred M., 469

Kemming, John T., 705

Hennessy Realty Co., 260, 501, 532, 540

Henry, J4.C., 641

Hensel, Max, 72, 344

KHerbert, D. & E., 336

Herbert, Daniel, 486

Kerts & Tallant, 249

Kertz, Samuel A., 45%

Higgs & Rooke, 132

Killberg & LaVelle, 448

Hillerbrand, F. J., 80

Hirsh, Edward, 466

Kogenauer, A., 157

Kohauser, Wiltiam I., 115

Holiday (Builder), George, 701

Holiday, George, 701

Holy Trinity Evangelical Lutheran Church
{51-53 Central Park West), 4

Holy Trinity Lutheran Church, &4

Hopper, J.A., 105

Horerbuwrger, Hermann, 668, 670, &71

Horn & Hardart (former) (170-172 West 72nd
Street), 314

Horton lce Cream Co., J.M., 83

Horton, Lorton, 132

The Hotel Alamac (2054-2062 Broadway), 163

Hotel Anderson (102 West 80th Street), 469

The Hotel Berkley (287-295 Amsterdam
Avere), 126

Hotel Bromley (31 West 71st Street), 246

The Hotel Cambridge (60-6& West 68th
Street), 193

Hotel Cameron (37-41 West 86th Street), 585

Hotel Colopnial (441-449 Celumbus Avenue), 100

Hotel Embassy (202B-2032 Broadway), 162

hotel Endicott (440-444 [a/k/a 101-107 West

81st Street] & 446-456 [a/k/a 100-108 West

82rd Street] Columbus Avenue), 101

Hotel Franconia (20-28 West 72nd Street), 280

Hotel Hamilton Corp., 326



INDEX

The Hotel Hamilton (141-153 West 73rd Jobar Holding Corp., 304
Street), 326 The John Muir (27-35 West 84th Street), 585
Hotel Hargrave (106-112 West 72nd Street), Johnson, Frances A., 484
302 Jones, Joshua, 350
Hotel Lucerne (402-408 Amsterdam Avenue), 137 Judson, Charles G., 642
Hotel Oleott (27-33 West 72nd Street), 276 Jungman, Julius, 98
Hotel Ormende (former) (2028-2032 Broadway), Junior High School 44 (131-149 West 76th
162 Street), 407
Hotel Park Plaza (50-58 West 77th Street), K.A.k. Realty Corp., 357
422 Kahn & Jacohbs, 227
Hotel Walton (210-216 Columbus Avenue), 65 Kahn, Leopold, 86
Hotel des Artistes (1 West &67th Street), 173 Karger, Railph M., 6568
Hotel des Artistes, Inc., 6, 173 Katz, 5. Walter, 458
Houghton, Edward C., 218 Kavanagh, Bernard, 230
Howe, William, 623 Keister, George, 131
Hubert & Pirsson, &1, 63, 20%, 233 Kelly, Laurence, 88, 410
Hume & Son, William H., 11 Kempner, Elias, 4567
Hunter, Paul C., 287, 288 The Kenilwerth (151 Central Park West), 15
Kurley & Hughes, 249 The Kermar (360-368 Columbus Avenue}, 91
Russ, George Martin, 218 Kennedy & Dunn, 111, 603
Hutchinson, Marcus, 538 Kennedy, Carrie 8., 232, 338, 427
Huttira, Albert, 642 Kenyon, H. Russell, 263
Hyfeld Holding Corp., 615 Kerwin, Andrew, 512, 515
Ifill & Johnson, 518, 645 Key 79th Street Realty Co., 454
Imperial Construction Co., 95 Kidansky & levy, 443
The Indiana (former) (117-119 West 79th Kiernan, Terence, 54%, 560
Street), 441 Kight, Alonzo B., &40
IrnWwood Realty, 289 Kilburn, Henry Franklin, 178, 299
Irons, Henry C., 123 Kilpatrick, Edward, 56, 186, 187, 209, 708
1rWin, Robert, 294 Kimball, Francis H., 344
Israels & Harder, 65 King, D.H., 543
Ives, H. Davis, 456 King, Edward J., 272
Jacobs, W.H., 344 Kingsfey, George S., 150
Jaeckel, Hugo, 442 Kleban, Louis E., 45
James, D. Willis, 374, 577, 605, 629 Klein, Serge, 247, 248, 576, 577
Janes & Leo, 266 Knust, Leo F., 196, 707
The Janet (former) (261-267 Columbus Koenig Realty Co., 655
Avenue), 73 Kehn Pedersen Fox Assocs., 179
Jardine, D. & J., 272, 298, 494, 502, 513, Kohn, Robert D., 169
534, 535, 541, 542 Kondylis, Constantine, 46
Jardine, John, 534 Korn, Nathan, 39, 53, 419
Jemnings, Arthur Bates, 315 Kovach, Edward J., 291
Jernings, J.D., 684 Krapp, Herbert J., 280
Jewish Center Inc., 600 Krauss, David, 416, 417
The Jewish Center (131-135 West Béth ¥reizler Barg Florman Geheral Construction,
Street), 600 122
Jewish Institute of Religion (38-44 West ¥udroff, Irving, 460
&8th Street), 19 Kurth, Otis E., 705
Jinssen, A., 189 Kweller, Morris, 362

La Rochelle (321-329 Columbus Avenue), 85

-9



Lamb & Rich, 85, 254, 355, 363, 520

Lamb, Hugh, 254

Lamb, Thomas White, 239

Langer, Nathan, 290

The Langham (135 Central Park West), 14

Larka, Erik, 245

Lary, Fred €., 99

The Lathrop (46-56 West 83rd Street), 540

Le Brun & Sons, N., 546

Leimas, Irwin, 322

Lench, Charles H., 582

Lenox Realty Co., 15

Leonard (Estate of), George B., 5

Levikow Assocs., 63

Levine, Lillian, 339

Levy, Belle, 244

Levy, Bernard S., 433, 438, 473

Lewis, David M., 94

Lewis, Richard V., 521

Libeskind, L.A., 710

Liebman Ljebman Assocs., 450

Lienau, Detlef, 505, 506, 507, S08

Lienau, Elizabeth, 506

Lilien, H. Herbert, 347, 484

The Lincoln Hotel (164-168 West 75th
Street), 392

Lindgren, Frank s,, 225, 226

Lindsley, Charles H., 241, 440, 528, 530

Livingston, James, 427, 611

Livingston, John, 536

The Lolita (227 Central Park West), 38

Lombardi, Joseph Pell, 291, 292

London 68 Co., B

Loomie, James J., 156

Lord, James Brown, 354, 391

The Louise (former) (508-516 Columbus
Avenue), 115

Lowen, Charles, 181, 214

Lu Broth, Paul, 567

Ludor Realty Corp., 354

Lumark Co., 247

The Luxembourg (432-434) (428, 430, 432-434

[a/k/a 200 West 81st Street] Amsterdam

Avenue), 143

Luyster, Corpelius W,, 87, 255, 298, 348,
394, 395, 400, 584

Lyon, D., &74

Lyons, Mary J., 30

Lyons, Robert T., 46, 195, 202, 246, 392,
Gh4, 662

INDEX

M.E. Church Extension Society, 261

Macdoneld, Ronald H., 126

Madigan, Michael 8., 554

Majestic Hotel Corp., 12

The Majestic {115 Central Park West), 12

Manasse's Professional Building (133 West
72nd Street), 292

Manchester House (141-145 West 79th Street),
LG

Mandel, Jack, 263

Manhattan Square Beresford Corp., 36

Manhattan Square Realty Co., 100

Manhattan Studio Inc., 551

Mann & MacNeille, 368

Mansion Estates, Inc., 1

The Marbro (165-173 West 79th Street), 447

Marcano, Hector, 243

Mared Building Corp., 416

Margon & Holder, 49, 262, 278

Marsh, Roberta W., 332

The Martha (494 Amsterdam Avenue), 159

Martin, ELi, 424, 436, 4B7, 676, 678

Martros Building Corp., 494

Matmar Realty Corp., 550

Maurandor Realty Co., 591

Mayer & Mayer, 604

Mayfair Management Corp., 276

Maynicke & Franke, 163

Maynicke, Robert, 162

McBurney School (former) (13-15 West 63rd
Street), 168

McCord, W.H., &13

Mcbonald, Anna, 333, 553

Mchonald, Charles, 100, 434, 509, S10

HcDowell & Henry (Builders), 641

McDowell, H., 641

McKenna, James, 698

#McKenzie, Voorhees & Gmelin, 325

McKim, Mead & White, 72, 543

McKinley, buncan C., 183, 408

McMorrow Engineering & Const. Co., 479

MegaStructures Inc., 94

Meinken, Henry, 606

Meltzer, Marvin H., 99

Mercer, William S., 643

Merriman, G.H., 85

Merritt Ferguson Construction Co., 515

Merritt, Augustus, 135, 135, 475

Merritt, Mortimer C., 332

Messels & Bradley, 523



Metropolitan Fireproof Warehouse (471-475
Amsterdam Avenue}, 150

Metropolitan Fireproof Warehouse, 150

Meyers, Charles Bradford, 529

Meyers, Richard W., 213, 517

Midas Realty Co., 50

Milbank, Elizabeth, 254

Miller, George, 514, 522

Miller, George G., &80

Miller, John L., 96

Milliken, Charles B., 430

Milnat Realty Corp., 288

Minogue, William J., 306

Minuth, Francis A., 110, 111, 121, 185

Morgenthau, Joseph, 281

The Morleigh (72-76 West &8th Street), 195

Morrow, John H., 456

Mott, Charles T., 698

Mould, Jacoby Wrey, 19

Mt. Pleasant Baptist Church (140-144 West
81st Street), 492

Mulliken & Moeller, 42, 43, 116, 124, 161

Mulliken, Harry B., 137

Munckwitz, Julius F., 96

N.C.H. Security Co,, 236

Nason, Alfred G., 397, 656

The Nebraska (former) (451-457 Columbus
Avenue), 100

Nellis, Edward J., 377

Nelst Realty Co., 300

Nemol Realty Co., 582

Neville & Bagge, 48, 114, 379, 441, 462,

466, 468, 479, 4BB, 490, 493, 595, 634,

639, 646, 64T, 648, 650, 6&54, 703, 704

New York Public Library, 147

¥ew York Public Library--5t. Agnes Branch
(444-446 Amsterdam Avenue), 147

The New York Telephone Company Building
(121-139 West 73rd Street), 325

New-York Historical Society (170 Central
Park West), 16

New-York Historical Society, 16

Noble & Gauss, 138

Noble, Willtiam, 41, 118, 407, 539, 601

Norman & Farber, 613

Nugent, Thomas, 79

0'Friel, James, 93

Oak Realty Co., 302

Ogden & Son, A.B., 87, 144, 151, 270, 378,
512, 515, 536

INDEX

Ogden, Jr., J.M., 265
The Oliver Cromwell (12-18 West 72id
Street), 279
Onretap Corp., 278
The Orchid (373-375 Amsterdam Avenue), 132
The Orleans (410-416 Columbus Avenue), 95
Orwell House (257 Central Park West), 43
DOsso, Frank, 341
Owners Building Co., 45
P.M.S. Realty Corp., 576
Paccison, George, 66
Palmer, Henry, 689
Park & Tilford, 72
Park Avenue, Inc., 1081, 11
Park Belvedere (402-408 Columbus Avenue), 94
Park Royal (21-39 West 73rd Street), 318
Parkwest Hospitalt (former) (168-170 West
76th Street), 417
Pasanella & Klein, &83
The Paulette (150-156 West BOth Street), 473
Peachbud Realty Co., 532, 563
Pelham, George F., 52, 135, 181, 182, 184,
189, 193, 204, 205, 217, 22B, 244, 249,
276, 31B, 324, 366, 390, 406, 420, 422,
428, 429, 447, 453, 467, 470, 494, 505,
5§15, 523, 556, 557, 558, 567, 590, &0,
661, 697, 709, T10
Pemberton Realties Co., 264
Penta Group, Architects, The, 296
Perry, Charles J., 98
pPfeiffer, Ernst E., 460
Phoenix House (164-166 West 74th Street),
Phyfe, Duncan, 568
Pickering, Arthur Donovan, 66
Platt & Brother, F.P., 314, 354
Platt & Marie, 455, 457
Plundike & Brandt, 485
The Plymouth (former) (305 & 307 Columbus
Avenue), 79
Police Department, City of New York, 518
Pollard & Steinam, 177
Pollard, George M., 173
Polonies Talmud Torah School (8 West 70th
Street), 227
Pomona (50% & 507 Columbus Avenue), 112
The Pontiac (449-455 [a/k/a 184 West 82nd
Street] Amsterdam Avernue and 176, 178,
180, 182 West B2nd Street), 145
Pope, John Russell, 30
Porco, Michele, 340

364



Post, James S., 705
Potter, William Appleton, 399
Pourne, F. G., 321
Prague, John G., 113, 115, 117, 118, 119,
120, 151, 159, 572, 573, 574, 575, 577,
580, 587, 597, 599, 600, 601, 403, &05,
620, 627, 628, 629, 630
The Prasada (50 Central Park West), 3
Pugh Co., Paul B., 679
Purcell, Edward, 108, 492
Putzel, Estelle, 244
Pythian Temple (former) (135-145 West 70th
Street), 239
Pythian Temple Association, 239
Quincey, Samuel, 52
Quinlan, Robert ., 87
Raleigh (121 West 72nd Street), 288
The Raleigh (7 West 92nd Street), 679
Randazzo, Frank, 371, 553, 615
Rapaport, Stanley, 322, 323
Rawkin, William, 545
Redstone Holding Co., 297
Reed, Samuel B., 645
Reeds & Assocs., Ted, 136, 137
Reid, Thomas, 38
The Renfrew, The Wahnita (former) (103, 105
West 77th Street), 423
Rentz, Charles, 156
Resnick, Paul, 8
Reynolds, Jessie, 489
Rich & Mathesius, 6
Richey, David, 523, 544, 549, 551, 552
The Richmond (147-153 West 79th Street), 445
Riker, Nathan M., 520
Ripley Realty Co., 124
Riverside Memorial Chapel (329-335 Amsterdam
Avenue), 128
Riverside Memorial Chapel, Inc., 128
Rivlin, Jacob, 371
Rodeph Sholom School (10-16 West 84th
Street), 555
Rodeph Sholom Synagogue & Community House
(7-21 West B3rd Street), 529
Rodeph Sholom, Congregation, 529, 555
Roe, Albert S., 315
Rofranc, John A., 458
Rogers & Zogbaum, 219
Rogers, George W., &6
Romeyn, Charles Wiltiam, 3
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Rocke, Frank A., 132
Roper, William, 555, 556
Ross & McNeil, 238
Rossiter & Wright, 484
Rossleigh Court (251 Central Park West), 42
Roth & Sons, Emery, 49
Roth, Emery, &5, 15, 36,
279, 282, 444, 449,
Roth, Samuel, 185, 265
Rothschild, Jacob, 385
Rouse & Goldstone, 241,
Ruck, John M., 71, 259
Ruddel l, George, 223
Ruddell, John, 253
Ruddell, John & George,
Rume, John C., 98, 462
Russell Bond & Realty Co., Walter, 421
The Ruxton (48-54 West 72nd Street), 284
Ryan & Rawmzley, 633
Ryan, John P., B1
The San Remo Apartments (145-146 Central
Park West), 15
$an Remo Towers, Ine., 15
Sass, Samuel, 667
Saunders, William, 590
The Saybrook (former) (309 & 311 Columbus
Avenue), 80
Schafran, Joseph, 709, 710
Scharsmith, John E., 176
Schellenger, Gilbert A., 56, 7%, 84,
130, 142, 145, 146, 148, 152, 198,
205, 206, 207, 209, 222, 223, 235,
252, 253, 296, 307, 334, 370, 381,
385, 386, 387, 397, 403, 427, 442,
504, 523, 525, 544, 549, 551, 552,
571, 572, 616, 626, 636, 649, 651,
458, 667, 679, GBSO, 687, &97
Schickel & Co., William, 442
Schickel & Ditmars, &, 402, 477
Schneider, Ernest W., 102
Schulder Realty Corp., 448
Schuman & Lichtenstein, 529
Schuman Lichtenstein Claman Efron, 163
schwartz & Gross, 5, ¢, 10, 11, 40, 45, 50,
54, 197, 215, 231, 260, 263, 303, 326,
445, 452, 473, 501, 525, 532, 540
Schwarz, George, 520
Second Church of Christ, Scientist, 8
The Second Church of Christ, Scientist (77
Central Park West), 8

37, 45, 49, 51, 129,
477, 602

260, 272, 451

223

109,
203,
237,
382,
472,
554,
856,



See, Charles, 138

Seminole Hotel, Lincoln View Hotel
{2020-2026 Broadway}, 141

Severn (269-275 Amsterdam Avenue),

Sexton, John, 248, 537

Sexton, Louis P., 364

Shaaray Tefila, Congregation, 524,

Shape & Brady, 180

Shearith Israel, Congregation, 10, 228

Shearith Israel, Trustees of Cong., 227

Sherman Square Apartments (281-285 Amsterdam
Avenue), 125

The Sherman Square Hotel (former) (351-357
Columbus Avenue), 90

Sherman Square Studios (158-168 West 73rd
Street), 336

Sherwood 70 Assocs., 163

Shibley, Walter F., 437

Shiwatsuka, Arthur, 5865

Sickle Gardenz Inc., 2562

Simmons, Henry, 482

Simonson & Sturgis, 175

Simonson, Pollard & Steinam, 173, 175

Sisbrothers Inc., 44

Slawzon & Hobbs, 313

Smith, Edward Chestre, 500

Smith, H. Ives, 620

smith, James R., 298

Smith, John Elliot, 331

Smith, Justus J., 415

Smith, Samuel W.B., 4B, 441

Smith, W. Holman, &89

Snook & Sons, John B., 369

The Society for Ethical Culture School (33
Central Park West), 2

Society for Ethical Culture, The, 2, 169

Society for the Advancement of Judaism, 583

The Society for the Advancement of Judaism
{13-15 West 86th Street), 583

Sohn, Herman M., 125

Sommerfeld & Steckler, 240

Sonny Holding Co., 598

Spaulding, James J., 498, 637

Spaulding, Thomas A., 659

Spence, Andrew, 531

The Spencer Arms (20156-2018 Broadway), 161

Spencer Realty Co., 141

Sperling, Abraham, 300

Springsteen & Goldhammer, 258

(former)

124

525

INDEX

Squier, J.B., 500

$t. Andrew's Methodist Episcopal Church
(former) (123-125 West 71at Street), 261

St. Andrew's Methodist Episcopal Church

(former} (120, 122-138 West 76th Street),

413

Charles (260-268 Columbus Avenue), 74

Matthew & St. Timethy Church & Center

(26-32 West Bith Street), 557

Matthew & St. Timothy, Church of, 557

Stephen's P.E. Church Rectory (120 West

&9th Street), 218

St. Urban (285 Central Park West), 46

§t. Vincent de Paul, Srs. of Charity of, 453

Stafford, William H., 513, 632

Standish Hall (former) (41-49 West B1st
Street), 480

Steinback, Gustave, 273

Steinhardt, Selig, 153, 547, 548

Steinmetz & Carter, 566

Steinmetz, Christian, 243, 5566

Stephen Wise Free Synagogue (2B-356 West 6&8th
Street), 190

Stevens, John W., 623

Stewart, P.M., 434

The Stratford Arms {115-123 West 70th
Street), 236

Stratton, Sidney V., 219

Stroud, James, 696

The Studio Building (44-4B West 77th
Street), 421

Sturtyvant Realty Co., 54

Sugarman & Berger, 40, 44, 77, 284, 584,
585, 587

Sugarman & Hess, 480

The Sunset (521-527 Amsterdam Avenue), 159

The Sussex (114-116 West 72nd Street), 303

Swartburg, B, Robert, 581

Swiss Benevolent Society, The, 176

The Swiss Home (former) (35-37 Hest &7th
Street), 176

SWigs Town House (35-37 West &67th Street),
176

The Sylvia (341-349 Columbus Avenue}, 89

Tafel, Edgar, 631

Taylor & Levi, 589

Taylor, Alfred H., 299, 434

Taylor, Jemes W., 389, 463

Taylor, John D., 222

Taylor, Hellie G., 707

St.
St.

St.
St.
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Taylor, Wiltiam J., 173, 175, 645
Tearle, Alfred A., 459, 480
Telfridge, John, 3%0
Third Universalist Society of New York City,
492
Thom & Wilsen, 38, 58, 80, &4, &8, &9, 70,
71, 75, 78, 90, 91, %2, 100, 108, 111,
112, 121, 135, 136, 153, 194, 200, 210,
211, 212, 214, 221, 230, 232, 234, 238,
250, 256, 259, 262, 267, 269, 291, 294,
309, 310, 329, 33t, 343, 357, 358, 412,
414, 423, 427, 435, 453, 458, 475, 492,
498, 509, 510, 547, 548, 554, 570, 608,
611, 612, 615, 633, 637, 656, 657, 659,
662, 694
Thom & Wilson (attr.), 473
Thomas, George A., 664, 665, 666
Thomas, John Rochester, 257
Thomson, Theodore E., 360, 471, 410, 4672
Thornton, John P., 139, 140, 468
Thouvard, Louis, 189
Tige Realty Co., 217, 420, 590
Tillion & Tillion, 336
Tipping, Edward, 212, 414
Tishman, Julius, 473
Tolhurst, Oscar, B4
Townsend, Ralph 5., 105, 377, 514, 522
Townsend, Steinle & Haskell, 15
Treacey, Michael, 151
Trowbridge & Livingsten, 28, 29, 3D, 31, 33,
34, 35
True, Clarence, 47, 97, 40B, 446, 455, 457,
620, 642, 688
The Turin (333 Central Park West), 54
Turner, Joseph, 431
Tuthitl, william B., 106
Tuxedo {former) (221-223 Columbus Avenue), 66
Ukrenian Autocephalic Orthedex Church (160
West 82nd Street), 524
Umberfield, John C., 365, 3&6, 368, 373
Unger, Joseph, 581
Ungrich, L. & K., 154
University Avenue Corp., 1861, 478
Vadrick Realty Co., 452
Valentine, Jacob H., 107, 123, 158, 159,
326, 327
van Dyck (261-2567 Aamsterdam Averue), 124
Varah Realty Co., Yona, 125
Vaux, Calvert, 19

The veltin School {(former) (160-142 West
74th Street), 363

Veltin, Louise, 363

Vinross Realties Inc., 57

The Volunteer (former) (376 Columbus
Averie), 92

Volz, Charles, 26, 32

Vonnoh, R.M., 177

The Machusett (311-317 Amsterdam Avenue), 127

Wagner & Wallace, 189, 567, 70%

Wagner, Peter, 181, 184, 185, 697

Waitt Construction Ca., 303

Waitt Realty Co., 197

Walden School, 45, 631

Walden School and 279 Central Park West
(279-281 Central Park West), 46

Walgrove, George M., 363, 366, 368, 373,
396, 404

Walker & Gillette, 17

Wallace, Robert, 382, 470, 64%

Ward, Frank F., 549, 559, 560

Ware & Styne-Harde, 161

Ware, James Edward, 214, 333

The WarWick Arms (418-422 Columbus Avenue),
96

Washington Square, Inc., 29, 279

Webl, Edwerd J., 491

Webster Investing Corp., 477

Wechsler & Schimenti, 339, 632

Wechsler, Grasso & Menziuso, 104, 160

The Weed {former) (171 West 71st Street), 266

wWeed, Hamilton M., 266

Weiher, Lorenz, 102

Weiser, Arthur, 164

Welch, Alexander M., 196, 590

Welch, Smith & Provot, 317, 346, 459, 592,
593

Wellmore Realty Corp., 282

The Wellston (former) (321-327 Amsterdam
Avenue), 128

Wellwood, Elizabeth J., 650

Wenz, Edward, 155, 435, 691

Weschler & Noel Inc., 445

The Wesley (former) (158-160 West 81st
Street), 493

Wesley Realty Company, 493

WEST 62ND STREET, 166

1-21 West &2nd Street (See:
West), P102

WEST &3RD STREET, 167

25 Central Park
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1 West 63rd Street (See: 33 Central Park 17, 19, 21, 23 West &8th Street, 181, P116
West), P103 25-37 West 68th Street, 182, P116

2-20 West 63rd Street (See: 25 Central Park 28-356 West 68th Street, 190, P121
West), P104 38-44 West 68th Street, 191, P122

3-11 West 63rd Street, 167, P103 39, 41, 43, 45 West 68th Street, 133, P117

13-15 West 63rd Street, 168, P104 46-52 West 68th Street, 192, P122

WEST &64TH STREET, 169 47 West 68th Street, 184, P117

1 West &64th Street (See: 41 Central Park 49, 31, 53, 55 West 68th Street, 184, P118
West), P105 54-58 West 68th Street, 192, P123

2 West S4th Street, 169, P105 57, 59 & &1, &3 West 68th Street, 185, P118

6-12 West &4th Street (See: 3-11 West 63rd 60-66 West 68th Street, 193, P123
Street), P106 65, 67, 69, 71, 73 West 68th Street, 186,

WEST 65TH STREET, 171 P119

1 West 65th Street (See: 51-53 Central Park &3, 70 West &8th Street, 194, P124
West), P106 72-76 West 68th Street, 193, P124

2-6 West 65th Street (See: 50 Central Park 75, 77 lafksfa 181-189 Columbus Avenue] West
West), P107 68th street, 187, P119

WEST &5TH STREET, 172 78 West 6Bth Street (See: 171-179 Columbus

1 West &6th Street, P108 Avenue), P125

2-4 West 66th Street (See: 55 Central Park 101 West 68th Street (See: 180 Columbus
West), P108 Averwe), P125

3-15 West 66th Street (See: 8 West 67th West 68th Street Corp., 74, 195
Street), P107 WEST &69TH STREET, 196

West 67 Street Corp., 40, 179 1-7 West 69th Street (See: 91 Central Park

WEST 67TH STREET, 173 West), P126

1 West &67th Street, 173, P10% 2-10 MWest 69th Street (See: 88 Central Park

2 West 67th Street (See: 70 Central Park West), P130

- West), P112 9@ West &9th Street, 196, P126

8 West 67th Street, 178, P113 11-17 West 69th Street, 196, P127

11-15 West &7th Street, 173, P10%9 12 West &9th Street, 202, P131

17-21 West 67th Street, 174, P110 14, 16 West 69th Street, 203, P131

23-27 West &7th Street, 175, P110 18, 20 West 6%th Street, 203, P132

26-34 West &7th Street, 179, P113 19-21 West 69th Street, 197, P127

29-33 West &67th Street, 175, P111 22-24 West &9th Street, 204, P132

35-37 West 67th Street, 176, P111 23 West 6%9th Street, 198, P128

36-40 West 67th Street, 179, P114 25, 27, 29, 3t, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 69th

39-41 West &7th Street, 177, P112 Street, 198, P128

42-50 West &7th Street, 180, P114 26-28 West 69th Street, 205, P133

West &7th Street, Inc., 50, 180 30, 32 West &9th Street, 205, P133

West &8 Street Corp., Inc., 60, 193 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44, 46 West 69th Street,

WEST &BTH STREET, 181 206, P134

1-13 West 68th Street (See: 80 Central Park 41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51 & 33, 3%, 57, 59 MWest
West), P115 &9th Street, 200, P129

2-10 West &8th Street (See: 77 Central Park 48, 50, 52, 62, 64, 66, 68, 70 YHest 69th
West), P120 Street, 207, P134

12-14 West 68th Street, 189, P120 61, &3, &5 West é9th Street, 201, P129

15 West &68th Street, 181, P115 67-69 West &9th Street (See: 201-209

16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26 West 68th Street, Columbus Avenue), P130
189, p121 72, T4, 76 rafk/a 191-19% Columbus Avenue]

West &9th Street, 209, P135



100 West &69th Street (See:

101

INDEX

195-198 Columbus
Avenue), P139
West &9th Street (See:
Avenue), P135

200-208 Columbus

102-106 West 69th Street, 215, P140
103 & 105, 107 & 109 West &9th Street, 210,

P135

108 West &9th Street, 214, P140
110-114 West &9th Street, 217, P1&1

111,

113, 115, 117, 119, 121 West é9th
Street, 211, P135

116 & 118 West 69th Street, 217, P141

120 West 69th Street, 213, P142

122-128 West &9th Street, 219, P142

123, 125, 127 West 69th Street, 212, P137
129, 131, 133, 135 West &9th Street, 212,

P137

137, 139, 1471 West &9th Street, 213, P138

140 West &9th Street (See:

2016-2018
Broadway), P143

143 & 145 West 69th Street, 214, P138

147-149 West &9th Street (See:

West 69th Street Corp., 11,

2020-2026
Broadway), P139
196

West 69th Street Corp., 24, 204
WEST 7OTH STREET, 221

1-7 West 70th Street (See:

2-4 West 70th Street (See:

101 Central Park
West), P143
99 Central Park
West), P147

8 West 70th Street, 227, P148
9, 11, 15, 17, 19, 21 West 70th Street, 221,

P44

10 West 70th Street, 228, P148
12-18 Mest 70th Street, 228, P149
20 vest 70th Street, 229, P149

22,
23,

24, 26, 28 West 7Oth Street, 230, P150
25, 27, 29, 31 dest 70th Street, 222,
P44

30-36 West 70th Street, 231, P150

33,

35, 37, 39, 41 West 7Dth Street, 223,
P145

38 West 70th Street, 231, P151

40,

43,

53,
37,

42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West
70th Street, 232, P15t

45, 47, 49, 51 West 70th Street, 223,
P145

55 West 70th Street, 224, P146

59, 61, 63 West 70th Street, 225, P146

60, &2, 64 West 70th Street, 233, P1532

65 West 70th Street (See: 221-223 Columbus
Avenue), P147

68 West 70th Street (See:
Avenue), P152

100-104 West 70th Street (See:
Cotumbus Avenue), P157

101 West 70th Street (See:
Averue), P153

103, 105, 107, 109 West 70th Street, 234,
P153

111, 113 West 70th Street, 235, P154

112-116 West 70th Street, 240, P158

115-123 West 70th Street, 236, P154

118-126 West 70th Street, 241, P158

125, 127 West 70th Street, 237, P155

128, 130, 132, 134, 136, 138, 140 & 142 West
70th Street, 241, P159

129, 131, 133 West 70th Street, 238, P155

135-145 West 70th Street, 239, P156

144, 146, 148 West 70th Street, 243, P159

147-153 West 70th Street (See: 146-150 West
71st Street), P1556

150-154 West 70th Street (See:
Broackay), P16&0

155-157 West 70th Street (See:
Broadway), P157

West 70th Street Corp., 114, 240

West 70th Street Corp., 16, 228

West 71st Co., Inc., 141, 283

WEST 71ST STREET, 244

1-15 West 71st Street (See:
Park West), P160

2-4 West 7ist Street (See:
West), P166

6, 8, 10, 12, 14 West 71st Street, 252, P166

16 & 18, 20, 22 West 7ist Street, 253, P167

17-23 West 7T1st Street, 244, P16

24 West 71st Street, 254, P167

25 West 71st Street, 244, P161

26, 28, 30 West 71st Street, 254, P1468

27-29 West 71st Street, 245, P162

31 West 71st Street, 246, P162

32, 34, 36, 38, 40 West 71st Street, 255,
P168

33, 35, 37, 39 West 71st Street, 247, P163

41-45 West 7ist Street, 247, P163

42, 44, 46, 48, 50, 52, 54, 56 & 58, 60 West
7ist Street, 256, P169

&7, 49, 51, 53, 55, 57 HWest 71st Street,
248, P164

219 Columbus

210-216

220-228 Columbus

2028-2032

2040-2052

115 Central

101 Central Park



INDEX

59-65 West 7ist Street, 249, P164 12-18 West 72nd Street, 279, P186
62 West 71st Street, 257, P149 13-25 West 72nd Street, 276, P183
54 & 66 & 6B & 70 & T2 [asksa 235-239 20-28 Wwest 72nd Street, 280, P187
Columbus Avenue] West 71st Street, 258, 27-33 West 72rnd Street, 276, P183

P170 30 West 72nd Street, 281, P187
67 & 69 & 71 & 73 West 71st Street, 250, P165 32 West 72nd Street, 281, P188
75 West 71st Street (See: 241-247 Columbus 34-40 West T2nd Street, 282, P188

Averue), P165 35-39 West 72nd Street, 277, P184
100 West 71st Street (See: 230-238 Columbus 41-47 West 72nd Street, 278, P184

Averwe), P77 42 West 7end Street, 283, P189
101 West 71st Street (See: 240-242 Columbus 44-46 West 72nd Street, 283, P189

Avenue), P170 48-54 West T2nd Street, 284, P190
102, 104, 106 West 71st Street, 267, P178 49-51 West 72nd Street, 278, P185
103 West 71ist Street, 259, P174 53 West 72nd Street (See: 261-267 Columbus
105-109 West 71st Street (See: 106-112 West Avenue), P183

72rd Street), P17 58 West 72nd Street (See; 249-257 Columbus
108, 110, 112, 114, 116 HWest 7lst Street, Avenue), P190

269, P178 100 West 72nd Street (See: 248-254 Columbus
111-115 West 71st Street, 260, P172 Avenue), P203
117-121 West 71st Street, 260, P172 101 West 72rnd Street (See: 260-268 Columbus
118, 120, 122, 124, 126 West 71st Street, Avenue), Pt

269, P179 103 West 72nd Street, 285, P191
123-125 West 71st Street, 261, P173 105 west 72nd Street, 286, P192
128, 130, 132, 134 West T1st Street, 270, 106-112 West 72nd Street, 302, P203

P179 111 West 72nd Street, 287, P192
131 West 71st Street, 262, P173 114-116 West 72nd Street, 303, P204
133-135 West 71st Street, 262, P14 117 West 72nd Street, 287, P193
136 West 71st Street, 272, P180 118 West 72nd Street, 304, P204
137 West Tlst Street, 263, P174 120-122 West 72nd Street, 304, P205
138-140 West 71st Street, 272, P180 121 West 72nd Street, 288, P193
139-147 West 71st Street, 263, P175 124-126 West 72nd Street, 305, P205
146-150 [a/k/a 147-153 West 70th Streetl, 125 West 72nd Street, 28%, P194

152 West 71st Street, 273, P181 127 West 72nd Street, 290, P194
149-157 West 71st Street, 264, P175 128 West 72nd Street, 306, P206
154-172 West 71st Street (See: 2054-2082 129 West 72nd Street, 291, P195

Broadway), P182 130, 132, 134, 136, 138 West 72 Street,
159, 161, 163, 165 West 71st Street, 265, 307, P206

P176 131 West 72nd Street, 291, P195
167 West 71st Street, 266, P176 133 West 72nd Street, 292, P196
171 West 71st Street, 266, P177 ' 135 west 72nd Street, 293, P196
West 71st Street Corp., 5%-65, 249 137 & 139, 141 West 72nd Street, 294, P197
West Tist Street, Inc., 17, 244 140 & 142 & 144 & 146 West 72nd Street, 309,
West 72nd Corp., 131, 291 P207
WEST 72ND STREET, 275 143 West 72nd Street, 295, P197
1 West 72nd Street, 275 145, 147, 149 West 72nd Street, 296, P198
1-11 West 72nd Street (See; 1 West 72nd 148 West 72nd Street, 310, P207

Street), P182 150 & 152 & 152A-154, 136, 158 West 72nd
2-10 West V2nd Street (See: 115 Central Street, 310, P208

Park West), P184 151 West 72nd Street, 297, P198

153-155 West 72nd Street, 258, P199



157 and 161 and 185, 167 West 72nd Street,

298, P200

West 72nd Street, 300,

West 72nd Street, 312,

West 72nd Street (See:

Street)

162 West 72nd Street, 313, P209

163 West 72nd Street, 301, P202

164-168 West 72nd Street, 314, P20%9

165, 167 West 72rxd Street (See: 157 West
72rd Street)

170-172 West 72nd Street, 314, P210

174 West 72nd Street, 315, P210

175 West 72nd Street (See: 261-267
Amsterdam Averwe), P202

176 West 72nd Street (See:

Broadway), P211

72nd Street Co., 105, 286

7end Street Co., 20-28, 280

72nd Street Co., Inc., 160, 312

72nd Street Corp., 135, 293

72nd Street Corp., 27, 276

72nd Street Corp., 37, 277

72nd Street Corp., 47, 278

72nd Street Corp., 48-56, 284

73 Street Associates, Inc., 325

West 73 Street Corp., 105, 324

WEST 73RD STREET, 317

1 West 73rd Street, P211

2-12 West 73rd Street (See:
Street), P214

3,5, 7, 9, 11 West 73rd Street, 317, P212

14-18 West 73rd Street {See: 13-25 West
72re Street), P215

154, 15, 17, 19 West 73rd Street, 317, P212

21-39 West 73rd Street, 318, P213

22-26 West 73rd Street (See: 27-33 West
72nd Street), P215

28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44 West 73rd
Street, 321, P216

41, 43, 45, 47, A%, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59, &1,
63, 65 West 73rd Street, 319, P213

46 West 73rd Street, 322, P216

48 West 73rd Street (See; 269-275 Columbus
Avenue), P217

67 West 73rd Street (See:
Avenue), P214

100 West 73rd Street (See:
Avenue), P221

159
160
161

P201
p208
157 West 72nd

2080-2094

vest
West
West
West
West
West
West
West
West

1 West 72nd

281-287 Columbus

270-276 Columbus

INDEX

101 West 73rd Street (See: 280-284 Columbus
Averue), P217

102, 104, 106 & 108, 110, 112, 114, 116, 18
West 73rd Street, 329, P222

103 West 73rd Street, 323, P218

105, 113-119 West 73rd Street, 324, P21B

120, 122, 124 West 73rd Street, 331, p222

121-139 West 73rd Street, 325, P219

126 West 73rd Street, 332, P223

128 West 73rd Street, 332, P223

130, 132, 134 West 73rd Street, 333, P224

136, 138, 140 & 142, 144 West 73rd Street,
334, P224

141-153 West 73rd Street, 326, P219

146, 148, 150, 152, 154 West 73rd Street,
335, P225

155, 157, 159, 161 West 73rd Street, 326,
p220

156 West 73rd Street, 334, P225

158-168 West 73rd Street, 336, P226

163 & 165, 167 & 169, 171 Hest 73rd Street,
327, p220

170 West 73rd Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P226

175 West 73rd Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P221

West 73rd Street Corp., 160, 336

West 73rd Street Corp., 23, 318

West 74 Street Corp., 123, 352

WEST 74TH STREET, 338

1-7 West 74th Street (See:
Park West), P227

2-4 West T4th Street (See:
West), P232

& West 74th Street, 346, P233

8-14 West 74th Street (See:
Street)

10 West 74th Street, 347, P233

11, 13, 15 West 74th Street, 338, P227

269-275

281-285

145-146 Central

135 Central Park

10 West 74th

.16 Hest 74th Street, 348, P234

17-19 West 74th Street, 339, P228
18, 20, 22, 24, 26, 28 & 30, 32 & 34, 36,
38, 40, 42 & 44, 46, 4B & 50, 52 West 7ith

Street, 348, P234

21 West 74th Street, 339, P228

23 West 74th Street, 340, P229

25 West 74th Street, 341, P229

27, 29 West 74th Street, 342, P230

31, 33, 35, 37, 39 Mest 74th Street, 343,
P230



41, 43, 45, 47, 49 West 74th Street, 344,
P231

51, 33, 55 & 57, 59 West 74th Street, 345,
P231

54 West 74th Street (See:
Averwe), P235

61 West 74th Street (See:
Avenue), P232

100 West 74th Street (See:
Avenue), P23%9

101 West 74th Street (See:
Averwe), P235

102, 104, 106, 108 West 74th Street, 357,
P240

103, 105, 107, 109, 111, 113, 115, 117 & 119

289-295 Columbusg

301-303 columbus

286-294 Columbus

300 Columbus

INDEX

and 129 & 131 West 74th Street, 350, P234

10, 112, 114, 116, 118, 120, 122, 124, 126,
128 West 74th Street, 358, P240

121-127 West 74th Street, 352, P237

129 & 131 West 74th Street (See: 103, 105,

107, 109, 111, 113, 115, 117 & 119 West

74th Street)

130, 132, 134, 136, 138 West Tith Street,
3460, P241

133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145 West Tith
Street, 352, P237

140 & 142 & 144, 146 West Tath Street, 361,
P241

147-151 West 74th Street, 354, P238

148-152 West 74th Street, 362, P242

153, 155, 157, 159 West 74th Street, 354,
pP238

154, 156 & 158 West 74th Street, 362, P242

160-162 West T4th Street, 363, P243

161, 163, 165, 167, 169 {a/k/a 301 Amsterdam

Avenue] HWest T4th Street and 303, 305,

307, 309 Amsterdam Avenue, 355, PZ39

164-166 Mest Tath Street, 364, P243

170 West 74th Street (See: 287-295
Amsterdam Avenue), P244

West 73 Street Corp., 389

West 73 Street Corp., 161, 128

West 73 Street Corp., 166, 392

WEST 75TH STREET, 365

1 West 75th Street (See:
West), P244

2-4 West 75th Street (See:
Park West), P248

3,5, 7, 9 West 75th Street, 365, P245

15t Central Park

145-146 Central

6, B, 10, 12, t4, 16 West 75th Street, 370,
P248

11-19 West 75th Street, 366, P245

18, 20, 22 West 75th Street, 372, P249

21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31 West 75th Street,
366, P246

24 West 73th Street, 373, P249

26, 28 West 75th Street, 373, P250

30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44, 46, 48 West

75th Street, 374, P250

35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47 West 75th

Street, 358, P246

51, %3, 55 West 75th Street, 369, P247

52, 54, 56, 58 West 75th Street, 375,

p251

37 West 75th Street (See:
Avenue), P247

60 West 75th Street (See:
Avenue), P251

33,

49,
50,

321-329 Columbus

313-315 Columbus

100-102 West 75th Street (See: 306-316
Columbus Avenue), P256
101 West 75th Street (See: 320 Columbus

Avenue}, P252

103, 105, 107, 109, 111 West 75th Street,
377, p252

104 West 75th Street, 385, P256

106, 108, 110, 112 West 75th Street, 385,
P2s7

113, 115, 117,
378, P253

114, 116, 118,
386, p257

123, 125, 127,
379, p253

124, 126, 128,
387, p258

133, 135, 137,
381, P25

134-138 West 75th Street, 389, P258

140, 142, 144 West 75th Street, 389, P259

143, 145, 147, 149, 151 Mest 75th Street,
382, P254

146, 148, 150, 152, 154 West 75th Street,
390, P259

153, 155, 157, 159 West 75th Street, 383,
P255

156, 158, 160, 182 Mest 75th Street, 391,
P260

161-181 West 75th Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P255

119, 121 West 75th Street,

120, 122 West 75th Street,
129, 131 West 75th Street,
130, 132 West 75th Street,

139, 141 West 75th Street,

321-327



164-168 MWest 75th Street, 392, P26

170 West 75th Street (See: 311-317
Amsterdam Avenue), P251

West 75th Street Corp., 15, 366

West 76 Street Realty Co., Inc., 170, 417

West 76 Street, Inc., 125, 406

WEST 76TH STREET, 394

1-13 West 76th Street (See:
Park West), P261

2-4 West 76th Street (See:
Street)

4 West 7&th Street, 399, P265

8, 10 West 76th Street, 400, P266

12, 14, 16 West 76th Street, 401, P266

15, 17, 19 West 746th Street, 394, P262

18, 20, 22, 24 Mest Téth Street, 401, P267

21, 23, 25 West 76th Street, 395, P262

26 West 76th Street, 402, P267

27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37 West 76éth Street,

394, P263

30, 32, 34, 36, 38 West 76th Street,

403, P268

170 Central

4 West Fbth

28,

3,
397, P263

40,
Street, 404, P268

53, 55, 57 West 7éth Street, 398, P264

59 West 76th Street (See: 341-349 Columbus
Avenue), P264

60 West 76th Street (See:
Avenue), P269

100 West 75th Street (See:
Aveniue), P273

101-123 West 76th Street (See:
76th Street), P249

102, 104, 106 West 76th Street, 410, P273

108 West 76th Street, 411, P274

110, 112, 114, 116, 118 Mest T6th Street,
412, P274

120, t22-138 West 76th Street, 413, P27

125-129 West 76th Street, 406, P270

131-149 West 76th Street, 407, P270

140, 142, 144, 146, 148, 150 West 74th
Street, 414, P275

151, 153 West 76th Street, 407, P271

152, 154, 156, 158, 160 West 76th Street,
415, P276

185, 157, 159, 161 West 76th Street, 408,
PaT1

331-339 columbus

41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 76th Street,

42, 44, 46, 4B, 50, 52, 54, 56 West 76th

328-338 Columbus

131-149 West

INDEX

1-20

162-166 West 76th Street, 416, P274
163, 165, 167, 1569, 171 West 74th Street,
409, P22

168-170 West 76th Street, 417, P277

172-176 West 76th Street (See: 321-327
Amsterdam Avenue), P277

175-179 West 76th Street (See: 341-347
Amsterdam Avenue), P272

180-182 West 76th Street (See: 329-335

Amsterdam Avenue), P278
West 77 Street Corp., 160, 428
WEST 77TH STREET, 419

1-99 Mest 77th Street (see: 175 Central
Park West}

1-99 West 77th Street (See: 175 Central
Park West)

4 West 77th Street (See: 170 Central Park
West), P278

6-16 West 77th Street, 419, P279

18-20 West 77th Street, 420, P279

22-24 West 77th Street, 420, P280

32-42 West 77th Street, 421, P280

44-48 West 77th Street, 421, P281

50-58 West 77th Street, 422, P231

b4-66 Mest 77th Street (See: 351-357
Columbus Avenue), P282

100-146 West 77th Street (See:
76th Street), P285

101 West 77th Street (See:
Avenue), P282

103, 105 West 77th Street, 423, P283

109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121, 123, 125
West 77th Street, 424, P283

127, 129, 131, 133, 135 West 77th Street,
425, P284

137 West 77th Street, 426, P284

148 West 77th Street, 427, P285

150, 152, 154, 156 Mest 77th Street, 427,
P28é

158-1564 West 77th Street, 428, P2856

166, 168, 170 West 77th Street, 429, P87

172 MWest 77th Street (See: 355 Amsterdam
Avenue), P2B7

West 77th Street Corp., 6-16, 419

West 77th Street Realty Corp., 40, 421

West 77th Street, Inc., 22, 420

WEST 78TH STREET, 431

2-98 West 78th Street (See:
Park West)

100 West 78th Street (See:
Avenue), P292

131-149 West

360-368 Columbus

175 Central

376 Columbus



101 West 78th Street (See:
Avenue), P288

103, 105, 107 West 78th Street, 431, P288

106, 108 West 78th Street, 436, P292

109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119 West 78th
Street, 432, P289

110 West 78th Street, 437, P293

112, 114, 116 West 78th Street, 437, p293

118 and 124, 126, 128, 130, 132, 134 West
78th Street, 438, P294

120-122 West 78th Street, 439, P295

121, 123, 125, 127, 129, 131 West 78th
Street, 433, P289

124, 126, 128, 130, 132, 134 West 78th
Street (See: 118 West 78th Street)

133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145, 147, 149
& 151 West 78th Street, 434, P290

136 West 78th Street, 440, P295

153, 155, 157, 159, 161, 183, 165, 167 West
78th Street, 435, P290

169 West 78th Street, 435, P291

170 West 78th Street (See: 373-375
Amsterdam Avenue), P296

171-175 West 7Bth Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P291

West 78th Street Corp., 173, 133

West 79th Partners, 130, 450

West 79th $t. Construction Corp., 124, 450

WEST 79TH STREET, 4&1

100 [a/k/fa 392-396 Columbus Avenue] and 110
West 79th Street, 447, P303

101-115 West 79th Street (See:
Columbus Avenue), P296

102-108 West 79th Street, 448, P304

110 West 79th Street (See: 100 West 79th
Street)

112-118 West 79th Street, 449, P304

117-119 West 79th Street, 441, P297

120-128 West 79th Street, 450, P305

121 West 79th Street, 442, P297

123, 125 West 79th Street, 442, P298

127-133 West 79th Street, 443, P298

130-136 West 79th Street, 450, P305

135-139 West 79th Street, 444, P299

138-144 West 79th Street, 451, P30S

141-145 West 79th Street, 444, P299

146 West 79th Street, 451, P304

147-153 West 79th Street, 445, P300

150-158 West 79th Street, 452, P307

380-384 Columbus

379-381

402-408

INDEX

155-161 West 79th Street, 445, P300

160-166 West 79th Street, 453, P307

163 West 79th Street, 446, P301

165-173 Mest 79th Street, 447, P301

168 & 170 Mest 79th Street, 453, P308

172-174 West T9th Street (See: 383-391
Amsterdam Averwie), P308

175 West 79th Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P302

201 West 79th Street (See:
Amsterdam Averwe), P309

203-209 West 79th Street, 454, P309

206, 208, 210, 212 & 214, 216, 218, 220,
222, 224, 226 West 79th Street, 458, P3N

211, 213 West 79th Street, 453, P310

215, 217, 219, 221, 223, 225 West 79th
Street, 457, P310

West 79th Street Corp., 145, 444

West 79th Street Corp., 162-164, 453

West 79th Street Corp., 175, 135

West 79th Street Inc., 172, 134

West 79th Street Realty Corp., 146, 451

WEST 80TH STREET, 462

100 West 80th Street (See:
Avenue}, P317

101 West 80th Street (See:
Avenue), P311

102 West 80th Street, 469, P318

103 West BOth Street, 462, P312

104, 106, 108, 110, %12, 114, 116, 118 West
80th Street, 470, P318

119, 121 & 123, 125, 127, 129, 131, 133,
135, 137, 139 West B0th Street, 462, P312

120, 122, 124, 125, 128 Mest 80th Street,
471, P319

130, 132, 134, 136 West 30th Street, 471,
P319

140, 142, 144, 146, 148 West BOth Street,
472, P320

141 West 80th Street, 463, P313

143 West 80th Street, 464, P313

145, 147, 149 West BOth Street, 465, P314

150-156 West 80th Street, 473, P320

151, 153, 155 West BOth Street, 466, P314

157, 159, 161 West 80th Street, 466, P315

158 & 160 & 162 West BDth Street, 473, P321

163, 165 West 80th Street, 467, P3153

164 West 80th Street, 475, P321

167, 169 West 80th Street, 468, P316

171 West B0th Street, 468, P316

401-405

402-408

410-416 Columbus

418-422 Columbus



1856 West 80th Street (See:
Avenue), P322

187 wWest 80th Street {(See:
Avenue), P317

200 West 80th Street (See:
Avenue), P323

201 West BOth Street (See:
Avenue), P322

203 West 80th Street (See:
426 Amsterdam Avenue),

WEST 81ST STREET, 477

1-¢ West 81st Street (See:
West), P324

2-98 West Bist Street (see:
Park West)

11 West 81st Street, 477, P324

15-23 West 81st Street, 477, P325

25-31 West B1st Street, 478, P325

33 west Blst Street, 479, P326

35-39 West B1st Street, 479, P326

41-49 West 81st Street, 4B0, P327

51-57 West 81st Street (See: 441-449
Columbus Avenue), P327

415 Amsterdam

421 Amsterdam

416 Amsterdam

420 Amsterdam

420, 422, 424,
P323

211 Central Park

173 Central

100-104 West 81at Street (See: 432-436
Columbus Avenue), P333
101-107 West Blst Street (See: 440-444

Columbus Avenue), P328

106, 108 West 81st Street, 487, P333

110, 112, 114 West 81st Street, 488, P334

116, 118, 120, 122 West Bl1st Street, 489,
P334

117, 119, 121, 123, 125 West 81st Street,
481, P328

124, 126, 128, 130 West 81st Street, 490,
P335

127 West 81st Street, 482, P329

129 & 131, 133 West Bist Street, 483, P329

132 west Bist Street, 491, P335

134, 136, 13B West B1st Street, 492, P336

135 West 81at Street, 484, P330

137, 139, 141, 143 West 81st Street, 484,
P330

140-144 West Bist Street, 492, P336

145 West 81st Street, 485, P331

147-161 West B1st Street, 486, P331

158-160 West Blst Street, 493, P337

162, 164 West Bist Street, 494, P337

163, 165 West B1st Street, 486, P332

167, 169, 171, 173 West B1st Street (See:
&41-447 Amsterdam Avenue), P332

INDEX

168-170 West Blst Street, 494, P338

172 & 174 West Bi1st Street, 495, P338

175 West 81st Street (See: 441-447
Amsterdam Avenue)

176, 178 West B1st Street, 496, P339

180 West 81st Street (See: 429-437
Amsterdam Averwe), P339

200 West 81st Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P340

201 West 81st Street (See:
Avenue}, P340

West 81st Street Corp., 41-49, 480

WEST 82ND STREET, 4%38

1-5 West 82nd Street (See:
West), P341]

2-12 West 82nd Street (See:
Park West), P345

7,9, 11, 13, 15, 17, 19, 21 & 23 West 82rd
Street, 498, P341

14, 16 West 82nd Street, 504, P345

18-30 West 82nd Street (See: 15-23 West
Blst Street), P346

23, 27, 29, 31, 33 West 82nd Street, 500,
P342

32-36 MWest 82nd Street, 505, P346

35-39 West 82nd Street, 501, P342

41-49 West 82nd Street, 501, P343

48 West 82nd Street, 505, P347

50 West B2nd Street, 506, P347

51, S3 West B2nd Street, 502, P343

52 West 82nd Street, 507, P348

54 West 82nd Street, 508, P348

55, 57, 59, 61 West 82nd Street, B03, P344

56 & 58 & 60 West 82nd Street, 508, P349

&2, 64, 66, 68, 70, T2, T4 West 82nd Street,
509, P34y

73-77 dest B2nd Street (See:
Averwe), P344

76, 78 West 82nd Street, 510, P350

80 West 82nd Street (See: 451-457 Columbus
Avenue), P350

100-108 West 82nd Street (See:
Columbus Avenue), P357

101 West 82rnd Street (See:
Avenue}, P351

103-105 West 82nd Street, 51t, P351

107 & 109 & 111 Hest 82nd Street, 512, P352

110- 124 West 82nd Street, 518, P357

113, 115, 117, 119 West 82nd Street, 513,
pP352

432-434

440 Amsterdam

225 Central Park

211 Central

461 Columbus

446-456

460 Columbus



121, 123 and 131, 133, 135 West 82nd Street,
514, P353

125-129 West B2nd Street, 515, P354

126, 128 West 82nd Street, 519, P358

130, 132 West 82nd Street, 520, P3%53

131, 133, 135 West BZ2nd Street (See: 121,
123 Hest 82nd Street)

134 & 136 Mest 82nd Street, 521, P359

137 West 82nd Street, 515, P354

138, 140, 142, 144 West 82nd Street, 522,
pP359

139-147 West 82nd Street, 516, P35S

146 West 82nd Street, 523, P360

148-154 West 82nd Street, 523, P3&D

149 & 151, 153, 155, 157, 159 West 82nd
Street, 517, P355

160 West 82nd Street, 524, P361

161 West 82rd Street, 518, P356

163-185 MWest 82nd Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P356

170 West 82nd Street, 525, P351

172, 174 Mest 82nd Street, 525, P362

176, 178, 180, 182 West 82nd Street (See:
449-455 Amsterdam Avenue), P362

461-463

184 West 82nd Street (See: 449-455
Amsterdam Averus)
200 West 82nd Street (See: 454 Amsterdam

Avenue}, P364

201-203 West B2nd Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P343

West 82nd Street Inc., 143, 516

WEST 83RD STREET, 528

1 West 83rd Street (See:
West), P364

2 West B3rd Street (See:
West), P371

3 & 5 West 83rd Street, 528, P345

4, 6, 8, 10 West 83rd Street, 535, P371

7-21 West B83rd Street, 529, P385

12, 14, 16, 18, 20 West 83rd Street, 535,
P372

22 West 83rd Street, 537, P372

23, 25 West 83rd street, 530, P366

24, 26, 28 & 30 West 83rd Street, 538, P373

32, 34 & 36, 38, 40, 42 & 44 West Hird

Street, 539, P373

37, 39 and 4%, 51, 53 West 83rd Street,

531, P3&7

41-47 West 83rd Street, 532, P348

460

230 Central Park

227 Central Park

35,

INDEX

44-56 West 83rd Street, 540, P374

49, 51, 53 West 83rd Street (See: 35, 37, 39
West 83rd Street)

55-57 West 83rd Street, 532, P363

58, 60 West B3rd Street, 541, P374

59, 61, 63 West B3rd Street, 533, P369

62, b4, 66, 6B West B3rd Street, 542, P375

65, 67, 69 West 83rd Street, 534, P369

70 West 83rd Street (See: 475 Columbus
Avenue), P375

71 West 83rd Street, 535, P370

73 Hest 83rd Street (See: 481 Columbus
Avenue), P370

100-102 West 83rd Street (See: 476 Columbus
Avenue), P377

104 West B3rd Street, 544, P377

106, 108 West 83rd Street, 544, P378

118 West 83rd Street, 545, P378

120 West 83rd Street, 546, P379

167, 169, 171 & 173 West 83rd Street, 543,
P376

168 West 83rd Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue}, P379

170 West B3rd Street (See:
Averwe), P380

474-475

477 Amsterdam

175-177 West 83rd Street (See: 481
Amsterdam Avenue), P376
200 West 83rd Street (See: 468-476

Amsterdam Avenue), P381

207 West 83rd Street (See:
Avenue), P380

202, 204, 206 West B3rd Street, 547, P381

208, 210 West 83rd Street, 548, P382

WEST 84TH STREET, 549

1-5 West B4th Street (See:
West), P382

2-8 West 84th Street (See:
West), P388

7, 9 West 84th Street, 549, P383

10-16 West Bath Street, 555, P388

11, 11A West B4th Street, 549, p383

15-21 West B4th Street, 550, P384

18-24 West B4th Street, 556, P389

23-25 West B4th Street, 551, P334

26-32 Mest B4th Street, 557, P38%

27 West B4th Street, 551, P385

29 West 84th Street, 552, P385

31, 33, 35, 37, 39 West 84th Street, 553,
P386

34-38 West 84th Street, 557, P390

480 Amsterdam

241 Central Park

239 Central Park



40-42 West B4th Street, 558, P390

41, 43, 45, 47 West Bith Street, 554, P386

46, 48, 50, 52 West Bath Street, 559, P33

49, 51 & 53, 55 West B4th Street, 554, P387

54, 56, 58 West B4th Street, 559, P3N

57 West B4th Street (See: 501 Columbus
Avenue), P387

60, 62, 64 West 84th Street, 560, P392

&6 West Bith Street (See: 493-495 Columbus
Avenue), P392

101 West B4th Street (See: 498 Columbus
Avenue), P3%3
162 West B4th Street (See: 495 Amsterdam

Avenue), P393

200 West B4th Street {See:
Avenue}, P394

West B4th Street Corp., 20, 205, 505, 556

West B4th Street Inc., 40, 558

WEST 85TH STREET, 562

1 West 85th Street (See:
West), P394

2-10 West 85th Street (See:

Park West), P398

14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 26, 28, 30 West

85th Street, 566, P398

21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 39,

494 Amsterdam

251 Central Park

249 Central

12,

19,

INDEX

41, 43, 45, AT West 85th Street, 562, P395

32,
38,
44,
48,

34, 36 West 85th Street, 557, P3%W

40, 42 West B5th Street, 548, P399

46 West B5th Street, 569, P4LO0

50, 52, 54, 56 West 85th Street, 570,

P400

49-51 West 85th Street, 563, P39S

53, 55, 57, 59, 61, 63, 65, 67 and 73, 75
West 85th Street, 563, P39

58, &0, 62, 64 Mest 85th Street, 571, P401

&6 West 85th Street, 572, P40

&8, 70, 72 West 85th Street, 572, P402

&9-71 West 85th Street, 565, P397

73, 75 West BSth Street (See: 53, 55, 57,
59, 61, 63, 65, &7 West 85th Street)

T4, 76 West BSth Street, 573, P402

77 West 85th Street (See: 521-527 Columbus
Avenue), P397

78 West BS5th Street (See:
Avenue), P403

100 West 85th Street (See:
Avenue), P40B

101 West 85th Street (See:

Avenue), P403

509-517 Columbus

508-516 Columbus

520-526 Columbus

1-24

102-104 West 85th Street, 582, P408

107, 109, 111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121 Mest
85th Street, 574, P404

123, 125, 127, 129 West B5th Street, 575,
P404

131-135 West B5th Street, 576, P405

137, 139, 141, 143, 145, 147, 149, 151, 153,

155, 157, 159 & 161, 163, 165 West 85th

Street, 577, P405

167, 169 and 173 wWest B5th Street, 580, P406

171 West 85th Street, 581, P407

173 West 85th Street (See: 167, 169 West
85th Street)

175 West 83th Street (See:
Amsterdam Avenue), P407

WEST 84&TH STREET, 583

1 West Bé6th Street (See:
West), P409

2 West Both Street (See:
West), P&414

3-11 West 846th Street, 583, P409

8 West B6th Street, 589, P415

10-12 West B6th Street, 590, P415

13-15 West 86th Street, 583, P410

t4, 16 Mest 856th Street, 590, P416

17-25 West BSth Street, 584, P410

18 West B4th Street, 591, PA16

20-26 West B6th Street, 591, P417

27-35 West 86th Street, 585, P4ti

28 & 30 West BSth Street, 592, P417

32, 34 West B4th Street, 593, P418

36, 38 West B&th Street, 593, P418

37-41 West 86th Street, 5385, P411

40-44 West B6th Street, 594, P419

&3, 45, 47 West 86th Street, 586, P412

46, 48 West 8&6th Street, 5953, P49

49-53 West B6th Street, 587, P412

50 West 86th Street, 595, P420

55 West 86th Street, 587, P413

57-5¢ West B6th Street, 588, P413

61 West 86th Street (See: 541-347 Columbus
Avenue), P&14

76 West B&th Street (See:
Avenue), P420

100 West Béth Street (See:
Avenue), Pa24

101 West Béth Street (See:
Avenue), P421

102 West B6th Street, 601,

103 West B&th Street, 597,

521-527

262 Central Park

257 Central Park

529-535 Columbus

528-534 Columbus

540-546 Columbus

P425
P421



105-113 Mest B6th Street, 597, P422

110 West B&th Street, 602, P4&25

112 West 86th Street, 803, Pi26

114-116 West BSth Street, 604, P&26

115-121 West Bb6th Street, 598, P422

120 West BSth Street, &04, P427

123, 125, 127, 129 West 86th Street, 599,
P423

124 West B6th Street, &05, P427

131-135 West 86th Street, 600, P43

137 West 86th Street, 600, P424

West 85th Street Corp., 587

West 86th Street Corp., 110, 602

West 85th Street Corp., 21, 584

West 86th Street Corp., 31, 585

West 86th Street Corp., 41, 585

West 86th Street Corp., 5, 583

West 86th Street Realty Corp., 107, 597

West 86th Street Realty Corp., 114, 604

West Bbth Street Realty Corp., 40, 594

WEST B7TH STREET, 606

1 West 87th Street (See:
West), P428

2-4 West B7th Street (See:
West), P433

3 West B7th Street, 6056, P428

5, 7&89& 11 & 13 & 15 West 87th Street,
606, P429

6, B West 87th Street, 613, P433

10, 12, 14, 16, 18 West 87th Street, 614,
P434

17, 19, 21, 23,
P429

20-22 West 87th

24, 26, 28 West

27, 29, 31, 33,

P430

32, 34, 36,

P&435

39, 41, 43,

P430

42, 44, 46,

617, P436

49, 31, 53 West 87th Street, 61t, P431

54, 56, 58, 60, 62 West 87th Street,

519, P436

55-57 West B7th Street, 612, P43

59, 61, 63, 65 West 87th Street, 612, P432

64, 66, 68 West B7th Street, 620, P437

271 Central Park

262 Central Park

25 West 87th Street, 608,
P434

615, P435
Street, 609,

Street, 615,
87th Street,
35 West 87th
38 West B7th

30, Street, 616,

37, 45 West B7th Street, 610,

40, 48, 50 West B7th Street,

47,
52,

INDEX

1-25

67 West 87th Street (See: 561-567 Columbus
Avenue}, P432

70 West 87th Street, 620, P437

72 West 87th Street (See: 549-555 Columbus
Avenue), P4L38

100 West B7th Street (See:
Avenue), P&&2

101-111 West B7th Street {See:
Columbus Avenue), P438

102, 104, 106, 108 West B7th Street, 627,
P443

110, 112, 114, 116 West 87th Street, 628,
P&443

113 West B7th Street, 621, P439

115, 117, 119 West B7th Street, 622, P439

118, 120, 122, 124, 126, 128, 130, 132 West
B7th Street, 629, P444

121, 123, 125 West B7th Street, 622, P440

127, 129, 131 West 87th Street, 623, P44l

133, 135, 137, 139, 141, 143, 145 West B7th
Street, 824, P441

134, 136, 138, 140, 142 West B7th Street,
&30, PA44

147, 149, 151 & 153, 155, 157 West 87th
Street, 625, P&41

159, 161, 163, 165, 167, 169 West 87th
Street, 626, P442

WEST BBTH STREET, 631

1 West 88th Street (See:
West), P44S

2-12 West BBth Street (See:
Park West), P&&7

11-15 West BBth Street, 631, P445

14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 24 West 88th Street,
636, P44B

17 & 19, 21, 23 West 88th Street, 632, P44b

25, 27, 29, 31, 33 Uest 8Bth Street, 633,
P&&S

26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42, 44, 46,

48, 50, 52, 54, 56, 58 West 8Bth Street,

637, P44

35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45, 47, 49, 51, 53, 55,
57, 59, 61 West 8Bth Street, 634, P447

66 West 88th Street, 638, P&4%

72 West 83th Street {See: 569-579 Columbus
Avenue), P449

100-108 West 88th Street (See:
Columbus Avenue), P453

103, 105, 107, 109 West 88th Street, &39,
P430

548-556 Columbus

540-3568
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110 West 88th Street, 844, P454

111, 113, 115, 117, 119, 121, 123, 125, 127,
129, 131 West B8th Street, 640, P450

112, 114, 116, 118, 120, 122, 124 West 88th
Street, 845, P454

128-130, 132, 134 West 88th Street, 646, P455

136, 138, 140, 142 West 88th Street, 646,
P455

144, 146, 148 West 88th Street, S47, P456

145, 147, 149, 151, 153, 155 West 88th
Street, 841, P45

150, 152, 154, 156 West BBth Street, 548,
P456

157, 159 West 88th Street, 642, P451

158, 160, 162, 164, 166 West 8Bth Street,
649, P457

161, 163, 165 West 88th Street, 642, P4S2

167, 169, 171 West 88th Street, 643, P452

173, 175, 177 West 88th Street, 643, P453

WEST B9TH STREET, 650

1 West 8%th Street {See; 291 Central Park
West), P457

2-16 West 89th Street (See: 285 Central
Park West), P460

11, 13, 15, 17 Hest 8%th Street, 650, P458

18-20 West 89th Street, 655, P4&0

19, 21, 23, 25, 27, 29, 31, 33, 35, 37, 3¢
West 89th Street, 651, P458

22, 24, 26, 2B, 30 West 89th Street, 656,
P461

32, 34, 36, 38, 40 West 89th Street, 656,
P461

41, 43, 45, 47 & 49 & 51, 53, 55, 57 West
8%th Street, 652, P459

42, 46, 46, 48, 50 West B9th Street, 657,
p4&2

52, b4, 56, 58, 60, 62, 64, 66 West B9th
Street, 638, P462

59, 61, 63, 65, 67, 69, 71 West B89th Street,
654, P4S9

WEST 90TH STREET, 659

1-13 West 90th Street (See: 300 Central
Park West), P463

2 West 90th Street, 867, P46B

4, 6, 8, 10 West 90th Street, 567, PLSS

12, 14, 16, 18, 20 West 90th Street, 568,
PLES

15 West 90th Street, 659, P463

17 & 19 & 21 West 90th Street, 660, P4bé

1-26

22, 24, 26 West 90th Street, 670, P469

23, 25, 27 Hest 90th Street, 661, P464

28 and 36, 38 & 40 & 42 Vest 90th Street,
571, PATO

29-39 West 90th Street, 682, P4H5

30-34 West 90th Street, 672, P47

35, 38 & 40 & 42 West 90th Street (See: 28
West 90th Street)

41, 43, 45 West 90th Street, 662, P463

44, 45, 48 & 50 & 52 West 90th Street, 672,
P4t

47, 49, 51 West S0th Street, 563, P46b

£3, 55 West 90th Street, 664, P4b6

57, 59 West 90th Street, 865, P4AT

61, 63 Hest P0th Street, 666, PLET

West 90th Street Corp., 30, 672

WEST 91ST STREET, &74

1-3 West 91st Street (See: 315 Central Park
West), P&4T2

2-20 West 91st Street (See: 300 Central
Park West), P472

22 & 24 R 26 X 2B & 30 & 32 & 34L& 36838k

40 & 42, 44, 46, 4B, 50, 52, 54 West 91st

Street, 674, P473

56, 58, 60, 62, &4 R 66 & 68 West $1st
Street, 676, P4T3

70 West 91st Street, 478, P474

WEST 92ND STREET, 679

1 West 92nd Street (See: 322 Central Park
West), P474

2-12 West 92nd Street {See: 320 Central
Park West), P477

3 West 92nd Street, 679, P475

7 West 92nd Street, 679, P475

33 West 92nd Street, 680, P476

35-45 West 92nd Street, 680, P476

47, 49 West 92nd Street, 681, P477

West 92nd Street Corp., 45, 680

WEST 93RD STREET, 683

1-3 West 93rd Street (See: 333 Central Park
West), P478

2 West 93rd Street (See: 327 Central Park
West), P478

4-8 West 93rd Street, 683, P479

16-12 West 93rd Street, 684, P4TY

36 West 93rd Street (See: 33 West 92nd
Street), P4BO

WEST 94TH STREET, 686

1 West 94th Street (See: 350 Central Park
West), P480
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2-18 West P4th Street (See: 336 Central 2-10 West 96th Street (See: 380 Central
Park West), P4B4 Park West), P4%4

114, 15, 17 West 94th Street, &B&, P4B1 12-20 West 96th Street, 707, P495

19, 21, 23 West 94th Street, 686, P4B1 22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32 West 96th Street,

20 West 94th Street, &91, P485 708, P495

22, 24, 26, 28, 30, 32, 34, 34, 38, 40, 42, 34, 36, 38, 40, 42 West 96th Street, 709,
44 West 94th Street, 692, P485 P4%6

25, 27 & 29 West 94th Street, 687, P4B2 44 West 96th Street, 709, P496

31, 33 West 94th Street, 688, P4B2 46-48 West 96th Street, 710, P497

35, 37, 39, 41, 43, 45 West 94th Street, West End Synagogue, Congregation Shaaray
689, P483 Tefila (former) (160 West 82nd Street), 524

46 West 94th Street, 694, P4B6 West Side Construction Co., 422

47 West 94th Street, 689, P4B3 The West Side Institutional Synagogue (120,

48 & 50 & 52 & 54 West 94th Street, 694, P48S 122-138 West 76th Street), 413

49, 51, 53, 55, 57, 59 West 94th Street, Westover, A.E., 152
690, P4B4 The Westport {former) (269-275 Columbus

WEST 95TH STREETY, 696 Avenue), 74

1 West 95th Street (See: 351 Central Park Westport Construction €o., 215
West) Whinston, B.H. & C.%., 401

2-4 West 95th Street (See: 3530 Central Park The White House Apartments (262 Central Park
West), P490 West), 44

3 West 95th Street (See: 360 Central Park White, Henrette K., 96
West), P4B7 Wilbur, E., 299

5 West 95th Street, 696, P487 Wilcox, Elizabeth A., 65

6, B West 95th Street, 701, P49 Witkinson, Henry W., ¢

7. 9. 11, 15 West 95th Street, 697, P4BB Williams, B.A. & G.N., 112

10, 12, 14, 16 West 95th Street, 701, P491 Witliams, Frank, 94

17, 19, 21, 23 West 95th Street, 697, P4BS Witliams, Mary M., 507, 508

18, 20, 22, 24 West 95th Street, 702, PA92 Witson & Tichborne, 403, 425, 626

25, 27, 29, 31 West 95th Street, 698, P489 Wiseman, Harrison G., 76

26, 28, 30, 32 MWest 95th Street, 703, P492 Y.M.C.A. (3-11 West 63rd Street), 167

33, 35, 37, 39 West 95th Street, 499, Pi89 York & Sawyer, 16

34, 36, 3B West 95th Street, 704, P493 Young & Hinrichs, 642

40 & 42, 44 West 95th Street, 705, P493 Yourwy Men's Christfan Association, 167, 188

43, 45, 47, 49, 51 West 95th Street, 700, Youngs, Charles M., 490
P4%0 Zeckendorf Columbxis Co., 94

46-50 West 95th Street, 706, P44 Zelov, Irving, 439

West 95th Street Inc., 46, 706 Ziegal, Beatrice 5.8., 589

WEST 96TH STREET, 707 Zucker & Co., Alfred, 437

2-10 West 96th Street (See: 350 Central
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